
 
 

To: Members of the  

GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

 Councillor Pauline Tunnicliffe (Chairman) 
Councillor Stephen Wells (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillors Gareth Allatt, Vanessa Allen, Mary Cooke, Robert Evans, Kira Gabbert, 
Josh King, Christopher Marlow, Russell Mellor, Tony Owen, Neil Reddin FCCA, 
Melanie Stevens, Harry Stranger and Michael Turner 

 

 A virtual meeting of the General Purposes and Licensing Committee will be held on 
WEDNESDAY 25 NOVEMBER 2020 AT 6.00 PM  
 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a ‘virtual meeting’ and members of the press and public can 
see and hear the Committee by visiting the following page on the Council’s website: –  
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive 
 
Live streaming will commence shortly before the meeting starts. 

 
 MARK BOWEN 

Director of Corporate Services 
 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 
 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 
A G E N D A 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

3   QUESTIONS  
 

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports 
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of 
the meeting - by 5pm on Tuesday 10th November 2020.    
 
Questions specifically on reports on the agenda should be received within two working 
days of the normal publication date of the agenda.  Please ensure that questions 
specifically on reports on the agenda are received by the Democratic Services Team 
by 5pm on Thursday 19th November 2020. 
 
Under the current arrangements, questions from members of the public will receive a 
written reply. 
 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Graham Walton 

   graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk 

    

DIRECT LINE: 0208 461 7743   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 17 November 2020 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive
http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

4    CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS HELD ON 30TH SEPTEMBER 
AND 5TH NOVEMBER 2020  
(Pages 3 - 14) 
 

5    AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019/20  
(Pages 15 - 30) 
 

6    THE REDMOND REVIEW OF LOCAL AUTHORITY FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 
EXTERNAL AUDIT  
(Pages 31 - 122) 
 

7    REVIEW OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS  
(Pages 123 - 294) 
 

8    LOCAL PENSION BOARD - ANNUAL REPORT 2020  
(Pages 295 - 306) 
 

9    COVID-19 PUBLIC PROTECTION ENFORCEMENT UPDATE  
(Pages 307 - 314) 
 

10    APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2020/21  
(Pages 315 - 318) 
 

11    WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING  
(Pages 319 - 322) 

 
  



1 
 

GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the virtual meeting held at 6.00 pm on 30 September 2020 
 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Pauline Tunnicliffe (Chairman) 
 

 
 
 

Councillors Gareth Allatt, Vanessa Allen, Robert Evans, 
Kira Gabbert, Josh King, Christopher Marlow, 
Russell Mellor, Tony Owen, Neil Reddin FCCA, 
Melanie Stevens and Harry Stranger 
 
 

 
 
94   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Turner and 
Stephen Wells. 
 
95   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
96   QUESTIONS 

 
No questions had been received. 
 
97   CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 

18TH MAY AND 13TH JULY 2020 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 18th May and 30th 
July 2020 be confirmed.  
 
98   ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN LETTER 2019/20 
 

The Committee received the Annual Complaints Report for 2019/20 and an 
oversight of the annual letter from the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman on complaints received about the Council for the year ending 
31st March 2020. The report also updated Members on the introduction of a 
Habitual Contact Policy (Appendix 2 to the Report). 
 
The Chairman noted that Environment and Public Protection Complaints were 
managed separately from other corporate complaints. The Council’s 
Corporate Complaints Manager was unable to join the meeting due to 
technical problems, so the Chairman invited Members to send in any queries 
or comments to her. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



General Purposes and Licensing Committee 
30 September 2020 
 

2 

RESOLVED that the Annual Complaints Report be noted, and any 
comments or questions be referred to the Corporate Complaints 
Manager via the Chairman (See appendix A). 
 
99   LICENSING ACT 2003: STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 

FOR 2021 TO 2026 
Report ES20043 

 
At its meeting on 30th July 2020 the Committee had considered the revised 
Statement of Licensing Policy for 2021-2026. The Statement had since been 
subject to five week public consultation which had closed on 31st August 
2020. The policy document is set out at Appendix A to the report.  
 
The Committee noted the consultation responses and recommended that the 
revised Statement be adopted by full Council.  The Committee proposed one 
change, which was to re-instate a flow chart of the licensing application 
process, as in previous versions of the Statement.  
 
The following comments were also made – 
 

 In section 2, the text should state “…up to January 2026.” 
 

 A general licensing complaint form should be available on the Council 
website to enable members of the public to record issues with licensed 
premises which would then potentially build up an evidence base for 
reviews.   
 

 The reference to “micro-pubs” had been inserted at the review five 
years before at the request of Members to indicate a general support 
for local businesses. 
 

 A report should be made to the next meeting summarising the 
increased workload of the Public Protection and Licensing Team 
across the range of licensing functions.   

 
It was clarified that reviews did not need to be sought through ward 
councillors, who did not have any specific powers in this respect – all 
applicants for reviews had to refer to the four licensing objectives with 
appropriate evidence. It was also explained that where potential license 
holders had spent convictions under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act these 
could not formally be taken into account.  
 
RESOLVED that  
 
(1) The responses to public consultation be noted and the revised 
Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003 be 
recommended for adoption by full Council on 12th October 2020 to have 
effect on 7th January 2020, subject to re-instatement of an updated flow-
chart.  
 

Page 4



General Purposes and Licensing Committee 
30 September 2020 

 

3 
 

(2) A licensing complaint form be developed for the Council website. 
 
(3) A report be submitted for the next meeting on the workload for the 
licensing team.  
 
100   REVIEW OF PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDERS 

CONCERNING ALCOHOL CONTROL ZONES 2020 
Report ES20033 

 
The Committee received a report reviewing the existing Public Space 
Protection Orders (PSPO) regarding drinking in a public space to see whether 
they were necessary and effective. The Council currently had three Public 
Space Protection Orders setting out Alcohol Exclusion Zones (AEZ), now 
more commonly known as Controlled Drinking Zones (CDZ), covering 
Beckenham, Bromley and Penge town centres. Orpington town centre had 
also been covered by an AEZ, but this had not been renewed. It was noted 
that the map for the Bromley AEZ had been omitted in error from the report, 
and the Beckenham map had been duplicated.  
 
A PSPO had to be reviewed after every three years, but could be extended if 
the review supported extension and other requirements were satisfied. Most 
boroughs to the north of Bromley had now designated their entire boroughs as 
Alcohol Exclusion Zones, and it was recommended that Bromley follow suit. It 
was also proposed that psychoactive substances should be covered in the 
new order.   
 
The exact details of the PSPO were set out in Appendix B to the report. The 
Metropolitan Police had written in support of the Alcohol Exclusion Zones, and 
also supported a controlled zone around Star Lane, St Paul’s Cray, to reduce 
anti-social behaviour from off-road bikes/motorcycles. The letter was set out in 
Appendix C to the report. 
 
It was confirmed that the Orders related to easily accessible public space (not 
necessarily just land in public sector ownership); incidents at night in locked 
parks would be issues of trespass. The fixed penalty notices were usually 
issued by the Police due to the difficulty in obtaining names and addresses, 
and the Council currently did not have people with accredited powers. It was 
also confirmed that it was proposed that the Alcohol Exclusion Zone would 
cover the entire borough; this would overcome recent problems when anti-
social behaviour was covered in some areas, but not others nearby. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
(1) The proposed statutory consultation exercise (as at Appendix A to 
the report) be approved to go out for public consultation in line with the 
Government’s Guide to Good Practice, to review the current Public 
Space Protection Order controls concerning the consumption of alcohol 
in a public place in the Borough. 
 

Page 5



General Purposes and Licensing Committee 
30 September 2020 
 

4 

(2) If no significant objection emerges as part of the consultation and no 
issues arise as a consequence of legal compliance checks, the Director 
of Environment and Public Protection be given delegated authority to 
create the Public Space Protection Order, in consultation with the 
Committee, as soon as possible following the end of statutory 
consultation; if a significant objection does occur then the matter will be 
referred back to this Committee for final decision on how to proceed.   
 
101   APPOINTMENT OF PENSIONS BOARD MEMBER 

Report CSD20093 
 
The Committee noted that Piny Borg had resigned as an Employer 
Representative on the Local Pension Board, and a replacement needed to be 
appointed by full Council. One expression of interest in the role had been 
received – this was attached to the agenda as a part 2 appendix.)   
 
RESOLVED that Council be recommended to appoint Brayan Bernal Gil 
to the Local Pension Board as an Employer Representative.  
 
102   WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING 

Report CSD20094 
 
The Committee received a report on its work programme and matters 
outstanding from previous meetings. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
(1) The work programme and matters outstanding from previous 
meetings be noted. 
 
(2) It is noted that a special meeting will be held in early November to 
consider the annual report on Teacher’s pay, and that the meeting 
scheduled for 2nd December would be brought forward to 25th November 
due to the revised timing for the 2019/20 annual accounts.  
 
103   AUDIT SUB-COMMITTEE: MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 

ON 15TH JULY 2020, EXCLUDING EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 

The draft  minutes from the meeting of the Audit Sub-Committee held on 26th 
February 2020 were received.  
 
104   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) 
(VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT 2000 
 

RESOLVED that the Press and public be excluded during consideration 
of the items of business referred to below as it is likely in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings 

Page 6



General Purposes and Licensing Committee 
30 September 2020 

 

5 
 

that if members of the Press and public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information. 
 

The following summaries 
refer to matters involving exempt information 

 
 
105   APPOINTMENT OF PENSIONS BOARD MEMBER - APPENDIX 

 
The Committee noted the expression of interest in the role of Local Pension 
Board Member. 
 
106   AUDIT SUB-COMMITTEE: EXEMPT MINUTES - 15TH JULY 

2020 
 

The draft  exempt minutes from the meeting of the Audit Sub-Committee held 
on 15th July 2020 2020 were received.  
 
 
The Meeting ended at 6.56 pm 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 7



This page is left intentionally blank



General Purposes & Licencing Committee 
 

30th September 2020 
 
 

Agenda item 5 | Responses to follow-up written questions 
 
 
Dear Members 
 
I am sorry that technological glitches prevented me from properly contributing to the 
committee meeting. I have since received a number of queries which I will address below 
and understand that this document will be circulated alongside the minutes of the meeting. 
I hope it goes without saying that if there are any further or follow-up queries, you are 
welcome to get in touch. 
 
Annual Complaints Report 
 
Cllr Tunnicliffe 
 
I wonder where the terms ‘mention’ and ‘aspect’ arose from in the terminology? 
 

Aspects is a term regularly used in the complaint handling sector, albeit maybe not 
one that has found its way into LBB reports before now. This is all part of continuous 
improvement work in gradually embedding a more professional, industry standard 
approach. 
 
‘Mentions’ is a local term to denote the number of times a particular service / team 
is complained about. 
 

 
P.25 Why the large increase in complaints / again in the box on P.52 against the CEO’s Dept? 
 

It should be noted that the percentage increase is affected by the comparatively small 
numbers involved. 
 
Analysis conducted identified that historically we had attributed complaints about 
residential and domiciliary charges (for example) to adult social care when really they 
should have been allocated to Finance. We can now separate out those figures and 
attribute aspects more accurately.  
 

How do our number of complaints compare to other London Boroughs? 
 

There is no published benchmark data on complaint handling. Different local policies 
will lead to different outcomes. The National Complaints Managers Group (of which 
I, as Chair of the London Complaints Managers Group, am a member) are discussing 
an appropriate and/or feasible method to a universal approach.  
 
A comparison of Ombudsman data is possible – it is available online here and 
discussed in my covering report at para.3.8. Bromley performs better than average 

Page 9

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/local-government-complaint-reviews


compared to its London counterparts even taking into account its shorter internal 
procedures. 
 
 

Cllr Owen 
 
My suspicion is that the report is a government requirement. I’ve questioned the purpose of 
the report many times. By the time it is published it is ancient history. As Cllr Cooke rightly 
stated, in care services, if something is reported as inadequate it needs to be dealt with 
immediately…. 
Unless the report leads to useful action we should keep the work (which looks substantial) to 
the absolute minimum. What we should not be doing is a long narrative explaining how things 
have 'improved' based on a pair of numbers.  
 

All authorities are required by law to produce and publish an annual report. The 
specific requirement is for adult and children’s social care, but in common with most 
authorities we cover the whole Council. 
 
The complaints themselves are responded to at the time and if, in the course of so 
doing, potential service improvements are identified, then those are acted upon. In 
addition, quarterly reports are being produced for divisional managers to enable 
whole system transferable learning.  

 
 
Cllr Allen 
 
P30 compensation figures - what was the highest individual award and what was it for? 
 

The £11,171,52 in children’s services was all attributable to one particular case and 
reflected the backdating of a special guardianship allowance that the Ombudsman 
determined had been wrongly refused previously.  
 
 
 

Cllr Mellor 

Page 30 – financial consequences of complaints. The housing item has risen by £8,000.00 

whilst the adult social care has risen by £10,057.00. I would like reasoning as to why this has 

happened and are the increases relevant directly or indirectly as a result of the migrant 

population? 

Payments, whether compensation or reimbursement, only arise in a small minority of 
cases – there were 25 individual payments logged in 2019/20, some of which went 
to the same person. The figures can be substantial in some individual cases (usually 
social care-related), particularly if the complaint related to a financial issue in the first 
place. 
 
The immigration status of complainants does not play a part in the process. 

 
 
 

Page 10



Cllr King 
 
I would like clarity on the table on big page 41 of the agenda, in the “07 | HOUSING PLANNING 
& REGENERATION” section. I am interesting in know why when all the figures for complaints 
have moved in the right direction, the financial consequences have apparently increased 
significantly. 
 

The total sum of the financial consequences is not directly related to the number of 

complaints – please see for example my reply to Cllr Allen above. The amount we are 

required to pay out is usually determined by the Ombudsman, based on the 

circumstances of the individual case and the action the Council is required to take to 

remedy the faults identified.  

 

Environment & Public Protection 

 
Cllr Tunnicliffe 
 
P.21  I wondered why EPP are the only service to manage their own complaints and why this 
dept. seems to have a better result with complaints, than those managed by the new system 
CE & CS? 
 

Cllr Allen 

General point - as mentioned, Environment is outside this whole procedure. It would not be 
appropriate for every missed bin collection or similar to be covered in this type of report, but 
there must be some way of incorporating Environment complaints above a certain “level” into 
this process so that it is measured using the same parameters and standards. 
 

The reduction in complaints received by the Environment department is not a 

reflection of which team manages the complaints after they have been raised. 

Complaint handling has been organically centralised over a number of years, which 

has resulted in an increasingly robust application of policy and procedure.   

E&PP have retained that role within the department due to the close correlation 

between a ‘complaint’ and a business as usual service request, the same team 

handling both issues for the sake of efficiency. E&PP have received training and 

support from CE&CS to apply the corporate policy and procedure. This has enabled 

E&PP to distinguish better between formal complaints and service requests (such as 

one off missed bin collections) thus reducing the recorded number of formal 

complaints.  

Should any complaint regarding the E&PP escalate to the Ombudsman the matter is 

managed by CE&CS.  

 

Page 11



 
 
Habitual Contact policy 
 
P69 section 5 - unacceptable behaviour - the automatic warning stage should be triggered by 
bullet point 4 (hate crime) as well as by violent behaviour. 
 

We will take this back for discussion with the Director. 
 

 
P70 section 6 - there is a reference to the social care file in para 3 - is this a typo? Should this 
point apply to any file or record held by the council on that person? 
 

The reference to social care file is not a typo. Social care files are specifically 
mentioned due to the statutory requirement to keep a comprehensive note of all 
dealings with service users. 

 
 
P71 section 7 - the response in some cases should include the police where appropriate. I 
recognise this is covered in the next section too, but this is a later stage of the process. 
 

Thank you – the police are indeed also included on page 72. 
 

 
 
 
 
Mark Smeed 
 
Head of Service | Customer Engagement & Complaints  

Page 12



1 
 

GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the special virtual meeting held at 6.00pm on 5 November 2020 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Pauline Tunnicliffe (Chairman) 
 

Councillor Stephen Wells (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 

Councillors Gareth Allatt, Vanessa Allen, Mary Cooke, 
Robert Evans, Kira Gabbert, Josh King, 
Christopher Marlow, Russell Mellor, Tony Owen, 
Neil Reddin FCCA, Melanie Stevens, Harry Stranger and 
Michael Turner 
 
 

 
 

 
107 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 

There were no apologies for absence. 
 
108  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 
109  QUESTIONS 

 
No questions had been received. 
 
110  TEACHER PAY POLICY 2020/21 - CENTRALLY BASED STAFF 

 
The Committee considered a report setting out the revised arrangements for 
Teachers Pay and Conditions in the statutory 2020 School Teachers’ Pay and 
Conditions document. The Council was required to have a pay policy in place 
setting out the arrangements for determining pay for all centrally based 
teaching staff – at 30th September 2020 this was 55 staff (42.66 FTE), mainly 
in roles supporting SEN.  
 
The report set out four options, ranging from doing the statutory minimum 
(option A) to adopting the National Pay Advisory points for the Main Pay 
Range and  applying the statutory uplifts to all other scales and allowances 
(option D). Option D was the most expensive at £55k pa but would be most 
effective in supporting recruitment and retention and simplifying the 
provisions.  
 
The Committee was informed that a Review Body was expected to report in 
the next year or so with recommendations to Government for a more 
consistent approach throughout the Education system – adopting Option D 
would align the Council with this process.  
 

Page 13



General Purposes and Licensing Committee 
5 November 2020 
 

2 

RESOLVED that  
 
(1) The report be noted and option (D) be approved in respect of 
Centrally Based Teaching Staff. 
 
(2) Officers be authorised to uplift the Pay Scales within the current Pay 
Policy accordingly and implement the new policy with effect from the 1st 
September 2020; there are no further changes required to the Policy this 
year.  
 
 
The Meeting ended at 6.18 pm 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 14



  

1 

Report No. 
FSD20091 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date:  25th November 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Non-Executive Non-Key 

Title: AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019/20 

Contact Officer: David Dobbs, Head of Corporate Finance & Accounting 
Tel: 020 8313 4145    E-mail:  david.dobbs@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Peter Turner, Director of Finance 
Tel: 020 8313 4668    E-mail:  peter.turner@bromley.gov.uk 

Ward: Borough Wide 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report sets out the current position and significant issues arising from the work carried out 
in relation to the external audit of the Council’s 2019/20 main Statement of Accounts and 
Pension Fund. 
 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 The Committee is requested to consider the external auditor’s Progress Report (attached 
as Appendix 1), which includes details of: 

(a)    Overall progress against the audit timetable and a revised completion date for the 
audit 

  (b)    Significant issues and material amendments identified through the audit process 

 (c) The position concerning outstanding objections and the impact on external audit 
work 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: None arising directly from this report  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy 
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Council wide 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £159.9m 2019/20 budget (excluding GLA precept) 
 

5. Source of funding: N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 2,061 FTE posts (per 2019/20 Budget) which includes 
504 for budgets delegated to schools 

 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: The statutory duties relating to financial reporting 
are covered within the Local Government Act 1972, the Local Government Finance Act 1998, 
the Local Government Act 2000, the Local Government Act 2002 and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 & 2020. 

 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: None arising directly from this report    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): The 2019/20 final accounts 
reflect the financial impact of the Council’s strategies and service plans which impact on all of 
the Council’s customers, including council tax payers and users of our services.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments: Council Wide  

Page 16



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Background 

3.1 The draft 2019/20 accounts were approved by the Director of Finance on 30th June 2020 and 
were published on the Council’s website. The Council’s Accounts and related records were 
made available for public inspection for 30 working days between 1st July and 11th August 
2020; no objections were made in relation to the 2019/20 accounts. 

 
3.2 Owing to the Coronavirus pandemic, the Accounts and Audit Regulations were revised to 

allow extra time for local authorities to produce their draft accounts and for the audit to be 
completed. The deadline for the production and Director of Finance sign-off of draft accounts 
was amended from 31st May to 31st August. As noted above, Bromley’s draft accounts were 
approved on 30th June.  The deadline for completion of the audit and publication of the final 
accounts was amended from 31st July to 30th November. 

 
 Progress 

3.3 The external auditor, EY, started its audit work in August, with a planned completion date to 
allow for finalisation and reporting the results of the completed audit to this meeting. Whilst 
good progress has been made in most areas, there have been delays in the provision of 
information to EY and in responding to auditor queries. Some delays have occurred due to the 
pandemic, with officers working off site and documentation not being readily accessible in an 
electronic format (in some cases paper documents and records required bulk scanning).  
Additionally, as noted by EY, much larger sample sizes were selected for audit review which 
has resulted in an increased workload for officers.  Details of the key outstanding matters and 
evidence are included in EY’s report.  

 
3.4 EY’s progress report also includes details of the mis-statements and significant issues that the 

audit has identified. Most significantly, the report highlights matters in relation to Property, 
Plant & Equipment and Investment Properties where further information is required for EY to 
properly conclude its audit work. Moreover, an error concerning depreciation on Land & 
Buildings will require an adjustment in the 2019/20 accounts and also a prior period 
adjustment; this will require significant work by officers to rectify and owing to this and other 
outstanding matters, it has been agreed with EY that a revised timetable for completion of the 
audit should be put in place to allow revised deprecation calculations to take place and for 
information in response to all other queries to be collated and provided to EY. 

 
 Revised timetable  

3.5  Based on discussions with EY, a revised timetable has been agreed which will allow for 
completion of the audit and a report to be made to this committee on 23 March 2021. Whilst a 
separate opinion is signed in relation to the Pension Fund, EY has indicated that it will not be 
possible for the Pension Fund audit to be completed in advance of the main Statement of 
Accounts; finalisation is therefore expected to occur concurrently in March 2021. 

 
Objections to the Accounts 

3.6 In its report, EY has reiterated the position in relation to objections to the accounts for 2016/17, 
2017/18 and 2018/19. Whilst the objections remain outstanding, the external audit activity in 
relation to these years cannot be formally concluded. Additionally, EY has indicated that it will 
not issue a value for money conclusion for 2018/19 until the objection in relation to that year 
has been concluded; this work is not expected to formally commence until the objections for 
2016/17 and 2017/18 are concluded by auditor at that time, KPMG. As required by the 
Accounts and Audit regulations, an explanatory statement has been published on the 
Council’s website. 

 

Page 17



  

4 

 
 
 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The final revenue and capital outturns for 2019/20 were reported to the Executive, Resources 
& Contract PDS on 27th May 2020. Members should refer to these reports for detailed 
information on variations from approved budgets. 

 
4.2 The external audit fee for this period is subject to discussions between officers and EY.  

Additionally, is not yet possible to provide an accurate estimate for the fees relating to 
objections to the 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 accounts.  

 
   

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The revised Accounts and Audit Regulations require the Statement of Accounts to be signed 
and dated by the responsible financial officer by 31st August immediately following the end of 
the financial year and subsequently to be considered and approved by a Committee of the 
Council, or by the Council meeting as a whole, before 30th November.  Since completion of the 
2019/20 will be delayed beyond 30th November, as required by the Regulations, an 
explanatory statement will be published on the Council’s website. 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
Policy, Personnel, Procurement Implications. 
 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Provisional Final Accounts – Executive, Resources & 
Contract PDS 27th May 2020; 
Capital Programme Outturn – Executive, Resources & 
Contract PDS 27th May 2020; 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2019/20; 
Service Reporting Code of Practice 2019/20; 
The Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020; 
Final accounts supporting papers are held by the Technical 
and Control Team. 
 

 

Page 18



London Borough of 
Bromley
Progress Update
Year ended 31 March 2020

12 November 2020

P
age 19



2

Private and Confidential 13 November 2020 

Dear Committee Members

We are pleased to attach our Audit Progress Report. 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an overview of the current status of the Council’s and the Pension Fund’s 2019/20 
audits, and an outline of our plans to complete the audits. This report is a key mechanism in ensuring that the Committee is fully appraised of 
audit progress and key issues as they arise. We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you as well as understand whether there are 
other matters which you consider may influence our audits. 

Our audits are undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office’s 2015 
Code of Audit Practice, the Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and other 
professional requirements.

This report is intended solely for the use of the Committee, other members of the Authority, and senior management. It should not be used for 
any other purpose or given to any other party without obtaining our written consent.

We would like to thank your staff for their help during the engagement so far.

Yours faithfully 

Janet Dawson

Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Encl

P
age 20



3

Contents

Audit 
Differences

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited body and the PSAA website 
(https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/)).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It 
summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 
The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National 
Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature. 

This Audit Results Report is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, as appointed auditor, 
take no responsibility to any third party. 

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you may take the issue up 
with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Hywel Ball, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any 
complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our service, you may of course take matters up with our professional 
institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

Progress Update01 Timetable for 2019/20 
Completion02

P
age 21

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/


4

Progress Update01

P
age 22



5

2019/20 Financial Statements

We issued our 2019/20 Audit Plan in July 2020 where we outlined how we intend to carry out our responsibilities as auditor, including our proposed audit approach. 

Our year-end procedures to date have confirmed that the risks identified in the Audit Plan remain appropriate. These were:

Significant risks

• Misstatements due to fraud or error*

• Risk of fraud in revenue recognition through inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure)*

• Valuation of land and building*

• IAS 19 – Valuations*

Other areas of audit focus

• IFRS 16 – Leases - The adoption of IFRS 16 by CIPFA as the basis for preparation of Local Authority financial statements has been deferred to 2021/22.

• Going Concern Compliance with ISA 570

• Impact of Covid-19

*- denotes significant risk 

Designation of the audit as close monitoring

We previously communicated that the London Borough of Bromley audit has been designated as close monitoring by EY in 2019/20 due to the following risk factors:

➢ The 2018/19 financial statements sign-off was significantly delayed due to pervasive errors found during the audit of PPE valuations. In addition, the systems and 
processes that supported the audit process for 2018/19 did not support data analytics well, were manual in design and relied heavily on a small and over stretched 
team. Changes in the finance team since the 2018/19 audit increase the risk to the Council that knowledge of those processes has been lost, which may make the 
closedown process more difficult and the risk of error greater. We also need to work closely with officers to ensure that current audit regulatory reporting requirements 
to those charged with governance are understood and met, thereby allowing effective communication of audit findings and recommendations for improvements.

➢ Outstanding objections relating to procurement from prior years. KPMG are yet to conclude their work regarding objections in 2016/17 and 2017/18. Therefore, it 
is unclear if the issues being reviewed relate only to procurement or potentially identifies a wider management issue. As a result, we have been unable to conclude our 
work on the value for money conclusion for 2018/19.

Year-end impact of close monitoring status

➢ Involvement of EY Real Estate to value a sample of properties

➢ Involvement of EY Pensions Consulting to review McCloud and Goodwin impacts

➢ Reduction in our planning materiality and tolerable error level for the audit to 1% of gross revenue expenditure and 50% of planning materiality respectively, which 
drives higher sample sizes across our areas of testing, and which lowers the thresholds above which we report to the committee on errors identified during the audit.

Status of the London Borough of Bromley 2019/20 audit

P
age 23



6

2019/20 Financial Statements (continued)

Post Statements Audit

We started our year-end audit in August 2020 with completion planned for mid-October. We have made good progress on all areas of the financial statements except 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties, although we have encountered significant delays in receiving audit evidence to support our work. We have 
addressed this through allocation of additional resources on the audit and regular communication with key personnel at the Council. 

During our procedures to pick samples, we noted there were delays in providing the transaction listings for Trade receivables and Trade payables. Similarly, due to the 
audit being designated as close monitoring, we have tested a larger sample in all areas, and particularly relating to Income and Expenditure. The delays in receiving 
supporting information and/or obtaining transaction listings means we are unable to conclude on those areas at this stage.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties

Valuation - Given the significance of the valuations of assets at Bromley and based on prior year knowledge, we involved our internal property valuation experts in the 
audit of the valuations from the beginning of our audit. The Council has not provided the evidence to support the base data information as per our agreed timelines and 
therefore we are still awaiting this information. 

Existence – During our review of existence of properties owned by the Council, we were unable to gain evidence to confirm existence of the furniture and equipment in 
the financial statements. We have been informed in 2019/20 that this is calculated on a straight line percentage of certain elements land and buildings. This also led to 
an increased focus on valuation of these assets. As the value of furniture and equipment is material and we were unable to obtain evidence of existence of these assets, 
the Council has planned to commission chartered surveyors to obtain further information to support existence and value of these assets. We recognise that this is a time 
consuming process and could not be completed in time for our review during this visit.

Depreciation – Our procedures showed that depreciation charged on Land and Building category of PPE did not include charges on revalued assets. The Council has 
provided draft estimates for the impact of this error and as this is above our materiality threshold, it meets the criteria for a prior year adjustment. Officers have 
requested additional time to ensure that they process the calculations and adjustments accurately. Therefore, we have agreed that this will be corrected by the Council 
in time for our next visit.

Given the issues identified in these areas, we have been unable to complete the audit of property, plant and equipment and investment property at this visit.

The following sets out the main areas of the audit that are outstanding subject to the receipt of information requested:

• Testing of outstanding supporting documents in Income, Expenditure, Accounts Payable, Grants Receipts in Advance.

• Testing of Properties, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties.

• Finalisation of financial instruments, REFCUS, contract review.

• Finalisation of adjustments (all below Tolerable Error) and amendments in the disclosure notes.

• Assessment of the provided disclosure of going concern consideration in the accounts.

Status of the London Borough of Bromley 2019/20 audit

P
age 24



7

Status of the London Borough of Bromley 2019/20 audit

Annual audit letter

Until we have completed our work on the financial statements, and issued our audit results report, we are unable to issue the annual audit letter. 

We are required to complete the annual audit letter within one month of the audit opinion. We will agree with officers, and discuss with you at the Audit Committee 
meeting, the most appropriate way to circulate the annual audit letter, given the next scheduled meeting of the Audit Committee is likely to be March 2021.

Value for Money Conclusion

We have been unable to conclude on our value for money conclusion for 2018/19 until KPMG conclude on the outstanding objections from prior years. Therefore, we 
have been unable to complete our risk assessment process for 2019/20. However, we have not identified any significant risks to the conclusion to date. 

Material amendments identified

We highlight the following misstatements greater than £0.28m that have been identified through the work we have undertaken to date. 

• Depreciation – Based on the procedures performed to test depreciation charged in year we noted that there was no charge made on properties revalued in the year. 
This has an impact of £3.6m in the current year and £4.3m on the prior year depreciation charge. The finance team have agreed to correct this.

• Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) Additions - We noted that some assets that were under construction as at the end of the financial year were classified as 
additions. This reclassification error was projected over the remaining population and we note that financial impact of this misstatement is £0.9m. 

• Pensions - The impact of the Goodwin judgement has been assessed as immaterial by the Council and its actuarial specialist. We have calculated the understatement 
of the Council’s liability to be £853,487, based on our internal specialist’s range. As this is a judgemental misstatement, we would not expect the Council to amend 
the financial statements, however it is above our reporting thresholds and therefore will be reported in our Audit results Report.

• Cash flow Statement – An amount of £1.5m that was not received by the end of the financial year was recorded as a receipt which led to overstatement of Financing 
activities and understatement of non-cash adjustments in the cash flow statement. The finance team have agreed to correct this.

• Other - Through our sample testing in PPE Additions and Creditors, we noted discrepancies in the amounts recorded which led to projection of such errors over the 
respective remaining population to assess the impact. In these cases, the impact was below our reporting threshold however we have communicated these to the 
management and will keep these under review to assess the cumulative impact before sign off.

P
age 25



8

2019/20 Pension Fund Financial Statements

Post Statements Audit

We issued our 2019/20 Audit Plan in July 2020 where we outlined how we intend to carry out our responsibilities as auditor, including our proposed audit approach. 

Our year-end procedures to date confirmed that the risks identified in the Audit Plan remain appropriate. These were:

Significant risks:

• Misstatements due to fraud or error

• Risk of fraud in revenue recognition through inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure) - Posting of investment journals

Other risks

• Valuation of investments under Level 2 Fair Value hierarchy

• Impact of Covid-19, including going concern

As agreed with management, we started our year-end audit in August 2020 with completion planned for September. However, the Pension Fund have been unable to 
provide some of the audit evidence supporting the accounts in a timely manner to enable us to progress the audit as planned.

As at the date of this report the main areas of the audit that are outstanding and subject to the receipt of information requested are:

• Testing of outstanding supporting documents and responses to queries in walkthrough documents, journal entry testing and short term borrowings

• Completion of testing of investment assets, investment income and profit/loss on disposal of investments subject to the receipt of the reconciliation of the trial 
balance to the financial statements and management response to differences noted in the testing.

• Finalisation of adjustments (all below Tolerable Error) and amendments in the disclosure notes.

• Assessment of the provided disclosure of going concern consideration in the accounts. Once we have completed our review we will need to comply with our internal 
consultation processes in relation to going concern. 

• Completion of membership data testing to support the triennial review which we require to provide IAS19 assurances to the auditor of the London Borough of 
Bromley.

We have agreed a number of amendments to the financial statements including changes to the categorisation of assets between level 2 and level 3 assets; enhanced 
going concern disclosures; other minor adjustments and disclosures to ensure consistency in the financial statements. 

We are unable to sign the opinion for the Pension Fund until the audit of the London Borough for Bromley is complete for 2019/20.

Status of the Bromley Pension Fund 2019/20 audit

P
age 26



Timetable for 2019/20 Completion02

P
age 27



10

Audit Timetable for 2019/20 Completion

Timetable of communication and deliverables

2019/20 audit

We have agreed a timetable with officers that should provide sufficient time to gather all the outstanding information and make the required changes to the financial 
statements in such areas as depreciation and furniture and equipment.

• Audit team to return w/c 8 February 2021 for 2 weeks to complete the audit of all outstanding areas

• Audit of WGA w/c 22 February 2021

• Report the Audit Results Report to the General Purposes and Licensing Committee on 23 March 2021

Achieving the timetable set out above is dependent on officers providing all outstanding information and providing revised financial statements including the agreed 
amendments for both the London Borough of Bromley and Bromley pension Fund.

P
age 28



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Consultancy

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the 
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver 
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a 
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for 
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or 
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each 
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a 
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit 
ey.com.

© 2020 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not 
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer 
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

P
age 29



T
his page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
FSD20075 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: AUDIT SUB-COMMITTEE 
GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date:  3 November 2020/25th November 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: THE REDMOND REVIEW OF LOCAL AUTHORITY FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 

Contact Officer: David Hogan, Head of Audit and Assurance 
Tel: 020 8313 4886    E-mail:  david.hogan@bromley.gov.uk  

David Dobbs, Head of Corporate Finance and Accounting 
Tel: 020 8313 4145    E-mail:  david.dobbs@bromley.gov.uk  
 

Chief Officer: Peter Turner, Director of Finance 
Tel: 020 8313 4668   E-mail:  peter.turner@bromley.gov.uk  

Ward: Borough Wide 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report sets out the results of the Redmond Review of Local Authority Financial Reporting 
and External Audit as published on 8th September.  The report contains a number of 
recommendations which, subject to further clarification and legislation, will impact on the 
Council in a number of areas. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The Committee is requested to consider and note the results of the Redmond Review of 
Local Authority Financial Reporting and External Audit (refer to the Appendix for the full 
report) and the recommendations contained therein. 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6

mailto:david.hogan@bromley.gov.uk
mailto:david.dobbs@bromley.gov.uk
mailto:peter.turner@bromley.gov.uk


  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: None arising directly from this report 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy 
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: External Audit 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £244,506 for the authority and £22,600 for the Pension Fund.   
 

5. Source of funding: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   Not Applicable 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   Not applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement – The report concerns the statutory requirements 
required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: The report contains recommendations that may, at 
some point in the future, alter the mechanism by which the Council procures its external auditor.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): Not applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Council Wide 
 
 

Page 32



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Background to the Review 

3.1 The Redmond Review is one of four key reviews that have recently examined different aspects 
of the scope and quality of external audit in the UK, as set out below: 

 Kingman Review into the Financial reporting Council (published December 2018) 

 Competition and Market’s Authority Review into the UK statutory audit market (April   
2019) 

 Brydon Review into the Quality and Effectiveness of Audit (December 2019) 

 Redmond Review of the Quality of Local Authority Financial Reporting and External 
Audit (September 2020). 

3.2 The Redmond review of local authority financial reporting and external audit was instigated in 
July 2019 by the [then] Communities Secretary Rt Hon James Brokenshire MP.  The review 
focuses on the arrangements in place to support the transparency and quality of local authority 
financial reporting and external audit including those introduced by the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.  The review considers the quality of local authority audits and whether 
they are highlighting when an organisation is in financial trouble early enough.  Additionally, it 
also looked at whether the public has lost faith in auditors and whether the current audit 
arrangements for Councils are still ‘fit for purpose’. 

Scope of the Review 

3.3 The review was led by the former President of CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy) Sir Tony Redmond. He is also a former local authority Treasurer and Chief 
Executive. 

3.4 At the outset the following questions were identified as focus areas for the review: 

 Have the financial savings from local audit reforms been realised?  

 Is there a more accessible audit market and has there been an increase in audit 
providers?  

 Have audit standards been maintained or improved, and not been compromised? 

 Is there an ‘expectation gap’ in what external audit provides? What is the nature of the 
gap and how can it be filled? 

 Are auditors properly responding to questions or objections by local taxpayers?  

 Are auditors using their reporting powers in an appropriate way?  

 Are audit recommendations effective in helping local authorities to improve their 
financial management?  

 Are councils responding to auditor recommendations in an appropriate manner?  

 Whether local authority accounts report financial performance including use of 
resources against budget in a manner that is transparent and comprehensible to 
Council Taxpayers and the general public?  

Page 33



  

4 

 Does the financial information provided in local authority accounts facilitate scrutiny by 
local taxpayers and by the local press?  

 Recommendations 

3.5 The report makes a number of recommendations, many of which can be implemented without 
the need for primary legislation.  However, the recommendation (described below) for the 
establishment of a new regulatory body will require a change in the law. Other important 
legislation on audit reform, implementing the Kingman and Brydon reviews is also pending. 

3.6 The key recommendations made in the review are as follows: 

3.6.1 Establishment of a new regulator OLAR (the Office of Local Audit and Regulation) to oversee, 
procure, manage and regulate the external audits of local authorities in England. If accepted, 
some of the existing regulatory responsibilities that currently sit with ICAEW, FRC, PSAA and 
the NAO would transfer to this new body. 

3.6.2 Governance arrangements to be reviewed, such that: 

a) An annual report from the external auditor should be submitted to the first Full Council 
meeting after 30 September 

b) Consideration given to having at least one independent member on local authority audit 
committees with sufficient training and expertise to support elected representatives in 
scrutinising local authority finances 

c) There will be a formal requirement for the Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer to meet at least annually with the Key Audit Partner of the external 
auditor 

d) External Audit recognises Internal Audit work can be a key support in appropriate 
circumstances where consistent with the Code of Practice 

e) A simplified standard financial statement of services and costs to be made available to the 
public and subject to audit. For 2020/21 the statement will be produced on a trial basis, and 
no audit will be required, with full implementation as an audited statement in 2021/22 

f) The CIPFA-LASAAC Board to review the statutory accounts to see if improvements can be 
made to improve their usefulness and understandability 

g) The deadline for publishing audited local authority accounts to be revisited with a view to 
extending it to 30th September (from 31st July). 

3.7 A complete list of the recommendations and the corresponding detailed findings can be found in 
the full Report (refer to the Appendix).  As and when the recommendations are codified in 
guidance or enacted through legislation, officers will update Members on the Council’s 
response. 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Fees are agreed annually with the external auditor to cover the cost of their annual audit 
activity. For 2020/21 the proposed fee is under consideration. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The review focused on the arrangements for local authority financial reporting and auditing put 
in place by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Some of the recommendations in the 
Report will require primary legislation to be enacted. 

Page 34



  

5 

6. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The Redmond Review includes recommendations which, if implemented, will alter the 
procurement arrangements for local authority external auditors. Further details on this will be 
provided to Members 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
Policy, Personnel Implications. 
 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

None. 

 

Page 35



This page is left intentionally blank



 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Sir Tony Redmond 
September 2020 

Independent Review into the Oversight 
of Local Audit and the Transparency of 
Local Authority Financial Reporting 

Page 37



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2020 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 
the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

September 2020

Page 38

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


1 
 

The Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP 

Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
2 Marsham Street 
London, SW1P 4DF 
 

Dear Secretary of State,  

In June 2019, I was asked to undertake an independent review of the effectiveness of local audit and 
the transparency of local authority financial reporting.  I am grateful for the opportunity given to me 
by ministers to conduct this Review.  Whilst conducting the Review my guiding principles have been 
accountability and transparency.  How are local authorities accountable to service users and 
taxpayers and how are auditors accountable for the quality of their work; and how easy is it for those 
same individuals to understand how their local authority has performed and what assurance they can 
take from external audit work. 

This report sets out my conclusions. It makes detailed proposals for a new organisation with the 
clarity of mission and purpose to act as the system leader for the local audit framework; and for a 
standardised statement of service information and costs, compared to the annual budget, that is 
aimed at taxpayers and service users. 

As I conducted my work, it became clear that the local audit market is very fragile.  The current fee 
structure does not enable auditors to fulfil the role in an entirely satisfactory way. With 40% of audits 
failing to meet the required deadline for report in 2018/19, this signals a serious weakness in the 
ability of auditors to comply with their contractual obligations. In addition, the ambition of attracting 
new audit firms to the local authority market has not been realised.  Without prompt action to 
implement my recommendations, there is a significant risk that the firms currently holding local audit 
contracts will withdraw from the market. 

It will be possible to achieve part, but only part, of what needs to be done without legislation.  
However, it is important to emphasise that to fully achieve the vision set out in the Review, primary 
legislation will be essential. Only this can give the new organisation the tools it needs to do its job 
and to rebuild the sustainability of the local audit market.  

I should like to thank:  

• First, all those stakeholders who have engaged with the Review and responded to the 
Review’s Call for Views;  

• Second, the excellent team which has supported the Review’s work: Ollie Hulme, Joe Pilgrim, 
Beth Addison and Gareth Caller; and 

• Third, all the members of the Review’s advisory group: Lynn Pamment, Maggie McGhee, 
Professor Laurence Ferry, Catherine Frances, Vicky Rock, Richard Hornby and Mark Holmes. 
This formidable group provided much wise guidance and counsel, as well as lively challenge 
and debate, for which I am hugely grateful. 

Responsibility for the Review’s conclusions and recommendations, is however, mine and mine 
alone. 

 

Sir Tony Redmond 

 

Page 39



2 
 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary.................................................................................................. 3 

Recommendations.................................................................................................... 5 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................... 8 

2. The direction and regulation of local audit .................................................. 10 

3. Procurement of local audit ............................................................................ 19 

4. Audit performance ......................................................................................... 26 

5. Governance arrangements in place for responding to audit      
recommendations .......................................................................................... 39 

6 Audit work on the financial resilience of local authorities ......................... 46 

7. Financial reporting in local government ...................................................... 56 

8. Smaller authorities ......................................................................................... 64 

9. Conclusions .................................................................................................... 72 

10. List of Annexes .............................................................................................. 75 

Appendix – Glossary of Key Terms, Acronyms and Abbreviations ................... 76 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



3 
 

Executive Summary 

• This Review has examined the effectiveness of local audit and its ability to demonstrate 
accountability for audit performance to the public. It has also considered whether the 
current means of reporting the Authority’s annual accounts enables the public to 
understand this financial information and receive the appropriate assurance that the 
finances of the authority are sound. It is important to note that this Review encompasses 
not only principal local authorities but also PCCs, Fire and Rescue Authorities, Parish 
Councils and Meetings and Drainage Boards. 

 
• The Review has received 156 responses to the Calls for Views and carried out more 

than 100 interviews. Serious concerns have been expressed regarding the state of the 
local audit market and the ultimate effectiveness of the work undertaken by audit firms. 
This is not to say that the audits are carried out unprofessionally but there remains a 
question of whether such audit reports deliver full assurance on the financial 
sustainability and value for money of every authority subject to audit. A particular feature 
of the evidence submitted relates to concern about the balance of price and quality in 
the structure of audit contracts.  

 
• A regular occurrence in the responses to the calls for views suggests that the current fee 

structure does not enable auditors to fulfil the role in an entirely satisfactory way. To 
address this concern an increase in fees must be a consideration. With 40% of audits 
failing to meet the required deadline for report in 2018/19, this signals a serious 
weakness in the ability of auditors to comply with their contractual obligations. The 
current deadline should be reviewed. A revised date of 30 September gathered 
considerable support amongst respondents who expressed concern about this current 
problem. This only in part addresses the quality problem. The underlying feature of the 
existing framework is the absence of a body to coordinate all stages of the audit process. 
Although there is some scope to effect alterations to the individual roles, appropriately 
fulfilled with the existing framework, this would not achieve the overriding objective of 
providing a coherent local audit function which offers assurance to stakeholders and the 
public in terms of performance and accountability of the local authority and the auditor.  

 
• Consequently, a key recommendation is to create a new regulatory body responsible for 

procurement, contract management, regulation, and oversight of local audit. It is 
recognised that the new body will liaise with the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) with 
regard to its role in setting auditing standards. The engagement of audit firms to perform 
the local audit role would be accompanied by a new price/quality regime to ensure that 
audits were performed by auditors who possessed the skills, expertise and experience 
necessary to fulfil the audit of local authorities. These auditors would be held accountable 
for performance by the new regulator, underpinned by the updated code of local audit 
practice. A further recommendation is to formalise the engagement between local audit 
and Inspectorates to share findings which might have relevance to the bodies concerned.  

 
• The Regulator would be supported by a Liaison Committee comprising key stakeholders 

and chaired by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).  
The new regulatory body would be small and focused and would not represent a body 
which has the same or similar features as the Audit Commission.  

 

Page 41



4 
 

• The report recognises that local audit is subject to less critical findings in respect of audit 
procurement and quality relating to smaller authorities. However, the recommendations 
include a review by Smaller Authorities’ Audit Appointments (SAAA) of current 
arrangements relating to the proportionality of small authority audits together with the 
process for managing vexatious complaints where issues have been raised by those 
bodies which have experienced such challenges.  

 
• Governance in respect of the consideration and management of audit reports by 

authorities has also been examined in considerable detail. Based on evidence 
presented, there is merit in authorities examining the composition of Audit Committees 
in order to ensure that the required knowledge and expertise are always present when 
considering reports, together with the requirement that at least an annual audit report to 
be submitted to Full Council. This demonstrates transparency and accountability from a 
public perspective which is currently lacking in many authorities.  

 
• The issue of transparency is of equal relevance to the current presentation and 

publication of the annual accounts. Given that the feedback from practitioners and other 
key stakeholders revealed that current statutory accounts prepared by local authorities 
are considered to be impenetrable to the public, it is recommended that a simplified 
statement of service information and costs is prepared by each local authority in such a 
way as to enable comparison with the annual budget and council tax set for the year. 
This would enable Council taxpayers and service users to judge the performance of the 
local authority for each year of account. The new statement would be prepared in 
addition to the statutory accounts, which could be simplified. All means of communicating 
such information should be explored to achieve access to all communities.  

 
• The outcome of this Review is designed to deliver a new framework for effective local 

audit and an annual financial statement which enables all stakeholders to hold local 
authorities to account for their performance together with a robust and effective audit 
reporting regime.  

 
• Aside from the additional costs arising from a fee increase, the resource implications of 

the new regulatory body would amount to approximately £5m per annum after taking into 
account the amount related to staff subject to transfer under the TUPE arrangements. 

   
• Implementation of recommendations contained in this Review would, in part, require 

regulatory or legislative change but it is important to note that many of the issues 
identified in this report require urgent attention, given the current concerns about local 
audit demonstrated in this Review.  

Page 42



5 
 

Recommendations 
The recommendations of this Review are as follows: 

External Audit Regulation 
1. A new body, the Office of Local Audit and Regulation (OLAR), be created to manage, 

oversee and regulate local audit with the following key responsibilities:   
• procurement of local audit contracts;  
• producing annual reports summarising the state of local audit; 
• management of local audit contracts;  
• monitoring and review of local audit performance;  
• determining the code of local audit practice; and  
• regulating the local audit sector. 

 
2. The current roles and responsibilities relating to local audit discharged by the:  

• Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA);  
• Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW); 
• FRC/ARGA; and 
• The Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) 

to be transferred to the OLAR. 
 
3. A Liaison Committee be established comprising key stakeholders and chaired by 

MHCLG, to receive reports from the new regulator on the development of local audit. 
 
4. The governance arrangements within local authorities be reviewed by local councils with 

the purpose of: 
• an annual report being submitted to Full Council by the external auditor;  
• consideration being given to the appointment of at least one independent 

member, suitably qualified, to the Audit Committee; and  
• formalising the facility for the CEO, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

(CFO) to meet with the Key Audit Partner at least annually. 
 
5. All auditors engaged in local audit be provided with the requisite skills and training to 

audit a local authority irrespective of seniority. 
 
6. The current fee structure for local audit be revised to ensure that adequate resources 

are deployed to meet the full extent of local audit requirements. 
 
7. That quality be consistent with the highest standards of audit within the revised fee 

structure.  In cases where there are serious or persistent breaches of expected quality 
standards, OLAR has the scope to apply proportionate sanctions. 

 
8. Statute be revised so that audit firms with the requisite capacity, skills and experience 

are not excluded from bidding for local audit work. 
 
9. External Audit recognises that Internal Audit work can be a key support in appropriate 

circumstances where consistent with the Code of Audit Practice. 
 

Page 43



6 
 

10. The deadline for publishing audited local authority accounts be revisited with a view to 
extending it to 30 September from 31 July each year. 

 
11. The revised deadline for publication of audited local authority accounts be considered in 

consultation with NHSI(E) and DHSC, given that audit firms use the same auditors on 
both Local Government and Health final accounts work. 

 
12. The external auditor be required to present an Annual Audit Report to the first Full 

Council meeting after 30 September each year, irrespective of whether the accounts 
have been certified; OLAR to decide the framework for this report. 

 
13. The changes implemented in the 2020 Audit Code of Practice are endorsed; OLAR to 

undertake a post implementation review to assess whether these changes have led to 
more effective external audit consideration of financial resilience and value for money 
matters. 

 
Smaller Authorities Audit Regulation 

14. SAAA considers whether the current level of external audit work commissioned for 
Parish Councils, Parish Meetings and Internal Drainage Boards (IDBs) and Other 
Smaller Authorities is proportionate to the nature and size of such organisations. 

 
15. SAAA and OLAR examine the current arrangements for increasing audit activities and 

fees if a body’s turnover exceeds £6.5m. 
 
16. SAAA reviews the current arrangements, with auditors, for managing the resource 

implications for persistent and vexatious complaints against Parish Councils. 
 
Financial Resilience of local authorities 

17. MHCLG reviews its current framework for seeking assurance that financial sustainability 
in each local authority in England is maintained. 

 
18. Key concerns relating to service and financial viability be shared between Local Auditors 

and Inspectorates including Ofsted, Care Quality Commission and HMICFRS prior to 
completion of the external auditor’s Annual Report. 

 
Transparency of Financial Reporting 

19. A standardised statement of service information and costs be prepared by each authority 
and be compared with the budget agreed to support the council tax/precept/levy and 
presented alongside the statutory accounts.  

 
20. The standardised statement should be subject to external audit. 
 
21. The optimum means of communicating such information to council taxpayers/service 

users be considered by each local authority to ensure access for all sections of the 
communities. 

 
22. CIPFA/LASAAC be required to review the statutory accounts, in the light of the new 

requirement to prepare the standardised statement, to determine whether there is scope 

Page 44



7 
 

to simplify the presentation of local authority accounts by removing disclosures that may 
no longer be considered to be necessary.  

 
23. JPAG be required to review the Annual Governance and Accountability Return (AGAR) 

prepared by smaller authorities to see if it can be made more transparent to readers.  In 
doing so the following principles should be considered: 

• Whether “Section 2 – the Accounting Statements” should be moved to the first 
page of the AGAR so that it is more prominent to readers;  

• Whether budgetary information along with the variance between outturn and 
budget should be included in the Accounting Statements; and 

• Whether the explanation of variances provided by the authority to the auditor 
should be disclosed in the AGAR as part of the Accounting Statements. 

  

Page 45



8 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) introduced a new Audit 

regime for local government to replace the previous arrangements, under which the 
Audit Commission performed that role. This Review examines the effectiveness of 
local audit as now practised.  

 
1.2 The purpose of the Review is to test not only the impact of external audit activity in 

local government but also to look, critically, at how this helps to demonstrate public 
accountability, particularly to service users and council taxpayers. In a similar context 
the brief of the Review extends to the issues of transparency in financial reporting of 
local authorities, with attention being directed towards whether the annual accounts 
and associated published financial information can be readily understood by the 
public.  

 
1.3 The framework for local audit encompasses procurement, contract management and 

delivery, the code of audit practice and regulation and accountability for performance. 
All of these aspects of local audit have been examined in depth. Whilst the focus of 
this Review is on local audit and public accountability there are a number of related 
factors which have contributed to the shape and nature of the findings. Such matters 
include: the breadth and complexity of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS); the role of the sponsoring department (MHCLG); and the current state of the 
local audit market. Local authorities include Councils, Police and Crime 
Commissioners (PCCs), Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs), and National Parks 
Authorities.  NHS bodies are not local authorities and are outside the scope of this 
Review. 

 
1.4 It is also important to emphasise that the Review includes the functions of Police and 

Fire Services as well as Parish Councils and Drainage Boards and due regard has 
been paid to the specific requirements of these bodies, as appropriate.  

 
1.5 Substantial evidence has been collated from the ‘Call for Views’ and individual 

stakeholder meetings and this has formed the basis of the Report’s findings. The co-
operation received from all interested parties including local government practitioners, 
audit firms, professional accounting bodies, academia and the media and the general 
public has been much appreciated. All parties who have participated in the Review 
share a desire to ensure local audit is effective and that public accountability is seen 
to be achieved. The approach to the Review has sought to harness those valuable 
contributions. 

 
1.6 Attention has been paid to the findings of the Brydon and Kingman Reviews as well 

as the study carried out by the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA). Each of 
these reviews offers an insight into the principles and practices of auditors in the 
corporate sector, which have relevance to the public sector, including local 
government.  

 
1.7 While testing the quality of outcomes has been a key feature of this approach, 

attention has been directed towards the governance arrangements in the way in which 
audit reports are managed and reported. The focus here has been on the level of 

Page 46



9 
 

public awareness of audit findings. Current practices relating to the annual publication 
of financial information have also been reviewed with an emphasis on the 
transparency, access and intelligibility of such reports.   

 
1.8 In examining options for change to the current local audit arrangements, account has 

also been taken of the potential resource implications of any new initiative or 
development contained in the recommendations. 

 
 
 

 
 

Sir Tony Redmond 
  

Page 47



10 
 

2. The direction and regulation of local audit  
2.1 Introduction  
2.1.1 The direction and regulation of local audit must be structured as to enable public 

accountability to be served. Each stage of the local audit process must adhere to this 
and remain consistent throughout. Ultimately, the direction and regulation of audit 
must be coherent, consistent in quality monitoring and fulfil the public accountability 
principle. The test, therefore, is whether the current arrangements deliver that, or can 
be altered to achieve that, or whether a new structure for the local audit regulatory 
framework needs to be put in place.   
 

2.1.2 Public Interest Reports may be seen as relating to the local community’s 
serious concern, but these are rarely used. In any event, council taxpayers are 
entitled to know the outcome of the annual statutory audit whether it be positive or 
negative.  

  
2.2 Overview of the Regulatory Framework  
2.2.1 The 2014 Act split the responsibilities formerly carried out by the Audit Commission 

between a range of bodies.  Figure 2.1 summarises the entities that have a significant 
role or influence on the accounting, audit and governance framework within which 
local authorities operate.   

 
2.2.2 Currently there are six different entities with a statutory role in overseeing and/or 

regulating elements of the local authority accounting and audit framework. This 
framework is further complicated by the fact that different elements apply to different 
sectors.  The elements of the audit framework undertaken by the C&AG, FRC and the 
ICAEW apply jointly to the local authorities and NHS bodies in England.  However, 
whereas PSAA is the appointing body for 98% of local authority audits, NHS bodies 
do not have an appointing body and as such appoint their own auditors. By 
comparison the accounting framework applies to local authorities in England, 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, but not to the NHS.   
 

2.2.3 Another challenge is that the local authority sector is not the main focus for some of 
the regulatory bodies; specifically:    

• The C&AG and National Audit Office’s (NAO’s) responsibilities relate mainly to 
holding central government departments to account on behalf of Parliament.  

• The vast majority of the FRC’s and the ICAEW’s work relates to the private 
sector, and in the FRC’s case, to regulating the audit and corporate 
governance arrangements within listed companies known as Public Interest 
Entities (“PIEs”).  
   

2.2.4 Finally, none of the six entities with responsibility for the different elements of the 
framework has a statutory responsibility, either to act as a system leader or to make 
sure that the framework operates in a joined-up and coherent manner. Although 
various ad hoc forums have been set up to share information, it is not clear how the 
membership and remit of these has been agreed.  As a result, the lack of co-ordination 
and the lack of a system leader is widely recognised as a weakness in the 
framework by most of the stakeholder groups.   

 

Page 48



11 
 

Figure 2.1 
The Local Authority Governance, Audit and Accounting Framework 2018-19 

 
2.3 Functions of the bodies responsible for the framework 

PSAA Ltd  
2.3.1 One of the original objectives behind the 2014 Act was to widen participation in 

the local audit market by allowing local authorities to appoint their own auditors.  Once 
the Act had passed, it became clear that the auditor appointment provisions in the 
2014 Act were onerous and there was little appetite amongst local authorities to 
appoint their own auditors.  As a result, MHCLG ran a tender exercise to identify an 
entity which would act as an appointing person for local authority audits. 

 
2.3.2 PSAA, a new company set up by the Local Government Association (LGA), was the 

only bidder and accordingly was designated as an appointing person under 
legislation.  Under the transitional arrangements, PSAA was given the responsibility 
of managing the framework contracts let by the Audit Commission in 2012 and 2014, 
and during the period to 2017-18 producing a report summarising the results of local 
authority and NHS audits.  

 

Page 49



12 
 

2.3.3 Category 1 Authorities1 were given the choice of opting in or out of the PSAA 
arrangements.  Most (currently 98%) chose to opt in.   

 
2.3.4 In 2017 PSAA let the new local audit framework contracts, active from the 2018-19 

financial year. PSAA’s current responsibilities2 are:  
• To perform the functions of an appointing person for local authority audits;  
• To take steps to ensure that public money is properly accounted for and 

protected;  
• To oversee the delivery of consistent high quality and effective audit 

services; and  
• To ensure effective management of audit contracts.  

More detail on the contracting process and on audit quality is contained in Chapters 
3 and 4 respectively. 

  
The C&AG and the NAO  

2.3.5 The C&AG is responsible for laying the Code of Local Audit Practice in 
Parliament.  The C&AG is supported in this work by a small Local Audit Code and 
Guidance (LACG) team, which is part of the NAO.  The LACG team is responsible for 
the preparation, maintenance and publication of the C&AG’s Code of Audit Practice 
and supporting guidance to auditors. LACG undertakes the full range of activities 
associated with these responsibilities including:  
• providing a point of contact to address significant issues raised by auditors and 

other stakeholders that may require the update of the Code of Audit Practice or 
issuing guidance to auditors; and  

• facilitating timely engagement with, and advice to, auditors and other stakeholders 
to facilitate consistency of approach on significant issues – for example, through 
convening and providing secretariat support to a Local Auditors Advisory Group.  

 
2.3.6 The 2014 Act provides the C&AG with the power to issue guidance to auditors which 

may explain or supplement the provisions of the Code of Audit Practice. The Act 
requires auditors to have regard to such guidance. The NAO maintains a series of 
Auditor Guidance Notes (AGNs) to support auditors in their work and facilitate 
consistency of approach between auditors of the same types of entity. The 2015 Code 
is supplemented by seven AGNs.  These apply equally across local government and 
the NHS.  The AGN on value for money arrangements is supplemented by sector 
specific supporting information. 

 
2.3.7 The 2014 Act gives the C&AG the responsibility for undertaking value for money 

investigations on local government.  However, the C&AG does not have the power to 
make recommendations directly to local authorities.  This means that when a value 
for money study finds that one or more local authorities have breached either the letter 
or the spirit of the statutory framework, the accompanying recommendations must be 
addressed to MHCLG or Treasury, if they relate to the Public Works Loan Board, as 
the responsible central government departments.  
 

 
1 “Category 1 authority” means a relevant authority that either— (a) is not a smaller authority; or (b) is a smaller 
authority that has chosen to prepare its accounts for the purpose of a full audit in accordance with regulation 8 of the 
Smaller Authorities Regulations 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/pdfs/uksi_20150234_en.pdf 

Page 50

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/pdfs/uksi_20150234_en.pdf


13 
 

2.3.8 The main roles of the C&AG and the NAO are to support Parliament in holding 
government to account, through auditing the accounts of government departments 
and arms-length bodies and undertaking value for money investigations.  When the 
NAO undertook the 2019 study on Local Authority Governance, which included work 
on local authority audit, the team did not include the Audit Code within the scope of 
the review.  This was to avoid the risk of self-review.  As a result, the findings of that 
report could not take account of an element of the governance framework.  
 
The Financial Reporting Council  

2.3.9 The FRC is responsible for issuing standards and guidance to auditors for use in the 
UK.  The suite of standards is known as International Standards on Auditing (UK), and 
apply equally to audits of local authorities and entities in other sectors. 
 

2.3.10 During the transitional arrangements operating from 2015-16 to 2017-18, the FRC 
had no formal responsibility for assessing the quality of local authority audit.  PSAA 
took the decision to contract the FRC to undertake six quality assurance reviews of 
local authority audits, with coverage of at least one from each firm.  In practice, the 
FRC conducted quality assurance reviews of seven audits in both 2016-17 and in 
2017-18.  This is because the FRC’s methodology requires them to re-review all audits 
that received an unsatisfactory quality assurance review score in the prior year.  The 
results of these quality reviews are discussed in Chapter 4. 

 
2.3.11 From 2018-19, the FRC has taken on statutory responsibility for quality assurance 

reviews of the 230 larger local authority audits.  It treats the NHS and local 
government bodies as a single population and, to maintain equivalence with their 
coverage of the audit of PIEs, look to cover at least 5% of that population in each 
year.  For 2018-19, the sample included 3 NHS bodies and 12 local 
authorities.  Because some of the audits originally selected for quality review were not 
complete when the FRCs Audit Quality Review team conducted its fieldwork, these 
had to be replaced with other audits.  The results of the 2018-19 quality assurance 
reviews are expected to be available in the Autumn of 2020.  

 
2.3.12 The methodology adopted for quality assuring audits in local authority sector is 

broadly equivalent to that of the Public Interest Entities sector.  The review team 
focuses on what is on the audit file and assesses the extent to which that complies 
with the applicable quality framework.  The document review is supplemented 
by meetings with the audit team and the Chair of the Audit Committee.  

 
2.3.13 Formal client communications are included within the scope of the quality 

review.  However, ongoing liaison between auditors and local authorities would 
be assessed only if included on the audit file.  

 
2.3.14 Unlike for PIE audits, the FRC does not have the power to fine audit firms if the quality 

of their local authority audits proves to be deficient.  However, all of the firms active in 
the market indicated that they are very conscious of the reputational damage of a poor 
rating from the FRC for one of their local authority audits.  

 
2.3.15 FRC is of the view that the perception that it focuses mainly on asset valuations 

understates the scope of their quality reviews.  It also believes that if a focus on asset 

Page 51



14 
 

and pension valuations is inappropriate, this is the responsibility of the partnership 
between CIPFA (England, Northern Ireland and Wales) and the Local Authority 
(Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee (LASAAC) known as CIPFA/LASAAC to 
resolve, through modifications to the Accounting Code.  
 

2.3.16 The FRC is in the process of being reconstituted as the Audit Reporting and 
Governance Authority (ARGA) in line with the recommendations made in the Kingman 
Review.  Sir Donald Brydon also recently published a report that made a number of 
recommendations to develop corporate auditing as a profession. As the FRC and the 
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) consider these 
recommendations, there is a risk of divergence between the focus and methodologies 
used to quality assure external audit engagements.  Managing this interaction will 
require ongoing engagement. 

  
ICAEW  

2.3.17 The ICAEW has two statutory functions.  Since 2015 it has been responsible for 
maintaining the register of audit firms and Key Audit Partners (KAP) authorised to sign 
off local authority audits; and since 2018-19 it has been responsible for quality 
assurance reviews of the 313 smaller local authority audits.   The framework for 
approving firms and partners is tightly controlled by legislation.   
 

2.3.18 Like the FRC, the ICAEW treats local authorities and NHS bodies as a single 
population for quality assurance review purposes.  The 2018-19 quality assurance 
process is ongoing.  ICAEW has selected 15 audits for quality assurance review, split 
roughly two thirds local government and one third health.  The results of this quality 
assurance review process are not yet available.  
 

2.3.19 Similarly to the FRC, the ICAEW quality assurance reviews focus on what is on the 
audit file and assesses the extent to which that complies with the applicable quality 
framework.   The methodology used to assess the audits of English local authorities 
is the same as is used to assess audits undertaken by the Auditor General for 
Wales.  This methodology does not require review teams to meet with Audit 
Committee chairs. As with the FRC, the ICAEW does not have any powers to fine or 
otherwise sanction auditors whose audits do not meet appropriate quality standards. 

 
2.3.20 ICAEW and the FRC liaise to make sure that all audits fall within one or other of their 

sample populations and use, broadly, the same quality ratings.   Both use well 
established methodologies to arrive at those ratings.    

  
CIPFA  

2.3.21 CIPFA has a dual role.  It has been given the statutory responsibility for producing 
many of the finance related codes of practice that local authorities are required to 
observe.  At the same time, it is a professional institute that represents the majority 
of accountants working in the local government sector, including most CFOs. 

      
2.3.22 The Accounting Code is prepared by a small secretariat employed by CIPFA 

who report to the CIPFA/LASAAC Accounting Code Board 
(“CIPFA/LASAAC”).  CIPFA/LASAAC is responsible for preparing, maintaining, 

Page 52



15 
 

developing and issuing the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting for the 
United Kingdom.  Its membership primarily comprises accounts 
preparers representing the different types of authorities in England, Scotland, Wales 
and Northern Ireland, the Supreme Audit Institutions, and a representative of one of 
the external audit firms active in the sector in England. The FRC along with 
representatives of MHCLG and the Scottish, Welsh and Northern Irish governments 
have observer status on CIPFA/LASAAC.  
 

2.3.23 In England CIPFA/LASAAC is supported by a CIPFA facilitated Local Authority 
Accounting Panel, which focuses on local government accounting and financial 
reporting issues and produces guidance for practitioners.  
 

2.3.24 The Accounting Code could be characterised as long and complex.  Part of the 
reason for this is the challenge of writing a Code that covers four countries, each of 
which has its individual statutory framework with a different set of statutory 
adjustments and disclosures.  In addition to this, CIPFA has taken the decision to draft 
a highly prescriptive Code that provides detailed guidance on the correct accounting 
for each class of transactions.  An alternative approach would be to draft a principles-
based Code, which requires local authorities to comply with generally accepted 
accounting practice (“GAAP”) and only provides detailed guidance where GAAP is 
adapted or interpreted, specifically for the local authority context.  Chapter 7 covers 
the accounting framework in more detail. 
 
Assessment of whether an existing body could act as the system leader 

2.3.25 The detailed analysis of the bodies responsible for the framework supports the 
conclusion reached in Sir John Kingman’s Independent Review of the Financial 
Reporting Council: 
 
“The structure is fragmented and piecemeal. Public sector specialist expertise is now 
dispersed around different bodies. The structure means also that no one body is 
looking for systemic problems, and there is no apparent co-ordination between parties 
to determine and act on emerging risks”2  

 

2.3.26 The Kingman Review recommended that the fragmented structure be resolved by 
designating a single body as the system leader.  When asked whether an existing 
body or a new body would be best placed to take on the role of a system leader, 82% 
of respondents expressed a preference for a single regulatory body. Many 
stakeholders who were interviewed also agreed. The other suggestions made were 
either that the C&AG or the FRC should take the role of system leader. 
   

2.3.27 The C&AG clearly has the relevant experience and expertise to take on such a 
role.  However, taking on responsibility for an element of a framework that is the policy 
responsibility of a government department could significantly increase the risk 
of a conflict of interest with the C&AG’s main responsibility, which, as already stated, 
is to hold government departments to account on behalf of Parliament.   
 

 
2 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/767387/frc-
independent-review-final-report.pdf 

Page 53

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/767387/frc-independent-review-final-report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/767387/frc-independent-review-final-report.pdf


16 
 

2.3.28 As the regulator for the audit profession in the UK, the FRC will continue to have an 
important role in setting standards for all external auditors, including those working in 
local public audit.  However, the FRC’s main focus is corporate sector external audit, 
and to be fully effective the system leader for local public audit will need to 
demonstrate detailed expertise and a clear focus on that sector. 

 
2.4 Interactions with other inspectorates  
2.4.1 There are a number of other inspectorates who cover the local authority 

sector.  Ofsted and the CQC assess the effectiveness of children’s services and adult 
social care respectively in authorities with those statutory responsibilities; HM 
Inspectorate of the Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
undertakes independent inspections of PCCs and FRAs covering both service 
delivery and financial planning; the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) looks at individual complaints against councils, all adult social care 
providers in both public and private sector, FRAs, and some other organisations 
providing local public services; and the Independent Office for Police Conduct 
performs the same function for PCCs.       
 

2.4.2 Evidence suggests that where a local authority receives an “Inadequate” rating for its 
children’s services, the auditor as a general rule qualifies the value for money 
conclusion. For example; when PSAA published its summary report on the results of 
2017-18 audit work, it listed 32 qualified Value for Money (VfM) opinions; half of these 
were due to an “inadequate” Ofsted rating3. The auditor’s value for money conclusion 
remains qualified until a future Ofsted inspection finds that children’s services are no 
longer “Inadequate”.  Local authorities questioned the benefits of including Ofsted 
judgements in the audit report. The circumstances supporting an “inadequate” Ofsted 
rating are fully explained in a detailed and publicly available report. In the light of this 
there is a question as to how qualifying the VfM opinion solely for this reason fully 
reflects the governance arrangements within the authority that could be brought to the 
attention of elected representatives and other key stakeholders. When asked whether 
a value for money opinion should be qualified solely because a local authority has 
received an inadequate Ofsted opinion or a similar opinion from another inspectorate, 
97% of respondents thought that it should not.  There is no evidence of reports by 
other inspectorates leading to modifications to the auditor’s opinion. 

 
2.4.3 We have been told by external audit firms and local authorities that external auditors 

utilise inspectorate reports on a case by case basis. There is little evidence of any 
additional dialogue between external audit and other inspectorates to discuss 
inspectorate reports or take into consideration any improvements that a local authority 
may have made since an inspectorate rating had been issued. This is a change from 
practice since prior to 2015, where external auditors and inspectorates liaised much 
more frequently. Whilst external audit firms were broadly in agreement that there 
should be engagement with inspectorates, many felt that the current arrangements 
were sufficient.   

 

 
3 Report on the results of auditor's work (Oct 2018) – list of qualified opinions will not include LAs where the 2017-18 
audit was concluded after the PSAA report was published. 

Page 54

https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Report-on-the-results-of-auditors-work-LG-2017-18-final.pdf


17 
 

2.4.4 Whilst recognising that each inspectorate focuses on a different area, there is a 
question as to whether more liaison may add value.  Many examples of service 
delivery and financial failures are underpinned by weaknesses in governance and 
senior leadership.  Given this, it may be valuable for the auditor or an inspector that 
has concerns, to find out if those concerns are reflected in other areas of a local 
authority’s business or indicative of wider financial resilience issues. 

 
2.5 The role of MHCLG  
2.5.1 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MCHLG) has a 

statutory role in regulating and monitoring the financing and service delivery of local 
government.  The Accounting Officer within the Department has responsibility for 
overall expenditure control within local authorities given the funding regime under 
which the sector operates.  In addition, he has policy responsibility for the effective 
operation of the local authority audit and accounting framework.  

 
2.5.2 Support to the Accounting Officer in fulfilling these responsibilities is split between two 

directorates:  
• Local Government Finance; and  
• Local Government and Communities (formerly Local Government Policy)  
  

Local Government Finance  
2.5.3 This Directorate covers payments to local authorities through the grant system, has 

responsibility for business rates and council tax policy, oversees borrowing, capital 
and fiscal arrangements and is responsible for assessing the financial sustainability 
of local government.  When a local authority experiences financial difficulty, it is the 
Local Government Finance Directorate that usually leads the government 
response.  It also provides the MHCLG representation on CIPFA’s accounting 
panels.  
 
Local Government and Communities  

2.5.4 This Directorate has overall responsibility for MHCLG’s local government assurance 
framework as set out in the Accounting Officer’s system statement. Regular advice is 
given to the Accounting Officer on whether the framework for which he is responsible 
is operating effectively.   
 

2.5.5 The directorate includes a team that maintains a view of local authorities where 
concerns exist about financial resilience, service delivery or officer/member conduct 
issues.  In appropriate circumstances this may lead to statutory interventions into local 
authorities or, alternatively, statutory support.  Qualified audit opinions are considered 
a part of this view. 
 

2.5.6 Another team has responsibility for the local audit policy framework, the 2014 Act and 
the Accounts and Regulations 2015, managing relationships with PSAA, SAAA, NAO, 
ICAEW, Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS) and FRC insofar as 
their activities relate to the local audit framework and logging Public Interest Reports.   
 

2.5.7 In 2014 the team responsible for local audit set up a Local Audit Delivery Board to 
support implementation of the 2014 Act.  In 2018, it became the Local Audit Monitoring 

Page 55



18 
 

Board, with revised terms of reference and expanded membership. The Board 
comprises representatives of relevant departments and framework bodies to facilitate 
sharing of information about the operation of the framework.  This Board is a 
consultative body, that holds meetings in private and has no formal powers or remit.  
 

2.5.8 In viewing these roles from a local authority perspective, it is clear that 
MHCLG provides a national oversight of the financing of local government, capital and 
revenue spending, accounting arrangements and financial resilience. This work is 
substantial and seeks to offer assurance regarding the financial stability of individual 
local authorities and it includes, within its brief, responsibility for testing adherence to 
legislation and regulations governing local audit.   
 

2.5.9 The responsibility for regulating local audit sits elsewhere yet MHCLG has a key role 
in offering assurance about the financial health of local authorities.  The intelligence 
network and information flow relating to accounting and audit reporting on financial 
sustainability should reach MHCLG in a structured, timely and coordinated fashion. 
Given the strategic roles that the Department and The Accounting Officer carry it is 
crucial that systems and procedures are in place to enable this to happen.  Clarity, 
coherence and consistency in fulfilling the Department’s role are key to helping to 
ensure effective local audit.  

  

Page 56



19 
 

3. Procurement of local audit 
3.1 Statutory framework and eligibility criteria 
3.1.1 In order to bid for a local authority audit, both audit firms and every individual 

responsible for signing off an audit opinion, typically but not always a KAP, needs to 
be pre-approved either by ICAEW or ICAS.  Eligibility criteria are set out in Schedule 
5 to the 2014 Act.   These criteria stipulate that it is impossible to bid for local authority 
audits unless both the firm and each nominated KAP has recent experience of 
undertaking local authority audits.  It is difficult for new entrants to enter the local 
authority market as a consequence of these criteria as audit firms not currently in the 
market are unable to gain the relative knowledge and expertise that would be required 
to become a KAP.   

 
3.1.2 Despite the high barriers to entry, since 2016 there has been a 7% increase in the 

number of KAPs eligible to sign off local authority Audits. Firms active in the market 
continue to register new KAPs.  39% of KAPs currently registered were not KAPs in 
2016, with the firms with a smaller market share being responsible for much of this 
increase.  However, the headline KAP figure is slightly misleading.  The number of 
KAPs has declined by 13% once those who are working for firms who do not currently 
hold contracts with PSAA are excluded. 

 
Figure 3.1  
Number of Key Audit Partners registered with ICAEW 
Firm 2016 2020 
BDO 5 7 
EY 13 16 
GT 32 26 
Mazars 4 10 
KPMG 22 23 
Deloitte 6 8 
Total KAPs 
(Firms holding contracts with 
PSAA) 

76* 67* 

Cardens 0 1 
Moore Stephens 2 0 
PWC 12 9 
Scott-Moncrieff 0 3 
Total KAPs 96 103 

* Deloitte did not hold any PSAA contracts in 2016.  KMPG does not currently hold any PSAA contracts. 

3.1.3 There is a risk that the Competition and Markets Authority: Statutory Audit Services 
Market Study4 recommendation to implement an operational split between the Big 
Four’s audit and non-audit businesses, to ensure maximum focus on audit quality will 
further reduce the number of KAPs qualified to sign off local authority audits.  KAPs 
may be responsible for a mixture of external audit, internal audit and consultancy 
engagements.  If required to choose between specialisms, there is, of course, no 
guarantee that they will opt for external audit.  

 
4 See Annex 5 for a more detailed analysis of the potential impacts of the CMA, Kingman and Brydon recommendations 
for local audit. 

Page 57



20 
 

 
3.2 The 2017 procurement process 
3.2.1 As detailed in Chapter 2, PSAA took over the administration of the bulk audit contracts 

let by the Audit Commission in 2014.  These ran from 2015-16 to 2017-18.  They 
comprised five lots let on a regional basis. In 2017 PSAA ran a new procurement to 
contract for local authority audits for the period 2018-19 to 2022-23.   
 

3.2.2 PSAA chose to split lots by market share rather than on a regional basis.  The reason 
for this was a concern that some regions could prove less popular with bidders than 
others.  They also checked for potential conflicts of interest.  Five lots comprising 
between 40% and 5% of the total market were let, each for a period of five years.  No 
firm could win more than one lot.  A sixth lot with no guaranteed work was let, with the 
aim of providing some resilience in the market. 

 
3.2.3 Local authorities were notified of the lot to which they had been allocated and were 

given the opportunity to request transfer to a different lot; for example, if they were in 
a shared service arrangement with an authority in a different lot.  Seven local 
authorities asked for their audit to be transferred to a different lot.  Five of these 
requests were accepted. 

 
3.2.4 Of the nine firms registered to undertake local authority audits seven bid for one or 

more lots.  One firm decided not to bid and a second was excluded from the bidding 
process by PSAA because it felt the firm was too small to have a realistic chance of 
submitting a competitive bid.   
 

3.2.5 Assessment of audit firms was split 50:50 between price and quality, compared to the 
final Audit Commission procurement which was done on a price quality ratio of 60:40.  
The team assessing quality scores was not given sight of the price each firm had bid.  
In addition, PSAA asked an ex-District Auditor working for the LGA to quality assure 
the assessors’ quality scores.  The assessment of quality was based solely on the 
tender documents submitted.  Past performance was not considered.  
 

3.2.6 One of the firms bid at a much higher price point than the other firms.  This generated 
such a low “price” score that it was effectively impossible for its quality score to make 
up sufficient difference to win a lot. 
 

3.2.7 Although the headline quality price ratio was 50:50, as highlighted in Figure 3.2, many 
of the questions included in the quality score do not directly relate to factors impacting 
audit quality. 
  

3.2.8 Four firms bid for the largest two lots (including the firm who priced themselves out of 
the market); and six for the remaining four lots.  Each successful firm was eliminated 
from consideration for each smaller lot, leaving only two firms from which to choose 
when awarding Lot 5.   
 

3.2.9 After excluding the firm that priced itself out of the market, the firms awarded the five 
contracts were those with the highest quality scores.  The firm with the highest quality 
score won the largest lot; the second highest quality score the second highest lot; and 

Page 58



21 
 

there was a marginal difference between the quality scores for the other successful 
firms.  

Figure 3.2:  Audit Quality Questions – PSAA tender document  

Question 
number  Question  Weighting 

Maximum 
weighted 

score 

1.1 and 1.2 
Confirmation of information in SQ Response; and other 
declarations; Guarantee (if applicable) and completed, 
unqualified Form of Tender  

N/A N/A 

2.1 Identifying and addressing risks and issues and 
engaging with different stakeholders  0.5 5 

2.2 Continuing professional development  0.2 2 

3.1 
Providing a clearly articulated audit plan to address the 
risks identified, and arrangements for carrying out the 
planned work effectively  

1 10 

3.2 Information assurance  N/A N/A 

4.1 Quality assurance arrangements to ensure that local 
audits are undertaken to a consistently high standard  0.6 6 

5.1 Schedule of staff  N/A N/A 
5.2 Details of resourcing  0.5 5 
5.3 Details and role of Contact Partner  0.3 3 
6.1 Selection of a team to work on an individual audit  0.5 5 

6.2 
Arrangements for discharging statutory reporting 
responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014, managing authority and public expectations  

0.4 4 

7.1 
Arrangements to ensure a smooth transition for audits 
of local government bodies transferring between audit 
firms  

0.5 5 

8.1 Opportunities to be commenced and completed  0.3 3 

8.2 Other economic, social and environmental initiatives to 
be undertaken  0.2 2 

Overall quality score 50 
Price  Ranking of Bid Rate %   1 50% 
Overall score (quality and price combined)  

Questions 2.1, 3.1 and 4.1 are direct indicators of quality. 

3.2.10 Lot six was designed to provide spare capacity in the market.  However, this has not 
worked as intended, in part because mergers mean that the firm that won Lot 6 no 
longer exists. 
 

3.2.11 As demonstrated by Figure 3.3, audit fees in the local authority sector have dropped 
significantly at the same time that audit fees in other sectors have significantly risen. 
As well as the overall external audit fee paid by the sector declining in cash terms it 
has also dropped as a percentage of net current expenditure of local authorities, from 
0.05% in 2014-15 to 0.04% in 2018-19.   Within the sector there are further variations 
with PCCs and Local Authority Pension Funds typically paying much lower audit fees 
as a percentage of net expenditure than other types of local authorities.   

Page 59



22 
 

 
3.3 Translating bids into audit fees paid by LAs 
3.3.1 PSAA told the Review that the scale fee paid by individual LAs under the current 

contracts has been calculated by taking the total annual fee paid to external auditors 
under the contract and adding PSAA's margin; comparing the total amount paid to the 
total amount paid under the 2014 contracting process; and applying the percentage 
reduction in total amount paid equally across all local authority audits. 
 

3.3.2 The Audit Commission adopted the same approach for allocating fees to individual 
local authorities when it let the 2012 and 2014 contracts.  This means that no 
assessment of the amount it would cost to audit each local authority based on their 
level of audit risk has been made in the past ten years.  
 

3.3.3 Since 2010, there have been changes to the major powers and duties of local 
authorities and to the business environment within which they operate.  Individual 
local authorities will have been impacted by these changes to differing extents.  As a 
result, there is no guarantee that the fee paid by each local authority accurately 
reflects the risk profile or amount of audit work required for their external audit. 
 

3.3.4 88% of local authorities who responded to the Call for Views think that the current 
procurement process does not drive the right balance between cost reduction, quality 
of work, volume of external auditors and mix of staff undertaking the work. 

 
3.3.5 Audit fees for those local authorities who have opted out of the PSAA arrangements 

have changed in a way similar to fees for those who have opted in. 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Figure 3.3
Sector by sector comparison of change in audit fees over time

Central Government (based on sample of 15 central government bodies)

Local Authorities (PSAA scale fees)

FSTE 100 entities: statutory audit fees (calendar years 2014 to 2018)
Notes
1 2014/15 base 100

Page 60



23 
 

3.4 Fee variations and contract management 
3.4.1 When an auditor requests a fee variation, this must be agreed by PSAA5. In practice, 

PSAA may challenge fee variations by asking for more information from the firm but 
expects the auditor and the local authority to come to an agreement as to the 
additional fee to be paid.  PSAA records and monitors this activity.  It may also 
facilitate a conversation between the auditor and local authority in the case of 
disagreement.  

 
3.4.2 As demonstrated by Figure 3.4 the number and size of fee variation requests have 

increased over time.   Fee variation requests are often received some months after 
audits are completed, which means it is difficult to assess the true level of fees paid 
by the sector.  As delayed audits are more likely to generate issues that require more 
work and thereby attract fee variations, and some firms are not always prompt in 
submitting fee variations, there are likely to be some requests outstanding relating to 
2017-18 and 2018-19 audits. 
 

3.4.3 Audit firms consider the fee variation process to be unsatisfactory.  They have raised 
concerns that the scope to claim fee variations is not sufficient to meet their costs. 
Increasing the scale fee, to reflect changes in regulatory requirements is for practical 
purposes not possible under the current arrangements. 
 

3.4.4 The majority of local authorities’ representatives who offered a view on fee variations 
also considered them to be unsatisfactory.  A concern, which has been raised by a 
not insignificant number of authorities, is the fact that fee variation requests are not 
always supported by any evidence of additional work done.  Some local authorities 
passed examples to the Review of auditors, representing more than one audit firm, 
refusing to provide evidence to support a requested fee variation.  

 
 
 

 
5 https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/PSAA-fee-variation-process.pdf 

Figure 3.4 
Fee variations as a percentage of total scale fees 

Page 61

https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/PSAA-fee-variation-process.pdf


24 
 

3.4.5 Some local authorities questioned why they have been asked to join a call with a 
significant number of a firm’s technical experts, most of whom do not contribute to the 
discussion, when they need to resolve technical accounting issues.  They have 
questioned whether the costs of these calls are factored into later fee variation 
requests. 
 

3.4.6 Fee variations can be submitted at any time which increases uncertainty for local 
authorities.  In addition, some local authorities have claimed that they were led to 
believe by their auditors that they would refuse to sign off their accounts until they 
agreed a fee variation.   
 

3.4.7 Finally, some authorities have also claimed that they are being asked to fund the costs 
of additional audit fieldwork because auditors have not resourced the planned audit 
visit properly and as a result, need to conduct additional audit testing.  It has not been 
possible to assess whether this is happening or how widespread is the practice.  
 

3.4.8 For the 2019-20 audit cycle, PSAA has taken steps to manage fee variations more 
proactively.  Rather than wait for fee variations to be submitted, PSAA has asked all 
of the firms active in the market to estimate the additional fee required to ensure that 
their audit work and audit files meet current quality standards.  Four of the firms have 
suggested that an increase of between 15% to 25% on the scale fee is required with 
the fifth firm requesting an increase of 100% on the scale fee. PSAA informed local 
authorities that it expects audit firms to provide fee variation information at the earliest 
possible opportunity, and that PSAA has emphasised this to the firms in its recent 
auditor communications. PSAA is currently in the process of reviewing how each 
firm’s standard audit testing programmes have changed over the past three audit 
cycles to identify whether the increases requested are justified.  PSAA will use this 
work to enable it to provide reassurance to audited bodies that extra work has been 
validated.  
 

3.4.9 Some local authorities have suggested that PSAA has an incentive to approve fee 
variations as they are funded through making a margin on audit fees. This is not 
correct. Because PSAA calculates its margin on a total system cost, it is not possible 
for local authorities to calculate how much of each audit fee or fee variation is due to 
PSAA.  However, as a not for profit company, PSAA has no incentive to claim more 
funding than it is entitled to. The company's Articles of Association requires PSAA to 
return surpluses to the sector.  In late 2019, under the transitional arrangement, a 
distribution of the surplus funds of £3,500,000 (9.3% of the 17-18 scale fee £37.6m) 
was approved by the Board to be returned to the sector, apportioned between local 
authorities on a scale fee basis. This might be interpreted as an effective transfer of 
funds from LAs charged fee variations to those who have not been charged variations.  

 
3.4.10 Some LAs have stated through interviews, that PSAA’s role is opaque and that they 

feel that they have no route to challenge audit fees that they feel are unfair or to raise 
concerns relating to poor quality or delayed audits.  The contract provides no 
mechanism for individual LAs to complain about the service they receive from their 
auditors. 
 

Page 62



25 
 

3.4.11 PSAA states that its role as defined under statute does not include active contract 
management and it does not currently have the expertise to do so.  However, in the 
Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 the additional functions of 
appointing person include requirements to: 
 
“monitor compliance by a local auditor against the contractual obligations in an 
audit contract… [and] resolve disputes or complaints from— (aa)local auditors, 
opted in authorities and local government electors relating to audit contracts 
and the carrying out of audit work by auditors it has appointed.”6 
 

3.4.12 During the transitional period implementing the new arrangements (2015-16 to 2017-
18), there was a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between MHCLG and PSAA, 
which required PSAA to fulfil its statutory functions.  When the MoU expired MHCLG 
did not renew it.   
 

  

 
6 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111126134 

Page 63

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111126134


26 
 

4. Audit performance 
4.1 Introduction to local authority audit 
4.1.1 Auditors of local authorities provide two audit opinions.  These are: 

• A financial audit opinion; and 
• An opinion on the effectiveness of the systems in place to meet the best value 

duty (known as the ‘value for money’ opinion). 
 
Scope of financial audit opinion 

4.1.2 The purpose of a financial audit is to form an opinion on a set of financial statements.  
Financial audits are required to be conducted in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing – UK (ISAs).  The auditor is required to certify whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement and are properly prepared 
in accordance with the relevant accounting and legislative framework.  For local 
authorities, the relevant accounting framework is the Code of Accounting Practice 
prepared by CIPFA. 
 

4.1.3 In a local authority context, the audit opinion covers the financial statements, the 
Collection Fund Account and the Housing Revenue Account.  It does not cover the 
narrative statement or annual governance statement.  These are covered by what is 
known as a ‘negative assurance’ or ‘consistent with’ opinion.  The auditor is required 
to read these statements to confirm that there is nothing inconsistent or misleading 
based on what is reported in the accounts and their understanding of the business.  If 
these statements contain information which is misleading or inconsistent, auditors 
should insist that the relevant sections are appropriately reworded or removed.  If not, 
no further work is required. 
 

4.1.4 Materiality is a key concept in financial audits.  Errors or misstatements are material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions that users take on the basis of the financial statements.  Auditors 
are not required to take account of individual users, but do need to assess them as a 
group. 
 

4.1.5 Auditors do not test every transaction supporting a set of financial statements.  Instead 
they split the financial statements into groups of transactions with similar 
characteristics and assess the risks of material misstatement for each.  The amount 
and types of audit testing for each of these areas is informed by this risk assessment. 
 

4.1.6 It therefore follows that the key factors in delivering a quality audit are understanding 
the needs of the users of the accounts; and undertaking an effective risk assessment 
informed by a proper awareness of the business. 

 
Scope of value for money opinion 

4.1.7 The framework for the value for money opinion is set out in the NAO’s Statutory Code 
of Audit Practice, published in April 2015.7 ISAs do not apply to VfM audits. 
 

 
7 https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Final-Code-of-Audit-Practice.pdf 

Page 64

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Final-Code-of-Audit-Practice.pdf


27 
 

4.1.8 The 2015 Audit Code requires auditors to: 
“undertake sufficient work to be able to satisfy themselves as to whether, in the 
auditor’s view, the audited body has put arrangements in place that support the 
achievement of value for money. In carrying out this work, the auditor is not 
required to satisfy themselves that the audited body has achieved value for 
money during the reporting period.” 
 

4.1.9 The Audit Code goes on to say: 
“Ultimately, it is a matter for the auditor’s judgement on the extent of work 
necessary to support their conclusion on value-for-money arrangements”. 
 

4.1.10 The Audit Code requires documentation of the overall conclusion, consideration of 
risk and of the planned response and work done to address significant risks.  If there 
are no significant risks, the Code does not explicitly require documentation of work 
done. 

 
Changes introduced by the 2020 Code of Audit Practice 

4.1.11 In 2020, the C&AG published a new Code of Local Audit Practice.  This is effective 
from the 2020-21 financial year.  The main changes made are in respect of the value 
for money opinion and supporting work and have been broadly welcomed by auditors 
and those local authorities who have so far expressed a view. 
 

4.1.12 The binary audit opinion on whether appropriate arrangements are in place has been 
replaced by a commentary on: 
• Financial sustainability: how the body plans and manages its resources to 

ensure it can continue to deliver its services;  
• Governance: how the body ensures that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks; and  
• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the body uses 

information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages 
and delivers its services. 

In addition, the updated Code will explicitly require auditors to document clearly the 
work that they have done to support their findings. 
 

4.1.13  The consultation on the supplementary statutory guidance issued by the NAO to 
support the new Code closed on 2 September 2020.  Once this guidance is finalised 
auditors will need to consider the factors including the following:  

• whether a revised risk assessment is required; 
• how to design an approach that moves away from obtaining evidence to 

support a binary audit opinion, to one that generates information to support a 
commentary on the arrangements in place. 

• whether additional or different types of audit testing will be required, and how 
to structure and produce the new narrative reports. 

 
 
 

Page 65



28 
 

Other statutory duties and powers 
4.1.14 In addition, auditors of local authorities have other statutory powers and duties.  These 

are: 
• The power to issue a Public Interest Report at any time;  
• The power to issue statutory recommendations to management, copied to the 

Secretary of State;  
• The power to issue an advisory notice setting out potential illegal expenditure; 
• The power to apply to the Courts to have unlawful expenditure disallowed;  
• The duty to consider qualifying whistleblowing disclosures; and 
• The duty to respond to objections raised by electors or other relevant persons.  

 
The Audit Code includes guidance on the scenarios that might give rise to use of 
these powers and duties.  Use of the powers along with the work required to support 
reports, recommendations and responses to objections is a matter of judgement.  
 

4.2 Defining audit quality 
4.2.1 Audit quality is a key determinant of audit performance and this must be seen, not 

only as a measure against agreed standards and principles, but also whether the 
output of an audit is seen to meet the legitimate expectations of council taxpayers and 
other users of accounts. 
 

4.2.2 Financial audit is fundamental to these requirements to give assurance to the reader 
that the accounts are properly prepared and fairly reflect the council’s financial 
position and use of resources. 
 

4.2.3 Value for money audit should be designed to provide the reader with assurance that 
the systems in place for use of resources in an effective and efficient way are 
adequate and appropriate, and that the local authority plans will deliver financial 
resilience in the immediate and medium term. 
 

4.2.4 The effectiveness of audit also depends on the usefulness, impact and timeliness of 
auditor reporting.  Consideration of Public Interest Reports and Statutory 
Recommendations is relevant here. Finally, the effectiveness of audit also depends 
on the Authority’s response to audit recommendations. This is a wider definition than 
that currently used by regulators.  Ultimately, regulators consider a local authority 
financial audit to be of acceptable quality if the audit opinion is supported by sufficient 
and appropriate evidence and if the work complies with auditing standards, relevant 
legislation and the Code of Audit Practice.  As VfM audit is not covered by auditing 
standards, the regulators focus principally on whether the audit complies with the 
Code of Audit Practice. 
 

4.2.5 Nevertheless, the effectiveness and usefulness of local audit has to be measured 
alongside the assessment of quality.  The Review has considered the extent to which 
the auditors of local authorities: 

• Meet the contract specification; 
• Demonstrate sufficient understanding of the local authority environment 

through identification and testing of key financial audit and value for money 
risks; 

Page 66



29 
 

• Deliver audits in a cost-effective way; 
• Make balanced and considered recommendations; and 
• Issue reports and make recommendations in timely fashion. 

 
4.3 Assessing Audit Quality 

Meeting the Contract Specification 
4.3.1 The contract between PSAA and audit firms largely follows standard terms and 

conditions.  It requires providers of audit services to deliver audits in accordance with 
statutory obligations and appropriate professional standards.  These are discussed 
below. 
 

4.3.2 The contract is supplemented with a Statement of Responsibilities published, on the 
PSAA website, which is intended to set out the engagement between PSAA and the 
appointed auditors.  The contract requires audit firms to familiarise themselves with 
this statement.   In accompanying text on their website, PSAA makes clear that the 
responsibilities of auditors are derived from statute, principally, the 2014 Act and from 
the NAO Code of Audit Practice and nothing in the Statement is meant to vary those 
responsibilities. 

 
Demonstrating an understanding of the local authority environment 

4.3.3 Feedback received from interviews with local authorities is that KAPs tend to be 
knowledgeable, skilled and experienced. However, the amount of time devoted to the 
audit has become more limited in recent years. Anecdotal evidence on the 
accessibility of KAPs varies.  Local authorities largely stated that the senior partners 
were brought in to resolve significant issues, so were not often visible during the 
course of the audit. This matched many audit firms’ comments that senior partners 
were brought in for the specific and more complex issues.  Most local authorities 
commented that this was reasonable, and as expected, but some felt that it was 
difficult to secure input from their KAP on specific issues.  Some local authorities 
commented that during 2018-19 audits, the visibility of both the audit team and KAP 
had declined somewhat compared to prior years. 
 

4.3.4 As demonstrated by the responses in Figure 4.1, despite valuing KAPs, many local 
authorities had a negative opinion of the overall knowledge and expertise of their audit 
teams. The two areas of particular concern were: 

• the knowledge and continuity of working level audit staff; and 
• whether audit work always covered the most important areas of the accounts 

from a financial resilience and service user perspective. 
 

4.3.5 There is a question as to whether external audit could make more use of the 
knowledge and expertise of internal audit in developing sufficient understanding of the 
local authority.  It is usual for the external audit team to meet the Head of Internal 
Audit as part of the audit planning process, but it is unclear if liaison extends much 
beyond that.  Internal auditors are likely to be much closer to the business than 
external audit and, in many authorities, a proportion of their work focuses on 
governance and service delivery matters.  This could make internal audit a rich source 
of knowledge, should the external audit team wish to use it. 
 

Page 67



30 
 

Knowledge, experience and continuity of audit staff 
4.3.6 All audit firms active in the local audit market told the Review that they had expert 

technical teams who provided sector specific training to staff working on local authority 
audits.  Nonetheless, many local authorities reported significant concerns about the 
knowledge and expertise of staff working on their audit.  Issues identified included:  

• audit examiners not having a full understanding of how local authorities were 
funded and how this impacted the accounts; 

• a lack of continuity from year to year, or in some cases from week to week, 
leading to a lack of client knowledge; and 

• a lack of understanding of local authority specific financial statements such as 
the Collection Fund and Housing Revenue Account.   

 
4.3.7 Local authorities also reported the use of audit examiners from other countries to help 

manage the local audit peak.  This is not unique to audits in the local authority sector 
and can be advantageous as different countries will encounter different audit peaks. 
However, may local authorities whose audits are staffed in this way reported that such 
examiners processed very little training in respect of English local government.  

17

18

5

27

83

82

57

17

38

56

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Figure 4.1
Opinions on External Audit Quality

Yes

No

Mixed

Do audit firms 
allocate sufficient
resources to deliver high 
quality and timely 
audits? 

Is there consistency in audit 
teams year on year? 

Does the external audit 
process cover the right 
things given the primary 
users of the accounts?

Do external audit firms have 
enough understanding of the 
local authority regulatory 
framework to focus audit 
work on the right areas?

Those answering 'Mixed' typically 
had a positive view of KAPs, but 
not of the supporting audit teams

Financial 
audit only

Local Authority Call for Views responses

Page 68



31 
 

4.3.8 Firms agreed that consistency in audit teams could sometimes be compromised by 
either the difficulty in attracting and retaining quality junior staff or the challenge to 
retain more experienced staff.   
 

4.3.9 Underpinning the concerns about the quality and continuity of working level audit staff 
is a concern that there are not enough audit examiners with local authority expertise, 
and that this is an area in which accountancy trainees no longer wish to specialise.  
 

4.3.10 This is a concern that has developed since 2015.  Prior to 2012, the Audit 
Commission’s in-house audit practice, District Audit (DA), was responsible for 70% of 
the local authority audit market.  In its 2012 procurement the Audit Commission 
outsourced its audit practice.  DA staff were TUPE’d8 to the private sector firms who 
largely took over responsibility for auditing local authorities.  This meant that there 
was then a plentiful supply of audit examiners with local authority experience.  Since 
2015, many of those audit examiners have left the external audit profession and have 
not always been replaced.   
 

4.3.11 A reason for the decline in the number of audit examiners with sector specific 
expertise is the route taken by auditors to qualify as accountants.  Currently, there are 
five chartered British and Irish professional accountancy bodies that include external 
audit as a significant element in their qualification.  Only one of these bodies (CIPFA) 
has a mainly public sector focus.  All District Audit service trainees would have 
followed the CIPFA qualification route.   Only one of the firms currently active in the 
market (Grant Thornton) uses the CIPFA qualification route for its public sector audit 
staff.  In addition, audit firms highlight that between 2010 and 2015 the Audit 
Commission cut back on its recruitment of audit examiners.  This means that an 
increasing number of local authority auditors will not have had the public sector as 
their main focus whist studying for their accountancy qualification. 
 

4.3.12 In March 2020, PSAA published research it had commissioned on the future of the 
local audit market.9  In this research firms raised two main issues that made it difficult 
for them to attract and retain high quality staff that wanted to specialise in local 
authority audit: 
• Timetable - In 2017-18 the target date for completing local authority audits was 

brought forward from 30 September to 31 July.  This reform was requested by 
many local authorities, who wanted to complete their accounts and audit process 
as quickly as possible, so as to free up their finance teams to work on other areas.  
The compression of the audit timetable was mentioned as an issue by every audit 
firm. Firms raised concerns about the resulting peaks in workload, pressures on 
staff during the summer months, and knock-on effects when target dates are not 
met. These pressures contribute to making work unpopular with local audit staff.  

• Fees – Firms stated generally that the lack of profitability changes the way that 
local audit work is perceived within the firm.  As the contribution that local audit 
makes to the overall profit of the Partnership is low, specialising in this area is seen 
by many auditors as having a detrimental impact on career prospects. 

 
8 TUPE stands for the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations and its purpose is to protect 
employees if the business in which they are employed changes hands.  
9 https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/PSAA-Future-Procurement-and-Market-Supply-Options-
Review.pdf 

Page 69

https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/PSAA-Future-Procurement-and-Market-Supply-Options-Review.pdf
https://www.psaa.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/PSAA-Future-Procurement-and-Market-Supply-Options-Review.pdf


32 
 

Focus of audit work 
4.3.13 Many local authorities have raised concerns that auditors spend a significant amount 

of time focusing on fixed asset and pension valuations, whereas a fuller understanding 
of the business would lead to more of a focus on major areas of expenditure, together 
with the level of usable non-ringfenced revenue reserves.  The reason for this 
argument is that most changes to fixed asset and pension values are ‘reversed out’ 
of the accounts by a range of statutory adjustments.  As a result, in those 
circumstances, these valuations have no immediate impact on the cost of delivering 
services or on the financial resilience of a local authority.  

 

4.3.14 As demonstrated in Figure 4.2, valuation of non-current assets and liabilities have 
been the most common significant financial audit risk category identified in Audit 
Planning Reports. In addition, irrespective of the risk profile, the amount of detailed 
testing undertaken on these balances has increased significantly over the past three 
audit cycles.  To manage the risk of regulatory criticism, that more scepticism is 
needed when assessing non-current assets and liabilities, audit firms are increasingly 
using their own expert valuers to assess valuations provided by a local authority 
employed expert. Some audit firms agreed that they would prefer to do less work on 
asset and pension valuations but explained that these areas of the accounts were 
given more attention as it was important in the context of securing a positive 
assessment from the FRC quality assurance processes.  
 

34

52

43

42

46

41

2

2

10

3

7

5

4

3

2

0

1

1

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

2018/
19

2017/
18

2016/
17

Figure 4.2
Risks raised in External Audit Planning Reports

Underlying
System
Problems

Financial
Control
Issues

Technical
Accounting

Preparation
of Accounts

Valuation of
Non-
Current
Assets and
Liabilities
VFM Risks

Notes 
1 Representative sample of 30 local authorities. Presumed risks excluded 

Page 70



33 
 

4.3.15 The results of the quality assurance reviews of local authority audit files undertaken 
between 2015-16 and 2017-18 in Figure 4.3 demonstrate clear and continuing 
concerns about the quality of audit work to support fixed asset and pension valuations.  
The FRC commented that, overall, the local authority audit files it reviewed tended to 
be of slightly lower quality than the files of corporate sector audits. 
 

 

 
4.3.16 The FRC quality reviews identified far fewer significant issues in VfM audit work.  This 

may be because the current Audit Code gives auditors quite a lot of discretion as to 
how much work they need to undertake before forming their VfM opinion.   

 
Deliver audits in a cost-effective way 

4.3.17 Since 2015, audit fees paid by local authorities have dropped by 42.25% (in cash 
terms).  The decrease in fees has been welcomed by the LGA and by many local 
authorities. This reduction in fees has been attributed to the following reasons: 
• PSAA costs being lower than those of the Audit Commission; 
• Improved audit efficiency; 
• Reduction in firms’ profit expectations; and 
• Reduced financial risks for the firms from staff previously TUPEd. 
 

4.3.18 It is difficult to identify the extent to which local authority audits are more efficient than 
previously.  All of the audit firms active in the market have looked to generate 
efficiencies through making significant investments in digital technology and 
innovation to equip audit teams with the appropriate tools to deliver a digital audit.  
However, audit firms note that many local authorities have IT systems that do not lend 
themselves to the delivery of a digital audit, so some of the anticipated efficiencies 
have not been realised. 
 

5

9

7

9

4
2

1

3

1

5

7

5

12

18

12

0 5 10 15 20

2017/
18

2016/
17

2015/
16

Figure 4.3
Issues identified by FRC file reviews conducted on behalf of PSAA

Eight reviews were conducted in 15/16 and 16/17 and 6 were conducted in 17/18 

Valuation of Non-
Current Assets and
Liabilities
Testing of Current
Assets and Liabilies

Controls Testing

Materiality and Risk
Assessment

Other

Total VFM

Number of issues 

Page 71



34 
 

4.3.19 The decrease in fees must be set against the potential impact on quality if audit is 
considered to be cost effective. Audit firms have raised concerns about whether audit 
fees are at a sustainable level.  One of the registered firms not active in the local 
authority market said that they had decided not to bid because it was impossible to 
deliver cost effective and high-quality audits at current fee levels.   
 

4.3.20 Firms have the power to request fee variations where the cost of the work is greater 
than allowed for by the contract fee.  As discussed in Chapter 3 the fee variation 
process is an ongoing and increasing source of tension, with auditors concerned that 
they are not always able to recover legitimate costs. Local authorities are concerned 
about late notifications and that requested variations are not always supported by 
evidence of additional work done. 

 
Make sensible recommendations 

4.3.21 Auditors can issue recommendations to management through their end of audit 
communications.  These can either be statutory recommendations, which must be 
copied to the Secretary of State, introduced through the “management letter” 
recommendations.  Eleven statutory recommendations have been issued since 2015.   
 

 

4.3.22 As demonstrated in Figure 4.4, a review of Audit Completion Reports indicates that 
the number of management letter recommendations issued seems to be declining 
year on year. The practice on following up management letter recommendations was 
mixed and Audit Committees were more likely to check progress on implementation 
of internal audit recommendations rather than external audit recommendations.  A 
majority of the recommendations made relate to technical accounting issues rather 

74

48
41

17

11
11

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 4.4
Number of External Audit recommendations given to local authorities

Financial Audit
Recommendations

VFM
Recommendations

Notes
1 Representative sample of 30 local authorities. 

2 Not all audits in 17/18 18/19 have been signed off in this sample.

Number of recommendations to management made

Page 72



35 
 

than financial control or value for money matters.  This is not surprising given the 
focus of external audit, but it contributes to a perception that the process is not adding 
as much value as formerly.   
 
Provide useful and timely reports 

4.3.23 As demonstrated by Figure 4.5, the number of delayed audit opinions has significantly 
increased over the past three years. For 2018-19, all the audit firms in the market had 
some outstanding audit opinions as at 30 September 2019, though the extent varied 
from firm to firm; one firm completed just less than 40% of audits by the deadline while 
another completed 80%. All firms have made progress in completing these delayed 
audits although at December 2019, there were still 85 outstanding audit opinions 
(17.5%); and by July 2020, 42 (8.6%) of 2018-19 audits remained incomplete.  These 
delays are likely to have had a knock-on impact for the 2019-20 timetable. 
 

Figure 4.5 
Audit opinions signed off by the statutory deadline for publishing audited accounts 

*statutory deadline for publishing local authority accounts 30 September in 2016-17; and 31 July thereafter. 
 
4.3.24 PSAA asks audit firms to explain the reason for delayed audits.  The four most 

common reasons provided were: 
• poor quality accounts/working papers submitted by the local authority; 
• potential qualification issues;  
• outstanding objections on the accounts; and 
• for the first time in 2019-20, having insufficient qualified individuals to deliver 

all audits at the appropriate time was included as a reason for some of the 
delays. 

 
4.3.25 Audits are by their nature backwards looking and the increasing delays in signing off 

local authority audits have an impact on the timeliness of reports. The more material 
issues that an auditor finds, the greater the risk that the sign off of the audit opinion is 
delayed.  When a judgement needs to be made about modifying an audit opinion, 
audit firms are required to undertake enhanced quality assurance procedures, and 
these take time. In addition, some audits will be delayed if a local authority presents 
poor quality accounts or if there is an outstanding objection.  As a result, a number of 
local authority audits will inevitably be signed off after the reporting deadline.   
 

4.3.26 In recognition of the increased challenges posed by Covid-19, MHCLG has extended 
the deadline for signing off 2019-20 audits to 30 November 2020.  If a majority of 
audits are not signed off by this date, there could be a significant impact on MHCLG’s 
ability to run the non-domestic rates system effectively.  It is too early to say how many 

 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 
Opinions issued 
by the statutory 
publication 
deadline 

57% 
*31 July 2019 

87% 
*31 July 2018 

95% 
*30 September 2017 

Opinions issued 
by 30 
September 

70% 95% N/A 

Page 73



36 
 

local authority audits will make this target date or whether the extension of the 
deadline will enable audit firms to complete more of the outstanding 2018-19 audits. 
 

4.3.27 Examples of useful and timely auditor reporting through client communications are 
relatively few.  Some local authority Chief Financial Officers commented that they no 
longer got the useful and informative advice, challenge and support that they had 
received from KAPs prior to 2015.   Audit Planning Reports tend to be presented in 
February, March or April, which is rather late in the financial year.  This means that 
local authorities get late notification of audit risks. In addition, it is not possible to 
undertake interim audit work on management controls if the plan is presented in the 
last month of the financial year and this increases the pressure on the year end peak.  
 

4.3.28 If an Auditor is assessing a significant issue, which they believe needs to be brought 
to the attention of elected representatives and the public as soon as possible, the 
have the power to issue a Public Interest Report (PIR).  PIRs can be issued at any 
time.  However, only four PIRs have been issued since 2015. Three of these related 
to matters identified prior to 31 March 2015 and the fourth, issued on 11 August 2020, 
related to a wholly-owned local authority company.10 This means that the opportunity 
to enhance transparency and accountability by sighting key stakeholders on 
significant issues in a timely fashion is not often used.  
 

4.3.29 Audit firms have not commented on why there is not a greater use of the statutory 
powers available to them. The position in which auditors find themselves can relate 
to a situation where intervention in a local authority may be warranted by the use of 
statutory powers. It is possible that the legal and reputational risks of using these 
powers may play a part in their thinking as may the difficulty of recovering the costs 
of the extra work required to support use of these powers.   
 

4.4 Interactions between external audit and relevant stakeholders 
4.4.1 The areas of concern that particularly stood out from interviews with local authorities 

and through the Call for Views were:  
• Senior audit staff not being contactable by clients when issues arose; 
• Late notification of audit risks;  
• Changes to the audit timetable – without justification given;  
• Late notification of fee variations with no justification or breakdown of cost given; 

and 
• The auditor’s valuation expert overriding asset valuations provided by client 

experts with equivalent qualifications sometimes with no justification given.  
 

4.4.2 It is important to note that these concerns are not unreciprocated.  Auditors raised 
concerns about LAs not preparing properly prepared draft accounts supported by high 
quality working papers or not being available to answer audit questions. 
 

4.5 VfM expectation gap 
4.5.1 Whilst audit firms feel that the NAO’s new code of practice resolves many of the VfM 

conclusion shortcomings, some local authorities believe that more significant changes 
need to be made. There is a large expectation gap between what local authorities 

 
10 https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/publicinterestreport 

Page 74

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/publicinterestreport


37 
 

expect a VfM opinion should provide and what it actually provides. The VfM 
conclusion is viewed by many local authorities to be an exercise with limited use to 
them as it is too retrospective and often states what the local authority often already 
knows.  Chapter 6 includes a more detailed consideration of the extent to which the 
VfM opinion covers financial resilience risks. 

  
 
 

4.5.2 As demonstrated in Figure 4.6, 74% of the local authority respondents to the Call for 
Views think the format of the VfM opinion does not provide useful information. Some 
of these respondents recognised that the opinion is limited to giving assurance only 
that processes are in place to secure value for money and therefore that the opinion 
needs to be expanded to provide useful information. 79% of these respondents do not 
think the standards provide appropriate guidance on quality standards for VfM audits. 
 

4.5.3 91% of respondents think external audit should be required to assess financial 
resilience. Although 3% of these respondents felt that financial resilience is already 
covered to an appropriate amount, most of the other respondents thought that 
financial resilience should be considered in the medium and long term as part of the 
value for money audit opinion.  This included most audit firm respondents to this 
question, all of whom stated that the updated NAO Code of Audit Practice, effective 
from 2020-21, would provide a suitable level of coverage.  No local authorities 
specifically mentioned the NAO Code of Audit Practice in their responses, although 

Figure 4.6 
Opinions on the VfM opinion and auditing standards 

Page 75



38 
 

this may be due to the fact that the updated Audit Code had not been finalised at the 
time the Call for Views closed.  However, 16% of local authority respondents thought 
the non-statutory CIPFA Financial Management Code (published Oct 2019) could 
provide a suitable framework for assessing financial resilience and financial 
management.  

4.6 Summary of audit performance 
4.6.1 There is an expectation gap that extends across both the financial and the VfM audit.  

The coverage of the financial and VfM audits is far narrower than many stakeholders 
expect. 
 

4.6.2 There are questions about the level of audit performance.  In addition, although 
external auditors may be meeting the contract specification by delivering audits that, 
for the most part, meet the quality standards set out in ISAs and the Audit Code, an 
increasing number of audits are not being completed by the statutory deadline for 
publishing audited accounts. 
 

4.6.3 Audit fees paid by local authorities have reduced, whereas, over the same period, 
they have increased in other sectors.  There is some evidence that the reduction in 
fees has led to a decline in the number of examiners with appropriate skills, knowledge 
and expertise. This has had an impact on the timeliness of audits, the usefulness of 
auditor reporting to management and the quality of interactions between external 
auditors and local authorities.   
 

4.6.4 Underpinning concerns about audit performance is a question of focus.  There is a 
perception amongst many local authorities that an increasing amount of time is spent 
auditing fixed asset and pension valuations.  It is clear that external audit increasingly 
has a greater focus on these areas, and that this has been driven by the requirement 
to meet quality standards and comply with relevant statutory guidance.  What is less 
clear is the extent to which this has led to a reduction of audit work in other areas, but 
given the reduction in audit fees, it is likely to have had some impact. 
 

4.6.5 It is more difficult to summarise audit performance in relation to the VfM engagement.  
This is partly because the 2015 Audit Code requires minimal documentation unless 
significant VfM risks are identified.  This makes it impossible to assess whether the 
external audit assessment of VfM risks is complete in all cases.  However, given the 
squeeze on audit fees and the reduction in the number of audit examiners with 
appropriate skills, knowledge and expertise, this remains a matter of significant 
concern. 

   

  

Page 76



39 
 

5. Governance arrangements in place for responding to audit 
recommendations 

5.1 Outline of the different frameworks in operation 
5.1.1 The effectiveness of audit must, in part, be determined by the arrangements in place 

within each body subject to audit for considering and acting upon external audit 
reports. All local authorities are required to set up Audit Committees or the equivalent 
with responsibility for considering the annual accounts and receiving internal and 
external audit plans and reports.  The specific arrangements vary between different 
types of local authorities.  However, the purpose of an Audit Committee is to provide 
independent challenge on behalf of the authority in respect of accountability and risk 
management arrangements. 
 
Arrangements within PCCs  

5.1.2 A PCC is an elected official  charged with securing efficient and effective policing of 
a police area.  The policing function is delivered by the constabulary, led in large part 
by Chief Constables.  PCCs are required to set up Joint Audit Committees covering 
the activities of both the PCC and the constabulary.  These arrangements appear to 
work effectively and the findings and conclusions in the rest of this Chapter do not 
apply to PCCs. 
 

5.1.3 Some PCCs also have responsibility for overseeing the delivery of Fire and Rescue 
Authorities, which deliver the fire service, in their local area.  In other areas, primarily 
Shire Counties, the fire service is the responsibility of the County Council.  
 
Arrangements within other types of local authorities 

5.1.4 Mayoral Combined Authorities11 are required by statute to have an Audit Committee, 
although there is no statutory guidance on the membership or remit.  Whilst not a 
requirement for other types of local authorities, in practice most have set up an Audit 
Committee or equivalent. 
 

5.1.5 Constitutionally, Audit Committees in local authorities are sub-committees of Full 
Council.  This means that a majority of its members will be elected as a councillor or 
its equivalent. As highlighted in Figure 5.1, membership tends to be based on the 
political balance of the council and the chair is often, but not always, a member of the 
ruling group.   
   

5.1.6 The number of members of Audit Committees varies from four to seventeen, with 
seven being the most common.  This compares to common practice in central 
government and the private sector, which is to have no more than three or four Audit 
Committee members.  The size of the committee might vary according to the number 
of councillors an authority has; however, Birmingham City Council, which by 
expenditure is the largest local authority and has more councillors (99) than any other 
local authority in England, has eight members on its Audit Committee, whereas the 

 
11 Combined Authorities are statutory bodies made up of neighbouring local authorities that broadly cover a city-region 
that have agreed to work together. A Mayoral Combined Authority is where a mayor is the directly elected leader of 
the combined authority.   

Page 77

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Police_area


40 
 

Audit Committees of some Shire District Councils have memberships that far exceed 
this.  

5.1.7 Local authority accounts are very complex and there appears to be a significant 
difference between the assurance that external auditors provide and public 
expectations.  Elected members may or may not have relevant skills, expertise or 
background to fulfil the role of a member of an Audit Committee.  Many local 
authorities provide training for Audit Committee members, but it has not been possible 
to assess how comprehensive or effective this training is.  As a result, it is not possible 
to conclude whether members are always equipped to provide effective challenge to 
Auditors or Statutory Officers.   
 

5.1.8 As part of its Audit Quality Reviews of 2018-19 audits, the FRC review teams have 
met with Audit Committee chairs of 12 selected local authorities.  Although the reviews 
of the related audits are not yet publicly available, a mixed picture was reported, with 
some chairs being very engaged and informed, but others being less so.  As the FRC 
is responsible only for the quality assurance reviews of the 230 larger local authorities 
and NHS bodies, the experience provided by their quality reviews may not be fully 
representative of the sector. 
 

5.1.9 Whilst the vast majority of local authorities interviewed were supportive of the principle 
of appointing independent members, only about 40% of Audit Committees currently 
have done so. The reported experience of having independent members on Audit 
Committees was mixed.  In some cases, they provided useful challenge, but some 
authorities reported that the effectiveness of independent members was hampered by 
their lack of sector specific knowledge. 
 

5.1.10 A particular challenge for authorities is attracting independent members with the 
relevant technical experience.  This challenge can sometimes be greater depending 

74%

60%

22%

30%

4%

10%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Chair

Members

Figure 5.1
Composition of audit committees in councils

56% of committees had no independent members

Ruling Group

Opposition
Member

Independent

Notes
1    Representative sample of 27 Local Authority Committees (not including FRAs or PCCs).  

Page 78



41 
 

on an authority’s geographical location. Some PCCs have found that the introduction 
of Joint Audit Committees, which are seen as more prestigious, has made Audit 
Committee membership more attractive to appropriately qualified independent 
members, but there is still not an abundance of suitable applicants for vacant 
positions.   
 

5.1.11 The independent member is often a voluntary position across the local authority 
sector.  This compares to NHS trusts who are more likely to pay independent Audit 
Committee members, which may make it slightly easier for them to attract applicants 
with relevant expertise. 
 

5.1.12 Local authorities have a number of statutory officers, three of whom have 
responsibilities that may be covered by audit work.  They are: 
• The Head of Paid Service – typically the Chief Executive or Managing Director 
• The Section 151 Officer – typically the Chief Financial Officer or Finance Director 
• The Monitoring Officer – typically the Head of Legal Services  
 

5.1.13 As demonstrated by Figure 5.2 the frequency of attendance of statutory officers at 
Audit Committee meetings is mixed.  Whilst the Chief Financial Officer and Head of 
Internal Audit attend a majority of meetings, Monitoring Officers attend just under half 
of the meetings and the Chief Executive attends such meetings less often.   Other 
statutory officers and service heads usually attend Audit Committee meetings if a 
matter relevant to their service area is discussed. 
 

5.1.14 The Chief Financial Officer is more likely to attend meetings where external audit 
completion reports are presented. Attendance of the Chief Executive increased by 2% 
and the Monitoring Officer attendance decreased.  This may be reflective of the fact 
that in local government, the Chief Financial Officer signs the accounts on behalf of 
the local authority, or it may be indicative of the profile of external audit.  

23%

67%

45%

80%

76%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Chief Executive

Chief Financial Officer

Monitoring Officer

Head of Internal Audit

External Audit

Figure 5.2
Audit Committee attendance: Local Authority Officers and External 
Audit Representative

Notes
1 Representative sample of 30 local authorities

Percentage of total Audit Committee meetings attended during 

Page 79



42 
 

 
5.1.15 In local government, representatives of external audit are not expected to attend every 

Audit Committee meeting.  Based on a representative sample, the KAP attended 56% 
of meetings, rising to 87% of meetings where either external audit papers were tabled 
or where the final accounts were presented.  For the 13% of these meetings where 
the KAP was not in attendance, external audit was represented by a less senior 
member of the audit team.   

 
5.2 Scope of audit committees within local government 
5.2.1 The scope of Audit Committees also varied between authorities.  CIPFA’s Position 

Statement and supporting guidance on Audit Committees (2013) says that the Audit 
Committee should cover: 

• The annual governance statement 
• The work of internal audit 
• Risk management 
• Assurance framework and assurance planning 
• Value for money and best value 
• Countering fraud and corruption 
• External audit  
• Partnership governance 

and may also cover: 
• Specific matters at the request of statutory officers or other committees 
• Ethical values 
• Treasury management 

 
5.2.2 Most of the committees reviewed covered most of the items in the CIPFA position 

statement.  There were two areas which had either minimal or no specific coverage: 
partnership governance, which was considered by only two of the 30 authorities 
reviewed; and value for money and best value which was not considered by any of 
those 30 authorities.  The CIPFA Survey on Local Authority Audit Committees 
(November 2016) also found that Audit Committees were much less likely to consider 
these two areas.  However, the scope of Audit Committees in local authorities is not 
limited to the areas suggested in the CIPFA guidance.     
 

5.2.3 The scope of committees whose responsibilities included audit varied.  The second 
most common name, after the ‘Audit Committee’ itself was a name which indicated 
the combining of audit with the functions of an overview and scrutiny committee.  
Overview and scrutiny committees are required by statute12 and are responsible for 
overseeing and scrutinising the whole range of the Council's functions and 
responsibilities, as well as other public service providers' work and its impact on the 
local community.  Whilst the functions of these two committees have some synergy, 
there is a question as to whether it enables the audit responsibilities to be fully 
addressed.  
 

5.2.4 In one example a local authority had set up an Audit, Resources and Performance 
Committee.  This is a significant concern because the prime purpose of an Audit 

 
12 Schedule 2, Localism Act 2011 

Page 80

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/2


43 
 

Committee is to review the comprehensiveness and reliability of assurances on 
governance, risk management, the control environment and the integrity of financial 
statements and the annual report. The Resources Committee will use financial 
projections and risk management information to take decisions about use of 
resources.  If the same committee is responsible for using information to take 
management decisions and providing independent assurance over the reliability of 
that information, there is no effective segregation of duties. There is also a potential 
for conflicts of interest. 

 
5.3 Relationship between Audit Committees and Full Council or 

equivalent 
5.3.1 Full Council has a role, ultimately, in responding to audit matters that is beyond 

receiving Public Interest Reports or qualified audit opinions.  Full Council is generally 
more visible to the public than committees/subcommittees.  The Council’s public 
accountability to local taxpayers and service users is best served by having significant 
matters relating to audit discussed in a transparent and accessible way.   
 

5.3.2 Matters raised at Audit Committee can be referred to Full Council.   In addition, the 
auditor has the power to present some statements, for example an advisory notice 
that planned expenditure may be unlawful, directly to Full Council. 
 

5.3.3 In practice the auditor tends to present matters to the Audit Committee, which decides 
if a matter is serious enough to be referred to Full Council.  Most local authorities feel 
that this arrangement is appropriate. It is rare for an Audit Committee to put a 
substantive item onto the Full Council’s agenda. The exception is the Treasury 
Management Strategy, where some local authorities have a practice of ensuring that 
it is considered by the Audit Committee before being forwarded to Full Council for 
approval. 
 

5.3.4 Many local authorities stated that the existing relationship between Audit Committee 
and Full Council involved either forwarding for information a yearly summary report or 
meeting minutes and that this was considered to be sufficient. Many also commented 
that if there were significant recommendations made by the external auditor, such as 
a Public Interest Report, that then should be a matter for Full Council.   
 

5.3.5 In some cases, some quite serious matters seem not to have been passed onto Full 
Council.  For example, the ‘best value’ report into Northamptonshire County Council 
found that when the external auditor reported that appropriate arrangements to deliver 
best value outcomes were not in place, for the second year in succession, there is no 
evidence that the Audit Committee forwarded the qualified audit opinion to Full 
Council. 

 

Page 81



44 
 

5.3.6 If this practice is widespread, there is a significant risk that in many councils, a majority 
of elected members may not be sighted on serious governance or financial resilience 
issues. This risk does not fully pertain to PCCs, where the PCC and Chief Constable 
are expected to attend the Joint Audit Committee and generally do so.  There is a 
question as to whether Audit Committees, including Joint Audit Committees, are 
sufficiently transparent to local taxpayers and service users.  Whilst by default, 
proceedings of these committees are public, it is not clear that taxpayers and service 
users are aware that they have a right to attend or to read the papers and the minutes. 
 

5.3.7 As demonstrated in Figure 5.3 most local authorities felt that external audit reports 
should be presented to the Audit Committee rather than to Full Council.  Reasons 
given included: 

• Full Council only taking items for decision;  
• elected members not having the skills, knowledge or experience to understand 

the report unless they had received Audit Committee training.   
 

5.3.8 Many commented that external audit reports should be reported to Full Council only 
in exceptional circumstances where there is significant cause for concern. One 
respondent commented that given the target dates and tight deadlines, there is 
insufficient time to report to Full Council prior to sign off of the accounts by the external 
auditors.  
 
Raising the profile of external audit work 

5.3.9 The content of the standard suite of external audit reports is mandated by auditing 
standards.  Whilst audit firms have made significant strides in making reports more 
accessible to clients, much of the required disclosure is highly technical.  Given this, 
it is perhaps understandable that many local authorities do not present such 
documents to Full Council. 
 

2

10

16

18

56

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Cabinet

Full Council (for discussion)

Full Council (limited info / usual
practice)

Full Council (significant issues)

Audit Committee

Figure 5.3
To whom should external auditors present audit reports and findings?

Notes

1    92% of local authorities respondents answered this Call for Views question

Page 82



45 
 

5.3.10 Nevertheless, external auditors may have insights from their work, that could provide 
assurance to Elected Representatives that their local authority is being run with the 
best interests of service users and taxpayers in mind.  The auditor also has the facility 
to sight elected representatives on matters that audit work has highlighted as a 
potential issue. 
 

5.3.11 This suggests that the external auditor should report to Full Council on risks identified 
and conclusions reached, in a transparent and understandable format.  To be of most 
use, such a report would need to be timely.  Given the increase in the number of 
delayed audits, this report should not necessarily be linked to the certification of the 
financial accounts as it should be made at the most useful point in the year.  
Comparatively few local authorities commented on what was the right point in the year 
to receive audit reports. Two thirds of those who did, expressed a preference for end-
September, coming as it does near the start of the following year’s annual budget 
setting planning cycle. 
 
Collating the results of external audit work 

5.3.12 Prior to 2015, the Audit Commission published an annual report summarising the 
results of the audits of local authorities and the NHS.  Up to the end of 2017-18 
responsibility for preparing this report passed to PSAA. The report summarised the 
number of audits completed by the statutory deadline and the number of qualified 
financial audit and value for money opinions, with the latter categorised by theme.  It 
also listed all Public Interest Reports, Statutory Recommendations and Advisory 
Notices issued in the preceding year. It did not include any details on risks raised by 
auditors in their Audit Planning Reports or non-statutory recommendations made to 
local authorities. Just over two thirds of Call for Views respondents think a publication 
summarising the results of local authority audits adds value.  
 

5.3.13 The responsibility for preparing this report was included in the Memorandum of 
Understanding between PSAA and MHCLG.  When MHCLG decided not to renew the 
Memorandum of Understanding, PSAA’s responsibility for reporting on the results of 
audit work lapsed. This reinforces the point that no entity currently has the 
responsibility to collate and report on the results of the work of the external auditors 
of local authorities and individual NHS bodies. 

 
  

Page 83



46 
 

6 Audit work on the financial resilience of local authorities 

6.1 Stakeholders’ expectations regarding financial resilience 
6.1.1 Reference has been made to the role of external audit in assessing financial resilience 

and sustainability in local authorities. In England, neither the financial nor the value 
for money audit includes a specific responsibility to provide an opinion on whether a 
local authority is financially sustainable.   
 

6.1.2 However, it is legitimate to expect the auditor to examine the ability of the local 
authority to provide resources sufficient to deliver the statutory services for which it is 
responsible.  It would not be appropriate for this Review to provide a commentary on 
local government funding, but there are a number of key questions that it would be 
reasonable to expect the auditor to assess.  These could include: 
• Has the auditor scrutinised the balance sheet to understand the debt profile of the 

authority and the level and depletion rate of usable reserves? 
• What metrics does the authority use to determine the level of financial risk it faces? 
• When the annual budget is approved by Full Council or equivalent, the CFO is 

required to present a “Section 25” report, providing a view on the reasonableness 
of financial estimates and the adequacy of reserves.  Should the auditor be 
required to confirm that this report is sound? 

• It is good practice for local authorities to prepare a mid-term financial strategy, 
normally covering a three to five-year period that is presented alongside the 
budget.  Is it reasonable to expect the auditor to consider the assumptions 
underpinning this strategy or to form a view on its whether it is robust and realistic? 

• Local authorities are also required to prepare statutory reports that have 
implications for financial sustainability and available resources in future years.  
These include setting a Prudential Borrowing limit, calculating an appropriate 
provision for repayment of debt (known as “Minimum Revenue Provision”), 
preparing an Investment Strategy, and potentially preparing a Flexible Use of 
Capital Receipts Strategy.  Is it reasonable to expect the auditor to consider some 
of these strategies and estimates? 

 
6.1.3 CFOs may have specific expectations of auditors. As previously indicated, many of 

the CFOs who contacted the Review made it clear that they valued the informal 
contact and challenge from the KAP.  Dialogue between the KAP and the CFO does 
take place, if not on as wide a scale as it did pre-2015, and there is no doubt this can 
be beneficial.  However, the independence of the auditor must be preserved in the 
way that advice and guidance may be tendered. 
 

6.2 What does financial resilience mean in a local authority context? 
The statutory framework 

6.2.1 Financial resilience in a local authority is different to a private sector context. The 
powers and responsibilities of local authorities along with the financial control 
framework within which they operate are set by statute. 

 
6.2.2 The services that local authorities are required to provide are set out in legislation 

along with the accompanying powers and duties.  The statutory responsibilities to 

Page 84



47 
 

deliver these services exist even if the local authority’s resources may be considered 
to be insufficient at any given time. 
 

6.2.3 The key financial controls set out in statute are: 
• The requirement to calculate an annual balanced revenue budget for the 

upcoming financial year, that must be approved by Full Council or the equivalent. 
Local authorities are not allowed to run a deficit budget.  Instead they are required 
to calculate a level of Council Tax that equates to the difference between income 
and expenditure.  The increase in the level of Council Tax that can be charged is 
restricted by a ‘referendum principle’.  If a local authority wishes to raise Council 
Tax by more than a percentage specified by Ministers, they are required to put the 
planned increase to a referendum of local electors.  Local authorities can borrow 
to fund capital investment but are not normally allowed to do so to finance in-year 
expenditure. 

• The CFO’s “Section 25” report on the robustness of the council’s budget 
estimates and the adequacy of its reserves, which must be presented to Full 
Council alongside the annual balanced budget. 

• The CFO has the power to issue a “Section 114 notice” if the CFO believes that 
the local authority is unable to set or maintain a balanced budget.  After a section 
114 notice is issued, the local authority may not incur new expenditure 
commitments, and the Full Council must meet within 21 days to discuss the report.  
There is no legal provision regarding what action they then must take.  There is no 
procedure in law for a UK local authority to go bankrupt, and none has ever done 
so. 

 
6.2.4 If a local authority mismanages its budgets over a number of years so that it is unable 

to recover its financial position, then central government has the choice of intervening 
under its “best value” powers, providing exceptional financial support, facilitating an 
offer of leadership and governance support from elsewhere in the sector, or using a 
mixture of these options. 
 

6.2.5 Intervention on the grounds of lack of financial resilience is very rare.  The most recent 
statutory intervention using best value powers was in Northamptonshire in 2018.  
Although there have been three other statutory interventions in the intervening years 
(Doncaster due to pervasive corporate governance failures, Rotherham due to 
institutional failure in responding to child sexual abuse and Tower Hamlets due to 
pervasive governance and financial impropriety issues), Northamptonshire was the 
first statutory intervention primarily due to financial resilience issues since Hackney in 
2000.  
 

6.2.6 In both Northamptonshire and Hackney, central government supported the council 
during the intervention by providing exceptional financial support, primarily by allowing 
receipts from sale of assets to be used to support revenue expenditure.  
Northamptonshire was also permitted to raise council tax by 2% more than other 
authorities for 2019-20 without triggering a referendum. 
 

6.2.7 Whilst this might suggest that financial resilience is not an issue for local authorities, 
that may not always be the case.  Firstly, central government support cannot always 
be guaranteed and secondly, a local authority experiencing severe financial resilience 
issues may also be facing governance and service delivery issues, with a 

Page 85



48 
 

consequential impact on those who depend on those services.  Furthermore, the 
impact of financial resilience issues on service delivery is iterative.  It must be 
emphasised here that the system must identify and highlight financial resilience issues 
at the earliest opportunity in order to avoid negative impact on service. When a service 
fails, it is likely that that cost of recovery will be greater with a possible consequential 
impact on financial resilience. 
 

6.2.8 This suggests that in a local authority context, financial resilience means the ability to 
manage budgets over the medium term whilst continuing to deliver high quality and 
effective services, that can be accessed by service users.  The level of service 
provided is very important.  Local authorities in financial difficulties can seek to cut 
costs by reducing the level of service.  This may be the case for demand led services 
such as social care where it is more difficult to forecast accurately local demand 
pressure. 

 
Commercialisation and local authority resilience 

6.2.9 One of the most significant sectoral trends since 2015 is the increased 
commercialisation of local authorities.  To simplify, there are two main categories of 
local authority commercialisation: 

• Investment in commercial property, usually through the general fund; and 
• Investment in wholly owned companies set up using the “general power of 

competence”.  The most common type of wholly owned local authority company 
is the housing company.  Other examples identified include energy companies, 
recruitment agencies, back office service delivery companies and leisure trusts.  
PCCs and FRAs do not have a “general power of competence”. 

 
6.2.10 The risks commercialisation poses to local authority financial resilience were 

highlighted in a recent NAO study on “Local Authority Investment in Commercial 
Property”13 which concluded: 
 
“Buying commercial property can deliver benefits for Local Authorities including 
both the generation of income and local regeneration. However, as with all 
investments, there are risks. Income from commercial property is uncertain 
over the long term and authorities may be taking on high levels of long-term 
debt with associated debt costs or may become significantly dependent on 
commercial property income to support services. At the national or regional 
level, Local Authority activity could have an inflationary effect on the market or 
crowd out private sector investment.” 

 
6.2.11 Although the NAO study focused solely on commercial property, this conclusion is as 

relevant to investments in wholly owned companies.  If a company that is set up using 
the “general power of competence” gets into difficulty, the parent local authority may 
ultimately be responsible or may have to write off loans or equity funding, and this can 
impact financial resilience.   
 

6.2.12 An additional risk with wholly owned companies is a potential lack of transparency.  It 
can be very difficult for a reader to identify a local authority’s exposure as a result of 

 
13 https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Local-authority-investment-in-commercial-property.pdf 

Page 86

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Local-authority-investment-in-commercial-property.pdf


49 
 

investments in or loans to wholly owned companies by looking at the accounts. Unless 
an investment in, or transactions with, a wholly owned company is material by value, 
there is no requirement to consolidate the company’s income, expenditure, assets or 
liabilities in the local authority’s accounts.   Instead, what is required is a disclosure of 
transactions between the authority and each of its wholly owned companies in what 
is known as the “Related Parties note”.  This note is presented less prominently in the 
annual report and accounts document.  In addition, decisions a local authority makes 
pertaining to its wholly owned companies, including those relating to providing 
additional finance and awarding contracts, are often held in private on grounds of 
commercial confidentiality. 
  
Defining local authority financial resilience 

6.2.13 CIPFA has attempted to define financial resilience in a local authority context.  In 
Building Financial Resilience (Jun 2017)14.  This publication highlights four pillars of 
sound financial management and five indicators of financial stress. 

 
Figure 6.1  
CIPFA Pillars of Financial Resilience 
Pillars of financial resilience Indicators of financial stress 
Getting routine financial management 
right  

Running down reserves 
 

Benchmarking against nearest 
neighbours – e.g. unit costs, 
under/overspends by service area, under-
recovery of income. 

Failure to deliver planned savings 
 
Shortening medium term financial planning 
horizons 

Clear plans for delivering savings Increase gaps in saving plans (i.e. where 
proposals are still to be identified) 

Managing reserves over the medium-term 
financial planning horizon. 

Increase unplanned overspends in service 
delivery departments.  

 
6.2.14 The pillars of financial resilience identified by CIPFA related to process and 

governance points, so could be covered by the auditor’s VfM opinion.  Likewise, the 
indicators of financial stress could be covered by a sector-wide VfM audit framework. 
 

6.2.15 An alternative and more detailed model, mentioned by some local authorities, is the 
seventeen principles set out in CIPFA’s recently published Financial Management 
Code.  Although only three of the seventeen principles are categorised under the 
heading of sustainability, in practice, all of the principles relate to matters that directly 
or indirectly contribute to an authority’s capacity and capability to deliver sustainable 
services over the medium term. 
 

6.2.16 A challenge common to both the Pillars of Financial Resilience and the Financial 
Management Code is that neither has any statutory basis.  Whilst CIPFA requires its 
members to follow the Financial Management Code, compliance cannot be enforced.  
As a result, auditors may be reluctant to treat non-compliance with either as a matter 
serious enough on which to report. 

 
14 https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/building-financial-resilience-managing-financial-stress-in-local-
authorities 

Page 87

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/building-financial-resilience-managing-financial-stress-in-local-authorities
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/building-financial-resilience-managing-financial-stress-in-local-authorities


50 
 

 
6.2.17 A further challenge with the Financial Management Code is that the key principles are 

fairly detailed.  Whilst an auditor could assess compliance with these principles, the 
costs of doing so in terms of both the auditor and of local authority time could be quite 
high.   
 

6.2.18 Finally, neither the Pillars nor the Financial Management Code explicitly cover the 
impact of commercial activity on a local authority’s financial resilience.  General fund 
investments should be considered as part of the audit of financial accounts but wholly 
owned companies would only be considered if material enough to be consolidated 
into the accounts. 

 

6.3 Current audit requirements to assess the sustainability and 
resilience of LAs in England 

The Going Concern opinion 
6.3.1 An underpinning principle of a financial audit is a ‘going concern assumption’.  The 

going concern principle means that readers of a set of accounts are entitled to assume 
a business will continue in the future, unless there is evidence to the contrary.  When 
an auditor conducts the examination of the accounts, there is an obligation to review 
its ability to continue as a going concern for the next twelve months. 
 

6.3.2 If the auditor concludes that there is significant doubt that the reporting entity is a 
going concern, the audit opinion is qualified, and a report explaining the auditor’s 
financial resilience concerns is included with the audit opinion.  In addition, if an entity 
is not a going concern, assets and liabilities must be valued at the amount they can 
be sold for rather than by assessing their ongoing value to the entity. 
 

6.3.3 This particular way of validating a local authority’s financial health has attracted much 
criticism from respondents.  The view of practitioners is that that a local authority 
cannot face the prospect of bankruptcy/liquidity in the way that a company might.   
 

6.3.4 In addition, local authorities are presumed to be a going concern for the purpose of 
forming an audit opinion, as the financial reporting frameworks for these bodies dictate 
a continued service approach, unless there is a clearly expressed Parliamentary 
intention to discontinue the provision of the services which the entity provides.  The 
NAO has consulted on Supplementary Auditor Guidance, that reinforces this point. 
 

6.3.5 87% of respondents to the Call for Views think the going concern assumption is 
meaningless in a local authority context.  Respondents noted that local authorities 
would be likely to receive support from Central Government in the wake of a serious 
event. Many highlighted the example of Northamptonshire remaining a going concern 
for audit opinion purposes, even when the auditors had issued an advisory notice on 
what was considered to be an undeliverable budget. as an apparent example of the 
opinion’s flaws. Those who responded that the opinion was meaningful included a 
majority of audit firms who acknowledged the going concern opinion’s flaws and 
suggested changes but, on the whole, felt that it was still important that this 
assessment was carried out.  

Page 88

https://www.accountingtools.com/articles/2017/5/5/auditor


51 
 

The value for money opinion  
6.3.6 The other dimension of audit which could look at financial resilience is through the 

work required to support what is known as the ‘value for money opinion’.  The work 
required to support this opinion is governed by the NAO’s Code of Audit Practice (“the 
Audit Code”).  What the auditor is required to do is to form an opinion on the adequacy 
of the systems in place to support the economy, effectiveness and efficiency of service 
delivery.  Under current practice in England, the auditor may test the adequacy of 
systems and procedures used to construct the mid-term financial plan but is only 
required to do so if a significant risk is identified during the audit.  The auditor is not 
required to examine the mid-term financial plan from a sustainability perspective or 
form a conclusion on the financial resilience of the authority. 

 
6.3.7 The update to the Audit Code, effective from 2020-21, will require auditors to provide 

a narrative statement on the arrangements in place.  The aim of this statement is to 
provide more useful information to stakeholders, to report in a timelier manner and, 
through the move away from a binary opinion, encourage auditors to be bolder in 
highlighting concerns.  The updated Audit Code has been broadly welcomed by 
stakeholders and has the potential to enhance value for money reporting in England. 
 

6.3.8 What the updated Audit Code does not do is specify that auditors consider specific 
matters or judge local authority systems and performance against specific standards 
or good practice examples, such as CIPFA’s Pillars of Financial Sustainability or their 
Financial Management Code.  Nor does the updated Audit Code provide any 
guidance on how to assess whether a value for money risk is material.   

 
Timeliness of the value for money opinion 

6.3.9 Less than half of respondents to the Call for Views expressed an opinion on the timing 
of the VfM opinion.  Two thirds of those who expressed an opinion agreed that the 
statutory reporting deadline of end-September was the right point in the annual cycle 
to present the VfM opinion, coming as it does near the start of the following year’s 
annual budget setting planning cycle. Many commented that the external audit firms 
still had the capability to raise any significant VfM concerns outside this process, a 
process where they were happy with the content.  
 

6.3.10 Those that disagreed included all but one of the audit firms who responded to this 
question.  In addition, many of the local authorities who responded to the Call for 
Views didn’t have strong opinions either way.   Some thought that the opinion might 
be better presented in May, right at the start of the following financial year, but others 
expressed concern as to whether audit firms would have the capacity to handle a split 
reporting timetable.  
 

6.3.11 A subsidiary, but still important, factor when considering the timing of the opinion is 
auditor resourcing.  If the full benefits from the revised VfM opinion in the new Audit 
Code are to be realised, auditors will need to do more work.   
 

6.3.12 Therefore, thinking about how to time the publication of the opinion so that it is of the 
most use, has the most impact, and can be supported by timely audit work must be a 
matter for serious consideration. 

Page 89



52 
 

 
6.4 Practice in other jurisdictions 
6.4.1 Audit requirements in other jurisdictions, for example Scotland, Wales and New 

Zealand provide alternative models, all of which provide practices that could help 
bridge the expectation gap between what auditors are required to do and what 
stakeholders expect them to do to assess financial resilience.  The Review has 
explored New Zealand as it has a different model that is worthy of consideration.   
 

6.4.2 Scotland and Wales have different models of value for money reporting, with 
Scotland’s model requiring the auditor to assess future plans and Wales’ model 
including the option for the auditor to undertake more focussed work on financial 
resilience as a separate engagement.   
 

6.4.3 In New Zealand, there is no VfM opinion, but instead the financial audit opinion has 
been extended to cover a large number of pass/fail service delivery and financial 
resilience metrics.  The financial resilience metrics are common to all authorities, 
allowing comparisons to be made. 
 

6.4.4 Care needs to be taken when assessing the appropriateness of these models.  There 
are currently 32 unitary authorities in Scotland, 22 unitary authorities in Wales and 78 
local, regional and unitary councils in New Zealand compared to 343 local authorities 
in England.  It may not be possible to scale-up practices that are appropriate in these 
jurisdictions to England in a coherent way or to do so at a reasonable cost.   
 
Practice in Scotland 

6.4.5 When scoping, planning, performing, and reporting on their ‘best value’ work, auditors 
in Scotland are required to consider four audit dimensions.  The first of these, financial 
sustainability, interprets the short term going concern opinion and requires auditors to 
look “forward to the medium (two to five years) and longer term (longer than five years) 
to consider whether the body is planning effectively to continue to deliver its services 
or the way in which they should be delivered.” 

 
6.4.6 The results of VfM audits of Scottish local authorities tend to produce quite rich 

reports, which the Accounts Commission, the public spending watchdog for local 
government in Scotland, uses to identify and highlight key trends and risks across the 
sector.  For example, the Local Government in Scotland, Financial Overview Report 
2018-19 (Dec 2019)15 found that Scottish councils were increasingly drawing down 
on their revenue reserves; and whilst all councils had medium term financial planning 
covering the next three to five years, long term financial planning had not improved 
since the last report. 
 

 
 
 

 
15 https://www.audit-
scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2019/nr_191217_local_government_finance.pdf 

Page 90

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2019/nr_191217_local_government_finance.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2019/nr_191217_local_government_finance.pdf


53 
 

Practice in Wales 
6.4.7 The value for money audit opinion an auditor of a Welsh local authority is required to 

provide is the same as that in England; that is an opinion on the “arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources”.  However, the 
Welsh Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to review significant arrangements in 
place irrespective of whether material risks have been identified. 
 

6.4.8 Where an auditor identifies notable financial resilience or other value for money 
concerns, the Auditor General for Wales has the statutory power16 to publish a 
separate substantive report.  These reports are publicly available on the Wales Audit 
Office’s website and provide an in-depth assessment of the issues identified and the 
appropriateness of the plans that the local authority has to address these. 
 
Practice in New Zealand 

6.4.9 Local authorities in New Zealand are required to report performance in the Annual 
Report and Accounts against a range of financial prudence benchmarks specified in 
legislation.  The auditor is required to report on the completeness and accuracy of the 
local authority’s disclosures against these benchmarks.  As all of the benchmarks 
have pass/fail thresholds, they lend themselves to a binary audit opinion. 
 

6.4.10 The purpose of this statement is to disclose the Council’s financial performance in 
relation to required benchmarks in order to assess whether the Council is prudently 
managing its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and general financial dealings.  
Although the benchmarks are backwards looking, five-year trend information is 
presented which helps the user of the accounts to understand how effective the local 
authority is in managing its financial resilience. 
 

6.5 The audit of financial resilience – a new model for England? 
Introduction 

6.5.1 There is a significant gap between the reasonable expectations of many stakeholders 
and what the auditor is required to do when assessing the financial stability and 
resilience of local authorities. 
 

6.5.2 To help bridge the expectation gap, the scope of audit should include a substantive 
test of a local authority’s financial resilience and sustainability.  Care and attention will 
need to be taken to define how the auditor should address historical, current and 
future financial sustainability issues, so that the engagement does not become overly 
burdensome or provide false comfort to stakeholders.  In addition, expanding the 
scope of the audit will increase costs, and there needs to be a balance between those 
costs and the potential benefits of additional audit coverage and reporting. 

 
6.5.3 However, cost should not be a deterrent in and of itself.  The expansion of the opinion 

to encompass financial resilience and sustainability would, potentially, provide comfort 
to the authority and to council taxpayers that the finances are in good order.   This 

 
16 under Section 17 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and section 18 of the Local Government Wales Measure 2009 

Page 91



54 
 

would represent a genuine demonstration of public accountability both from a local 
authority and from an audit perspective. 
 
Form of the opinion 

6.5.4 The revised narrative opinion proposed in the new NAO code should lead to a 
significant enhancement in the usefulness of auditor reporting.  The 2020 Audit Code 
sets out three reporting criteria (para 3.10)17: 

• Financial sustainability: how the body plans and manages its resources to 
ensure it can continue to deliver its services;  

• Governance: how the body ensures that it makes informed decisions and 
properly manages its risks; and  

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the body uses 
information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages 
and delivers its services. 
 

6.5.5 These criteria are not dissimilar to the four reporting pillars in the Scottish model.  The 
pillar that auditors of English local authorities are not explicitly required to report on is 
financial management.  It is unclear why this has been omitted but a possible reason 
is that an auditor would normally be expected to review material financial 
management controls as part of financial audit work.  
 

6.5.6 The reporting requirements contained within the 2020 Audit Code will take time to 
settle down and embed and there will be a role for the regulator in identifying and 
promoting good practice.  However, if practice develops as the NAO intends, the new 
reports should provide more useful information to stakeholders. 

 
Work required to support an assessment of financial resilience 

6.5.7 The 2020 Audit Code requires auditors to do less work to assess financial resilience 
than is required in either Scotland or Wales.   
 

6.5.8 Specifically, auditors in England will not be required to test whether the body is 
planning effectively to continue to deliver its services or the way in which they would 
be delivered over the medium or longer time horizon as in Scotland. Nor will auditors 
be requested to review the design of significant arrangements to secure value for 
money, and, where appropriate given the assessment of risk, test the operating 
effectiveness of those arrangements as in Wales. 
 

6.5.9 In addition to the factors mentioned in the Code, auditors could use the indicators of 
financial stress in the CIPFA publication, Pillars of Financial Resilience, as a key 
element of the risk assessment.  
 

6.5.10 To support such an assessment the auditor could be required to critically assess and, 
in cases where significant risks are identified, test the CFO’s Section 25 report along 
with any other statutory reports or management estimates that have an impact on 
medium or long term financial resilience.  This testing could include an assessment 

 
17 https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-
content/uploads/sites/29/2020/01/Code_of_audit_practice_2020.pdf 

Page 92

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2020/01/Code_of_audit_practice_2020.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2020/01/Code_of_audit_practice_2020.pdf


55 
 

of whether there are clear plans for delivering savings, the usage rate for non-
ringfenced revenue reserves and whether the local authority benchmarks its costs 
against nearest neighbours and takes appropriate action in response to variances, as 
set out in accordance with CIPFA’s Pillars of Financial Resilience.   
 

6.5.11 In addition, the auditor could explicitly be required to assess whether the local 
authority has complied in practice, and in spirit, with statutory guidance that it is 
required to “have regard to”. 
 

6.5.12 CIPFA’s Financial Management Code is another model that provides a set of 
standards against which auditors could assess value for money and financial 
resilience.  However, it is too detailed to assess without a considerable amount of 
additional audit work.  Nevertheless, the principles in the Financial Management Code 
would enhance the consistency of local authority financial management.  MHCLG 
could take the opportunity to give it statutory status when the opportunity arises and 
require local authorities to report on their compliance with it in their Annual 
Governance Statement.  Since auditors are required to read the Annual Governance 
Statement to ensure it is consistent with their knowledge of the business this, 
combined with the enhanced resilience testing recommended, would require auditors 
to report material breaches. 
 

6.5.13 Consideration has also been given to whether it would be appropriate to require a 
specific investigation. A more detailed report would enable specific VfM or financial 
resilience issues to be identified, as in the Welsh model.  This is not recommended, 
as this element of the Welsh model is not applicable due to scale. 

 
 
  

Page 93



56 
 

7. Financial reporting in local government 
7.1 The purpose of financial reporting in the local authority sector  
7.1.1 Financial reports provide information to people who seek to understand the 

performance of an entity.  As most of the money that local authorities receive is 
provided from general or local taxation, it is reasonable to expect people outside the 
body who are interested in a local authority’s financial performance to want to know 
how the money being managed is being spent.  This includes knowing whether the 
local authority is performing effectively to achieve what was intended with this money. 

 
7.1.2 Local taxpayers and service users do not have the power to require a local authority 

to produce bespoke financial information for them.  Instead, they have to rely on the 
financial statements.  They can inspect the financial statements and the underlying 
accounting records for a 30-day period that must comprise the first ten days in June.  
This means that to be relevant the information produced in local authority financial 
statements must meet the accountability and/or decision-making needs of users and 
be sufficiently transparent and understandable to allow them to ask appropriate 
questions. 

 
7.2 Introduction to the framework  
7.2.1 When producing financial reports, local authorities are required to have regard to the 

Statutory Code of Local Authority Accounting Practice (“the Accounting Code”), 
issued by the CIPFA.  The Accounting Code is based on private sector accounting 
standards other than where they have been adapted for the specific circumstances of 
local authorities or where these are overridden by specific statutory requirements.  As 
set out in Figure 7.1, Government retains the power to use secondary legislation 
either to override normal accounting practices or to require local authorities to include 
additional disclosures in their accounts.  

 
Figure 7.1  
Hierarchy of the Local Authority Accounting Framework 

 

Local Government Act 2003
Primary Legislation Allows SoS to make provision about accounting practices 

that local authorities must follow.

Capital Finance and Accounting Regulations 2003
Secondary Legislation Gives CIPFA the power to produce a statutory accounting 

code.
Introduces statutory overrides to private sector accounting 
practices; which must be reflected in the accounting 
code.

CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice
Statutory Code of Practice Statutory code setting out proper practices for local 

authority accounting in England.

Page 94



57 
 

7.2.2 When implementing, adapting or interpreting accounting standards, the Code seeks 
to maintain consistency with other parts of the UK public sector.  Preparation of the 
Code is overseen by the CIPFA/LASAAC Accounting Code Board, which comprises 
representatives of all the key stakeholder groups.  MHCLG has observer status on 
this Board.  
 

7.2.3 This Accounting Code board does not act in isolation.  Its decisions are reported to 
the Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB), which advises HM Treasury on public 
sector accounting.  In practice, both the annual update to the Accounting Code and 
any amendments or adaptations to accounting standards for the local authority sector 
need to be considered at FRAB as well as at the CIPFA/LASAAC Board.  

 
7.2.4 The Accounting Code applies to Principal Councils, PCCs, Chief Constables, FRAs, 

the GLA, Mayoral Combined Authorities, Passenger Transport Executives and 
National Park authorities in England.  It also applies to similar authorities in Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland, although the legislative framework for these 
authorities is different and they are outside the scope of this Review.  The Code does 
not normally apply to subsidiary companies consolidated into local authority 
accounts.  Such companies use the applicable private sector accounting framework.  

 
7.2.5 The Accounting Code is updated annually, and a new edition is published each 

financial year.  Purchasing the 2019-20 Code from CIPFA costs £340 (hard copy) or 
£710 (online copy).  CIPFA’s sales numbers demonstrate that at least one third of 
local authorities do not purchase an Accounting Code in any given year. 

 
7.2.6 The Accounting Code does not apply to smaller authorities, for example Parish 

Councils, Ports Authorities or Independent Drainage Boards with gross income or 
expenditure of less than £6.5m per annum (which is currently all but one of 
them).  The accounting and governance framework for these authorities is set by an 
organisation called the Joint Panel on Accountability and Governance (JPAG), which 
comprises representatives of all of the key stakeholder groups.  Smaller Parish 
Councils fill in a simplified financial return on a receipts and payments basis.  Further 
discussion of smaller authorities is included in Chapter 8.  

 
7.3 Format of local authority accounts  
7.3.1 Local authority accounts are very lengthy compared to accounts in other sectors, 

typically numbering in excess of 50 pages for shire districts and more than 80 for 
upper and single tier local authorities. They have more primary statements than 
central government and private sector accounts. Figure 7.2 shows the primary 
statements and supplementary accounts that the user can expect to find in a set of 
local authority accounts.    

 
7.3.2 Local authority accounts are arguably more complex and more challenging for a 

service user to understand than accounts produced by other parts of the public sector.  
This is primarily because there is a difference between the budget analysis of 
information for council tax purposes and the statutory basis of year end accounts.  
 
 
 

Page 95



58 
 

Figure 7.2 
Local Authority Accounts – Primary Statements and Supplementary Accounts  
Statement  Purpose  
Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 
Statement (CIES)  

Summary of the resources generated and consumed by 
the council on an accruals basis.   
Shows gross and net expenditure by service area and 
other income and expenditure incurred by the council.  

Movement in Reserves 
Statement (MIRS)* 

Shows how the movement in reserves in the Balance 
Sheet is reconciled to the CIES deficit and what 
adjustments are required to be charged to the general fund 
balance for Council Tax setting purposes.  

Balance Sheet  Sets out the Council’s financial position at the year end.  

Expenditure and Funding 
Analysis (EFA)*  

Summarises the annual expenditure used and funded by 
the Council together with the adjustments between the 
funding and accounting basis to reconcile with the CIES.  

Cashflow Statement  Summarises the inflows and outflows of cash for revenue 
and capital transactions during the year.  

Collection Fund Account* 
• Billing authorities   

Agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for 
billing authorities to maintain an account showing 
collection of Council Tax and National Non-Domestic 
Rates (NNDR) and the distribution of these taxes to 
precepting authorities.  

Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA)*  

• LAs with social 
housing stock  

Local authorities are not allowed to cross subsidise 
provision of social housing from general taxation or vice 
versa.  The HRA shows the major elements of expenditure 
on social housing and how these costs are met.  

* Statements unique to local authority accounts  
 

7.3.3 Local authorities calculate their annual council tax requirement through setting a 
“balanced budget”.  The balanced budget calculation that local authorities are required 
to make is specified in primary legislation and is undertaken on a receipts and 
payments basis.  Following the adoption of accruals accounting18 by the local 
authority sector and as IFRS have continued to develop, successive governments 
have sought to protect council taxpayers from accruals movements that do not have 
an immediate impact on the costs of service delivery.   They have done this through 
introducing statutory overrides. 
 

7.3.4 The most significant of these statutory overrides relates to depreciation.  Local 
authorities are required to charge depreciation on assets in the same way as any other 
entity.  They then reverse out the depreciation charge in the Movement in Reserves 
statement (MIRS) and replace it with a prudent provision for the debt taken out to 
acquire assets (Minimum Revenue Provision).    

 
18 Accruals accounting is a form of accounting where you recognise the economic cost of assets and liabilities over the 
period when benefits accrue.  For example, if you are using accruals accounting and buy a car that you expect will last 
five years you would split the purchase cost of that car over five years.  By comparison if you are accounting on a 
receipts and payments basis you would recognise the full cost of the car in the year you pay for it. 

Page 96



59 
 

 
7.3.5 The adjustments process has two consequences.  Firstly it substantially increases the 

length of local authority accounts as the financial statements report some transactions 
on both an accruals basis (through the CIES) and a funding basis (through the EFA 
and MIRS) and include notes reconciling the two; and secondly, unlike for financial 
statements produced by other sectors, neither the CIES nor the Balance Sheet shows 
the true financial position of a local authority.  To understand that position it is 
necessary to understand how the outturn reported in these statements reconciles to 
the basis on which the balanced budget calculation is made.  

 
7.3.6 In addition to the statements in Figure 7.2, those local authorities who are also 

“administering authorities” for local authority pension funds are required to publish full 
Pension Fund accounts in the same document as their local authority accounts.  The 
Pension Fund accounts are audited as a separate audit engagement.  This further 
lengthens the document and means that the audited accounts cannot be published 
as final until both the local authority audit and the pension fund audit have been 
completed.  The sector has asked MHCLG to look at decoupling the local authority 
and pension fund accounts.  However, it is not possible to do this without primary 
legislation. 

 
7.4 Usefulness, understandability and transparency of local authority 

accounts 
7.4.1 The Annual Accounts that each local authority must prepare are prescribed in detail 

and relevant standards must be observed in the preparation of the statutory accounts 
and financial report.  IFRS cover both the public and private sectors so auditors seek 
to adhere to those principles when auditing local authority accounts. There is 
widespread agreement that the resultant accounts are not transparent or easily 
understandable. 

 
7.4.2 Local government practitioners argue that the extent and nature of asset valuations, 

very relevant in a commercial setting, undertaken by auditors, have limited 
significance in local government where assets are more often than not critical to 
service delivery and “market value” is not a consideration. Time allocated to the asset 
valuation process for property and pensions, it is agreed, is considerable and 
increases the cost of audit as well as, in some cases, leading to delays in the audit 
being finalised. Underlying this point is the question of whether IFRS should continue 
to be a key element of local authority statutory accounts. 

  
7.4.3 An issue related to the concern in local government about the complex local authority 

accounting arrangements is the capacity of the external auditor to test and validate 
technically intricate accounting treatment without a familiarity with local authority 
finance and accounting. Such an assertion by local government is not universal but it 
is a concern of many. However, the audit community, whilst recognising that there has 
been depletion in the number of auditors who served in the District Audit Service, is 
confident it has necessary skills and resources to fulfil the role.   
 

7.4.4 As highlighted in Chapter 4, there is evidence of market stress in the supply of 
appropriately experienced and qualified local authority auditors.  Some auditors have 
also argued that local government itself does not always have accounting staff with 

Page 97



60 
 

the technical expertise to complete the final accounts without guidance and support 
from external audit. 

 
7.4.5 That the local authority accounts are very complex is not in dispute. There is wide 

acknowledgment from all stakeholder groups that the annual financial statement of 
accounts is understandable only to those with the necessary technical and 
professional knowledge of local authority accounts. When asked whether local 
authority accounts allow the user to understand an authority’s financial performance 
and its financial resilience, 93% of respondents said no. 

 
7.4.6 Whilst some local authority respondents argued that the understandability of the 

accounts is not an issue, because service users and taxpayers can take assurance 
from the fact that they are prepared and audited to internationally recognised 
standards, it is questionable whether this is a defensible position. 

 
7.4.7 The lack of transparency and understandability of local authority accounts raises a 

fundamental and serious challenge in terms of transparency and public accountability.  
Potential users extend beyond councils, government and auditors.  Key stakeholders 
include council taxpayers/service users, the general public, academia, the media and 
local authority partners and contractors. Without an appropriate level of transparency 
these users may not have the information to challenge their local authority effectively. 
The rigour underpinning local authority accounting and auditing may not be at issue 
but the accounts, as currently structured and presented, do not enable the public to 
understand how local authorities are stewarding public funds.  

 
7.5 Options for reform 
7.5.1 There are three broad options for enhancing the transparency and usefulness of local 

authority financial statements, so that they better serve the needs of a wider group of 
stakeholders.  These are: 

• Review of IFRS as a basis for the preparation of local authority accounts. 
• Expansion and standardisation of the current narrative statement. 
• Introduction of a new summary statement presented alongside the IFRS 

accounts. 
 
7.5.2 The underlying purpose of all three options is to strengthen financial transparency and 

accountability by providing a simplified presentation that is more relevant to 
stakeholders.  All options have costs associated with them but these need to be set 
against the benefits of that increased transparency. 

 
Review basis on which accounts are prepared 

7.5.3 CIPFA could be asked to review the basis of accounts, with the aim of updating the 
Accounting Code so that the transactions presented in the annual financial statements 
are prepared on the same basis as the annual budget approved by Full Council. 

 
7.5.4 If followed to its logical conclusion, this would allow local authorities to prepare 

simplified accounts that could be easily reconciled to the annual budget. If accounts 
are presented on a funding basis, the reconciliations between the funding and 
accounting basis would no longer be required.  In addition, many of the lengthier notes 

Page 98



61 
 

to a set of financial statements, such as the financial instruments disclosures, are 
mainly required to support IFRS disclosures and could be removed or simplified.  This 
would lead to much shorter documents. 

 
7.5.5 There are some issues that would have to be addressed with this recommendation.  

Firstly, designing and implementing a new accounting framework would be 
challenging.  CIPFA could go back to the pre-2010 near cash accounting framework, 
but it is questionable whether this would be appropriate.  Many local authorities are 
far more commercial in their operations and have far more leveraged balance sheets 
than in 2010, so removing much of the accounting for long term assets and liabilities 
could present a misleading picture of financial resilience to service users.  It could 
lead to local authorities to leveraging their balance sheet yet further, storing up 
potential financial problems for future years. 

 
7.5.6 Secondly, there is the perception risk of such a step.  There could be a perceived 

disconnect if local authorities reverted to cash accounting at the same point that some 
are becoming more commercial, taking on more debt to invest in assets acquired 
solely or partially to generate a return. 

 
7.5.7 Thirdly, moving away from IFRS accounting would create consistency problems 

between various parts of the public sector.  The Accounting Code applies to Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland as well as to England.  If English local government moved 
to a near cash accounting framework, the other UK jurisdictions would face the 
decision of mirroring that move or else the Accounting Codes would need to diverge.  
In addition, the results of UK local government bodies are consolidated into the Whole 
of Government Accounts, which are prepared on an IFRS basis.  If English local 
authority accounts moved to a near-cash accounting basis, those authorities would in 
practice be required to maintain financial records and prepare accounts on two bases: 
on a near-cash basis for their own accounts and an IFRS basis for consolidation into 
WGA.  This would impose considerable additional cost. 

 
7.5.8 Finally, the UK public sector is held up as applying a gold standard of accounting, 

primarily because it is one of the few to apply IFRS fully.  If part of the sector moved 
away from this it could generate considerable reputational risk.  As a result, HM 
Treasury and FRAB may well oppose any significant modification of the English local 
authority accounting framework. 
 
Expansion and standardisation of the narrative statement 

7.5.9 The framework for local authority annual reports and accounts is unusual in that, 
although local authorities are required to prepare an annual report, it does not include 
any mandatory disclosures.  In 2015 CIPFA launched the “Telling the Story” initiative, 
which encouraged local authorities to use the annual report to accurately reflect 
financial and service performance.  Some local authorities have produced innovative 
and informative annual reports following the launch of this initiative, but performance 
varies, with other authorities making minimal disclosures.  In addition, because 
“Telling the Story” does not include mandated standards or disclosures it is not 
consistent across authorities. 

 

Page 99



62 
 

7.5.10 By comparison, the UK Central Government Financial Reporting Manual (the “FReM”) 
requires all central government reporting entities to prepare a Performance Report 
and an Accountability Report, both of which are based on Companies Act 
requirements as adapted for the public sector and contain mandated disclosures.  

  
7.5.11 A similar approach could be adopted for local authority accounts.  In this model, local 

authorities could be required to include a Performance Report in their annual report 
and accounts containing a reconciliation between the approved budget and year-end 
service expenditure, along with explanations for significant variances and the impact 
of the variances on revenue reserves, prepared on a budget setting basis whilst being 
reconcilable to the statutory accounts.  Potentially this could be supplemented with 
standardised service delivery metrics and an explanation of longer-term risks and 
mitigations linked to key financial management strategies such as the Mid-Term 
Financial Plan, as appropriate. 

 
7.5.12 The proposed Performance Report could be a transparent element of a local 

authority’s Annual Report and Accounts, which discloses what the local authority 
planned to spend on each major service area, what it actually spent, where there were 
significant variances between the two what the reasons were, and what impact that 
has had on the reserves available to support the following year’s expenditure.  With 
the addition of service delivery metrics, the Report could also start to give an indication 
of what service users and taxpayers have got for their money.  If the financial 
information and performance metrics are prepared to common standards, this could 
start to bring a degree of comparability between authorities, which could promote 
improvements in the effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery. 

 
7.5.13 Finally, if the reconciliation between budget and outturn is presented in the Annual 

Report, it may be possible to remove or reduce the MIRS, the EFA and supporting 
disclosures.  This could offset the increased work required to produce the new 
Performance Report. 

 
7.5.14 There are some challenges with this approach: 

• it would mean extending the scope of the audit engagement, particularly if the 
auditors are required to form an opinion on non-financial information.   

• if non-financial service delivery metrics are subject to audit they will need to 
be prepared and disclosed on a consistent basis.  It will be necessary to 
identify appropriate metrics across a range of service areas, a process that 
could take time.  In addition, including metrics for all of the services that a 
local authority provides would require very lengthy disclosures. 

• if included in a long Annual Report and Accounts document, there is no 
guarantee that this statement would be any more visible to the general public 
than the current financial statements are.  

• there is a risk that some local authorities use the narrative element of such a 
statement to present an overly positive view of their achievements and 
finances. 

 
 
 
 

Page 100



63 
 

Introduction of a new summary statement 
7.5.15  A variation in part, and a replacement of the enhanced narrative statement, is to leave 

the current local authority accounts largely unaltered and instead require the 
production of Summarised Accounts, prepared on the budget setting basis.  As with 
the enhanced narrative statement, the Summarised Accounts would need to be 
reconcilable to the Statutory Accounts and be subject to audit to have credibility. 

 
7.5.16 Statutory Guidance would need to be developed to set out the form and content of the 

Summarised Accounts.  Potentially they could contain: 
• A statement of service information and costs prepared in a standard format and 

to a standardised framework.  The most appropriate framework would probably 
be the statutory Service Reporting Code of Practice (SERCoP). 

• Comparison between budget setting information and outturn performance. 
• A degree of detail to encompass all key service expenditure heads; where 

appropriate this could be extended to present unit cost information. A simplified 
balance sheet, including some form of assurance relating to non-ringfenced 
revenue reserves and debt levels and borrowing plans, with the latter linked to 
the Prudential Framework disclosures, could also be produced. 

• A brief narrative.  This could be limited to a financial commentary comprising 
explanations of significant variances between budget and outturn along with an 
assessment of the impact on medium term financial sustainability.  It may also 
be possible to include a brief description of outcomes though this would need 
to be linked back to the objectives set when the annual budget was approved. 

 
7.5.17 The aim of this document would be to present a statement aimed at the local 

community rather than as a basis for compiling national statistics.  Because of 
differences between local authorities, comparability would be difficult and potentially 
misleading.  Local authorities could be asked to think about a range of communication 
methods to reach their local communities more effectively. 

 
7.5.18 The summary accounts would be a vehicle to increase transparency.  As this would 

be a short stand-alone document, it would be much more accessible to taxpayers and 
service users.   
 

7.5.19 Local authorities would have to reconcile outturn between the funding basis and IFRS 
accounting basis.  However, the value of disclosing these reconciliations could be 
reassessed, potentially allowing the MIRS, the EFA and supporting disclosures to be 
discontinued.  This could allow the statutory financial statements to be prepared on 
an IFRS basis without statutory adjustments.   

 
7.5.20 Finally, consideration would need to be given as to the level of audit required for the 

Simplified Statements, and the agreed procedures that auditors would be required to 
undertake to provide assurance over reconciliations between the IFRS Financial 
Statements and the Simplified Financial Statements, that are not disclosed in either. 

Page 101



64 
 

8. Smaller authorities 
8.1 Introduction 
8.1.1 Smaller authorities are defined in the 2014 Act as an authority where the higher of 

gross annual income or expenditure does not exceed £6.5 million for three years (or 
one or two if the authority has not existed for three years). Currently there are just 
under 10,000 smaller bodies, only one of which has to prepare a full set of IFRS 
compliant accounts and undergo a full audit. 

 
8.1.2 There are different types of smaller authority with a varied range of responsibilities 

and powers:  
• Local councils including Parish, Town, Village and Community Councils and parish 

meetings. Some common responsibilities can include, but are not limited to, 
commons and open spaces, car parks, lighting, footpaths, leisure and sports 
facilities, litter bins, and tourism activities. Some of these services are delivered 
on behalf of the unitary and district councils.    

• IDBs which are responsible for managing water levels including managing flood 
risks and land drainage. 

• Other smaller authorities such as charter trustees, port health authorities, 
conservation bodies and crematorium boards.  

Smaller authorities are financed primarily through a precept which is collected as part 
of council tax by the unitary or district council. They can also apply for grants and 
awards.  
 

8.1.3 Governance arrangements depend on the type and size of the authority. All local 
authorities are required to have a clerk; however, for small authorities, this could be 
their only employee or may be a volunteer or part-time worker. Roughly two-thirds of 
smaller authorities have a single employee, and some don’t have any employees. The 
clerk is analogous, in part, to a CFO in a principal authority, as there is a requirement 
to give guidance to councillors, in many cases carrying out the role of the Finance 
Officer. Smaller authorities must publish the statement of accounts together with any 
certificate or opinion provided by the local auditor19. 
  

8.2 Scale of audit 
8.2.1 Smaller authorities are not required to produce IFRS based accounts but instead 

produce a simplified statement of account on a receipts and payments basis. Some 
larger Parish Councils present accruals-based accounts alongside this, although 
these are unaudited. As set out in Figure 8.1, smaller authorities are either exempt 
from audit or undergo a ‘limited assurance engagement’. As the name suggests, this 
provides less assurance than a full-scale audit. 

 
8.2.2 While most authorities with an income or expenditure of up to £25,000 are exempt 

from audit, a request can be made for a ‘limited assurance engagement’ from SAAA 
who will then appoint an auditor to undertake this work. More than 100 bodies have 
chosen to do this. 

 
19 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/pdfs/uksi_20150234_en.pdf 

Page 102

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/pdfs/uksi_20150234_en.pdf


65 
 

 

Figure 8.1 
Table of audit thresholds and associated requirements for smaller authorities 20 

Level of income or 
spending 

Form of external assurance to be 
provided from 2017-18 onwards 

% of smaller 
authorities in 

each band 
More than £6.5 million. ‘Full audit’ under international auditing 

standards. 0.01% 

Up to £6.5 million but more 
than £200,000 (accounts 
on income and 
expenditure basis)  

Limited assurance engagement but 
may opt for ‘full audit’.  11% 

Up to £200,000 but more 
than £25,000 (accounts 
can be on either receipts 
and payments or income 
and expenditure basis)  

Limited assurance engagement but 
may opt for ‘full audit’.  

31% 

Gross income or gross 
expenditure up to £25,000  

Exempt from audit and limited 
assurance engagement in most cases, 
subject to the authority certifying that it 
is exempt.  
 
Work by an auditor may still be needed 
in certain circumstances – notably if 
there are objections to the accounts.  

58% 

No financial transactions 
and no accounts  

Exempt from audit and limited 
assurance engagement in most cases, 
subject to the authority certifying that it 
is exempt.  

 
8.2.3 Smaller authorities are also required to undertake an internal audit to evaluate the 

effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes21.  Quality 
of internal audit staff is said by some respondents to be variable, which has the 
potential to cause issues for the external audit. 

 

8.2.4 One of the trends in recent years has been the transfer of assets and associated 
running costs to Parish Councils. If smaller authorities are given more responsibility, 
or if the spending of smaller authorities were to change to where many such 
authorities approach the £6.5 million threshold, the current accountability 
arrangements may no longer be appropriate. The assurance levels may need to be 
reviewed by MHCLG. This is especially pertinent as smaller authorities are not bound 

 
20 NAO AGN02 Specified Procedures for Assurance Engagements at Smaller Authorities https://www.nao.org.uk/code-
audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Auditor-Guidance-Note-02-Specified-Procedures-for-Assurance-
Engagements-at-Smaller-Authorities.pdf 
21 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 5(1) 
2015https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/made#:~:text=5.,internal%20auditing%20standards%20or%20guid
ance. 

Page 103

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Auditor-Guidance-Note-02-Specified-Procedures-for-Assurance-Engagements-at-Smaller-Authorities.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Auditor-Guidance-Note-02-Specified-Procedures-for-Assurance-Engagements-at-Smaller-Authorities.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Auditor-Guidance-Note-02-Specified-Procedures-for-Assurance-Engagements-at-Smaller-Authorities.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/made#:%7E:text=5.,internal%20auditing%20standards%20or%20guidance.
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/234/made#:%7E:text=5.,internal%20auditing%20standards%20or%20guidance.


66 
 

by council tax referendum rules22 and can raise their precept by the amount they 
consider necessary. 

 
8.2.5 In 2020, one IDB met the threshold for preparing full statutory accounts. Available 

evidence suggests that this is the first occasion of this happening. The cause of the 
IDB’s increase in income and expenditure was the capital grants it received and, as 
such, the requirements for a full code audit may be temporary. PSAA and the 
Association of Drainage Authorities (ADA) have worked with the authority to find a 
new auditor as the previously appointed auditor does not qualify under the statutory 
framework to undertake full audits. This also resulted in an increased audit fee, from 
less than £5,000 to £40,000. Producing full IFRS accounts will considerably increase 
the amount of internal work required by the IDB and this is likely to represent a 
challenge to its available skills and infrastructure.   

 

8.3 Procurement of audit 
8.3.1 Prior to 2017, smaller authorities were included in the audit contracts let by the Audit 

Commission in 2014 that were taken over by PSAA through the transitional 
arrangements. SAAA was designated as an appointing person under legislation23 by 
the Secretary of State to take over this role from 2017-18. SAAA is an independent, 
not for profit company. SAAA was set up by the National Association of Local Councils 
(NALC), Society of Local Council Clerks (SLCC) and the Association of Drainage 
Authorities (ADA). Although smaller authorities have the same power to appoint their 
own auditors as principal authorities, in practice, all smaller authorities opted in to 
SAAA’s procurement. SAAA has appointed external auditors for a 5-year period from 
1 April 2017.  

 
8.3.2 SAAA’s procurement comprised 17 equally sized lots. Other than for IDBs, which were 

grouped together, lots were geographically based. The SAAA procurement was based 
on price once a supplier had met a minimum quality threshold. There were five firms 
that met this threshold. The result of this exercise was that 15 were awarded to a 
single audit firm and two other firms won one lot each. This met SAAA’s declared 
objective of having a minimum of three firms in the market.  Of the three firms, two 
had previously held contracts with PSAA and one re-joined the market. With regard 
to the quality and price ration for appointing auditors, SAAA believes that once a 
certain threshold is reached, it is very difficult to differentiate between firms on the 
basis of quality.  

 
Fee scale  

8.3.3 SAAA's fee scale is based on 15 bands of income or expenditure (whichever is 
higher). Audit Commission and then PSAA, through the transitional arrangements, 
also used this fee scale. Exempt authorities do not pay an audit fee. Authorities with 
income or expenditure of between £25,000 and £50,000 pay an audit fee of £200.  
Fees rise in stages up to a maximum of £3,600 in cases where income or expenditure 
is more than £5 million but less than £6.5 million. 
 

 
22 The Local Authorities (Conduct of Referendums) (Council Tax Increases) (England) Regulations 2012 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111519035/regulation/3 
23 The Local Audit (Smaller Authorities) Regulations 2015 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111126103 

Page 104

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111519035/regulation/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111126103


67 
 

8.3.4 The scale fees paid by smaller authorities for their audit have remained unchanged 
for the past 12 years. There have been savings for those smaller authorities that, from 
2017, could declare themselves as exempt and, therefore, did not have to pay for an 
audit. 
 

8.3.5 This audit fee model relies on larger authorities supplementing the cost of audit work 
for smaller authorities.  As there are 15 bands of fees, there may be councils receiving 
the same level of audit work whilst paying different amounts.  Although this may offer 
the most efficient method of payment to ensure audit is affordable for all smaller 
authorities, the banding system may warrant review.  

 
8.3.6 Overall, smaller authorities seem content with the level of audit fees they pay. The 

only area of concern raised related to capital grant funding. Two Parish Councils 
raised concerns that the impact of the rising scale fee could be a deterrent for local 
authorities investing in future capital schemes in the local community.   
 
Fee variations 

8.3.7 Smaller authorities may be subject to variations to the scale fees set out above if 
additional work is needed. Some of this work is costed as a fixed supplement of the 
fee scale and some is charged at fixed hourly rates. SAAA agreed a maximum hourly 
rate for additional work and this is published on their website. Examples of where fee 
variations may be charged include the auditor considering objections to the accounts 
from local electors, and where special investigations are undertaken. 

 
Quality 

8.3.8 There is no indication that the smaller authority audit market is encountering delayed 
audit opinions, as is the case for larger authorities. SAAA use trackers completed by 
the firms to collate and analyse key management information to track and report on 
the management, delivery and the outcomes of limited assurance reviews. SAAA also 
reviews the underlying data quality and system interfaces on a light touch risk basis. 

 
8.3.9 In carrying out its quality assurance role, as set out in the Appointing Person 

Legislation, SAAA review and test the firms’ internal quality assurance processes and 
contract compliance systems (quality aspects) to ensure the delivery of good quality 
reviews. An overall rating for both quality of limited assurance review work and 
contract management, compliance and data quality is provided. The findings of this 
process are reported to each firm and to SAAA’s Board. They do not publish these 
findings, though they maintain the right to do so.  

 
8.3.10 A very small number of smaller authorities responded to the Call for Views; therefore, 

it must be stressed that the following comments are not necessarily reflective of the 
sector. One Parish Council commented that the arrangement with SAAA made it feel 
that the auditor didn’t consider the council to be its customer.  Similar feedback has 
been received concerning PSAA’s role. It also commented that it felt the quality of 
their audit was very poor and that it added no value. This may be in part due to the 
framework of limited assurance audit for smaller authorities and a resulting 
‘expectation gap’. The Review is unable to corroborate whether this is a commonly 
held view.   
 

Page 105



68 
 

8.3.11 Two other Parish Councils questioned whether auditors provided the right level 
of assurance. One commented that larger Parish Councils should be held to the 
same standards for financial reporting, transparency and accountability as those 
applied to principal authorities of equivalent size.   The council linked this to the fact 
that some councils are playing an increasingly significant role in their communities. It 
is true that there are currently three smaller authorities that have an annual income or 
expenditure of over £5 million which is similar to the smallest Category 1 authority 
which is subject to a full audit. However, there are not many Category 1 authorities 
that are this small. The other respondent was specifically concerned 
about governance and financial transparency within the council and the lack of clarity 
on spending.  

 
8.4  Accountability 
8.4.1 In addition to producing a financial return, most smaller authorities are subject to 

transparency requirements. There are two Transparency Codes; authorities with an 
income or expenditure of £200,000 or more are included in the same mandatory 
Transparency Code24 as principal authorities. Exempt authorities are subject to a 
specific smaller authority Transparency Code25, made mandatory in April 2015, that: 
 
“will enable local electors and ratepayers to access relevant information about 
the authorities’ accounts and governance”.  
 

8.4.2 Authorities with income and expenditure under £200,000 but above £25,000 are 
expected to follow the same requirements but it is not mandatory. As these authorities 
are subject to audit, the transparency code was not considered to be applicable. Such 
difference in approach may warrant further attention. However, Commitment 8 in the 
governments UK National Action Plan for Open Government26, sets out the 
government’s plan for local transparency which includes MHCLG developing 
proposals to: 
 
“help and encourage councils to publish all the information they can”. 

 
Objections 

8.4.3 Local objections can be made to an item of expenditure in a smaller authority’s finance 
return. It is very difficult to ascertain how many objections to the accounts smaller 
authorities receive, as the auditor is required to respond, by statute, only to the 
objector. As a result, most objections are never made public, the exceptions being if 
an objector choses to publish a response or the investigation leads to a Public Interest 
Report. However, one authority reported over 100 objections in a single year. NALC 
commented that several authorities at the smaller end of the income and expenditure 
level are consistently subject to objections, sometimes by the same individual or group 
of objectors.   

 
24 Local Government Transparency Code 2015 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408386/150227_
PUBLICATION_Final_LGTC_2015.pdf 
25 Transparency Code for Smaller Authorities 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/388541/Transpar
ency_Code_for_Smaller_Authorities.pdf 
26 2019-2021 UK National Action Plan for Open Government 
https://www.opengovernment.org.uk/resource/uk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2019-2021/ 

Page 106

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408386/150227_PUBLICATION_Final_LGTC_2015.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408386/150227_PUBLICATION_Final_LGTC_2015.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/388541/Transparency_Code_for_Smaller_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/388541/Transparency_Code_for_Smaller_Authorities.pdf
https://www.opengovernment.org.uk/resource/uk-national-action-plan-for-open-government-2019-2021/


69 
 

 
8.4.4 The auditor is responsible for reviewing all objections that meet the statutory 

requirement. In deciding whether to investigate, the auditor has to review the 
objection, which will result in a cost to the authority (not exceeding the maximum 
hourly rates as specified by SAAA) even if they do not subsequently pursue an 
investigation.  
 

8.4.5 The auditor can refuse to investigate an objection27 if: 
• the cost of dealing with the complaint would be disproportionate to the 

underlying sum; 
• the objection is frivolous or vexatious; or 
• it is a repeat of a complaint made in a prior year of account.   

 
8.4.6 A number of smaller authorities receive repeat or vexatious complaints. Where an 

authority receives such a complaint, it can choose to terminate communication with 
the complainant. However, if that individual raises an objection, an auditor must 
consider it to see if it is something to be pursued. This work incurs a supplement to 
the scale fee as set out by the SAAA. Given the size of many smaller authorities, 
objections can be proportionately very costly, both in terms of additional fees paid to 
auditor firms and in terms of resources that the authority requires to support, 
appropriately, the objection process. As with larger authorities, outstanding objections 
can cause a delay in issuing the audit opinion 

 
8.4.7 The objections regime does provide a solid basis of accountability and ensures the 

auditor investigates potential issues further, to supplement the ‘limited assurance’ 
audit. There may be cases where the system is misused. Consideration should be 
given to provide more support to auditors to enable them to identify repeat or 
vexatious objectors in a more efficient manner.  

 
Public Interest Reports 

8.4.8 External auditors have a duty under the 2014 Act to consider whether to issue a report 
where there has been a significant matter identified that needs to be addressed in the 
interests of the public. There are more PIRs issued for smaller authorities than there 
are for larger authorities. SAAA publishes reports from the 17/18 financial year on 
their website, and previous financial years are available on the archived PSAA 
website.  

 
Figure 8.2  
Smaller Authorities - Reasons why a PIR was issued  
 16/17 17/18 19/20 
Failure to produce an annual return (for 16/17) 
or an AGAR (from 17/8 onwards) 16 22 23 

Criteria submitted for exemption not all 
satisfied N/A 0 8 

Other 6 1 0 
Total 22 23 31 

The “other” category includes issues relating to governance, fraud, employment law, and non-compliance with VAT 
regulations. 

 
 

27 NAO Local Authority accounts: A guide to your rights https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-
content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights.pdf 

Page 107

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights.pdf


70 
 

8.4.9 One authority had a PIR issued for all three years for failure to produce an annual 
return or annual governance and accountability returns (AGAR), and a further seven 
authorities had a PIR issued in two of the three years for the same reason. Failure to 
produce an AGAR from 2017/18 triggers a statutory recommendation to the authority 
from the external auditor that it should submit an approved AGAR within 42 days. A 
public interest report is then issued if the authority fails to do so.  

 
8.4.10 Out of the six PIRs issued in 16/17 that were not due to a failure to produce an annual 

return, four of them related to work carried out by auditors in response to objections 
raised by a local elector. In one authority’s case, it received objections on a multitude 
of issues with one issue (ineffective internal audit and other governance failings) 
receiving a number of objections.  

 
8.4.11 If a smaller authority chooses not to engage with external audit recommendations or 

PIRs, there is no mechanism, other than through local elections, to hold smaller 
authorities to account. The LGSCO investigates complaints against larger local 
authorities, but this does not extend to Parish Councils. If MHCLG wishes to devolve 
more powers to smaller authorities or smaller authorities increase their spending 
considerably, MHCLG should consider further accountability arrangements for 
smaller authorities. 

 
8.5 Financial Reporting in Smaller Authorities 
8.5.1 Smaller authorities that are able to declare that they have had had no financial 

transactions in the year of account do not need to prepare accounts.  Instead they 
can send a declaration that they are exempt to their auditor.  
  

8.5.2 Smaller authorities that cannot declare themselves exempt have to prepare an Annual 
Governance and Accountability Return (AGAR).  The AGAR, which is freely available 
and updated annually is prepared by an organisation known as the Joint Panel on 
Accountability and Governance (JPAG). 
 

8.5.3 JPAG is responsible for issuing proper practices about the governance and accounts 
of smaller authorities. Its membership consists of sector representatives from the 
National Association of Local Councils, the Society of Local Council Clerks and the 
Association of Drainage Authorities, together with stakeholder partners representing 
MHCLG, the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, CIPFA, the NAO 
and a representative of the external audit firms appointed to smaller authorities.  

 
8.5.4 The AGAR has a number of sections.  In order these are: 

a. Guidance notes on how to complete the template and what information 
needs to be published on the authority’s website. 

b. The Annual Internal Audit Report. 
c. Section 1: The Governance Statement.  
d. Section 2: The Accounting Statement, which is prepared on a receipts and 

payments basis. 
e. The External Auditor Report and Certificate. 

 
8.5.5 Each non-exempt smaller authority is required to complete parts b, c, and d of the 

AGAR and send it together with a bank reconciliation and an explanation of any 
variances between the budget and the outturn to the auditor.   The template itself is 
quite short, but fairly busy, with detailed guidance included in each section. 

 

Page 108



71 
 

8.5.6 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, authorities must publish the 
following information on a publicly accessible website. Before 1 July, smaller 
authorities must publish:  

• Notice of the period for the exercise of public rights and a declaration that the 
accounting statements are as yet unaudited; 

• Section 1 - Annual Governance Statement, approved and signed; and 
• Section 2 - Accounting Statements, approved and signed.  

 
8.5.7 Not later than 30 September, smaller authorities must publish:  

• Notice of conclusion of the audit;  
• The External Auditor Report and Certificate: and 
• Sections 1 and 2 of AGAR including any amendments as a result of the 

limited assurance review.  

Page 109



72 
 

9. Conclusions 
9.1 During the course of this Review it has become increasingly apparent that the current 

local audit arrangements fail to deliver, in full, policy objectives underpinning the 2014 
Act. As a result, the overriding concern must be a lack of coherence and public 
accountability within the existing system. For local audit to be wholly effective it must 
provide a service which is robust, relevant, and timely; it must demonstrate the right 
balance between price and quality; and be transparent to public scrutiny. The 
evidence is compelling to suggest that the current audit service does not meet those 
standards. 

 
Key Factors Determining the Outcomes of The Review  
9.2 In reaching the outcome and recommendations for this Review the following key 

factors have been taken into account: 
• providing clarity of purpose in local audit; 
• giving emphasis to performance and accountability in local audit framework; 
• maintaining and improving the stability of the local audit market; 
• reaffirming the importance of the auditing and accounting staff having the 

requisite skills, training and experience to fulfil their roles;  
• improving and strengthening the governance arrangements underpinning 

effective local audit; 
• developing coherence and coordination in the procurement and effective 

delivery of audit performance within a clear and consistent accountability 
framework; 

• engaging key stakeholders in regular dialogue as an aid to maintaining an 
effective local audit service; and 

• providing transparency in financial and external audit reporting to reinforce 
public accountability. 

 
Local Audit 
9.3 As currently configured the local audit market is vulnerable, due in no small part to the 

under-resourcing of audit work required to be undertaken within the contract sum. In 
addressing this weakness, a fundamental review of the fee structure is necessary. 
Evidence suggests that audit fees are at least 25% lower than is required to fulfil 
current local audit requirements effectively. Concerns reported about variable levels 
of knowledge and experience of local government finance and accounting 
demonstrated by auditors must also be addressed. The skills and competencies of 
auditors must also be paramount if the full extent of audit requirements are to be 
delivered satisfactorily. The current audit deadline of 31 July is viewed as unrealistic 
and in the light of the evidence presented by the Call for Views, there is a compelling 
argument to change this date to 30 September. The procurement arrangements must 
acknowledge these factors and it is essential that the audit performance regime offers 
assurance to the public that true accountability has been served. 

 
9.4 Attention has been given to whether the existing local audit framework might be 

improved to achieve these objectives. The roles and responsibilities of all relevant 
bodies should be reviewed to respond to the concerns expressed in this report. 
However, the key challenge is the underlying weakness of the current arrangements 
where there is no coordination and regulation of local audit activity. This is a role best 
discharged by a single overarching body.  

 

Page 110



73 
 

9.5 A single body would embrace all aspects of local audit incorporating procurement, 
contract management, the code of local audit practice, accountability for performance, 
oversight and regulation. Clarity of purpose, consistency and public accountability 
would be essential features of this approach and the expertise and skills of those 
currently providing these services would be harnessed and maintained in the new 
body.  

 
9.6 The Review has highlighted a potential weakness in the way in which audit outcomes 

are considered and presented to both the local authority and the public. The ability of 
Audit Committees, which mostly lack independent, technically qualified members, to 
consider, effectively, audit reports has been challenged in responses to the call for 
views. In addition, transparency and accountability of audit reports, from a public 
perspective is lacking and there is considerable scope for the Key Audit Partner to 
present a report on the principal issues arising from the audit to Full Council at least 
annually. 

 
9.7 The situation facing PCCs and FRAs is many ways similar to those for principal 

councils in that audit quality and price are in need of review. Governance here, 
however, is somewhat different in terms of reporting lines and public accountability as 
these are currently more transparent than those applying in Principal Authorities.  

 
9.8 Parish Councils, Meetings, IDBs and other smaller authorities operate on a much 

smaller scale and procurement/contractor arrangements are overseen by SAAA 
where no serious concerns have been identified. However, there is scope here to 
improve public reporting of local audit outcomes and attention should be given to 
‘turnover’ thresholds in order to ensure a proportionate level of resource is utilised in 
fulfilling audit requirements.  
 

9.9 An area that has generated considerable comment is the perceived gap between the 
reasonable expectations of many stakeholders and what auditors are required to do 
relating to the financial stability and resilience of local authorities. There is a 
compelling argument to extend the scope of audit to include a substantive test of 
financial resilience and sustainability. The scope of this audit needs to be clearly 
defined and focused to ensure there is a balance between cost and the potential 
benefits of such additional audit coverage and reporting. This would represent a 
genuine demonstration of public accountability.  
 

9.10 The new NAO code includes a revised narrative audit opinion and sets out three 
reporting criteria relating to financial sustainability, governance and improving 
economy, efficiency, and effectiveness. This approach, once fully established, will 
provide a very important statement to stakeholders regarding a local authority’s 
financial health. In effecting this scrutiny of financial sustainability, the auditor would 
also undertake an assessment of the risks identified in the CFO’s annual Section 25 
report of the budget. This could be further assisted by a review of the local authority’s 
observance of CIPFA’s Financial Management Code which provides a set of 
statements including value for money and financial resilience. To ensure that the 
Auditor’s work is genuinely transparent and accessible to local taxpayers an Auditor’s 
Report should be presented to the first Full Council meeting after 30 September every 
year, irrespective of whether the financial accounts have been certified. 

 
 

Page 111



74 
 

Transparency of Financial Reporting 
9.11 This report has highlighted the inability of the general public to understand the annual 

statutory accounts presented by local authorities. The technical complexity of the 
accounts means that service users/council taxpayers have little or no opportunity to 
comprehend what is being said or to challenge expenditure and income relating to a 
specific service and how the local authority has performed. 
 

9.12 Three options have been explained in this report as a possible response to this 
problem. A review of the existing IFRS based accounts could be undertaken, but, 
given the requirement to observe international reporting standards, it may not yield 
the simplicity in presentation and terminology that is sought here. An alternative 
detailed in this report would entail adapting the existing narrative report produced by 
local authorities as an addendum to the statutory accounts where discretion would be 
afforded to each local authority regarding style, content and presentation. The third 
and final option relates to a new simplified statement of service information and costs 
as a means of enabling each local authority to communicate, in a standardised format, 
the key information relating to the budget and council tax setting compared to actual 
financial performance. If transparency and consistency of financial reporting are to be 
achieved this last option best meets these objectives although the experience 
developed in the production of narrative reports may be beneficial in its design.   
 

9.13 A draft of a simplified statement is included as an annex to this report which 
incorporates the key features of simplicity and transparency. Observance of IFRS 
based accounts remains an important ingredient in ensuring proper accountability for 
financial performance, so the current statutory accounts should still be produced. This 
requirement is underpinned by a Code of Accounting Practice produced by CIPFA. 
Many local authorities have not purchased the most recent copy of the Accounting 
Code.  Consideration should be given to this being freely available, given its 
importance in the construction of statutory accounts.  

  

Page 112



75 
 

10. List of Annexes 
1. What are auditors required to do?  

2. Roles and duties of Statutory Officers 

3. Functions of the Office of Local Audit and Regulation 

4. Illustrative Simplified Financial Statements 

a. District Council 

b. Fire and Rescue Authority 

c. Police and Crime Commissioner 

d. Unitary Authority 

5. Potential impact of recommendations made by other reviews of audit 

6. Approach of other state auditors to performance audit 

7. Terms of Reference 

8. Call for Views respondents 

  

Page 113



76 
 

Appendix – Glossary of Key Terms, Acronyms and 
Abbreviations 
ACCA – Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
Professional accounting body offering the Chartered Certified Accountant qualification 
 
Accounting Officer 
Normally the Permanent Secretary of a government department who is personally responsible for 
the regularity and propriety of expenditure, robust evaluation of different mechanisms for delivering 
policy objectives, value for money, the management of risk, and accurate accounting for the use of 
resources 
 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
Statutory Instrument that sets the deadlines for publishing unaudited local authority accounts for 
inspection and for publishing audited local authority accounts; requires local authorities to have an 
internal audit; and details the information that must be included in local authority annual report and 
accounts. 
 
Adverse Opinion  
An audit opinion - a conclusion that an authority’s accounts are not true and fair/proper 
arrangements to secure the economy, effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery are not in 
place. 
 
AGN – Auditor Guidance Notes 
Guidance produced by the National Audit Office to support external auditors in their work and to 
facilitate consistency of approach between auditors of the same types of entity. These have the 
same status as the NAO Audit Code of Practice 
 
ALB – Arm’s Length Body  
A body which has a role in the processes of national government but is not a government 
department or part of one, and which accordingly operates to a greater or lesser extent at arm’s 
length from ministers. 
 
Annual Audit Letter – also known as Audit Completion Report or ISA260 Report 
The annual audit letter summarises key findings from the auditor’s yearly audit; often includes 
management recommendations. 
 
AQR – Audit Quality Review team 
The part of the Financial Reporting Council that monitors the quality of the audit work of statutory 
auditors and audit firms in the UK that audit Public Interest Entities (PIEs).  Since 2018-19 AQR has 
been responsible for the quality assurance of larger local authority audits. 
 
ARGA – Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority 
A planned independent regulatory body to replace the Financial Reporting Council. This was 
recommended by Sir John Kingman in his review of the Financial Reporting Council and supported 
by Sir Donald Brydon in his review into the quality and effectiveness of audit 
 
Audit Commission  
A now disbanded independent public corporation that had the responsibility for appointing auditors 
to a range of local public bodies in England. They set the standards for auditors and had oversight 
their work 
 
 

Page 114



77 
 

Audit Scotland 
The body responsible for supporting the Auditor General for Scotland in providing independent 
assurance to the people of Scotland that public money is spent properly, efficiently and effectively.   
 
BEIS – Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 
Has policy responsibility for statutory audit, including taking forward the recommendations made by 
the Kingman and Brydon reviews. 
 
Best Value  
A local authority should make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 
its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. Under the Duty of best value, therefore, authorities should consider overall value, 
including economic, environmental and social value, when reviewing service provision. Central 
government may use its best value powers to intervene in a local authority in exceptional cases 
where that best value duty has not been met. 
 
Brydon Review 
Independent Review into the Quality and Effectiveness of PIE Audits led by Sir Donald Brydon 
(published December 2019). 
 
C&AG – Comptroller and Auditor General 
An independent officer of the House of Commons who leads and is supported by the National Audit 
Office. Has the statutory authority to examine and report to Parliament on whether departments and 
the bodies they fund have used their resources efficiently, effectively and with economy.  
Responsible for preparing, maintaining, and developing the Code of Audit Practice for local 
authority auditors (the Audit Code). 
 
Capital Finance and Accounting Regulations 2003 (as amended) 
Regulations governing local authority capital finance and investment.  Include the statutory 
overrides to GAAP that local authorities in England are required to apply. 
 
Category 1 Authority 
A relevant authority that either: (a) is not a smaller authority; or (b) is a smaller authority that has 
chosen to prepare its accounts for the purpose of a full audit in accordance with regulation 8 of the 
Smaller Authorities Regulations.  All local authorities with income or expenditure of more than 
£6.5m are Category 1 authorities.  The Council of the Isles of Scilly and Shire Districts with income 
and expenditure of less than £6.5m are also Category 1 authorities. 
 
Category 2 Authority 
A relevant authority that is a smaller authority (that is a parish council, parish meeting or internal 
drainage board) and has annual income and expenditure of less than £6.5m 
 
CFO – Local Authority Chief Financial Officer / Head of Finance (also referred to as the S151 
Officer) 
A local authority officer, who has statutory responsibility for the proper conduct of that local 
authority’s financial affairs. 
 
CIAA – Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors  
A representative body of internal auditors 
 
CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
A professional public finance accountancy body.  Maintains four statutory codes that local 
authorities are required to ‘have regard to’. 
 

Page 115



78 
 

Clean opinion – also known as an “unqualified opinion” 
An audit opinion – that the accounts are true and fair, free from material misstatement and have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting framework. 
 
Code of Audit Practice 
The “Audit Code” sets out what local auditors are required to do to fulfil their statutory 
responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The Comptroller and Auditor 
General is responsible for the preparation, publication and maintenance of the Code of Audit 
Practice. 
 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
Public sector organisations responsible for locally delivered services are required by legislation to 
prepare their accounts in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom (the Accounting Code) 
 
CIPFA/LASAAC  
A partnership between CIPFA (England, Northern Ireland and Wales) and the Local Authority 
(Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee (LASAAC).  Responsible for preparing, maintaining, 
developing and issuing the Accounting Code. 
 
CMA – Competition and Markets Authority  
A non-ministerial government department responsible for strengthening business competition and 
preventing and reducing anti-competitive activities 
 
CMA Markets Study - Audit 
The CMA carried out a study into the statutory audit market, to see if the market is working as well 
as it should. (published October 2018) 
 
County councils – also known as Shire Counties 
Upper tier authority responsible for services across the whole of a county such as: education; 
transport; planning; social care. 
 
CQC – Care Quality Commission  
An executive non-departmental public body responsible for monitoring, inspecting and regulating 
health and social care services. 
 
DHSC – Department for Health and Social Care 
 
District Audit Service 
Set up in 1844, and originally part of HMT, was the Audit Commission’s in-house audit practice until 
all local authority audits were outsourced for the 2012-13 financial year.  Most staff working in the 
DAS at that time transferred to the private sector accountancy firms who took on responsibility for 
local authority audits. 
 
District Council – also known as Shire District 
Lower tier authority, responsible for services over a smaller area than county councils such as: 
rubbish collection; recycling; Council Tax collections; housing; planning applications 
 
EFA - Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
Summarises the annual expenditure used and funded by the Council together with the adjustments 
between the funding and accounting basis to reconcile with the CIES 
 
 
 

Page 116



79 
 

Except for opinion  
An audit opinion - a conclusion that in all material respects the accounts are true and fair/proper 
arrangements are in place except for the matters detailed in the audit certificate and report OR a 
conclusion that the supporting evidence provided by the authority is so deficient that the auditor is 
unable to conclude whether one or more material items in the accounts are true and fair/a material 
element of proper arrangements are in place 
 
Financial Reporting 
Financial reporting uses financial statements to disclose financial data that indicates the financial 
health of an entity over during a specific period of time. These reports provide information to people 
who wish to understand the performance of an entity 
 
FRA – Fire and Rescue Authority 
A supervisory body which ensures that a local fire service performs efficiently and in the best 
interest of the public and community it serves. FRAs can be part of a another type of local authority 
or can be stand-alone entities. 
 
FRAB – Financial Reporting Advisory Board 
The role of the board is to ensure that government financial reporting meets the best possible 
standards of financial reporting by following Generally Accepted Accounting Practice as far as 
possible. 
 
FRC - Financial Reporting Council 
An independent regulatory body which regulates auditors, accountants and actuaries and sets the 
UK’s Corporate Governance and Stewardship Codes.  Currently transforming into a new body the 
Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority. 
 
FReM - UK Central Government Financial Reporting Manual 
The technical accounting guide to the preparation of financial statements, prepared after 
consultation with the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. It complements guidance on the handling 
of public funds published separately by the relevant authorities in England and Wales, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland 
 
General Fund  
The main revenue account that local authorities are required to maintain.  The majority of income 
goes into the general fund account and most service expenditure is funded from it. 
 
General Power of Competence 
Introduced by the Localism Act 2011 and took effect in February 2012. In simple terms, it gives 
councils the power to do anything an individual can do provided it is not prohibited by other 
legislation.  Most wholly-owned local authority companies are set up under the General Power of 
Competence. 
 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice/Principles (GAAP) 
A collection of commonly-followed accounting rules and standards for financial reporting. The 
acronym is pronounced "gap." GAAP specifications include definitions of concepts and principles, 
as well as industry-specific rules. 
 
Going Concern Test 
An element of the audit report certifying that readers of a set of accounts are entitled to assume a 
business will continue in the future, unless there is evidence to the contrary. Going concern 
reporting is very specifically about ensuring that the correct accounting basis is being used, not 
about confirming whether an authority is running out of resources.  
 

Page 117



80 
 

Greater London Authority (GLA) 
A type of local authority. The GLA regional authority, with powers over transport, policing, economic 
development, and fire and emergency planning in Greater London.  The GLA is unique in the 
British devolved and local government system, in terms of structure elections and selection of 
powers. 
 
Head of Paid Service  
The Head of Paid Service has statutory responsibility for the management and coordination of the 
employees appointed by the Council.  Although the roles are separate, frequently the Chief 
Executive or Managing Director of a local authority. 
 
HMICFRS - Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 
Inspectorate responsible for independently assessing the effectiveness and efficiency of police 
forces and fire & rescue services. 
 
HMT – Her Majesty's Treasury 
 
HOFMCP - Home Office Financial Management Code of Practice 
The financial management code of practice provides clarity around the financial governance 
arrangements within policing 
 
Housing Revenue Account 
Legislation prohibits social housing expenditure from being subsidised by general fund expenditure 
and vice versa.  Therefore, local authorities with social housing stock are required to maintain a 
separate “housing revenue account”, which must be self-financing.  
 
ICAEW - Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales 
A professional membership organisation that promotes, develops and supports chartered 
accountants and students in the UK, Wales and globally.  Responsible for maintaining the register 
of firms and KAPs qualified to sign off audits of local authority accounts. 
 
ICAS - Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland 
A professional membership organisation that promotes, develops and supports chartered 
accountants and students in Scotland. 
 
IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standard (set by the International Accounting Standards 
Board) 
A public interest organisation which has developed and maintains a single set of globally accepted 
accounting standards. 
 
Internal Drainage Board 
A type of local authority which is established in areas of special drainage need in England and 
Wales with permissive powers to undertake work to secure clean water drainage and water level 
management within drainage districts. The area of an IDB is not determined by county or 
metropolitan council boundaries, but by water catchment areas within a given region.  
 
ISA - International Standards on Auditing 
Standards for audits of financial statements, which include objectives for the auditor, together with 
requirements and related application and other explanatory material.  ISAs(UK) are issued by the 
FRC. 
 
KAP – Key Audit Partner 
A senior member of staff within an audit firm who is registered to sign off a set of local authority 
accounts.  Does not need to be a partner in the firm. 

Page 118

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Operating_authority
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Drainage
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/England_and_Wales
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/England_and_Wales
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Drainage_district


81 
 

 
Kingman Review 
Independent Review of the Financial Reporting Council led by Sir John Kingman (published 
December 2018).  Included commentary and recommendations for local audit. 
 
KPI – Key Performance Indicator 
A performance measurement which helps evaluate the success of an organisation or of a particular 
activity in which it engages. 
 
LGA – Local Government Association 
The national membership body for local authorities. 
 
LGSCO – Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman  
A service that investigates complaints from the public about councils, registered adult social care 
providers and other select bodies providing public services in England 
 
Limitation in Scope  
An audit opinion - a conclusion that the supporting evidence provided by the authority is so deficient 
that the auditor is unable to conclude whether the accounts are true and fair and/or proper 
arrangements are in place to deliver economy, efficiency and effective services. 
 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014  
Abolished the Audit Commission and established the current arrangements for the audit and 
accountability of the local public audit system 
 
Local Audit Delivery Board 
Consultative board chaired by MHCLG, which compromises of representatives of relevant 
departments and framework bodies to facilitate sharing of information about the operation of the 
local authority accounting framework. Meetings are held in private and it has no formal powers 
or remit. 
 
Local Government Act 2000 
An Act to make provision with respect to the functions and procedures of local authorities 
 
London Borough 
A single tier of local authority that provides all the services that a county and district/borough/city 
council would usually provide. Some services, like fire, police and public transport, are provided 
through the Greater London Authority. 
 
Mayoral Combined Authority 
A type of local authority created in areas where they are considered likely to improve transport, 
economic development and regeneration.  MCAs are led by metro mayors who make decisions 
about policy and spending in conjunction with council leaders from each constituent council. Both 
the metro mayor and each of the council leaders have a single vote and must approve or oppose 
decisions. 
 
Metropolitan borough – also known as Metropolitan District 
A single tier of local authority that provides all the services that a county and district/borough/city 
council would usually provide. Some services, like fire, police and public transport, are provided 
through ‘joint authorities 
 
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
The government department with policy responsibility for the local audit framework. 
 

Page 119



82 
 

MIRS - Movement in Reserves Statement 
Shows how the movement in reserves in the Balance Sheet is reconciled to the CIES deficit and 
what adjustments are required to be charged to the general fund balance for Council Tax setting 
purposes 
 
Monitoring Officer  
A local government officer with three main roles: to report on matters he or she believes are, or are 
likely to be, illegal or amount to maladministration; to be responsible for matters relating to the 
conduct of councillors and officers; and. to be responsible for the operation of the council's 
constitution. 
 
NAO – National Audit Office 
The UK’s independent public spending watchdog. The NAO support Parliament in holding 
government to account and they work to improve public services through their audits. They are led 
by the Comptroller and Auditor General 
 
NHSI(E) – NHS England and NHS Improvement  
The umbrella body for the NHS in England.  From 1 April 2019, NHS England and NHS 
Improvement have worked together as a new single organisation to better support the NHS to 
deliver improved care for patients. 
 
Ofsted - Office for Standards in Education 
Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills. Inspect services providing 
education and skills for learners of all ages. Also inspects and regulate services that care for 
children and young people including those delivered by local authorities. 
 
Parish Council – can also be known as community councils 
A civil local authority found in England and is the lowest tier of local government. They are elected 
corporate bodies, have variable tax raising powers.  Responsibilities of parish council’s vary 
considerably but can include allotments, bus shelters, burials and maintenance of common land 
and rights of way. 
 
Parish Meeting 
A meeting to which all the electors in a civil parish are entitled to attend.  In some cases, where a 
parish or group of parishes has fewer than 200 electors, the parish meeting can take on the role of 
a parish council, with statutory powers, and electing a chairman and clerk to act on the meeting's 
behalf. 
 
PCC – Police and Crime Commissioner 
An elected official in England and Wales charged with securing efficient and effective policing of 
a police area. Commissioners replaced the now-abolished police authorities.  
 
PIE – Public Interest Entity 
A listed company or an entity with listed debt.  Under EU Law, entities are designated by Member 
States and are usually defined as having undertakings that are of significant public relevance 
because of the nature of their business, their size or the number of their employees. 
 
PIR – Public Interest Report 
When an Auditor considers there to be a matter that is sufficiently important enough to be publicly 
brought to the notice of the council or the public they can make a report in the public interest. 
 
 
 
 

Page 120

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Local_government_in_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Civil_parishes_in_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Parish_councils_in_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wales
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Police_area
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Police_authority


83 
 

PSAA - Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
Public Sector Audit Appointments is a company limited by guarantee wholly owned by the Local 
Government Association. PSAA are specified as an appointing person for local authority under 
provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  The functions of PSAA are specified in 
statute. 
 
Qualified Audit Opinion  
When an external auditor concludes that financial records have not been maintained in accordance 
with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. There are three types of qualified opinion; an 
except for; adverse; and limitation in scope opinion 
 
SAAA - Smaller Authorities' Audit Appointments Ltd 
The sector-led limited company appointed as the specified person to procure and appoint external 
auditors to smaller authorities and to manage the ongoing smaller authority audit contracts. 
 
SERCoP - Service Reporting Code of Practice 
A statutory code that sets out the proper practices with regard to consistent financial reporting for 
services; all local authorities in the UK are expected to adopt its mandatory requirements and 
recommendations and use them when reporting statistical data to central government. 
 
Smaller Authorities - parish, community and town councils and internal drainage boards 
These operate at a level below district and borough councils and in some cases, unitary authorities. 
They sometimes deliver additional services on behalf of the district council. 
 
SOLACE – Society of Local Authority Chief Executives  
Members' network for local government and public sector professionals throughout the UK 
 
TUPE - Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations to protect employees if the business in which they are employed changes hands. The 
two types of transfer protected by TUPE regulations are business transfer and service provision 
changes 
 
Unitary Authorities 
A single tier of local authority that provides all the services that a county and district/borough/city 
council would usually provide. 
 
Unqualified Audit Opinion  
When an external auditor concludes that the financial statements of an entity present fairly its 
affairs in all material aspects 
 
VfM Conclusion – Value for Money Conclusion  
A requirement that external auditors undertake sufficient work to be able to satisfy themselves as to 
whether the audited body has put arrangements in place that support the achievement of value for 
money. In carrying out this work, the auditor is not required to satisfy themselves that the audited 
body has achieved value for money during the reporting period 
 
Welsh Audit Office 
The Wales Audit Office provides staff and other resources for the Auditor General’s work, and 
monitors and advises the Auditor General for Wales. 

Page 121



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD20122 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: General Purposes and Licensing Committee  
Council  

Date:  
25th November 2020 
7th December 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: REVIEW OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
 

Contact Officer: Stephen Wood, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 020 8313 4316    E-mail:  stephen.wood@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Reason for report 

The Audit-Sub Committee on 3rd November 2020 considered, as part of the Internal Audit 
Progress Report (section 3.8), proposals to update the Council’s  corporate Financial 
Regulations and the Schools’ Financial Regulations. The Audit Sub-Committee noted the report 
and supported the changes, recommending that they be referred by General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee to full Council for approval.  
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

2.1 That the General Purposes and Licensing Sub-Committee notes the proposed changes to 
the Financial Regulations and Schools’ Financial Regulations, and recommends that full 
Council approves the updated Financial Regulations.    

  
2.2    Subject to the views of General Purposes and Licensing Committee, Council is 

recommended to approve the updated Financial Regulations and Schools’ Financial 
Regulations.  

 

 

Page 123

Agenda Item 7



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: N/a  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £359,420 
 

5. Source of funding: 2020/21 revenue budget  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 7 (6.67fte) 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  Not Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 
1.      Under section 1 of the Local Government Act 1972, the authority is required to make proper 

arrangements in respect of the administration of its financial affairs. 
  
2.      The provisions of the accounts an audit regulations 2015 require the council to maintain an                           
          adequate and effective internal audit  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  This report does not involve an executive decision. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Some of the changes to the Financial Regulations will 
have procurement implications.    

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 124



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1    At its meeting on 3rd November 2020 the Audit Sub-Committee considered, as part of its usual 
progress report on audit matters, proposals to update the Council’s Financial Regulations.  A 
summary of the main changes (extracted from section 3.8 of the Internal Audit Progress Report) 
is set out below: 
 

3.1.1 Internal Audit has undertaken a review of Corporate and School’s Financial Regulations. 

They needed to be updated not only to reflect changes relating to schools and other areas as 

well as reflect latest departmental structures and responsibilities.  

3.1.2 Internal Audit have consulted with colleagues in Finance, Legal, HR, Strategic Property and 

Information Systems and there was also consultation with the Corporate Leadership Team 

and Corporate Risk Management Group to finalise the draft document. 

3.1.3 Where necessary and advised by the appropriate officer, references to current legislation 

have been updated. Similarly, references to reporting frequencies, authorisation limits and 

terminology have been updated.  

3.1.4 Where possible, lengthy descriptive passages have been replaced by links to policy 

documents held on One Bromley with the contact officer charged with the responsibility to 

update to ensure information is current. 

3.1.5 The main changes to the Corporate Financial Regulations can be summarised as follows:- 

Section 5 - Authorisation Limits 
3.1.6 Heads of Service have been added as having the same approval limits as an Assistant 

Director.  

Section 18 - Land and Property 
3.1.7 The Assistant Director, Strategic Property, has provided a revision of this section to reflect 

the recent move to the adoption of the Corporate Landlord approach. Section 18.11 specifies 

the need for the Insurance Manager to be informed of any changes to the properties held by 

the Council to ensure the Insurance schedules are accurate.  

Section 22 - Information Systems 
3.1.8 The Head of Information Management provided the update to include two new sections – “All 

officers are responsible for ensuring the accuracy and integrity of any information input and 

stored within the Council's financial and management information systems” and that, “Chief 

Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that they and their staff comply with the Council’s IT 

Security Policy & Guidelines and the Data Protection”.   

Appendices 
3.1.9 The Protocols and Supplementary Information has been replaced with numbered 

Appendices.  

3.1.10 Appendix 2 – Retention of Documents – Update provided by the Information Architect and 

System Analyst – Service specific sections and tables of guidance removed and replaced 

with a link to the Corporate Retention Schedule. 

3.1.11 Code of Conduct – Gifts and Hospitality has been removed from the appendices - the Gift & 

Hospitality policy used by HR has been inserted via a link within section 23 of the Financial 

Procedures.   

Page 125



  

4 

3.1.12 Appendix 5- Late Payments of Debts has been added.  

3.1.13 Financial Regulations for Schools 2020 (Appendix F) - Summary of the Main Changes  

3.1.14 An administrative update of the Regulations was issued to all Bromley Maintained Schools in 

February updating contact names, change in job titles, EU financial thresholds and notice 

periods and to remove and replace out of date information.   

3.1.15 They have now been reviewed in line with the Corporate Financial Regulations for more 

substantive changes, which can be summarised as follows:- 

Section 3.7 Raising Concerns in Schools  
3.1.16 This section had previously referred to Appendix 2 “Procedures for Raising Concerns in 

Schools”. This appendix has been removed and section 3.7 now refers to the Corporate 

Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy; a hard copy will be issued with these Regulations. 

The Director of Education and the Liberata Schools’ Team would be the first point of contact 

for guidance and the Council’s Human Resources Division would also be able to offer advice.  

Section 5 - Orders for Goods, Works and Services  
3.1.17 The procedure to be followed will be determined by the estimate of the cost of the required 

goods or services. The procedures would now be in line with the Corporate Contract 

Procedure Rules. The main change for the schools will be that tendering is now required for 

expenditure over £100K and three written quotes are required for expenditure between £5K 

and £100K.  

Section 6 - Contracts  
3.1.18 This section has been replaced by the Corporate Contract Procedure Rules that will be 

issued with these Regulations. It should be noted that the Council’s Procurement Team will 

be the point of contact to offer advice and guidance but the responsibility for all procurement 

will be with the school. 

Section 7.6.1 - Purchasing on the Internet with Approved Cards 
3.1.19 The Regulations now specifies that the Royal Bank of Scotland is the approved provider.  

Section 21 - Retention of Documents  
3.1.20 This section was supported by appendix 11; this has been removed. The Director has 

determined that the Financial, Payroll and Pension records should be kept in line with the 

Information and Records Management Society of the UK “School’s Toolkit”.   

Attached as appendices are: 

A) Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 

B) Financial Regulations for Schools 2020   

Non-applicable Sections  Impact on vulnerable adults and 
children/Finance/personnel/Procurement/Legal 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Internal Audit  Progress Report – 3rd November 2020 - 
A) Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 
B) Financial Regulations for Schools 2020 
 

 

 

Page 126



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 1 

  
 

  

 

 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF BROMLEY 
 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS  
 AND PROCEDURES  

2020 
 

 

  

PART 1 -  FINANCIAL REGULATIONS                      2 
 
 
 
 
 
 PART 2 -  FINANCIAL PROCEDURES     27 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 2 

  
 

Contents 
 
PART 1 – FINANCIAL REGULATIONS .......................................................... 5 
 

1. STATUS OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS ................................................ 5 

2. STRATEGIC RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................. 8 

2.1 Financial Management .......................................................................... 8 

2.2 The Full Council .................................................................................... 8 

2.3 The Executive ....................................................................................... 8 

2.4 Committees ........................................................................................... 9 

2.5 The Statutory Officers ........................................................................... 9 

2.6 Chief Officers ...................................................................................... 12 

2.7 Other Financial Accountabilities .......................................................... 12 

3. FINANCIAL PLANNING .......................................................................... 14 

3.1 Introduction ......................................................................................... 14 

3.2 Policy Framework ................................................................................ 14 

3.3 Revenue and Capital Budgeting .......................................................... 14 

4.  RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES ..................... 17 

4.1 Introduction ......................................................................................... 17 

4.2 Risk Management ............................................................................... 17 

4.3 Internal Control .................................................................................... 17 

4.4 Audit Requirements ............................................................................. 17 

4.5 Preventing Fraud and Corruption ........................................................ 18 

4.6 Assets ................................................................................................. 18 

4.7 Treasury Management and Banking ................................................... 18 

4.8 Staffing ................................................................................................ 19 

5 SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ............................................................. 20 

5.1 Introduction ......................................................................................... 20 

5.2 General ............................................................................................... 20 

5.3 Income and Expenditure / Scheme of Delegation ............................... 20 

5.4 Payments to Employees and Members ............................................... 20 

5.5 Taxation .............................................................................................. 21 

5.6 Trading Accounts/Business Units ........................................................ 21 

6 EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS ............................................................... 22 

6.1 Introduction ......................................................................................... 22 

6.2 Partnerships ........................................................................................ 22 

6.3 External funding .................................................................................. 22 

6.4 Work for third parties ........................................................................... 23 

7 SCHEME OF VIREMENT ......................................................................... 24 

7.1 Introduction ......................................................................................... 24 

7.2  Definition of Terms .............................................................................. 24 

7.3 Virement Arrangements ...................................................................... 25 

7.4 Maintenance of Buildings .................................................................... 26 

7.5 Notification to Director of Finance ....................................................... 26 

7.6 Supplementary Estimates ................................................................... 26 

Page 128



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 3 

  
 

PART 2 - FINANCIAL PROCEDURES  ........................................................ 27 
 

1. GENERAL ................................................................................................ 27 

2. PREPARATION OF BUDGETS ............................................................... 30 

3. BUDGETARY CONTROL ........................................................................ 31 

4. ACCOUNTING ARRANGEMENTS .......................................................... 34 

4.1 Introduction ......................................................................................... 34 

4.2 Separation of Duties ............................................................................ 35 

4.3 Authorised Officers .............................................................................. 35 

4.4 I-Procurement ..................................................................................... 36 

4.5 Write-Offs ............................................................................................ 38 

4.6 Retention of Documents ...................................................................... 38 

4.7 External Arrangements/Partnerships .................................................. 38 

4.8 External funding .................................................................................. 39 

5. AUTHORISATION LIMITS ....................................................................... 40 

6. ORDERS AND CONTRACTS FOR GOODS, WORKS AND SERVICES 44 

7. CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES ........................................................ 47 

8. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS ..................................................................... 48 

8.1 Payments  ........................................................................................... 48 

8.2 Checking Required .............................................................................. 51 

8.3 Verification of Goods / Services Received .......................................... 53 

8.4 Maintenance ........................................................................................ 53 

8.5 Placements ......................................................................................... 54 

8.6 Direct Care .......................................................................................... 54 

8.7 Creditors Provision .............................................................................. 54 

8.8 Late Payment of Debts ........................................................................ 55 

8.9 Purchasing Cards ................................................................................ 55 

9. IMPREST ACCOUNTS & PETTY CASH ................................................. 56 

10. VAT .......................................................................................................... 59 

11. SALARIES, WAGES & PENSIONS ......................................................... 60 

11.1 General ............................................................................................... 60 

11.2 Self-Employed Status .......................................................................... 61 

11.3 Pension Life Certificates ..................................................................... 61 

11.4 Travel, Subsistence & Other Allowances ............................................ 62 

12. INCOME ................................................................................................... 63 

13. BANKING ARRANGEMENTS ................................................................. 65 

14. TREASURY MANAGEMENT ................................................................... 66 

15. INSURANCE AND SECURITY ................................................................ 67 

16. STOCKS AND STORES .......................................................................... 69 

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT....................................................................... 70 

18. LAND AND PROPERTY .......................................................................... 71 

19. DISPOSAL OF ASSETS .......................................................................... 74 

20. INTERNAL & EXTERNAL AUDIT ............................................................ 75 

20.1 Internal Audit ....................................................................................... 75 

20.2 Internal Control .................................................................................... 76 

Page 129



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 4 

  
 

20.3 External Audit ...................................................................................... 77 

21. PREVENTING FRAUD & CORRUPTION ................................................ 78 

22. INFORMATION SYSTEMS ...................................................................... 80 

23. GIFTS & HOSPITALITY ........................................................................... 82 

24. PROCEDURES FOR WRITE-OFFS ........................................................ 83 

24.1 Background ......................................................................................... 83 

24.2 Bad Debts / Loss of Income ................................................................ 83 

24.3 Stocks and Stores ............................................................................... 84 

24.4 Plant and Equipment ........................................................................... 85 
 

 

APPENDICES 
 
APPENDIX 1 - FRAUD AND CORRUPTION PROTOCOL ........................... 86 
 

APPENDIX 2 – RETENTION OF DOCUMENTS ........................................... 89 
 

APPENDIX 3 - CODE OF PRACTICE ON DRAFTING FINANCIAL 
IMPLICATIONS IN COMMITTEE REPORTS ................................................ 91 
 

APPENDIX 4 - TRANSPARENCY CODE ..................................................... 93 
 

APPENDIX 5 - LATE PAYMENT OF DEBTS................................................ 94 

 
  

Page 130



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 5 

  
 

 

PART 1 – FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
 

1. STATUS OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

 

1.1 Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the London 
Borough of Bromley’s financial affairs and are deemed to be part of its 
constitution. They apply to every Member and Officer of the Authority and 
anyone acting on its behalf. 
 

1.2 The Regulations identify the financial responsibilities of the Full Council, 
Executive and Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee Members, the 
Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer who is the Director of Corporate 
Services, Director of Finance and other Chief Officers. Executive 
Members and Chief Officers should maintain a written record where 
decision making has been delegated to members of their staff, including 
seconded staff. Where decisions have been delegated or devolved to 
other responsible officers, references to the Chief Officer in the 
Regulations should be read as referring to them.  

 
1.3 More detailed responsibilities of the Director of Finance and the Chief 

Officers are included in Financial Procedures. These set out how the 
Regulations should be implemented and provide further guidance.  
 

1.4 The Regulations shall not override any statutory provisions that apply. 
However, subject to the above and with the agreement of the Director of 
Corporate Services and Director of Finance, the General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee may waive compliance with any of these 
Regulations in a particular case or in any particular class of case where 
applicable. 

 
1.5 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that these Regulations are 

strictly adhered to, throughout the department under their control. Except 
where otherwise stated, all references in these Regulations to “Chief 
Officer” should be read as meaning heads of department but this includes 
all officers that are carrying out duties on behalf of a Chief Officer. Such 
delegation by Chief Officers should be formally approved and 
documented. 
 

1.6 Where applicable consultants or agencies acting for the Council will be 
bound by these Regulations and it should be a condition of their 
employment or engagement that they do so. The provisions of these 
procedures shall also apply to services carried out under agency 

Page 131



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 6 

  
 

arrangements for any other Authority or Organisation, except where 
otherwise required by that Authority. 
 

1.7 Substantial breaches of Financial Regulations shall be reported to the 
Director of Finance and the Portfolio Holder by the relevant Chief Officer 
and may be treated as disciplinary offences. Where the Director of 
Finance considers it appropriate they will report to the next meeting of the 
Audit Sub-Committee any substantial breach of these Regulations that is 
identified. The Director of Finance is also responsible for reporting, where 
appropriate, breaches of Financial Regulations to the Council and/or to the 
Executive. The Director of Finance shall be responsible for ensuring the 
Council’s continuing compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 and all relevant Accounting Codes of Practice and Auditing 
Standards. 
 

1.8 As such, no report having financial implications shall be submitted to 
Members without adequately timed prior consultation with the Director of 
Finance. Any such report that has financial implications shall be drafted in 
accordance with the “Code of Practice on Drafting Financial Implications in 
Committee Reports” (Financial Procedures Appendix 3). 
 

1.9 These procedures shall be reviewed regularly by the Director of Finance 
but at least every 3 years. The General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee should approve all amendments and summaries of changes 
resulting from reviews of codes of best practice, procedures or 
explanatory notes. Relevant financial thresholds (e.g. write-offs, petty cash 
payments) should additionally be reviewed against inflation on an annual 
basis wherever possible. 
 

1.10 As suggested good practice it is recommended that these Regulations be 
applied to transactions relating to any Amenity or Voluntary Funds 
handled by staff in the course of their duties. 
 

1.11 The Director of Finance is responsible for maintaining a continuous review 
of the Financial Regulations and submitting any additions or changes 
necessary to Full Council for approval.  
 

1.12 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their 
departments are made aware of the existence and content of the 
Authority's Financial Regulations and other internal regulatory documents, 
and that they comply with them. They must also ensure that either hard or 
electronic copies are available for reference within their departments. 
 

1.13 Members, Officers and others acting on behalf of the Authority are 
required to follow Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules. 

Page 132



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 7 

  
 

The Director of Finance is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to 
underpin this and Members, Officers and others acting on behalf of the 
Authority must have regard to such advice.     

 
  

Page 133



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 8 

  
 

2. STRATEGIC RESPONSIBILITIES  

 

2.1 Financial Management 

 

2.1.1 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that each Local 
Authority “shall make arrangements for the proper administration of their 
financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility 
for the administration of those affairs”.   Full Council approves those 
arrangements taking into account the views of the General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee who will also, along with the Audit Sub-Committee, 
carry a monitoring brief to ensure the arrangements remain effective and 
are applied appropriately. The said “arrangements” include the Council’s 
Financial Regulations, Contract Procedure Rules and the Scheme of 
Delegation (so far as it relates to financial matters). In approving those 
arrangements, Members are bound by the general principles of 
administrative law.  

  

2.1.2   The Council’s appointed officer under Section 151 is the Director of 
Finance. In performing his functions as the appointed officer, he shall seek 
to ensure that the management of the Council’s financial affairs accord 
with the arrangements approved by Council subject to his overarching 
statutory duties including those referred to at paragraph 2.5.3 below. The 
Section 151 officer can be held accountable by the electorate to whom he 
owes a fiduciary duty to carry out those duties effectively and these cannot 
be overridden by the Council.    

 

 2.1.3 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to 
the running of the Authority, including the budget and policy framework.  

 

2.2 The Full Council 

 

2.2.1 The Full Council is responsible for adopting the Authority's constitution 
and Members' code of conduct and for approving the budget and policy 
framework within which the Executive operates.  

 

2.3 The Executive 

2.3.1 The Executive is responsible for proposing the budget and policy 
framework to the Full Council, and for discharging Executive functions in 
accordance with the policy framework and budget.  

Page 134



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 9 

  
 

2.3.2 Executive decisions can be delegated to a committee of the Executive, an 
individual Executive Member or an officer. Executive Members must 
consult with relevant officers before taking a decision within their 
delegation; the member must take account of legal and financial liabilities 
and risk management issues that may arise from the decision.  

2.4 Committees  

2.4.1 Policy Development and Scrutiny Committees: There are six Policy 
Development and Scrutiny (PDS) Committees who have a major role in 
policy development and scrutinising the decisions of the Executive. They 
have no decision making powers but make reports and recommendations 
which advise the Executive and the Council as a whole on its policies, 
budget and service delivery. PDS Committees also monitor the decisions 
of the Executive and can challenge or ‘call-in’ a decision that has been 
made by the Executive.   

2.4.2 General Purposes and Licensing Committee: Legislation prevents all the 
Council’s powers being exercised by the Executive so the General 
Purposes and Licensing Committee deals with Non Executive functions, 
quasi-legal issues such as licensing and with staffing and audit matters. In 
particular the Audit Sub Committee deals with Financial Regulations as 
well as Internal and External Audit. 

2.4.3 The Standards Committee promotes and maintains a high standard of 
conduct by Bromley Councillors and co-opted members. It has a 
membership of seven, five Councillors and two Independent Persons. It is 
responsible for advising the Council on the adoption and revision of the 
members' code of conduct, and for monitoring the operation of the code.  

 

2.5 The Statutory Officers  

2.5.1 Chief Executive: 

 The Chief Executive is responsible for the corporate and overall strategic 
management of the Authority as a whole. They must report to and provide 
information for the Executive, the Full Council, the Policy Development 
and Scrutiny committees and other committees. They are responsible for 
establishing a framework for management direction, style and standards 
and for monitoring the performance of the Authority.  

  

Page 135



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 10 

  
 

2.5.2 The Director of Corporate Services as:  

 

The Monitoring Officer 

a) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining 
high standards of conduct and provides support to the Standards 
Committee. The Monitoring Officer is also responsible for reporting any 
actual or potential breaches of the law or maladministration to the Full 
Council and/or to the Executive, and for ensuring that procedures for 
recording and reporting key decisions are operating effectively. The 
Monitoring Officer is responsible for compliance with the Constitution 
 

b) The Monitoring Officer must ensure that Executive decisions and the 
reasons for them are made public. They must also ensure that 
Members are aware of decisions made by the Executive and of those 
key decisions made by Officers who have delegated Executive 
responsibility.  

 
c) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising all Members and 

Officers about who has authority to take a particular decision.  
 
d) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Executive and/or 

Full Council about whether a decision is likely to be considered 
contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the Authority's budget 
and policy framework.  

 
e) The Monitoring Officer, together with the Director of Finance, is 

responsible for advising the Executive or Full Council about whether a 
decision is likely to be considered contrary to, or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget. Actions that may be contrary to the 
budget include:  

• Initiating a new policy, which has budgetary implications.  

• Committing expenditure in future years above the approved budget 
level.  

• Interdepartmental transfers above virement limits.  

• Causing total net expenditure to increase beyond the approved 
budget.  

  

Page 136



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 11 

  
 

2.5.3 Director of Finance: 

 

a) The statutory duties arise from (inter alia):  

• Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.  

• The Local Government Finance Act 1988.  

• The Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  

• The Local Government Acts 2000 and 2003. 

• The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  

• The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 

 

b) The Director of Finance is responsible for:  

• The proper administration of the Authority's financial affairs.  

• Setting and monitoring compliance with financial management 
standards. 

• Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial 
controls necessary to secure sound financial management.  

• Providing financial information.  

• Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme. 

• Treasury management and banking.  

c) Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the 
Director of Finance to report to the Full Council, Executive and External 
Audit, if the Authority or one of its officers:  

• Has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring 
unlawful expenditure.  

• Has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted 
or would result in a loss or deficiency to the Authority. 

• Is about to make an unlawful entry in the Authority's accounts.  

d) Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires:  

• The Director of Finance to nominate a properly qualified member of 
staff to deputise should they be unable to perform the duties under 
section 114 personally.  

• The Authority to provide the Director of Finance with sufficient staff, 
accommodation and other resources, including legal advice where 
this is necessary, to carry out the duties under section 114.  

Page 137



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 12 

  
 

2.6 Chief Officers 

2.6.1 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that members are advised of 
the financial implications of all proposals and that the financial implications 
have been agreed by the Director of Finance.  

2.6.2 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to consult with the Director of 
Finance and seek approval on any matter liable to affect the Authority's 
finances materially, before any commitments are incurred.  

2.7 Other Financial Accountabilities 

 

2.7.1 Virement: 

 The Full Council is responsible for agreeing procedures for virement of 
expenditure between budget headings.  

2.7.2 Chief Officers are responsible for agreeing in-year virements within 
delegated limits, in consultation with the Director of Finance where 
required. They must notify the Director of Finance of all virements over 
£50,000. (The Scheme of Virement sets out the rules and the levels of 
delegation.) 

 

2.7.3 Treatment of year-end balances: 

 The Full Council is responsible for agreeing guidelines for the carrying 
forward of under and overspendings on budget headings.  

2.7.4 Accounting policies: 

 The Director of Finance is responsible for setting accounting policies and 
ensuring that they are applied consistently.   

2.7.5 Accounting records and returns: 

 The Director of Finance is responsible for determining the accounting 
procedures and records for the Authority.  

2.7.6 Annual statement of accounts: 

 The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that the annual 
statement of accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (CIPFA/LASAAC).  

Page 138



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 13 

  
 

2.7.7 The General Purposes and Licensing Committee is responsible for 
approving the annual statement of accounts.  

2.7.8 Further details are contained in the detailed budget book.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 139



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 14 

  
 

3. FINANCIAL PLANNING 

3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1 The Full Council is responsible for approving the Authority's budget and 
policy framework proposed by the Executive. In terms of financial 
planning, the key elements are:  

a) Corporate plans 

b) The budget  

c) Capital programme.  

3.2 Policy Framework 

3.2.1 The Full Council is responsible for approving the budget and policy 
framework. The policy framework comprises the plans and strategies set 
out in paragraph 4.02 of article 4 of the constitution.  

3.2.2 The Full Council is responsible for setting the level at which the Executive 
may reallocate budget funds from one service to another. The Executive is 
responsible for taking in-year decisions on resources and priorities in 
order to deliver the budget policy framework within the financial limits set 
by the Council.  

3.2.3 Preparation of Corporate Plans: 

 The Chief Executive is responsible for proposing corporate plans to the 
Executive for consideration before their submission to the Full Council for 
approval.  

3.2.4 Preparation of the Council’s Performance Plan: 

 The Chief Executive is responsible for proposing the overall performance 
plan to the Executive for consideration before its submission to the Full 
Council for approval. 

3.3 Revenue and Capital Budgeting 

3.3.1 Budget Format: 

 The general format of the budget will be approved by the Full Council and 
proposed by the Executive on the advice of the Director of Finance. The 
draft budget should include allocation to different services and projects, 
proposed taxation levels and contingency funds.  

Page 140



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 15 

  
 

3.3.2 Budget Preparation: 

 The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget 
is prepared on an annual basis and a financial forecast on a four yearly 
basis for consideration by the Executive, before submission to the Full 
Council. The Full Council may amend the budget or ask the Executive to 
reconsider it before approving it.  

3.3.3 The Executive is responsible for issuing guidance on the general content 
of the budget in consultation with the Director of Finance as soon as 
possible following approval by the Full Council.  

3.3.4 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that budget estimates 
reflecting agreed service plans are submitted to the Executive and that 
these estimates are prepared in line with guidance issued by the 
Executive and the Director of Finance. 

3.3.5 Budget Monitoring and Control: 

 The Director of Finance is responsible for providing appropriate financial 
information to enable budgets to be monitored effectively. They must 
monitor and control overall expenditure and income against budget 
allocations and report to the Executive on the Council's overall position on 
a regular basis.  

3.3.6 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to control income and expenditure 
within their area and to monitor performance, taking account of financial 
information provided by the Director of Finance. They should report on 
variances within their own areas and take necessary action to avoid 
exceeding their budget allocation and alert the Director of Finance to any 
problems.  

3.3.7 Resource Allocation: 

 The Director of Finance is responsible for developing and maintaining a 
resource allocation process that ensures due consideration of the Full 
Council's policy framework.  

3.3.8 Preparation of the Capital Programme 

 The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that a capital 
programme is prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the 
Executive before submission to the Full Council.  

 

Page 141



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 16 

  
 

3.3.9 Guidelines 

 Guidelines on budget preparation are issued to Members and Chief 
Officers by the Executive following agreement with the Director of 
Finance. The guidelines will take account of:  

• Legal requirements  

• Medium-term planning prospects  

• Corporate plans  

• Available resources  

• Spending pressures  

• Relevant government guidelines  

• Other internal policy documents  

• Cross-cutting issues (where relevant).  

3.3.10 Maintenance of Reserves: 

 It is the responsibility of the Director of Finance to advise the Executive 
and/or the Full Council on minimum levels of reserves for the Authority.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 17 

  
 

4.  RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 

 

4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1 It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and 
maintained for identifying and evaluating all significant operational risks to 
the Authority. This should include the proactive participation of all those 
associated with planning and delivering services.  

4.2 Risk Management 

4.2.1 The Executive is responsible for approving the Authority's risk 
management policy statement and strategy and for reviewing the 
effectiveness of risk management. The Executive is responsible for 
ensuring that proper insurance exists where appropriate.  

4.2.2 The Director of Finance is responsible for preparing the Authority's risk 
management policy statement, for promoting it throughout the Authority 
and for advising the Executive on proper insurance cover where 
appropriate.  

4.3 Internal Control 

4.3.1 Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to 
help ensure the Authority's objectives are achieved in a manner that 
promotes economical, efficient and effective use of resources and that the 
Authority's assets and interests are safeguarded.  

4.3.2 The Director of Finance is responsible for advising on effective systems of 
internal control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all 
applicable statutes and Regulations, and other relevant statements of best 
practice. They should ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded 
and used economically, efficiently, and in accordance with the statutory 
and other provisions that govern their use.  

4.3.3 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to establish sound arrangement, for 
planning, appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order 
to achieve continuous improvement, economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness and for achieving their financial performance targets.  

4.4 Audit Requirements 

4.4.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require every local Authority to 
maintain an adequate and effective Internal Audit.  

Page 143



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 18 

  
 

4.4.2 The responsible body, currently the Public Sector Audit Appointments 
Limited is responsible for appointing External Auditors to each local 
Authority such as Bromley who have opted into that arrangement . The 
basic duties of the External Auditor are governed by section 20 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  

4.4.3 The Authority may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or 
investigation by other external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs, 
who have statutory rights of access.  

4.5 Preventing Fraud and Corruption 

4.5.1 The Head of Audit & Assurance is responsible for the development and 
maintenance of an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.  

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_CE/Pub_Audit/Pub_IA/Lists/News%20Items/Attachm

ents/11/Anti-fraud%20and%20corruption%20strategy.pdf 

4.6 Assets 

4.6.1 Chief Officers should ensure that records and assets are properly 
maintained and securely held. They should also ensure that contingency 
plans for the security of assets and continuity of service in the event of 
disaster or system failure are in place.  

4.7 Treasury Management and Banking 

4.7.1 The Authority has adopted CIPFA's Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Services.  

4.7.2 The Full Council is responsible for approving the Treasury Management 
Policy Statement. The Portfolio Holder for Resources, Commissioning and 
Contracts proposes the policy statement to the Full Council. The Director 
of Finance has delegated responsibility for implementing and monitoring 
the policy statement.  

4.7.3 All money in the hands of the Authority is controlled by the officer 
designated for the purposes of section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972, referred to in the code as the Director of Finance.  

4.7.4 The Director of Finance is responsible for reporting to the Portfolio Holder 
for Resources, Commissioning and Contracts a proposed treasury 
management strategy for the coming financial year at or before the start of 
each financial year.  

Page 144

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_CE/Pub_Audit/Pub_IA/Lists/News%20Items/Attachments/11/Anti-fraud%20and%20corruption%20strategy.pdf
http://onebromley/BA/Pub_CE/Pub_Audit/Pub_IA/Lists/News%20Items/Attachments/11/Anti-fraud%20and%20corruption%20strategy.pdf


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 19 

  
 

4.7.5 All Executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be 
delegated to the Director of Finance, who is required to act in accordance 
with CIPFA's Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Services.  

4.7.6 The Director of Finance is responsible for reporting to the  Portfolio Holder 
for Resources, Commissioning and Contractsnot less than three times in 
each financial year on the activities of the treasury management operation 
and on the exercise of their delegated treasury management powers. One 
such report will comprise an annual report on treasury management for 
presentation by 30 September of the preceding financial year.  

4.8 Staffing 

4.8.1 The Full Council is responsible for determining how Officer support for 
Executive and Non-Executive roles within the Authority will be organised.  

4.8.2 The Chief Executive is responsible for providing overall management to 
staff. They will also be responsible for ensuring that there is proper use of 
the evaluation or other agreed systems for determining the remuneration 
of a job.  

4.8.3 Chief Officers are responsible for controlling total staff numbers by:  

• Advising the Executive on the budget necessary in any given year 
to cover estimated staffing levels.  

• Adjusting the staffing to a level that can be funded within approved 
budget provision, varying the provision as necessary within that 
constraint in order to meet changing operational needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 20 

  
 

5 SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 

 

5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 Sound systems and procedures are essential to an effective framework of 
financial accountability and control.  

5.2 General 

5.2.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for the operation of the Authority's 
accounting systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial 
records. Any changes made by Chief Officers to the existing financial 
systems or the establishment of new systems must be approved by the 
Director of Finance. However, Chief Officers are responsible for the proper 
operation of financial processes in their own departments.  

5.2.2 Any changes to agreed procedures made by Chief Officers to meet their 
own specific service needs should be agreed with the Director of Finance 
in advance 

5.2.3 Chief Officers should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial 
training.  

5.2.4 Chief Officers must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other 
systems are registered in accordance with data protection legislation. 
Chief Officers must ensure that staff are aware of their responsibilities 
under freedom of information legislation. 

5.3 Income and Expenditure / Scheme of Delegation 

5.3.1 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that a proper scheme of 
delegation has been established within their area and is operating 
effectively. The scheme of delegation should identify staff authorised to 
act on the Chief Officer's behalf, or on behalf of the Executive, in respect 
of payments, income collection and placing orders, together with the limits 
of their authority. The Executive is responsible for approving procedures 
for writing-off debts as part of the overall control framework of 
accountability and control.  

5.4 Payments to Employees and Members 

5.4.1 The Director of Human Resources and Customer Services is responsible 
for the payments of salaries and wages to all staff, including payments for 

Page 146



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 21 

  
 

overtime, and for payment of allowances to Members. -  See Salaries, 
Wages and Pensions - section 11. 

5.5 Taxation 

5.5.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for advising Chief Officers, in the 
light of guidance issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it 
applies, on all taxation issues that affect the Authority.  

5.5.2 The Director of Finance is responsible for maintaining the Authority's tax 
records, making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax 
returns by their due date as appropriate.  

5.6 Trading Accounts/Business Units 

5.6.1 It is the responsibility of the Director of Finance to advise on the 
establishment and operation of trading accounts and business units.  

5.6.2   It is the responsibility of the Director of Corporate Services to advise on 
the establishment and operation of any future wholly owned company 
arrangements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 147



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 22 

  
 

6 EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 The Council provides a distinctive leadership role for the community and 
brings together the contributions of the various stakeholders. The Council 
must also act to achieve the promotion or improvement of the economic, 
social or environmental well being of its area.  

6.2 Partnerships 

6.2.1 The Executive is the focus for forming partnerships with other local public, 
private, voluntary and community sector organisations to address local 
needs.  

6.2.2 The Executive can delegate functions, including those relating to 
partnerships, to Chief Officers. These are set out in the scheme of 
delegation that forms part of the Authority's constitution. Where functions 
are delegated, the Executive remains accountable for them to the Full 
Council.  

6.2.3 Representation of the Authority on partnership and external bodies will be 
decided in accordance with the scheme of delegation.  

6.2.4 The Director of Finance must ensure that the accounting arrangements to 
be adopted relating to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory. 
Director of Corporate Services must also consider the overall corporate 
governance arrangements and legal issues when arranging contracts with 
external bodies. They, in conjunction with the appropriate Chief Officer, 
must ensure that the risks have been fully appraised before agreements 
are entered into with external bodies.  

6.2.5 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are 
obtained before any negotiations are concluded in relation to work with 
external bodies.  

6.3 External funding 

6.3.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified 
by external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Authority's 
accounts.  

 

 

Page 148



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 23 

  
 

6.4 Work for third parties 

6.4.1 The Executive is responsible for approving the contractual arrangements 
for any work for third parties or external bodies unless this is delegated to 
Chief Officers.  

 

 

  

Page 149



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 24 

  
 

7 SCHEME OF VIREMENT 

 (Not applicable to schools that have separate Regulations) 
 

7.1 Introduction 

 

7.1.1 The scheme of virement is intended to enable the Executive, Chief 
Officers and their staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within 
the overall budget and policy framework determined by the Full Council, 
and therefore to optimise the use of resources. 

7.1.2 The overall revenue budget is drawn up by the Executive and approved by 
the Full Council. Chief Officers and budget managers are therefore 
authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the estimates that 
make up the budget. The rules below cover virement; that is, switching 
resources between approved heads of expenditure. For the purpose of 
this scheme, a budget head is considered to be a cost centre. A division of 
service is as defined by CIPFA Standards currently the Service Reporting 
Code of Practice (SeRCOP). 

7.1.3 Virement does not create additional overall budget liability. Chief Officers 
are expected to exercise their discretion in managing their budgets 
responsibly and prudently. For example, they should not support recurring 
expenditure from one-off sources of savings or additional income, or 
create future commitments, including full-year effects of decisions made 
part way through a year, for which they have not identified future 
resources. Chief Officers must plan to fund such commitments from within 
their own budgets.  

 

7.2  Definition of Terms 

 

7.2.1  “Main Account” - refers to the total budget for employees, running 
expenses, individual special schemes, financing charges, recharges or 
income within a single service heading (main code). 

 

7.2.2 “Contingent Budget” - refers to those provisions designated by the Director 
of Finance which are mainly outside the direct control of the Authority. 

 
  

Page 150



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 25 

  
 

7.3      Virement Arrangements 

 

7.3.1 No virement is allowed from or to any of the following budgets without 
approval of the Executive: 
 

▪ Financing charges 
▪ Rates and other taxes 
▪ Recharges 
▪ Insurances 
▪ Contingent budgets (as determined by the Director of 

Finance in consultation with the appropriate Chief Officer). 

 
7.3.2 Portfolio Holder agreement will be required for proposals which transfer 

funds for the creation of new staff posts 
 

7.3.3 Executive approval will be required for proposals which: 

▪ would cause the total budget head to be exceeded in the 
current year or increase the commitment in future years 

▪ are to be financed from savings arising from competitive 
tendering. 

 

7.3.4 Virement will be allowed within one year between other main accounts as 
follows: 

a) on the approval of the appropriate Chief Officer for sums up to 
£50,000 
 

b) on the approval of the appropriate Portfolio Holder for sums in 
excess of £50,000 and up to £250,000 

 

c) on the approval of the Executive for sums in excess of £250,000 
and up to £1,000,000 

 

d) on the approval of the Full Council for sums above £1,000,000. 

 

7.3.4 Virements actioned by a Chief Officer shall be included on the next 
quarterly monitoring report to the appropriate Executive meeting and 
notified to the Director of Finance. 

 

 

Page 151



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 26 

  
 

7.4 Maintenance of Buildings 

 
Building Maintenance funding is split between “landlord and tenant” 
responsibilities. 

 

7.5 Notification to Director of Finance 

 
Please ensure that your Head of Finance is informed of all virement 
approvals granted. 
 

7.6 Supplementary Estimates 

 

7.6.1 The Executive can agree a supplementary estimate for an individual item 
up to £1m as long as the full year effect does not exceed £1m. All larger 
items are to be approved by Full Council.  

 

7.6.2 The Executive cannot agree a supplementary estimate if this has the 
effect of reducing General Fund “Not Earmarked” Reserves below £20m 
(based upon the latest projections of expenditure). 

  

Page 152



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 27 

  
 

PART 2 - FINANCIAL PROCEDURES  
 

1. GENERAL 

 
Contact:  Internal Audit 

 

1.1      These procedures outline the approved system of corporate financial 
control to secure the proper administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs, as required by Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
must be adhered to by all. 
 

1.2      The Director of Finance will add, amend or delete these procedures to 
reflect the overall needs of Departments and changing circumstances 
such as, price increases affecting financial thresholds.  
 

1.3 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that these procedures are 
strictly adhered to, throughout the department under their control.    

Except where otherwise stated, all references in these Regulations to 
“Chief Officer” should be read as meaning heads of department but this 
includes all officers that are carrying out duties on behalf of a Chief 
Officer. Such delegation by Chief Officers should be formally approved 
and documented. 
 

1.4 Each Chief Officer should ensure that all staff in their department are 
made aware of and fully understand the requirements and implications of 
Financial Procedures as far as they relate to their professional duties and 
responsibilities. However, this does not remove the requirement for all 
staff to make themselves conversant with these procedures and comply 
with their requirements. 
 

1.5 Consultants or agencies acting for the Council will be bound by these 
procedures and it should be a condition of their employment or           
engagement that they do so. The provisions of these procedures shall 
also apply to services carried out under agency arrangements for and       
other Authority or organisation, except where otherwise required by that 
Authority.   

 

1.6 The Director of Finance is ultimately responsible for interpreting these 
Procedures and determining what is considered “substantial”, “significant”, 
“adequate”, “prompt” etc. as required by these Procedures. Contact details 
are given at the start of each procedure to facilitate the provision of advice 

Page 153



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 28 

  
 

from Director of Finance’s Department. However, in the majority of day-to-
day cases it is envisaged that officers will seek advice from their 
Departmental Head of Finance. 
 

1.7      Substantial breaches of the procedures shall be reported to the Director of 
Finance and the Portfolio Holder by the relevant Chief Officer and may be 
treated as disciplinary offences. Where the Director of Finance considers it 
appropriate he will report to the next meeting of the Audit Sub-Committee 
any substantial breach of these Regulations that is identified. 
 

1.8      The Director of Finance shall be responsible for ensuring the Council’s 
continuing compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and 
all relevant Accounting Codes of Practice and Auditing Standards. 
 

1.9 As such, no report having financial implications shall be submitted to 
Members without adequately timed prior consultation with the Director of 
Finance. Any such report that has financial implications shall be drafted in 
accordance with the “Code of Practice on Drafting Financial Implications in 
Committee Reports”. (Appendix 3) 
 

1.10 These procedures shall be reviewed regularly by the Director of Finance 
but at least every 3 years. The General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee should approve all amendments and summaries of changes 
resulting from reviews of codes of best practice, procedures or 
explanatory notes. Relevant financial thresholds (e.g. write-offs, petty cash 
payments) should additionally be reviewed against inflation on a regular 
basis. 
 

1.11 As suggested good practice it is recommended that these Procedures be 
applied to transactions relating to any Amenity or Voluntary Funds         
handled by staff in the course of their duties. 

 

1.12 The accounting policies are set out in the statement of accounts, which is 
prepared at 31st March each year, and covers such items as:  

• Separate accounts for capital and revenue transactions  
• The basis on which debtors and creditors at year end are included 

in the accounts  
• Details on substantial provisions and reserves  
• Fixed assets  
• Depreciation  
• Capital charges  
• Work in progress  

Page 154



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 29 

  
 

• Stocks and stores   
• Accounting for value added tax  
• Government grants  
• Leasing 
• Pensions 

1.13 Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the 
Authority discharges its responsibility for stewardship of public resources. 
The Authority has a statutory responsibility to prepare its annual accounts 
to present fairly its operations during the year. These are subject to 
External Audit. This audit provides assurance that the accounts are 
prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been followed 
and that quality arrangements have been made for securing economy and 
efficiency  

  

Page 155



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 30 

  
 

2. PREPARATION OF BUDGETS  

 
Contacts:  Heads of Finance / Technical (Capital Programme) 

 
Revenue Budget 

 

2.1 Prior to the start of the revenue budget process, Chief Officers will submit 
to the Director of Finance, in accordance with a timetable laid down by the 
Director of Finance, projections of anticipated real changes (including 
statutory and demographic factors) over a predetermined period for the 
services that they manage, this will be for at least three years. Chief 
Officers will also submit to the Director of Finance appropriate supporting 
information and documentation as specified by them. The Director of 
Finance will use this information to compile a forecast of the Council's 
revenue expenditure and income for consideration by the Executive. 
 

2.2 Prior to each financial year, in accordance with a timetable laid down by 
the Director of Finance, draft estimates of income and expenditure for the 
ensuing year will be prepared jointly by each Chief Officer for the 
Service(s) they manage and the Director of Finance, for presentation to 
the Executive. 

 

2.3 The Director of Finance shall then ensure that the summarised budgets for 
all Departments are presented, together with an estimate of the sums 
necessary to meet anticipated inflation and other specific items for the 
following financial year to the Executive to allow them to recommend a 
levy to the Council before the end of the preceding February. 
 

Capital Programme 
 

2.4 Capital programme procedures must be followed in accordance with the 
manual of Capital Programme Procedures.    

 

https://onebromley.bromley.gov.uk/HDoI/ManKit/wikisite/Wiki%20Pages/Counc

il's%20Capital%20Programme.aspx 

 

2.5 The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that the programme is 
prepared on an annual basis. This programme will be considered by the 
Executive before submission to the Full Council.  

Page 156

https://onebromley.bromley.gov.uk/HDoI/ManKit/wikisite/Wiki%20Pages/Council's%20Capital%20Programme.aspx
https://onebromley.bromley.gov.uk/HDoI/ManKit/wikisite/Wiki%20Pages/Council's%20Capital%20Programme.aspx


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 31 

  
 

3. BUDGETARY CONTROL 

 
Contact:  Heads of Finance 
 

3.1 The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which financial 
control and management will be exercised. The format shapes how the 
rules around virement operate, the operation of cash limits, and sets the 
level at which funds may be reallocated within budgets 

 

3.2 Budget management ensures that once the budget has been approved by 
Full Council, resources allocated are used for their intended purposes and 
are properly accounted for. Budgetary control is a continuous process, 
enabling the Authority to review and adjust its budget targets during the 
financial year. It also calls to account managers responsible for defined 
elements of the budget.   

 

3.3 By continuously identifying and explaining variances against budgetary 
targets, the Authority can identify changes in trends and resource 
requirements at the earliest opportunity. The Authority itself operates 
within an annual cash limit, approved when setting the overall budget. To 
ensure that the Authority in total does not overspend, each service is 
required to manage its own expenditure within the cash-limited budget 
allocated to it. 

 

3.4 Chief Officers are responsible for the control of their department’s 
expenditure and income in accordance with the Council’s approved 
“Principles and Budgetary Control Procedures”  

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/6334/lb_bromley_budget_202021 

 

3.5 No officer shall incur expenditure outside the limits of the annual revenue 
budget or the approved capital programme, as amended from time to time 
by the Executive, except as provided for by the “Principles and Budgetary 
Control Procedures.”  

 

3.6 Even if there is insufficient budgetary provision a Chief Officer may incur 
expenditure that is necessary to carry out any repair, replacement or other 
work which is of such extreme urgency that it must be done immediately. 
When such an occasion arises, the Chief Officer shall advise the Director 
of Finance and report to the Executive. In the event of a major 
environmental disaster or a full scale emergency this can be done 
retrospectively. 

Page 157

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/6334/lb_bromley_budget_202021


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 32 

  
 

3.7 The relevant Chief Officer must consult the Director of Finance on any 
matter within their control that could materially affect the financial position 
of the Council. 
 

3.8  The Authority is a complex organisation responsible for delivering a wide 
variety of services. It needs to plan effectively and to develop systems to 
enable scarce resources to be allocated in accordance with carefully 
weighed priorities. The budget is the financial expression of the Authority’s 
plans and policies. 

3.9 The revenue budget must be constructed so as to ensure that resource 
allocation properly reflects the service plans and priorities of the Full 
Council. Budgets (spending plans) are needed so that the Authority can 
plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is allocated and spent. 
It is illegal for an Authority to budget for a deficit. 

3.10 Medium-term planning (or a three to five year planning system) involves a 
planning cycle in which managers develop their own plans. As each year 
passes, another future year will be added to the medium term plan. This 
ensures that the Authority is always preparing for events in advance. 

3.11 A report on the final accounts will be submitted by the Director of Finance 
to the General Purposes and Licensing Committee as soon as practical 
after the end of each financial year. The final accounts will be approved by 
the GP & L Sub Committee on behalf of the Council annually. 

3.12 The Local Authority must decide the level of general reserves it wishes to 
maintain before it can decide the level of council tax. Reserves are 
maintained as a matter of prudence. They enable the Authority to provide 
for unexpected events and thereby protect it from overspending, should 
such events occur. Reserves for specific purposes may also be 
maintained, such as the purchase or renewal of capital items. 

3.13 Capital expenditure (including use of capital grants) involves acquiring or 
enhancing fixed assets with a long term value to the Authority, such as 
land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or vehicles. Capital 
assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and create 
financial commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and 
revenue running costs. 

3.14 The Government places strict controls on the financing capacity of the 
Authority. This means that capital expenditure should form part of an 
investment strategy and should be carefully prioritised in order to 
maximise the benefit of scarce resources. 

Page 158



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 33 

  
 

3.15 Chief Officers must comply with guidance concerning capital schemes and 
controls issued by the Director of Finance. 

  

Page 159



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 34 

  
 

4. ACCOUNTING ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Contacts:  Heads of Finance / Internal Audit 

 

4.1 Introduction 

 

4.1.1 Chief Officers and Heads of Finance are responsible for maintaining all 
accounting and financial records for systems under their control, including 
automated or computerised systems, in a form approved by the Director of 
Finance. 
 

4.1.2 The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require that the Authority’s 
accounting system and the form of their accounts and supporting 
accounting records shall be determined by the responsible financial 
officer. 
 

4.1.3 Where new financial systems are proposed or significant amendments are 
planned to existing financial systems, the Director of Finance’s advice 
shall be sought. No changes to any accounting procedures or form of 
accounts shall be made without the approval of the Director of Finance. 
 

4.1.4 Each Chief Officer shall, in consultation with the Director of Finance, 
prepare such financial instructions as are considered necessary for the 
proper financial management, operation and control of the services for 
which they are responsible, in accordance with Financial Regulations and 
procedures. 
 

4.1.5 Such financial instructions shall, in accordance with the Accounts & Audit 
Regulations 2015, contain measures to: 

 

• Ensure that the financial transactions of the Authority are recorded as 
soon as reasonably practical and as accurately as reasonably 
possible; 
 

• Enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and fraud; and 
 

• Facilitate the ability to reconstitute any lost records. 
  

Page 160



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 35 

  
 

4.2 Separation of Duties 

 

4.2.1 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, that there is adequate internal separation of duties in their 
department in relation to significant financial transactions. For example: 
 

• staff responsible for calculating, checking and recording monies due to 
or due to be paid by the Council shall not receive or make such 
payments; 

 

• staff examining and checking the accounts of cash transactions shall 
not carry out (i.e. process) such transactions; 

 

• staff who sign authorise orders, confirm receipt of goods or services, 
and certify payments shall not perform more than one function for the 
same transaction 

 

4.3 Authorised Officers 

 

4.3.1 Each Chief Officer, in consultation with the Departmental Head of Finance, 
shall determine which officers in their department are Authorising Officers 
for all main financial transactions on their behalf. These should as a 
minimum include: 
 

• orders for goods, works or services; 

• payment of accounts; 

• travel, subsistence and special assistance claims; 

• payroll documents (e.g. overtime claims, timesheets) 

• recommendations for write-off 

 

4.3.2 The appropriate Chief Officer shall supply up to date details of all 
authorised officers together with copies of their specimen signatures or 
authorisation evidence, and any financial limits that apply to Accounts 
Payable. Additionally, copies of these lists and specimen signatures or 
evidence of authorisation shall be provided to the Director of Finance 
where prime documents are processed under procedures within their 
control (e.g. recommendations to the Director of Finance to write off bad 
debts). 

Page 161



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 36 

  
 

4.4 I-Procurement 

 
4.4.1 All orders for goods, works and services should be placed via the 

 i-Procurement system unless the following apply: 

• The Order originates from an established finance element of a service 
specific system (e.g. Confirm, Care First or successor systems), or 

• Where agreed by the Director of Finance 

 

4.4.2 The following role definitions will apply when orders are raised on the i-
proc system: 

 

a) Requisitioning Officer Role:  an officer authorised by their Chief 
Officer to raise order requisitions on the i-Proc system on behalf of the 
Council. They would identify the potential supplier, check budget 
provision is available and best value is obtained, either by using the 
“Lead Officer” recommendation or their own knowledge and 
experience, and in accordance with section 6 and Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

 

b) Receipting of goods Role: an officer who confirms on the i-Proc 
system that goods/services have been received. The officer fulfilling 
this role must have first-hand knowledge that the goods have been 
received and will be held accountable for funds subsequently released 
where the corresponding goods have not been received. This role can 
be completed by the requisitioning officer or an individual other than 
the approving officer.  

 

c) Approving Officer Role: an officer other than a) designated by their 
Chief Officer to authorise individual orders in accordance with the 
approval hierarchy. In approving an order the approving officer is 
confirming that all relevant Financial Regulations and procedures have 
been complied with and that there is adequate budgetary provision to 
cover the resulting expenditure. 

 

Where the received invoice legitimately exceeds the order amount by 
more than 2% by value, an approving officer must approve an amendment 
to the order (submitted by the requisitioning officer of the original order) 
which must also meet the above requirements.  

 

Page 162



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 37 

  
 

4.4.3 The following role definitions will normally apply for non i-Proc processes 
(notwithstanding that different terms may be in common day to day use 
within departments): 

 

a) Initiating Officer Role: an officer authorised by their Chief Officer to 
authorise official orders on behalf of the Council. They would normally 
identify the potential supplier, ensure budget provision is available and 
best value is obtained, either by using the “Lead Officer” 
recommendation or their own knowledge and experience, and in 
accordance with Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
Departments may of course prefer that one officer completes an order 
requisition form for authorisation by a manager but this is not a 
requirement of Financial Procedures (see Section 6). In such cases, it 
may be that the manager takes responsibility for checking budget 
provision and demonstrating best value. However, the manager who 
authorises the order is deemed the Initiating Officer and they therefore 
cannot then receive the goods, or authorise or certify the invoice. 

 

b) Authorising Officer Role: an officer, other than (a) or (c), who passes 
an invoice for certification, having confirmed receipt of goods or 
services and checked arithmetical accuracy, quantities, prices etc. to 
the original order. This officer may in practice be the person who 
requested the goods/ services as they will often be best placed to 
confirm the order has been delivered accurately. 

 

c) Certifying Officer Role: an officer other than (a) or (b), designated by 
their Chief Officer to certify individual invoices for payment. In certifying 
an invoice for payment the Certifying Officer is indicating that all 
relevant Financial Regulations and procedures have been complied 
with and evidenced in paying the invoice, prior to input and certification 
onto Accounts Payable. 

  

Page 163



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 38 

  
 

4.5 Write-Offs 

 

4.5.1 No uncollectable amounts, including bad debts, should be written off 
except with the approval of the Director of Finance, whether exercised 
personally or properly delegated by them to a member of their staff for this 
purpose. 
 

4.5.2 Further guidance in this area is given in Income Collection, section 12 and 
Write off procedures, section 24 of these Financial Procedures. 

 

4.6 Retention of Documents 

 

4.6.1 Chief Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that the accounts and 
supporting records of the Authority are maintained securely in accordance 
with proper practices and for the safe custody and proper use of controlled 
stationery (i.e. having an implicit monetary value) within their department. 
 

4.6.2 Chief Officers shall also ensure that accounting records are retained in 
safe custody for such period as shall be determined by the Director of 
Finance and no voucher or other document shall be destroyed before the 
specified period has elapsed. Details of the minimum periods for which 
certain records are to be retained are included in the Bromley Corporate 
Retention Schedule; open the Finance Schedule or other relevant 
schedules as required. (Appendix 2) 

Bromley Corporate Retention Schedule  
 

4.6.3 The ultimate disposal of financial records should be arranged by each 
Chief Officer as “confidential waste” and on no account should sensitive 
information be disposed of through the normal waste collection process. 
 

4.7 External Arrangements/Partnerships 

 

4.7.1 The Director of Finance must ensure that the accounting arrangements to 
be adopted relating to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory and 
must also consider the overall corporate governance arrangements in 
respect of financial issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. 
The Director of Finance must also ensure that the financial risks have 
been fully appraised before agreements are entered into with external 
bodies. 

 

Page 164

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_IM/Pages/RetentionSchedule.aspx


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 39 

  
 

4.7.2 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are 
obtained before any negotiations are concluded in relation to work with 
external bodies. 

 

4.7.3 The Relevant Portfolio Holder is responsible for approving the contractual 
arrangements for any work for third parties or external bodies where the 
contract value exceeds £500,000 and is within the Council budget. 

 

4.8 External funding 

The Director of Finance is responsible for identifying all the financial 
implications, including long term issues, resulting from entering into 
agreements with external bodies. He/ she is also responsible for ensuring 
that all funding notified by external bodies is received and properly 
recorded.  

 
  

Page 165



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 40 

  
 

5. AUTHORISATION LIMITS 

 
Contacts: Director of Finance / Internal Audit 

 
5.1 Authorisation Limits for placing of orders and payments 

 

5.1.1 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that a proper scheme of 
delegation has been established within their area and is operating 
effectively.   
 

5.1.2 The scheme of delegation should identify staff authorised to act on the 
Chief Officer’s behalf, or on behalf of the Executive in respect of 
payments, placing orders, together with the limits of their authority. 

 

5.1.3 Any delegated authority under the scheme of delegation authorised by a 
Chief Officer must be in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

 

5.1.4 The approval limits (other than listed exemptions) are shown below and 
these apply to any orders placed via i-proc and any certification through 
AP1 or 2 after Contract Procedure Rules have been complied with. 

 

Amount of 
order or 
payment 

Director Assistant 
Director/Head 

of Service 

Line Manager 
(if appropriate) 

Budget Holder or as 
per delegated 

authority 

£1m and 
above   

 
 

£500,000 up 
to £999,999   

 
 

£250,000 up 
to £499,999    

 

£100,000 up 
to £249,999   

 
 

£50,000 up 
to £99,999     

£5,000 up to 
£49,999     

Up to £4,999     

 
 
 

Page 166



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 41 

  
 

 
 

5.1.5 A requisitioner will be able to raise requisitions on i-proc but they will not 
be able to approve orders.  If the value of the requisition is less than 
£5,000 the requisition will be automatically routed for approval and order 
generation subject to the departments scheme of delegation.  If the 
requisition value exceeds an approver’s limit the requisition will be routed 
straight to the 1st appropriate management level above for approval. 

 

5.2 Listed Exemptions 

 

5.2.1 However there are other payments/ actions that require authorisation 
which Chief Officers should include within their Scheme of Delegation.   
 

5.2.2 A list of the exceptions from i-proc and AP1/2 certification limits are 
detailed below: 

 

1. Travel Expenses and Petty Cash (inc signature on cheque book) – 
Budget Holder, Line Manager, Assistant Director/Head of Service 
or Director  

2. Timesheets Agency - Staff Budget Holder, Line Manager, Assistant 
Director/Head of Service or Director  

3. Overtime Claim and Car Mileage – Director, Assistant Director/ 
Head of Service  

Director

Assistant 
Director/Head of 

Service

Line Manager (if 
appropriate)

Budget Holder or 
as per delegated 

authority

Requisitioners

Page 167



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 42 

  
 

4. Special Leave, Ex-gratia Payments, Season Ticket loans, Interview 
Expenses -Budget Holder, Line Manager, Assistant Director/Head 
of Service or Director 

5 Income write offs - Assistant Director/Head of Service or Director 
plus Head of Finance as per Financial Regulations 24 

6. Panel Decisions – Adults and Children’s Social Care - Chief 
Officer’s scheme of delegation list. 

7. Manual BACS/CHAPS Payment Authorisation – Finance officers 
only. 

8. Cheques over £50k and BACS - Finance officers only 

9. Investment Payments - Technical Group only (senior accountant 
and above)  

 

5.2.3 The authorisation for the above should be locally managed by the Chief 
Officer for their Department.  The completed authorised signatory form 
should be forwarded to Accounts Payable ApManBrom@liberata.com to be 
held in their records.  Any changes should be notified immediately that 
they occur and not as a result of an update requested by Accounts 
Payable Department. 

5.2.4 Manual signatures can be captured by various types of equipment 
including scanners, photocopiers and fax machines. Once acquired, 
signatures can be transmitted electronically and copied between files, as 
well as being printed on paper documents. 

5.2.5 An electronic document, such as an email, Word file or fax, containing a 
digitised signature is nowadays considered to be no different from a paper 
one which has been signed manually.  

5.2.6 It is therefore important that individuals use images of their own signatures 
with care and that there are controls over the use of other people's 
digitised signatures. 

5.2.7 Whereas for internal e-mails there is an assumption that they are from a 
verifiable source, you should seek assurances that external e-mails are 
similarly from a secure source. 

 

Examples of electronic signatures are: 

• Typed name 

• E-mail address 

• Scanned image of a signature 

• Automatic e-mail signature 

Page 168

mailto:ApManBrom@liberata.com


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 43 

  
 

5.2.8 Images of signatures should be used only when essential and internally 
within the organisation. 

5.2.9 Electronic signatures will not override instances where signatures or a 
seal is required e.g. contracts over £200k or where there is a legal 
requirement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 169



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 44 

  
 

6. ORDERS AND CONTRACTS FOR GOODS, WORKS AND SERVICES 

Contacts: Legal / Internal Audit 

6.1 Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in 
accordance with the Authority's policies. Local Authorities have a statutory 
duty to achieve best value in part through economy and efficiency. The 
Authority's procedures should help to ensure that services obtain value for 
money from their purchasing arrangements. These procedures should be 
read in conjunction with the Authority's contract and procurement rules. 

6.2 Every officer and member of the Authority has a responsibility to declare 
any links or personal interests that they may have with purchasers, 
suppliers and/or contractors if they are engaged in contractual or 
purchasing decisions on behalf of the Authority, in accordance with 
appropriate codes of conduct.  

6.3 Apart from petty cash and other payments from advance accounts, the 
normal method of payment from the Authority shall be through the banks' 
automated clearing system (BACS) or other electronic transfers of funds 
drawn on the Authority's bank accounts such as CHAPS or by cheque.   

6.4 All orders should be raised on the i-Procurement system. Where this is not 
possible unique pre-numbered official hard copy orders should be raised, 
any exceptions should be agreed by the Director of Finance. 

6.5 Chief Officers are responsible for the control of all orders held and issued 
by their department.  They should determine which officers in their 
department should be allowed to be Initiating Officers and raise and 
authorise orders on their behalf. 
 

6.6 It shall be the responsibility of an officer issuing an order to ensure, as far 
as is reasonable and practicable, that value for money is obtained in 
respect of each transaction. All arrangements for using Electronic 
Ordering, (other than through the Councils corporate - procurement 
system) needs the approval of the Procurement Section.  Permission will 
be subject to proper audit trails and safeguards being in place. 

 

6.7 An official order, or its equivalent, must be raised for all goods, works and 
services except where one or more of the following apply: 
 
(i) Where a specific formal contract exists which does not incorporate 

any facility for the regular draw-down of services; 
 

Page 170



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 45 

  
 

(ii) Rents, business rates, council tax and utility services as supplies of 
a continuous and obligatory nature; 

(iii) Petty cash payments 

 

Where hard copy official orders, are used they shall as a minimum: 
 

(iv) be clearly identifiable as an order from the London Borough of 
Bromley, including invoice address, officer contact etc.; 
 

(v) be serially numbered; 
 

(vi) be physically authorised by an authorised signatory; 
 

6.8 Provided that the Director of Finance is fully satisfied, the method by 
which an official order is issued shall be at the discretion of the Initiating 
Officer, having regard to the requirements of this procedure, and the 
supplier e.g. by post or (with the Director of Finance’ initial approval) by 
internet e-mail or via the supplier’s web site. A copy of all authorised 
orders should be retained in the form issued. 
 

6.9  In exceptional cases only, an oral order may be made.  In such cases a 
confirmation order must be issued.  The confirmation iProc order should 
be despatched the same day where possible and certainly no later than 
within two working days and should be clearly marked “confirmation only”. 
 

6.10 All goods, works and services ordered shall be for the exclusive use of the 
Council or an organisation which has established arrangements to make 
purchases through the Council’s accounts. 
 

6.11 All leasing arrangements must have the Director of Finance’s prior 
approval. 

 

Orders and Authority 
 

6.12 No order shall be raised unless there is uncommitted budgetary provision 
to meet the estimated cost unless it relates to works necessary within 
Section 3.3 of these procedures. 
 

  

Page 171



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 46 

  
 

Minimum Requirements 
 

6.13 Before placing an order the Initiating Officer shall estimate the probable 
cost of the goods works or services required.  This estimated cost will 
determine the normal procedures to be followed in obtaining quotations or 
tenders.  These procedures are outlined below: 

a) Up to £5,000 one oral quotation (confirmed in writing where the estimated 
cost or value exceeds £1,000) using the appropriate approved list 

b) Over £5,000 – follow the Contract Procedure Rules 

 
 
  

Page 172



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 47 

  
 

7. CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

 

These are now contained in the Procurement part of the Managers 
Toolkit. 

 

7.1 Contract Procedure Rules must be complied with as applicable 

 

 Contract Procedure Rules 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 173

https://onebromley.bromley.gov.uk/BA/Pub_Res/Pub_FMD/Pub_proc/Pages/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20s.aspx


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 48 

  
 

8. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 
Contacts: Internal Audit (Certification Controls) / Accounts Payable 
Accountancy (FIS Accounts Payable) 

 

8.1 PAYMENTS  

 

8.1.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for making safe and efficient 
arrangements for all payment of accounts. All payments on behalf of the 
Council shall therefore be made by the Director of Finance or under 
arrangements approved by them. All payments should be made through 
one of the Council’s E payment systems (i-Proc; Social Care Information 
System; Confirm) wherever possible and unless otherwise agreed with the 
Director of Finance. Where this is not possible an agreed manual process 
system may be used. 

 

8.1.2 Payments should be made against official invoices (or their equivalent e.g. 
Contractor Certificate of Payment) received from suppliers, and not 
against statements, delivery notes etc. The Director of Finance must 
specifically approve exceptions to this requirement, taking account of the 
risk and any compensating controls in place (e.g. Residential Care 
payments are currently exempted from this specific requirement). 

 

8.1.3 Payment against copy invoices (i.e. duplicates / photocopies) should only 
be made where detailed checking has confirmed that no payment has 
been made against an original and the Certifying Officer should endorse 
the copy invoice to that effect. E-mailed invoices are acceptable with the 
approval of the Director of Finance, or their delegated representative.  

 

8.1.4 The Director of Finance shall be responsible for deciding the most 
appropriate method of payment for categories of invoice. Payments will 
normally be made via electronic transfer (BACS); cheque payments 
should only be made by exception where a BACS payment is not possible.  
Where there is no practical alternative (e.g. remittance advice required), 
cheques should normally be despatched independently of Certifying 
Officers and other ordering or payments staff.  Payments via BACS should 
only be made where the bank details have been confirmed by the supplier 
and checked by the Accounts Payable team.  

 

8.1.5 Payments in advance should only be made where there is no practical 
alternative, and the reasons should be recorded. Payments should not be 

Page 174



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 49 

  
 

made in advance of goods or services being delivered. Any invoice 
subsequently obtained should be filed with the original payment 
documentation, and endorsed appropriately to prevent duplicate 
payments. 

 

8.1.6 Payments must be made under the Council’s normal payment procedures 
unless there is good reason to make payments as urgent (e.g. to obtain a 
discount). In exceptional circumstances the Director of Finance will 
prepare manual cheques for urgent payments (i.e. where required 
immediately) but two Authorised signatories will be required. 

 

8.1.7 The following checks should be conducted for all invoices received: 

• Establish whether the invoice relates to an i-Proc order, a Confirm 
order, a Social Care Information System order or a purchase card 
payment. 

• The invoice is correctly due and has not already been paid. 

• The invoice matches or part matches the order. 

• The goods or services billed for have been received. 

• The invoice is arithmetically correct. 

• Where VAT is charged the invoice is a valid VAT invoice. 

 

8.1.8 Where an invoice is received with a corresponding purchasing card slip, 
this indicates that payment has already been made through use of a 
purchasing card.  The invoice should be sent to the Cardholder (if shown 
on the invoice) or otherwise sent to Corporate Procurement. 

 

8.1.9 Where the invoice relates to an i-Proc order the following additional 
checks should be undertaken: 

 

• The i-Proc order number has been included. 

• The value of the invoice does not cause the total amount and/or 
quantity allocated against an order to be exceeded by more than the 
tolerance set within i-Proc. 

 

8.1.10 Where the above are satisfied the invoice should be passed for payment 
promptly. 

Page 175



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 50 

  
 

8.1.11 If the value of an invoice relating to an i-Proc order causes the value of the 
i-Proc order to be exceeded by more than the tolerance then approval to 
change the value of the i-Proc order must be obtained. 

 

8.1.12 Other anomalies should be referred to the supplier and a correct invoice 
supplied for payment. 

 

8.1.13 Where on some occasions the invoice is correctly due, has not been paid 
previously and should have had an i-Proc order raised at the time the 
decision to purchase was made then the checks at FP8.1.7 should be 
conducted, an i-Proc order raised retrospectively, authorised and the 
invoice paid against it. 

 

8.1.14 An i-Proc order is not required where one or more of the following apply: 

(a) i-Proc is unavailable 

(b) The invoice is a utility bill 

(c) The payment relates to an AP2 

(d) The payment has been approved via a feeder system, e.g. 
CONFIRM 

 
8.1.15 An AP1 should be completed in all cases matching 8.1.14 a) or 8.1.14b). 

Utility Bills are exempt from the above authorisation controls. 
 

8.1.16 Each Chief Officer shall arrange a suitable division of staff duties within 
their departments so that the officer who certifies an individual AP1/AP2 
for payment shall not be the person who either approved the order or 
requisition, or has confirmed the receipt of goods or completion of the 
work concerned. 

 

8.1.17 Chief Officers should ensure that all invoices input onto Accounts Payable 
for payment have been properly authorised and certified, with evidence of 
at least three designated officers having been involved in the whole 
process (ordering / receipt of goods or services / payment). The Director 
of Finance must specifically approve exceptions to this requirement e.g. 
where authorisation / certification is performed electronically or where less 
than three officers are involved in the process. 

 

8.1.18 Chief Officers may delegate the authority to certify invoices to designated 
officers within their department. Chief Officers must supply to Accounts 

Page 176



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 51 

  
 

Payable up to date details of such officers together with specimen 
signatures or evidence of authorisation and any financial limits that apply. 

 

8.2 Checking Required 

 

8.2.1 The overriding principle to be adhered to is that authorisation and 
certification checks should be meaningful. To this end, they should be 
carried out and evidenced by those officers who are in a position to judge, 
for instance, whether goods / services have actually been received or 
whether invoice prices are correct. The evidence should also be 
unambiguous e.g. an isolated signature on an invoice does not make it 
clear what has been checked or what is being authorised or certified and 
is therefore not acceptable. 

 

8.2.2  The certifying of individual invoices that do not relate to i-Proc orders shall 
only be made in writing on the AP1/2 form (or its equivalent). 

 

8.2.3 No invoice shall be passed for payment unless it either relates to an i-Proc 
order (or other approved electronic ordering method, e.g. Confirm/ Social 
Care Information System) or the Certification “section” of AP1/AP2 is 
completed.  

 

8.2.4 No alterations should be made to AP2 forms once they have been certified 
for payment. If an error is subsequently highlighted the form should be 
returned to the officer who certified the payment for correction. In 
situations where the AP2 form cannot be returned to the certifying officer, 
another authorised officer should certify the amendment on the AP2 form.  
 

8.2.5 Certifying Officers are responsible for ensuring that adequate checks are 
performed and evidenced prior to the payment of an invoice to satisfy 
themselves that the payment is accurate and due to be paid.  

  

Page 177



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 52 

  
 

8.2.6 The following checks are regarded by the Director of Finance to be good 
practice. 

 
For all invoices, that: 

 

a) Where appropriate, a match is made with the official order, agreement, 
Council resolution or other document authorising the expenditure (this 
is done automatically by the i-Proc system); 

b) Prices are in accordance with quotations or are otherwise reasonable 
(this is done automatically by the i-Proc system); 

c) That the invoice arithmetic is correct; 

d) Goods have been received, examined and approved with regard to 
quantity and quality and / or that work done or services rendered have 
been satisfactorily carried out or provided (except in those cases 
approved by the Director of Finance at FP 8.2.7 -8.3.2 e.g. 
maintenance works where no adverse comments have been received); 

e) Where VAT is charged that the invoice carries the VAT registration 
number of the supplier; 

f) The invoice has not been previously passed for payment; 

g) The invoice is a proper liability of the Council, has been duly 
authorised (either via a corresponding i-Proc order (or other approved 
electronic ordering method, e.g. Confirm/Social Care Information 
System ) or an AP1/AP2 where an i-Proc order is not appropriate) and 
is, to the best of the Certifying Officer’s belief, legal expenditure. 

 
For a sample of invoices, additional pre or post payment checks as 
follows, that: 

 

a) Expenditure codings are correct. This must be one of the cost centre 
codes included in the budget holder’s area of responsibility and must 
correspond with the type of goods, works or services described on the 
invoice; 

b) VAT issues have been complied with where they apply and any VAT 
has been properly accounted for (NB VAT invoices should never be 
amended by officers and attention is drawn to the Director of Finance); 

c) Where appropriate, that any assets have been entered into the 
relevant departmental inventory or stores record (see Section 17). 
 

8.2.7 The Director of Finance recommends the following as the appropriate 
sample for these additional checks: 
 

Page 178



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 53 

  
 

Value of Invoice   % to be checked 

 

  Under £2,500    5 

  £2,500 - £10,000    20 

  Over £10,000    100 
 

8.2.8 Officers certifying batches of invoices onto the Accounts Payable system 
should carry out sufficient checks to ensure that corresponding i-Proc 
orders exist, or AP1’s or their equivalents are appropriately signed off and 
that the amounts and supplier details on the invoice match the certification 
document. 

 

8.3 Verification of Goods / Services Received 

8.3.1  In recognising the practical difficulties associated with verifying the supply 
of goods or services received in certain circumstances the following 
approved exceptions will apply to the requirements at paragraph 8.2.6(d) 
above. In these circumstances for non i-Proc related expenditure the 
Goods / Services box on the relevant AP1 may be marked by the 
Authorising or Certifying officer as “not applicable” or “n/a”. 

 

8.3.2 However, officers responsible for such systems should ensure, in liaison 
with Internal Audit, that they design and implement sample checks on 
goods / services received which are appropriate to the level of risk and 
available resources. In particular, the Directors of Education, Adults & 
Children’s Social Care Services should make proper arrangements for the 
linkage of service visits and inspections to the systems in place for the 
checking of goods and services received. 

 

8.4 Maintenance 

 

8.4.1 Invoices relating to building maintenance works or personal care aids and 
adaptations for which there is no corresponding i-Proc order may be 
certified on the basis of “no adverse comments received”. Site inspections 
must still be performed wherever practicable, using either the sample 
sizes recommended by the Director of Finance at FP8.2.7 or in Education, 
Adults and Children’s Social Care Services by inspecting as part of pre-
arranged visits from care managers. 

 
 

Page 179



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 54 

  
 

8.5 Placements 

 

 Education, Adult & Children’s Social Care Service placements e.g. in 
temporary accommodation, children’s day care or with permanent and 
temporary residential placements, may be certified without prior physical 
inspection provided that: (a) the invoice is independently matched to the 
approved official order (or its equivalent) and (b) certifying officers 
promptly take account of information received from care providers and any 
relevant compensating controls already in place within the system e.g. 
visits to clients by care managers, temporary accommodation registration 
signing sheets,  adverse comments received from clients when making 
financial contributions. 

 

8.6 Direct Care 

 

 As with placements, invoices relating to homecare services (e.g. personal 
and domestic care) may be certified without prior physical inspection 
provided that: (a) the invoice is independently matched to the approved 
official order (or its equivalent) and (b) certifying officers promptly take 
account of information received from care providers and any relevant 
compensating controls already in place within the system e.g. visits to 
clients by care managers, adverse comments received from clients when 
making financial contributions. 

 

8.7 Creditors Provision 

 

As soon as is practicable after the end of each financial year Chief Officers 
at the request of the Director of Finance must provide details of the 
outstanding payments relating to that year for which creditors provision 
should be made in the final accounts. 
 

  

Page 180



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 55 

  
 

8.8 Late Payment of Debts 

  
Guidance on Late Payment of Debts legislation is set out in the Appendix 
5 

 

8.9 Purchasing Cards 

4 Purchasing Cardholder Procedures issued to officers must be complied 
with as applicable. The policy and procedures relating to purchase cards 
can be found by following the link below  

 

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_Res/Pub_FMD/Pub_proc/Pages/PurchCards.aspx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_Res/Pub_FMD/Pub_proc/Pages/PurchCards.aspx


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 56 

  
 

9. IMPREST ACCOUNTS & PETTY CASH 

 
Contacts:  Corporate Finance / Internal Audit (Internal Controls) 

 

9.1 The Director of Finance may, at his discretion and at the request of Chief 
Officers, make available imprest accounts to facilitate the cost-effective 
payment of minor items of expenditure on behalf of the Council. Petty 
cash payments should only be used when there is no other alternative.   
 

9.2 Where appropriate, the Director of Finance shall open an account or 
personally approve arrangements for the opening of an account with the 
Council’s bankers for use by a named and responsible officer nominated 
by the relevant Chief Officer who will be the imprest holder.  Under no 
circumstances is such an account to be allowed to become overdrawn. 
 

9.3 Any officer to whom an imprest has been made available shall be 
responsible for the control and operation of the imprest account. In 
particular, each such officer shall: 
 

a) Ensure that vouchers are obtained and retained to substantiate 
payments made; 

b) Ensure that receipts, where possible, relating to expenditure from 
an imprest are attached to the relevant voucher; 

c) Ensure the safe custody of imprest monies and cheques in their 
possession; 

d) Restrict the amount of any individual payment to £250 (including 
VAT), unless prior approval has been obtained from the Director of 
Finance. (This approval will normally be delegated to the relevant 
Head of Finance). Imprest holders must not sub-divide payments to 
a single recipient; 

e) Properly account for VAT on all imprest account transactions (see 
Section 10), and ensure that HMRC requirements are fully 
complied with. NB a till receipt for items > £250 is not sufficient 
for VAT return purposes; 

f) Account to the appropriate Chief Officer for the amount advanced 
on leaving the employment of the Council or otherwise ceasing to 
be responsible for holding the imprest. 

g) Ensure that the account is reconciled regularly, that regular 
reimbursement is sought and that the adequacy of the imprest 
amount / continuing need for the imprest is regularly reviewed; 

h) Sign a statement at the end of each financial year confirming the 
amount of the imprest held. This should also be counter-signed by 
a senior officer. 

Page 182



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 57 

  
 

9.4 No sums received on behalf of the Council may be paid into an imprest 
account but shall be banked separately. 

 

9.5 Every transfer of an imprest account from one member of staff to another 
shall be evidenced in the records of the department concerned by the 
signatures of the officers concerned. 

 

9.6 The general principle of imprest accounting is that at any time the cash 
and bank balance, together with the aggregate value of any receipts on 
hand, unreimbursed claims and cheques not credited should total the 
approved imprest account balance. At no stage should the cash balance 
be allowed to fall below zero. 

 

9.7 If it becomes apparent that the current level of imprest is insufficient, the 
items on which the imprest is expended should be reviewed. If it is clear 
that there is no reasonable alternative to expenditure through the imprest, 
a formal request in writing to have it increased should be made to the 
Director of Finance. (This approval will normally be delegated to the 
relevant Head of Finance). 

 

9.8 No officer shall authorise their own claims from an imprest account. 
Certification by or under delegation from a Chief Officer shall be taken to 
mean that the certifying officer is satisfied that the expenses and 
allowances claimed are properly and necessarily incurred and are properly 
payable. 

 

9.9 Expenditure which should form part of the payroll system and should be 
processed through the HR system including car allowances and travel 
shall not be processed through imprest accounts. 

 

9.10 The encashment of personal cheques and the advancing of loans from an 
imprest is strictly forbidden. 
 

Petty Cash 
 

9.11 All relevant Financial Procedures above, and specifically paragraph 9.3, 
shall also apply to petty cash floats. 
 

Page 183



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 58 

  
 

9.12 All departments holding petty cash should ensure that, at all times, cash is 
adequately secured. As a minimum this should be in a cash box within a 
lockable drawer.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 184



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 59 

  
 

10. VAT 

 
Contact:  Corporate Finance 

 
 

10.1 Chief Officers must ensure that VAT is identified and correctly accounted 
for in respect of all income and expenditure (including imprest) in 
accordance with current VAT Regulations.  Failure to do so can lead to 
loss of income and/or imposition of penalties by HM Revenue and 
Customs. 
 

10.2. VAT should not be paid unless the supplier’s VAT registration number is 
shown on the invoice. Certifying officers (as defined in Section 8 of these 
Regulations) shall satisfy themselves that all suppliers’ invoices for goods, 
works or services have complied with relevant VAT legislation. 
 

10.3 Officers responsible for instigating income collection for the Council shall 
satisfy themselves that the Council has complied with the relevant VAT 
legislation with regard to the supply of its services. 
 

10.4 VAT should only be accounted for on imprest payments where the 
supplier’s VAT registration number is shown on the receipt. 
 

10.5 All limits shown in these Regulations exclude VAT. 
 

10.6 Further guidance and advice on VAT matters is contained in Financial 
Procedures and is also available from the Principal Accountant in the 
Division. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 185



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 60 

  
 

11. SALARIES, WAGES & PENSIONS 

 
Contact:  Human Resources 

 

11.1 General 

11.1.1 Staff costs are the largest item of expenditure for most local Authority 
services. It is therefore important that payments are accurate, timely, 
made only where they are due for services to the Authority and that 
payments accord with individuals' conditions of employment. It is also 
important that all payments are accurately and completely recorded and 
accounted for and that member' allowances are authorised in accordance 
with the scheme adopted by the Full Council. 

 

11.1.2 All payments of salaries, wages, pensions, compensation and other 
emoluments to all employees and pensioners of the organisation shall be 
made by the Director of HR & Customer Services or under arrangements 
approved by them. Salaries and wages must not be paid through the 
creditors system. 
 

11.1.3 All payments, including travel, subsistence and other allowances shall be 
made in accordance with current legislation, HMRC Regulations and 
relevant decisions of the Council.  
 

11.1.4 Each Chief Officer, or their nominated representative, shall notify the 
Director of HR & Customer Services as soon as is practicable of all 
matters affecting the payment of emoluments and in particular: 

• appointments, resignations, retirements, dismissals, suspensions, 
secondments, transfers and deaths, and for pensions, changes in 
marital status, dependants and deaths; 

• amounts to be recovered from pay e.g. repayment of training expenses 
on leaving; 

• absences from duty for sickness or other reason (e.g. jury service), 
apart from approved paid leave; 

• changes in remuneration (either permanent or temporary), other than 
normal increments, pay awards and agreements of general application; 

• Information necessary to maintain records of service for pensions, 
income tax, national insurance etc. This will include information on 
benefits in kind necessary to complete HMRC forms P11D for 
employees e.g. Council leased cars; 

Page 186



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 61 

  
 

• All time records affecting payments due. 
 
Notification may be by on-line entry into systems where 
appropriate. 

 

11.1.5 All salaries, wages and pension records, including those relating to 11.4 
will be in a form approved by the Director of HR & Customer Services and 
shall be certified by an officer authorised in accordance with 11.3. All such 
records should be submitted to the Director of HR & Customer Services in 
accordance with the timetables and deadlines determined by them. 
 

11.2 Self-Employed Status 

 

11.2.1 All payments to individuals, who consider themselves to be self-employed 
in respect of services provided to the Council, shall still be processed 
through the payroll system unless the status of the individual has been 
confirmed as self-employed in accordance with the latest HMRC 
Guidelines.  

 

11.2.2 For further guidance contact Human Resources 

 

11.3 Pension Life Certificates 

 

11.3.1 The Director of Finance shall ensure that life certificates are obtained in 
respect of pension beneficiaries living abroad at least every two years, 
with at least half the beneficiaries being checked each year, unless 
satisfactory alternative automated mechanisms are in place e.g. Tell Us 
Once (death notification). Also, additional information is required for child 
benefits for those over the age of 18.  

    

11.3.2 The data matching of pension payrolls to official national records of 
deceased persons as part of the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) project has 
provided the first automated, cost-effective and reliable alternative to life 
certificates. This is significant because if a fraud is being committed, a life 
certificate sent out by the Council will almost certainly be returned with a 
false signature. 
 

11.3.3 Records of deceased persons are now provided by the Tell Us Once to 
pension administrators and payrolls. In the absence of a Tell Us Once 
notification, an original certified death certificate is required. 

Page 187



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 62 

  
 

11.4 Travel, Subsistence & Other Allowances 

 

11.4.1 All claims for the payment of car allowances, subsistence allowances, 
travelling and incidental expenses in relation to the performance of official 
duties shall be completed on the online HR system and paid in 
accordance with approved Council procedures as currently in force. 
 

11.4.2 Below Chief Officer level, claims by officers must be certified by an 
appropriate line manager, authorised to do so by their Chief Officer. The 
certification by said officer shall be taken to mean that the journeys were 
authorised, the expenses properly and necessarily incurred and that the 

allowances are properly payable by the Council. 

    

  

Page 188



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 63 

  
 

12. INCOME 

 
Contact:  Exchequer Services  

 

12.1 Income can be a vulnerable asset and effective income collection systems 
are necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, collected, 
receipted and banked properly. It is preferable to obtain income in 
advance of supplying goods or services as this improves the Authority's 
cash flow and also avoids the time and cost of administering debts. 

12.2 The identification of all monies due to the Council is the responsibility of 
the relevant Chief Officer. 

12.3 Chief Officers will take prompt action to either: 

• Collect the income due within arrangements approved by the Director of 
Finance and Section 5 of these Regulations; or 

• Raise an account for inclusion in the Council’s debtors system, to enable 
the Director of Finance to ensure that appropriate recovery procedures are 
undertaken where necessary. 

12.4 Every remittance or sum of money received by a cashier or other officer 
employed by the Council or received by a contractor on behalf of the 
Council, shall immediately be acknowledged by the issue of an official 
receipt, ticket or voucher except where special arrangements have been 
agreed by the Director of Finance. 

12.5 If a payer by cheque does not require a receipt, the amount should still be 
recorded with the receipt being retained. The form of all receipts, tickets 
vouchers or other official documents in use should be approved by the 
Director of Finance. Receipt books should be serially numbered and a 
register should be kept of all receipts and issues of such documents to 
officers, which shall be acknowledged by the signature of the recipient. 

12.6 All monies received on behalf of the Council should be paid forthwith at 
the Director of Finance’s instructions either to his appointed contractor or 
be banked direct to the credit of the Council.  Every employee who 
receives monies shall maintain a record, in a form approved by the 
Director of Finance, of all amounts received and deposited. 

12.7 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another will 
be evidenced in the records of the department concerned by the signature 
of the receiving officer. 

12.8 All bankings must be made promptly and intact i.e. personal cheques 
should not be cashed out of money received on behalf of the Council and 
official expenditure should not be incurred (i.e. deducted) from monies 
collected and due to be banked. 

Page 189



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 64 

  
 

12.9 All officers responsible for banking monies should ensure that cheque and 
cash payments are processed in accordance with the Cashiers Postal 
Receipts and Cashiers Kiosk Maintenance procedures or the Collection 
and Deposit process. Where individual cheques are received on the 
reverse of each cheque, the officer should enter the relevant reference 
and the name of the relevant department or division. 

12.10  Payment Kiosks are to be used exclusively for the collection of Council 
income unless otherwise agreed by the Director of Finance.  

12.11  All payments must be reconciled daily to the Cash Management System 
Controls and deposited into the Council’s bank account within 1 working 
day. All unidentified income within the Cash Management System must be 
investigated and cleared promptly. 

12.12 All debit/credit card payments via the Council’s Cash Management 
System, the internet, Touch Tone system or Portals must comply to 
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS)  

12.13 Responsibility for the safe keeping of all Council monies must be 
designated by Chief Officers to specified officers within their departments; 
this can include the relevant Head of Finance. 

12.14 Where monies are held overnight, secure arrangements must exist for 
their safekeeping.  Keys to safes and other secure containers should be 
carried on the person of the key-holder or kept under secure conditions.  
Care should be taken to ensure that the monies held do not exceed the 
insurance value of the secure facilities provided (see Section 15). 

12.15 All charges determined by the Council shall be reviewed at least annually 
by the Executive or by officers under delegated arrangements. Such 
reviews should consider the possibility of introducing charges where none 
are currently made. 

12.16 Any decision to write-off an amount must be taken with the authority of the 
Director of Finance, whether exercised personally or properly delegated 
by them to a member of his staff. The amounts involved, and approval 
granted, should be recorded in the accounting records. Write-off 
procedures are detailed in Section 24 of these procedures.  

 12.17 As soon as is practicable after the end of each financial year Chief 
Officers at the request of the Director of Finance must provide details of 
the outstanding debts relating to that year, for which debtors provision 
should be made in the final accounts. 

  

Page 190



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 65 

  
 

13. BANKING ARRANGEMENTS  

 
Contact:  Technical 
 

13.1 All banking arrangements should be made through or by the Director of 
Finance, who is responsible for liaising with the Council’s bankers in 
relation to the Council’s bank accounts and the issue of cheques. 

13.2 The Director of Finance shall be authorised to operate such subsidiary 
bank accounts as he deems necessary. Only the Director of Finance may 
open or close a bank account for dealing with the Council’s funds. All bank 
accounts shall be in the name of the Council and never an individual. 

13.3 An overdraft on the Council’s main bank account shall be permitted only to 
the extent approved by the Director of Finance.  Subsidiary bank accounts 
shall not be permitted to become overdrawn. In the event that this does 
happen, the appropriate Chief Officer shall ensure that corrective action is 
taken immediately. 

13.4 The Director of Finance shall ensure that the Council’s main bank account 
is reconciled at least once a month and subject to independent review, 
with large or unusual items investigated as appropriate. 

13.5 The appropriate Chief Officer shall ensure that all subsidiary accounts 
under their control (including those operated by contractors on the 
Council’s behalf) are reconciled at least once a month, as above. 

13.6 Cheque stationery (other than standard cheque books for subsidiary 
accounts) shall be ordered only on the authority of the Director of Finance 
who shall ensure that adequate cheque registers are maintained and 
regularly reconciled to records of cheques issued by the Council. 

13.7 Adequate security arrangements shall be maintained by the appropriate 
Chief Officer for all unused cheques for accounts under their control. 

13.8 Except for cheque stationery pre-printed with a facsimile signature of the 
Director of Finance, cheques should only be signed by an approved 
signatory after the cheque (including its counterfoil) has been completed in 
full. They should not be pre-signed under any circumstances. 

13.9 Every crossed cheque for an amount of £50,000 or more and every 
manual cheque of £1,000 or more shall be countersigned by an authorised 
signatory empowered by the Director of Finance. 

  

Page 191



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 66 

  
 

14. TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

 
Contact:  Technical 

14.1 Treasury Management comprises all the borrowing and investment 
activities of the Authority except those relating to the Pension Fund. 
Specifically it includes the formulation and monitoring of strategy, cash 
management, debt management and banking arrangements. 

14.2 A Treasury Policy Statement and an Annual Treasury Strategy setting out 
the Authority’s strategy and policies for cash management, investments 
and borrowings (short term and long term) shall be adopted by the Council 
and thereafter its implementation, monitoring and review shall be 
delegated to the Resources Portfolio Holder. The Council shall adopt 
Prudential Indicators, designed to monitor and control treasury 
management activities, which will thereafter be monitored by the 
Executive. 

14.3 All money in the hands of the Council shall be aggregated for the 
purposes of treasury management and shall be under the control of the 
Director of Finance. 

14.4 All Executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing (within 
policy parameters) shall be delegated to the Director of Finance or through 
them to staff designated by them, who shall be required to act in 
accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities. (See below). 

14.5 All borrowing and investments shall be in the name of the Council and 
shall conform to any relevant regulatory requirements. The Director of 
Finance and his staff are required to act in accordance with the Council’s 
treasury management policy statement as approved by the Council. 

14.6 The Director of Finance shall report to the Resources Portfolio Holder not 
less than three times in each financial year on the activities of the 
Treasury Management operation and on the exercise of the treasury 
management powers delegated to them or her  including monitoring 
compliance.  One such report shall comprise the Annual Report for 
presentation by 30th September of the preceding financial year.  

  

Page 192



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 67 

  
 

15. INSURANCE AND SECURITY 

 
Contact:  Insurance 

15.1 It is the overall responsibility of the Executive to approve the Council’s 
Risk Management strategy and to promote a culture of risk management 
awareness throughout the Council. The Director of Finance shall be 
responsible for effecting or approving the arrangements for instituting all 
insurance cover on behalf of the Council, and for negotiating claims, after 
consultation where necessary with other officers. The Director of Finance 
will also make arrangements to ensure that appropriate records are kept 
of all property and risks covered. 

15.2 This responsibility is delegated on a day-to-day basis to the Insurance and 
Risk Manager in the Chief Executives Department, and covers all of the 
organisation’s assets, as well as claims which may arise in connection 
with the provision of the Council’s services, or from its legal liabilities as an 
employer, or to third parties. 

15.3 Separate arrangements exist for Schools under the School Standards & 
Framework Act 1998, but the Local Authority (LA) will require the School 
to demonstrate that cover relevant to the LA’s insurable assets, under a 
policy arranged by the Governing body, is at least as good as the relevant 
minimum cover determined by the LA if the LA makes such arrangements. 

15.4 Every Chief Officer shall notify the Director of Finance promptly in writing 
of any proposals that will change cash storage or alter significantly the 
value of stocks or stores held, or alterations to Council buildings within 
their department.  Any additions, deletions or alterations in the functions of 
the department, that could increase or decrease insurable risk should also 
be notified in writing.  The Director of Finance will give advice as 
appropriate. 

15.5 Every Chief Officer shall immediately notify the Insurance Section in 
writing and where appropriate, the Police upon the occurrence of any loss, 
damage, liability or potential liability in connection with their department. 
Notification is not required if the value is less than £500. Evidence 
supporting the claim should be provided in such form as may be required 
by the Insurance Section.  

15.6 Chief Officers need to notify the Director of Finance of all cash holdings for 
insurance purposes. The Director of Finance will advise Chief Officers of 
their maximum level of cash holdings for insurance purposes. 

15.7 Each Chief Officer is responsible for maintaining adequate security at all 
times for all assets under their control. All monies must be locked away 
when unattended. 

Page 193



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 68 

  
 

15.8 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring adequate reference checks 
are carried out for positions with financial responsibility to ensure the 
Council complies with its fidelity guarantee insurance arrangements.  

15.9 Keys to safes and similar receptacles shall be in the safekeeping of those 
responsible at all times. The loss of any such keys shall be reported to the 
relevant line manager immediately. 

15.10 Chief Officers must ensure that the Director of Finance is kept informed of 
any changes to the official departmental safe inventory, whether new 
safes or replacements. 

15.11 All overnight cash holdings in safes must in practice be agreed with the 
Insurance and Risk Manager. A safe schedule will then be maintained 
containing relevant details e.g. location, type, permitted maximum holding 
and the agreed amount for the particular location. The overnight limit 
includes anything defined as money including paper currency, coin, bank 
notes, bullion, cheques, travellers cheques registered cheques postal 
orders and money orders.  

15.12 The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that all appropriate 
employees of the Council shall be included in suitable fidelity insurance. 

15.13 No employee shall admit liability, take any action or enter into any 
correspondence admitting liability on behalf of the Council without first 
consulting with the Director of Finance. 

15.14 Any officer of the Council who is authorised to make use of their own 
vehicle in the execution of the Council’s business shall be responsible for 
effecting adequate insurance cover for such use and shall produce to their 
Chief Officer or the Director of Finance on request evidence of the 
adequacy of such cover. 

15.15 The Director of Finance shall be responsible for insuring leased cars. 

 

  

Page 194



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 69 

  
 

16. STOCKS AND STORES 

 
Contacts: Head of Finance / Internal Audit  

 

16.1 Chief Officers are responsible for establishing adequate arrangements for 
the receipt, checking, care, safe custody and issue of stocks and stores 
held by their department.  

16.2 Each Chief Officer shall ensure that stocks and stores holdings shall not 
be in excess of the reasonable requirements of their department. In 
determining reasonable requirements, due regard shall be paid to the 
value, usage, and reorder periods of the items concerned as well as 
perishability and obsolescence.   

16.3 Each Chief Officer shall ensure that records are maintained of stores 
received; stores issued and balance in respect of their department. The 
systems used for stores accounting in departments must have approval of 
the Director of Finance.  

16.4 Each Chief Officer shall arrange for regular stock taking of significant 
stores held by their department, preferably involving examination by 
officers other than the storekeeper(s). This shall include an annual 
stocktaking following which a certificate of stock held shall be completed, 
a copy of which will be forwarded promptly to the Director of Finance. 

  

Page 195



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 70 

  
 

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Contact: - Internal Audit 

 

17.1 The Authority holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment, 
furniture and other items worth many millions of pounds. It is important 
that assets are safeguarded and used efficiently in service delivery, and 
that there are arrangements for the security of both assets and information 
required for service operations. An up to date asset register is a 
prerequisite for proper fixed asset accounting and sound asset 
management  

17.2 Chief Officers are responsible for the safe custody of the plant, machinery, 
vehicles, furniture, equipment and other non-consumable property held 
within their department. 

17.3 Each Chief Officer shall maintain inventories listing all moveable 
equipment (but not furniture, filing cabinets etc) in the custody of their 
department which: 

• Cost or is valued in its current condition at more than £1,000: or 

• Is attractive and portable: and 

• Is not in store 

17.4 The inventory should where applicable record details of make, model 
number etc of equipment held and wherever possible a serial number, and 
at least one copy should be held separately from the assets that it lists. 

17.5 Each Chief Officer shall arrange for physical verification of the items on 
their inventory records to be undertaken at least annually. This verification 
should be evidenced in writing, signed by the officer(s) concerned and 
retained for audit purposes.  

17.6 The Council’s property shall not be removed except in the normal course 
of the Council’s business or used otherwise than for the Council’s 
purposes unless specifically authorised by the Chief Officer concerned. 
Where a Chief Officer authorises temporary removal of property, a formal 
record shall be maintained indicating where the property can be located 
and shall be signed by the officer responsible for its safekeeping. 

17.7 So far as is practical, all items should be effectively marked (using current 
security techniques e.g. invisible ink) as Council property. 

  

Page 196



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 71 

  
 

18. LAND AND PROPERTY 

Contact: - Strategic Property 

18.1 The Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration shall ensure that a 
comprehensive terrier of all land and properties held by the Council is 
maintained. 

18.2 The Director of Corporate Services shall have the custody of all the title 
deeds in the possession of the Council under secure arrangements. 

18.3 The Council has adopted a Corporate Landlord approach to how it treats 
its operational assests.  

18.4  The Council owns the property assets from which services are delivered 
or are supported.  The Corporate Landlord approach sees that all 
decisions affecting property assets will be considered from a Corporate 
perspective. Service occupiers will not be free to make independent 
decisions regarding the use or utilisation of Council premises. The 
corporate landlord model applies to all Council premises including local 
authority controlled schools regardless of whether premises related 
budgets are centralised or devolved 

18.5 Service departments are effectively “tenants” within the premises they 
occupy and will have defined responsibilities for the premises they occupy  

18.6 The introduction of the corporate landlord model is to ensure good 
stewardship of the Council’s property assets and it is important that 
service occupiers understand the roles they have to play in the process. 

18.7 Strategic Property will ensure that premises related budgets are used 
wisely and effectively to provide best value; buildings are used efficiently, 
meet legislative requirements, are properly maintained, having regard to 
available budgets, and accessible to service users.  

 
18.8  The desired outcome is enhanced service delivery through ‘fit for purpose’ 

buildings which contributes to customer satisfaction with the service 
received. This management arrangement facilitates the efficient utilisation 
of property assets and the potential for realisation of operational savings. 

 
18.9  The Corporate Landlord will take responsibility for providing a corporate and 

consistent policy/standard approach to: 
 

• Acquisition and disposal 

• Space standards and utilisation 

• Repair and maintenance 

Page 197



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 72 

  
 

• Premises related Health and Safety requirements 

• Premises related Statutory inspections 

• Security, caretaking and cleaning 

• Disabled access requirements 

• Utility Management 

18.10 The underlying Core Principles of the Corporate Landlord model are: 
 

• Deliver best consideration for the Council’s assets in accordance 
with s.123 Local Government Act 1972. 
 

• Increase income from the Council’s property assets (long term 
revenue streams preferred to one-off capital receipts)  

 

• Reduce expenditure on the Council’s property assets 

• Optimise assets to meet the Council’s corporate objectives: 

• Provide quality modern operational buildings for staff and customers 
that will help the Council to deliver outstanding service to customers 
and attract and retain talented professional staff.  
 

• Release surplus operational estate for long-term revenue income 
and/or development 

 

• Achieve 100% compliance (physical buildings and H&S) 

• Consolidated and transparent single property budget, held by 
Property & Economy (ALL property income and expenditure is 
centralised – Services have any property cost codes/budgets 
removed and centralised) 
 

• Account for full market rent for ALL buildings, including operational 
ones.  

 

• Hold live Asset information that can be easily and simply 
reported/communicated and properly used to strategically optimise 
asset management as well as respond to enquiries from Members 
and the public. 
 

18.11 The Insurance and Risk Manager should be informed of all acquisitions,  
disposals and alterations of property to ensure that the Council’s insurance 

Page 198



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 73 

  
 

schedule accurately represents the land and property held by the Council 
at any given time.  

 
18.12 Under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 

power to dispose of land. The main caveat to this power is that the council 
must not do so for “a consideration less than the best that can be reasonably 
obtained”. This is interpreted as being the best price achievable in the open 
market.  

 
18.13 The focus of the duty is on the outcome rather than any particular process 

being followed.  That said, if a disposal were to be challenged, the Courts 
are likely to find the duty to obtain best consideration has not been complied 
with where:  

  

• there is a failure to take proper advice; 

• proper advice has been obtained but there has been a failure to follow it 
or reasons that cannot be justified; or 

• advice has been obtained and followed, but the advice is so plainly 
wrong that the Council either knew or ought to have known it was acting 
unreasonably 

 

18.14 There is a current General Consent (the General Disposal Consent 
(England) 2003), which gives consent to the disposal of any interest in land 
at less than best consideration where the council considers it will help it to 
secure the promotion or improvement of the economic social or 
environmental well-being of its area, subject to the condition that the 
undervalue (i.e. the difference between the consideration obtained and the 
best consideration that can reasonably be obtained) does not exceed 
£2million. 

 

18.15 Should the Council wish to dispose of an asset,  The Director of Housing, 
Planning and Regeneration shall ensure that appropriate advice is sought 
and reported to ensure that the requirements of Section 123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 are complied with. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 199



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 74 

  
 

19. DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 

 
Contact:  Internal Audit 
 

19.1 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that the best possible price 
is obtained from the disposal of assets under their control. 

19.2 Where the estimated current value of the asset exceeds £1,000 but is less 
than £50,000 the following should be considered: 

• Offer the item(s) to all Council Departments; 

• Sealed tenders or offers; 

• Advertising; 

• Sale by public auction; 

• Sales to staff (this method of disposal should be used only where there 
are good reasons for not pursuing other alternatives and should always 
be by sealed offers unless otherwise agreed by the Director of 
Finance). 

19.3 Where the estimated value of the asset(s) is over £50,000, the tendering 
procedures in Contract Procedure rules shall be followed. Subject to 19.4 
where the estimated value of the asset is up to £50,000 at least three 
tenders should be sought and at least two should be obtained and where 
the asset is estimated to exceed £50,000 in value, at least four 
competitive tenders should be sought and at least three obtained.  All 
tenders should be received in plain sealed envelopes bearing the word 
“Tender” and the subject matter to which it relates.  It shall not bear any 
name or mark which would identify the sender.  Tenders should be 
opened at the same time by the Initiating Officer.  Where the estimated 
value of the asset exceeds £150,000, another officer other than the one 
responsible for the acceptance of the highest bid shall be present.   

19.4 Where the assets to be disposed of consists of land or premises the 
procedures set out in section 18.12 to 18.15 (Strategic Property) should 
be followed.  

  

Page 200



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 75 

  
 

20. INTERNAL & EXTERNAL AUDIT 

 
Contact:  Internal Audit 
 

20.1 Internal Audit 

 
The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is 
implied by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires 
that authorities “make arrangements for the proper administration of their 
financial affairs”. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 
state that “A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to 
evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”. 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations require the Authority (“relevant 
body”) to maintain responsibility for Internal Audit, rather than the 
Responsible Financial Officer (RFO) designated under section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972. However, Bromley, like many other Local 
Authorities, has delegated this responsibility to the Director of Finance. 

 
The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards define internal auditing as ‘an 
independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and 
governance processes.’ 
 
Managers should ensure that auditors are provided promptly with any 
information and explanations that they seek in the course of their work. 
 
Managers should consider and respond promptly to recommendations in 
audit reports and ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit 
recommendations are carried out in a timely and efficient manner.  
 

Where necessary, and on production of proof of identity and authority, the 
Head of Audit and Assurance or his staff shall have the right to enter, 
without prior notice, every establishment or department of the Council and 
require any officer, Member, teacher or governor: 

• To make available all documents of the Council which relate to their 
accounting and other records as appear to the Auditor to be necessary 
for the purpose of the audit, including any information of a confidential 
nature; 

Page 201



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 76 

  
 

• To supply such explanations and information as are considered 
necessary for the purpose of the audit; 

• To produce cash, stores or any property of the Council in their custody. 

 

20.2 Internal Control 

20.2.1 The Authority is complex and beyond the direct control of individuals. It 
therefore requires internal controls to manage and monitor progress 
towards strategic objectives.  

20.2.2 The Authority has statutory obligations, and, therefore, requires internal 
controls to identify, meet and monitor compliance with these obligations.  

20.2.3 The Authority faces a wide range of financial, administrative and 
commercial risks, both from internal and external factors, which threaten 
the achievement of its objectives. Internal controls are necessary to 
manage these risks.  

20.2.4 The system of internal controls is established in order to provide 
measurable achievement of:  

• Accomplishment of its objectives and goals 

• Efficient and effective operations  

• Reliable financial information and reporting  

• Compliance with laws and regulations  

• Risk management 

• Safeguarding its assets 

20.2.5 The key controls and control objectives for internal control systems are:  

• Key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the Authority 
should make a formal statement annually to the effect that it is satisfied 
that the systems of internal control are operating effectively 

• Managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting 
objectives and plans, monitoring financial and other performance and 
taking appropriate anticipatory and remedial action. The key objective of 
these systems is to promote ownership of the control environment by 
defining roles and responsibilities  

• Financial and operational control systems and procedures, which include 
physical safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, authorisation and 
approval procedures and information systems  

• An effective Internal Audit function that is properly resourced. It should 
operate in accordance with the principles contained in the Public Sector 

Page 202



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 77 

  
 

Internal Audit Standards and with any other statutory obligations and 
Regulations. 

20.2.6 An adequate and effective system of Internal Audit of the accounting 
records and control systems of the Authority will be maintained by the 
Director of Finance, under delegated authority from the Council. 

  

20.3 External Audit  

20.3.1 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 sets out the framework for 
the audit of local authorities. Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited is 
currently responsible for appointing the External Auditors to the Council. 
The External Auditor has rights of access to all documents and information 
necessary for audit purposes.  

20.3.2 The basic duties of the External Auditor are defined in the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Government Act 1999. In particular 
the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office and Terms 
of Appointment 2015 set out, what External Auditors must follow when 
carrying out their duties. The Code of Audit Practice sets out the auditor's 
objectives to review and report upon:  

• the financial aspects of the audited body's corporate governance 
arrangements  

• the audited body's financial statements  

• whether, in the auditor’s view, the audited body has put arrangements in 
place that support the achievement of value for money 

20.3.3 The Authority's accounts are scrutinised by the External Auditors, who 
must be satisfied that the statement of accounts give a ‘true and fair’ view 
of the financial position of the Authority and its income and expenditure for 
the year in question and complies with the legal requirements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 203



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 78 

  
 

21. PREVENTING FRAUD & CORRUPTION 

 
Contact:  Internal Audit 

21.1 The Authority will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of 
its responsibilities, whether from inside or outside the Authority.  

21.2 The Authority's expectation of propriety and accountability is that Members 
and staff at all levels will lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal 
requirements, rules, procedures and good practices.  

21.3 The Authority also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. 
suppliers, contractors, service providers) with whom it comes into contact 
will act towards the Authority with integrity and without thought or actions 
involving fraud and corruption. 

 Managers should ensure that fraud risks are considered in all individual 
systems and processes in their area of responsibility. Appropriate controls 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption should be 
incorporated accordingly and operate effectively.  

21.4 Any suspected fraud, theft, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation 
of the Authority’s property or other resources must be reported 
immediately to the Head of Audit and Assurance in accordance with the 
Authority’s Fraud Response Plan. The Head of Audit and Assurance, if he 
considers it appropriate, may conduct an independent investigation.   

 Any staff reporting suspicions under the ‘Raising Concerns’ (“whistle 
blowing”) procedure will be dealt with in a way that shows their concerns 
are being taken seriously and with respect and confidentiality.  

Pending investigation and reporting, the senior officer of that business 
area, in conjunction with Internal Audit, must take all necessary steps to 
prevent further loss and to secure records and documentation against 
removal or alteration. 

21.5 Any suspected irregularities involving senior officers or Members must be 
reported to the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer. 

21.6 Managers must not undertake fraud investigations. Fraud investigation 
should only be investigated by the Greenwich Fraud Team who the 
Authority has a partnership agreement with via Internal Audit.       

21.7 All staff must co-operate with any fraud investigations. 

Page 204



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 79 

  
 

21.8 A decision to involve the police or other agency to investigate a suspected 
fraud should only be made by the Director of Finance in consultation with 
the relevant Chief Officer and the Monitoring Officer. This will be for 
circumstances where sufficient evidence exists to believe that a criminal 
offence may have been committed.   

21.9 The Authority’s disciplinary procedures should be instigated where the 
outcome of an audit or investigation indicates that improper behaviour has 
occurred.  

21.10 Further guidance is contained in the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy  

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_CE/Pub_Audit/Pub_IA/Lists/News%20Items/Attachm

ents/11/Anti-fraud%20and%20corruption%20strategy.pdf 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_CE/Pub_Audit/Pub_IA/Lists/News%20Items/Attachments/11/Anti-fraud%20and%20corruption%20strategy.pdf
http://onebromley/BA/Pub_CE/Pub_Audit/Pub_IA/Lists/News%20Items/Attachments/11/Anti-fraud%20and%20corruption%20strategy.pdf


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 80 

  
 

22. INFORMATION SYSTEMS 

 
Contact:  Information Systems / Internal Audit 

22.1 Departments have many systems and procedures relating to the control of 
the Authority's assets, including purchasing, costing and management 
systems. Departments are reliant on ICT for their financial management, 
service and other information. The information must therefore be accurate 
and the systems and procedures sound and well administered. They 
should contain controls to ensure that transactions are properly processed 
and errors detected promptly.  

22.2 The Director of Finance and Director of Corporate services respectively  
have a professional responsibility to ensure that the Authority's financial 
and ICT systems are sound and must be notified, in advance, of any new 
developments or changes that may affect financial management, service 
and other relevant information . 

 

22.3 All Council financial transactions must be processed through the corporate 
information systems of the Authority or its approved contractors. To 
ensure satisfactory standards and control, these systems may only be 
used with the approval of the Director of Finance. 

 

22.4    All Officers are responsible for ensuring the accuracy and integrity of       
any information input and stored within the Council’s financial and 
management information systems.  

 

22.5 The Director of Corporate Services shall ensure that adequate procedures 
exist to ensure compliance with the principles of current Data Protection 
laws and other relevant legislation including Freedom of Information and 
Human Rights Acts in respect of personal data held in computerised and 
manual information systems. 

 

22.6   All employees have a responsibility to ensure that they do not cause the 
loss, unauthorised destruction or disclosure of personal data in 
contravention of such principles. 

 

22.7 The Director of Corporate Services or their nominated representative is 
the Council’s Data Protection Officer and will be responsible for 
maintaining a central database, recording all systems to be included in 
notifications to the Data Protection Commissioner. They will be 

Page 206



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 81 

  
 

responsible for making such notifications as and when required by the 
Commissioner. 

 

22.8 Chief Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that they and their staff 
comply with the Council’s IT Security Policy and Guidelines and Data 
Protection  

 

22.9 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that access to 
computer systems under their responsibility is properly controlled (e.g. 
appropriate use of, and regular changing of, confidential passwords) and 
that information is safeguarded by backup copies being taken and kept 
securely. 

 

22.10 All Officers and Members should comply with the Authority’s published 
policy; “Acceptable Use Policy for Internet and E-Mail” 

 
http://onebromley/BA/Pub_IM/TeamInfoMan/Published%20Documents/Ac
ceptable%20use%20policy%20for%20Internet%20and%20email.pdf 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 207

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_IM/TeamInfoMan/Published%20Documents/Acceptable%20use%20policy%20for%20Internet%20and%20email.pdf
http://onebromley/BA/Pub_IM/TeamInfoMan/Published%20Documents/Acceptable%20use%20policy%20for%20Internet%20and%20email.pdf


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 82 

  
 

23. GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

 
Contact:  Director of Corporate Services  

 

23.1 All employees and Members of the Council shall be governed by the 
Council’s Codes of Conduct for the acceptance of Gifts and Hospitality. 

23.2 Material gifts or hospitality offered by an individual or company that does 
or could provide services to the Council should be refused where they are 
offered as an inducement to secure favour. 

23.3 Each Chief Officer shall maintain a register of all gifts and hospitality 
received by individual members of staff in their department. Any hospitality 
or gifts accepted must be recorded in the relevant register. The Director of 
Corporate Services holds a separate register for Members for this 
purpose. 

 

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_LandDS/Pub_DandCS/Team_DandCS/Team_DS/Tea

m_CT/Published%20Documents/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Code%20of%2

0Conduct.doc 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 208

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_LandDS/Pub_DandCS/Team_DandCS/Team_DS/Team_CT/Published%20Documents/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Code%20of%20Conduct.doc
http://onebromley/BA/Pub_LandDS/Pub_DandCS/Team_DandCS/Team_DS/Team_CT/Published%20Documents/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Code%20of%20Conduct.doc
http://onebromley/BA/Pub_LandDS/Pub_DandCS/Team_DandCS/Team_DS/Team_CT/Published%20Documents/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Code%20of%20Conduct.doc


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 83 

  
 

24. PROCEDURES FOR WRITE-OFFS 

 

24.1 Background 

 

1.1.1 Circumstances may arise in which amounts due must, for all practical 
purposes, be deemed uncollectable.  
 

1.1.2 The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require that in such 
circumstances a decision to write-off an amount must be taken with the 
authority of the “Section 151 Officer” (i.e. Director of Finance), whether 
exercised personally or properly delegated by them to a member of their 
staff. The amounts involved, and approval granted, should be recorded in 
the accounting records. 

 
1.1.3 No such provisions apply where debts are “cancelled” i.e. because they 

were incorrectly raised (e.g. wrong amount, wrong debtor) or “waived” i.e. 
because an authorised policy decision was taken not to charge or to 
reduce the charge of an amount otherwise properly payable by a debtor. 

 

24.2 Bad Debts / Loss of Income 

 

24.2.1 The Director of Finance may approve the write-off of any amounts 
properly charged, but deemed uncollectable, in the following cases: 

(i) bankruptcy or liquidation (where every effort should be made to 
minimise the loss); 

(ii) the company having ceased trading and there being no assets; 

(iii) the debtor being untraceable or having moved abroad; 

(iv) court decisions; 

(v) The debtor having no funds in their estate; 

(vi) The debt being stature barred; 

  

Page 209



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 84 

  
 

24.2.2 Other individual bad debts or loss of income, not falling into these 
categories, may be written off as follows: 

 

(i) by the Director of Finance, if it does not exceed £15,000; 

 

(ii) by the Director of Finance with the approval of the relevant Portfolio 
Holder if over £15,000 not exceeding £25,000; 

 

(iii) by the Director of Finance with the approval of the Executive if 
exceeding £25,000. 

 

24.2.3 For those items falling within (24.2.1) and (24.2.2) above, the Director of 
Finance has nominated the following to approve write-offs on his behalf:* 

Heads of Finance 

Named School Governors up to £1,000 for Secondary Schools 

Named School Governors up to £500 for Primary Schools 

Benefits Manager (Operations ) 

Head of Corporate Finance and AccountingAssistant Director 
Exchequer Services 

24.2.4 Departments should, for this purpose, regularly notify the above Director 
of Finance’s staff of those officers properly delegated responsibility from 
their Chief Officer to recommend write-offs to the Director of Finance and 
include specimen signatures. 

 

24.3 Stocks and Stores 

 

24.3.1 Stocks and Stores may be written off as follows: 

 

(i) If not exceeding £5,000 for one set of adjustments, the balances on 
stock records may be adjusted by the appropriate Chief Officer to 
reflect actual stock levels, following such investigations as they 
deem necessary.  If cumulative adjustments in any one year 
exceed £10,000 the Director of Finance must be informed; 

(ii) If exceeding £5,000 but not exceeding £10,000 the appropriate 
Chief Officer must obtain the approval of the Director of Finance 
prior to adjusting stock records to reflect actual stock records.  The 
Chief Officer and Director of Finance will jointly determine what 

Page 210



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 85 

  
 

investigations may be necessary for all adjustments in excess of 
£5,000.  

(iii) Approval of the relevant Portfolio Holder is required for adjustments 
exceeding £10,000. 

 
24.3.2 Details of all write-offs must be provided to the Director of Finance. 
 
 

24.4 Plant and Equipment 

 

24.4.1. Chief Officers may authorise items to be deleted from an inventory 
of their department where: 

(i) the item has become obsolete and / or is no longer adequate 
for the purpose intended; 

(ii) the item is broken or worn and of no further useful purpose; 

(iii) the item has become surplus to requirements; 

(iv) has been lost or stolen, in which case the Director of 
Finance should be informed. 

  

Page 211



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 86 

  
 

APPENDIX 1 - FRAUD AND CORRUPTION PROTOCOL 

 
Introduction  
 
This protocol specifies how the Director of Finance and other Chief Officers should 
manage alleged cases of fraud or corruption. It clarifies responsibilities for carrying 
out investigations and advises on action to be taken.  
All employees have a responsibility for the security of both the Council’s assets and 
clients’ assets where Council employees may have some involvement. Any 
employee who suspects any irregularity should immediately inform their Chief 
Officer, normally through their line manager. If for any reason an employee feels 
unable to raise their concern through line management, then they should go through 
a nominated officer under the Council’s Whistleblowing Procedure.  
 

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_LandDS/Pub_LSD/Pages/RaisingConcerns.aspx 
 
The Chief Officer may, if he then considers it appropriate, conduct an independent 
investigation.  
The Council will take legal and/or disciplinary action in all cases of fraud or 
irregularity where it is considered appropriate.  
 
Initial Allegation or Suspicion  
 
Internal Audit and the appropriate Chief Officer should be promptly informed of any 
allegations or suspicions of fraud or irregularity. To facilitate a speedy and 
appropriate response to any concerns expressed, initial information provided should, 
where possible, outline the following:  

 The nature of the potential or actual loss to the Council, or Council’s client.  

 When and how the matter came to light  

 Officers and /or other parties alleged to be implicated (names and designations 
where appropriate). Organisation structure showing the position and responsibility of 
the person(s) allegedly involved  

 Identify those who are aware of the potential fraud/irregularity.  
 
Care needs to be taken to ensure that officers or Members who may be involved in 
the suspected irregularity do not become aware of the situation. Staff should not 
carry out their own investigation prior to notifying Internal Audit as this can affect any 
subsequent investigation.  
Internal Audit will advise if the circumstances demand immediate action to safeguard 
evidence or to avoid further loss to the Authority. This may include removing 
documentation from the site and /or the suspension of employees.  
Internal Audit will also advise on whether, and if so when, the Police should be 
informed. Initial contact with them should be made by Internal Audit.  
As a general rule the Council can carry out its own investigations regardless of any 
police involvement. (Note: there may be instances where it is not possible to contact 
Internal Audit promptly e.g. weekends or evenings. At such times, for cases of 

Page 212

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_LandDS/Pub_LSD/Pages/RaisingConcerns.aspx


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 87 

  
 

identified theft rather than suspected fraud or irregularity, it is more appropriate for 
the matter to be reported immediately to the local police station and a crime 
reference obtained. In these instances Internal Audit, line management and the 
Insurance Manager should be informed of the details the next working day.)  
Investigation  
 
Responsibility for carrying out independent investigations lies with Internal Audit who 
may involve officers from the Royal Borough of Greenwich Fraud Team with whom it 
works in partnership. In some cases, however, it may be more appropriate for staff in 
the relevant Department to carry out the investigation with Internal Audit acting in an 
advisory capacity. In such cases, staff undertaking the investigation will liaise with 
Internal Audit at intervals agreed at the point of referral, to ensure that evidential 
requirements continue to be met and that the Local Authority is kept fully informed at 
all stages. The most appropriate approach will be decided by Internal Audit following 
the initial contact and may be revised during the investigation.  
 
Any investigation should be carried out promptly and thoroughly. To do this staff may 
need to be interviewed and documentation reviewed. All stages of the investigation 
should be thoroughly documented. The investigation should involve, as a minimum, 
the following:  
 

 A clear understanding of the allegation/suspicion  

 A review of all relevant documentation. Note that documents may need to be 
retained during the investigation  

 Identification and interviews with all appropriate staff/individuals to determine such 
things as relevant procedures and practices  

 Consideration of alternative explanations for the situation  

 An evaluation of all the evidence  

 A conclusion based on the findings  
 
The findings of the investigation could be used during disciplinary or legal action. 
Consequently care needs to be taken to ensure that evidence is safeguarded and 
that the investigation is thorough and the conclusions reached are valid. The findings 
of the investigation should be treated as confidential.  
During the investigation it may be necessary for individuals to be interviewed under 
caution. In such instances the rules laid down in the Police and Criminal Evidence 
Act and Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 must be adhered to. Advice on 
this is available from Internal Audit.  
There will be instances where documentation is taken away by Internal Audit or the 
investigating officer for safeguarding during the investigation. The originals should be 
removed rather than copies. These should be kept secure and a statement prepared 
stating how, when and who removed the documents and where they will be stored. A 
decision on the removal of documents needs to be made early on in the investigation 
to avoid the risk of removal or tampering.  
The appropriate Chief Officer and Head of Audit & Assurance should be kept 
informed of progress during the investigation. This can be done verbally and/or by 

Page 213



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 88 

  
 

preparing written progress reports. At the end of the investigation a report should be 
prepared for the appropriate Chief Officer and Head of Audit & Assurance. This 
should include all the issues listed above together with any other relevant 
information. This should form the basis of a decision for any further action to be 
taken.  
 
Action  
 
It is for the appropriate Chief Officer to take appropriate action where there is 
evidence to support instances of fraud or irregularity. The Head of Audit &Assurance 
should be kept informed of action taken and relevant outcomes. These could include 
referral to the police, disciplinary action and/or recovery of any amounts involved.  
 
The Chief Officer is also responsible for ensuring that any system weaknesses 
identified during the investigation are addressed. 
  

Page 214



 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 89 

  
 

APPENDIX 2 – RETENTION OF DOCUMENTS 

 
Chief Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that records are carefully and 
systematically filed and retained for inspection by the Director of Finance or 
agencies (e.g. HM Revenue and Customs). 
 
Records should be retained in accordance with the Council’s Retention Schedule 
and Policy which should be read in conjunction with the Council’s IT security and 
Data Protection policies in order to support compliance with current data protection 
laws and the Freedom of Information Act 2000 
 
These Policies apply to electronic records and to manual records (e.g. paper, 
microfiche). A record is any recorded material (usually a document) whether or not it 
is stored in a database or file. 
 
The minimum periods for the retention of financial records are set out in the 
Council’s Record Retention Policy.  
 
  Bromley Corporate Retention Schedule 
 

It is the responsibility of the Information Asset Owner in each service area to ensure 
that these retention periods are within those set out any service specific legislation 
such as PAYE, VAT or Construction Industry Schemes. The Information Asset 
Owners should also be aware of the maximum time to retain records in line with 
GDPR regulations.  
 
The retention schedule is not exhaustive and where there is uncertainty the advice of 
the Director of Finance and the Director of Corporate Services must be sought. 
Periods referred to are in addition to the current year of account, which ends at the 
conclusion of the annual external audit of the Council’s accounts. 
 
Records held locally in establishments e.g. schools shall be retained in accordance 
with the School’s Financial Regulations. 
 
The Director of Finance or his representative shall have access to documents 
relating to such funds should it be deemed necessary. 
 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
 
Section 2 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 provides External Auditors 
with a right of access to every document relating to a body that appears necessary 
for the purpose of carrying out the Auditor’s function under the Act. 
 
The Council therefore needs to retain documents in order to be able to satisfy 
External Auditors’ rights of access. Any policy on retention of documents therefore 
needs to be guided by an assessment of the likelihood that an External Auditor may 
request certain documents. This assessment needs to ensure that the Council 

Page 215

http://onebromley/BA/Pub_IM/Pages/RetentionSchedule.aspx


 
Financial Regulations and Procedures 2020 90 

  
 

avoids circumstances whereby it could have reasonably foreseen a request for a 
document, but the document has subsequently been destroyed. 
 
 

Other Legislation 
 
There is very little specific legislation that covers the periods of retention of 
documents for Local Authorities. The main consideration is the Limitations Act 1980 
and this is discussed below. 
 
In addition, Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 deals with Access to 
Information. Section 100(c) refers to public inspection of minutes and other 
documents after meetings. This specifies that certain documents, which form part of 
the public part of the agenda, are required to be available for inspection by members 
of the public for a period of 6 years from the date of the meeting. These documents 
are: 
 

• Minutes, or copies of minutes of the meeting (except exempt items) 
      and related minutes; 

• A copy of the agenda of the meeting; and 

• A copy of any reports discussed (except exempt items). 
 

From 1996/97 Local Authorities were required to have their accounts approved by a 
Committee or the Full Council meeting as a whole. This requirement means that the 
statement of accounts would have been one of the agenda items and would 
therefore be one of the records that the Authority would need to retain for 6 years 
and have available for public inspection. 
 
Central Government guidance recommends Authorities to consider whether longer 
periods of retention are appropriate and although nothing is prescribed, key financial 
records may merit permanent preservation. As a minimum, the following is 
considered to be in this category:  
One set of annual financial accounts and statements approved by Full Council or 
Committee. 

Page 216



  91 
 

APPENDIX 3 - CODE OF PRACTICE ON DRAFTING FINANCIAL 
IMPLICATIONS IN COMMITTEE REPORTS  

 

1. Employee costs should include National Insurance and Pension 
contributions, leased car costs and overtime pay where appropriate.  
Gross salaries should normally be calculated on the midpoints of the 
appropriate pay scales.  The Director of Finance will circulate updated 
“ready reckoners” of employee costs within four weeks of a pay award 
being settled. 

2.  Departments should have regard to staff turnover savings assumed in 
the revenue budget when determining the additional savings which are 
likely to arise from the deletion of posts. 
 

3.  All reports should identify clearly: 
 
a) recurring and non-recurring expenditure and income 
b) part-year and full year effects. 
 

4.  Appendices should be used when it is necessary to present large 
volumes of financial information in a report. 
 

5.  Avoid quoting figures to the nearest penny or pound. The nearest £’000 
will suffice in most instances. 
 

6.  Where additional costs are identified:  
 
a) virement should be actioned in accordance with Financial 
Regulations. (The report should identify the specific budgets that are to 
be vired and seek Member approval where necessary). 
 
OR 
 
b) there should be a formally recommendation to seek a supplementary 
estimate from the Executive 
 

7.  Reports should cost all proposals even where expenditure can be “met 
from existing budgets”. 

8.   All areas of financial uncertainty or risk should be highlighted. In this 
respect a paragraph on the risks should be clearly stated so that all 
risks are clear and transparent and that where relevant a full risk 
assessment has been carried out in line with the Risk management 
policy.  

9.  Heads of Finance Officers should clear all draft financial reports before 
being passed to the Committee services. 

10.  Every effort should be made to allow the Director of Finance’s 
Department five full working days to comment on a draft report, 
although it is acknowledged that there will be some instances when a 
more urgent response is required. 

Page 217



  92 
 

11. The Head of Corporate Finance and Accounting should clear all draft 
reports with financial considerations that impact on the Capital 
Programme before they are passed to the Committee services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



  93 
 

APPENDIX 4 - TRANSPARENCY CODE 

 
Introduction 
 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) published a 
revised Local Government Transparency Code on 27 February 2015.The 
revised Code came into effect on 1 April 2015. The code seeks to ensure that 
certain data held by local Councils is published in a timely and open way. 

Personal data will not be included if publishing it would contravene the GDPR 
and the Data Protection Act 2018. 

 

Areas covered  

The Code requires the publication of specified categories of data, and 
recommends the publication of additional data, under the headings below:– 
(the .gov link should be checked to verify the current headings) 

• Individual items of expenditure exceeding £500; 

• Data on the land and buildings held by the authority; 

• Information on invitations to tender, and every contract or purchase order, 
with a value of over £5,000; 

• Details of every transaction on a Government Procurement Card used by the 
authority; 

• Grants to voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations: dates 
made and amounts granted; 

• The authority’s organisation chart, covering the top three levels in the 
organisation, including salary bands; 

• Details of trade union facility time: number of representatives and spending 
upon them; 

• The number of controlled parking spaces within their area; 

• Data on the value of the authority’s social housing stock; 

• Data on senior salaries  

• The pay multiple  

• The authority’s constitution; 

• Details of counter-fraud work; 

• Details of waste contracts; 

• Data on parking revenues. 

The current Local Government Transparency Code was issued in February 
2015. The Code applies to local authorities in England, including fire and 
rescue authorities and National Park authorities, and to parish councils with 
either gross income or expenditure over £200,000; but not to Police and 
Crime Commissioners. It can be found at:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-
code-2015 

Page 219

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015


  94 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 5 - LATE PAYMENT OF DEBTS 

 

Background 
 
1. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 and the Late 

Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2013 provides a statutory right 
to claim interest on the late payment of commercial debts. Previously, 
businesses were only able to claim interest on late paid debts if it was 
included in the contract or if they pursued the debt through the courts and 
the courts decided to award interest. 
 

Contracts 
 
2. The legislation gives precedence to contractually agreed provisions. 

However, the Act contains provisions to prevent parties to a contract 
“contracting out” of the legislation by setting very low rates of interest on 
late payments, or by extending credit terms excessively or by any other 
terms which result in no substantial remedy for late payment. The 
provisions apply the test of “reasonableness” to such terms. 
 

Definition of key terms 
 
3. Late payment: a payment is “late” when it is received after: 
 

o the expiry of the contractually agreed credit period (whether 
agreed orally or in writing); or  

o the credit period in accordance with trade custom and practice 
or in the course of dealing between the parties; or 

o the default credit period defined in the legislation (30 calendar 
days). 
 

4. Commercial debt: the Act applies to a debt under a contract for the supply 
of goods or services where the purchaser and the supplier are each acting 
in the course of a business. 
 

Size of Debt / Statute of Limitations 
 
5. No minimum level has been set below which a claim for interest cannot be 

made but claims for interest must be made within six years. 
 

Credit periods 
 
6. Where no credit period is defined in a contract, or no contract exists, the 

Act sets a default credit period of 30 (calendar) days from delivery of an 
undisputed invoice for payment, or delivery of the goods and / or service, 
whichever is the later. 
 

7. This is also the measure used by the Local Authority for payment of 
undisputed invoices. Time starts from the date the Local Authority (not the 
payment section) receives the invoice to the date of: 

Page 220



  95 
 

o despatch of a cheque or other payment instrument; 
o notification to bank for BACS payments; or 
o bank processing of the payment if the Local Authority specifies a period 

after which the bank is to make the payments once it has received the 
BACS file.  

 
If an invoice is received in advance, the 30 day or agreed term period 
starts from the satisfactory receipt of goods and/or services.  Where the  
date the Local Authority  receives the invoice it allows 2 working days to 
be added to  the date of invoice. 
 

8. Some purchasers and suppliers have a long–standing relationship in 
which there is no agreed credit period but the purchaser usually pays at 
the end of the month following the month in which the invoice is received. 
Where this is standard practice the credit period is considered to end on 
the last day of the month following the month in which the invoice is 
received. Interest starts the next day. 
 

Interest 
 
9. The Act seeks to recompense creditors for the cost of the payment delay. 

It provides power for the Secretary of State to set the rate of statutory 
interest and this is currently set at the Bank of England base rate for 
business to business transaction + 8%.  
 

10. The current (and past) UK base rate can be found on the Bank of England 
web site at:  
 
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/statistics 
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/boeapps/database/Bank-Rate.asp 
 
 

11. Interest is calculated as simple, not compound, interest as follows: 
 

 
Debt    x Interest Rate   x the number of days late 
     ---------------------------- 
         365 
 
12. Interest stops running on a debt once the principal has been paid. 

However, unless payment is accepted on other terms, any part payment of 
the debt will go to reduce the amount of the interest first. 

 
Separation and assignment of interest 
 
13. The Act allows the interest to be pursued separately from the principal 

debt and permits assignment of the interest to third parties, such as 
factors. 
 

 

Page 221

https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/statistics
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/boeapps/database/Bank-Rate.asp


This page is left intentionally blank



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  1 

 
 
 
 

 Financial Regulations for 
Schools  

 
2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 223



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  2 

CONTENTS 
Page Number 

1  INTRODUCTION              7 

1.1 Background ........................................................................................................................... 7 
1.2 Financial Regulations and the Management Style .............................................................. 7 
1.3 Supporting Legislation and Documents .............................................................................. 8 
1.4 School Financial Value Standard (SFVS) ............................................................................. 8 
1.5 Aims of the Regulations ........................................................................................................ 8 
1.6 Breaches of the Regulations ................................................................................................ 9 
1.7 Compliance ............................................................................................................................ 9 
1.8 Review of Regulations .......................................................................................................... 9 
1.9 Updates .................................................................................................................................. 9 

2  ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES         10 

2.1 The Role of the Director of Finance ................................................................................... 10 
2.2 The Roles of the Governing Body ...................................................................................... 10 
2.3 The Role of the Head Teacher ............................................................................................ 11 
2.4 The Role of the Bursar/Finance Manager .......................................................................... 11 

3 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE         13 

3.1 Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................................. 13 
3.2 Finance Committee.............................................................................................................. 13 
3.3 Limits of Delegated Authority ............................................................................................. 13 
3.4 Financial Information for Governors .................................................................................. 13 
3.5 Minutes ................................................................................................................................. 13 
3.6 Gifts and Hospitality ............................................................................................................ 13 
3.7 Raising Concerns in Schools ............................................................................................. 14 
3.8 Register of Business Interests ........................................................................................... 14 

4 BUDGETS            15 

4.1 Preparation of Budgets ....................................................................................................... 15 
4.2 Allocation of Budgets to Budget Managers ....................................................................... 16 
4.3 Monitoring ............................................................................................................................ 16 
4.4 Reporting ............................................................................................................................. 17 
4.5 Approved Banks and Building Societies ........................................................................... 17 

5 ORDERS FOR GOODS, WORKS & SERVICES       18 

5.1 Responsibilities ................................................................................................................... 18 
5.2 Raising an Official Order ..................................................................................................... 18 
5.3 Requirements of an Official Order ...................................................................................... 19 
5.4 Orders and Authority ........................................................................................................... 19 
5.5 Value for Money ................................................................................................................... 19 
5.6 Insufficient Quotations ........................................................................................................ 20 

Page 224



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  3 

5.7 Exceptions to Quotations for Goods, Works and Services .............................................. 20 

6 CONTRACTS            22 

7  PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS          23 

7.1 Payment Arrangements ...................................................................................................... 23 
7.2 Authorised Signatories ....................................................................................................... 23 
7.3 Separation of Duties ............................................................................................................ 24 
7.4 Checking Required .............................................................................................................. 25 
7.5 Credit Cards ......................................................................................................................... 26 
7.6 Purchasing on the internet with approved cards. ............................................................. 26 
7.7 Late Payment of Debts ........................................................................................................ 27 

8 PETTY CASH AND IMPREST ACCOUNTING       28 

8.1 Agreed Level of Petty Cash ................................................................................................ 28 
8.2 Control and Operation of Petty Cash ................................................................................. 28 
8.3 Security of Petty Cash ......................................................................................................... 29 
8.4 Imprest Accounting ............................................................................................................. 29 

9 VAT            30 

9.1 General ................................................................................................................................. 30 
9.2 Payment of VAT ................................................................................................................... 30 
9.3 VAT Returns ......................................................................................................................... 30 
9.4 Further Information ............................................................................................................. 30 

10 SALARIES, WAGES & PENSIONS         31 

10.1 Payments ............................................................................................................................. 31 
10.2 Authorisation ....................................................................................................................... 31 
10.3 Notifications to HR and Payroll .......................................................................................... 31 
10.4 Disclosure of Officers’ Emoluments .................................................................................. 32 
10.5 Self-Employed Status .......................................................................................................... 32 
10.6 Travel, Subsistence & Other Allowances ........................................................................... 32 
10.7 Teachers Pensions Returns (applicable to ex-Grant Maintained Schools and those 
schools that do not receive payroll via LBB) ............................................................................. 32 

11 COLLECTION OF INCOME          33 

11.1 Monies Due .......................................................................................................................... 33 
11.2 Receipt of Monies ................................................................................................................ 33 
11.3 Transfers of Money.............................................................................................................. 33 
11.4 Banking ................................................................................................................................ 33 
11.5 Security of money held ....................................................................................................... 34 
11.6 Charges ................................................................................................................................ 34 
11.7 Write-offs .............................................................................................................................. 34 

Page 225



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  4 

12 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS         35 

12.1 LBB Banking arrangements ................................................................................................ 35 
12.2 HSBC Banking ..................................................................................................................... 35 
12.3 Overdraft Facility ................................................................................................................. 35 
12.4 Bank Reconciliations .......................................................................................................... 35 
12.5 Cheques ............................................................................................................................... 35 
12.6 Approved Banks and Building Societies ........................................................................... 36 
12.7 Closing Accounts ................................................................................................................ 36 

13 ASSETS            37 

13.1 Responsibility of Head Teacher.......................................................................................... 37 
13.2 Asset Register ..................................................................................................................... 37 
13.3 Removal of property from school site ................................................................................ 37 
13.4 Identifying assets ................................................................................................................ 37 
13.5 Deletions from the asset register ....................................................................................... 37 
13.6 Disposal of assets ............................................................................................................... 38 

14 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS          39 

14.1 Obtaining Best Price ........................................................................................................... 39 
14.2 Assets under £1,000 ............................................................................................................ 39 
14.3 Assets £1,000 to £40,000 ..................................................................................................... 39 
14.4 Assets exceeding £40,000 ................................................................................................... 39 

15 LOANS AND INVESTMENTS AND LEASES                 40 

15.1 Loan Agreements ................................................................................................................ 40 
15.2 Leases .................................................................................................................................. 40 

16  INSURANCE, SECURITY OF ASSETS AND RISK MANAGEMENT    41 

16.1 Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 41 
16.2 Assets .................................................................................................................................. 41 
16.3 Off-site assets ...................................................................................................................... 42 
16.4 Claims .................................................................................................................................. 42 
16.5 Security ................................................................................................................................ 42 
16.6 Contractors .......................................................................................................................... 43 
16.7 Risk ....................................................................................................................................... 43 
16.8 Further Contact .................................................................................................................... 43 

17 INTERNAL AUDIT AND INTERNAL CONTROL       44 

17.1 Definition and Responsibilities........................................................................................... 44 
17.2 Access to documents and information for audit ............................................................... 44 
17.3 The Audit Cycle ................................................................................................................... 45 
17.4 Audit Reports ....................................................................................................................... 45 
17.5 Internal Control .................................................................................................................... 45 

Page 226



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  5 

18 FRAUD & CORRUPTION          46 

18.1 Reporting Irregularities ....................................................................................................... 46 
18.2 Further Guidance ................................................................................................................. 46 

19 INFORMATION SYSTEMS          47 

19.1 Data Protection .................................................................................................................... 47 
19.2 Freedom of Information ...................................................................................................... 47 
19.3 Safeguarding Information ................................................................................................... 47 
19.4 Disaster Recovery Plan ....................................................................................................... 47 
19.5 Further Guidance ................................................................................................................. 48 

20 VOLUNTARY FUNDS           49 

20.1 Standards of Guardianship ................................................................................................. 49 
20.2 Voluntary Fund Account ..................................................................................................... 49 
20.3 Audit of Voluntary Fund ...................................................................................................... 49 

21 RETENTION OF DOCUMENTS         50 

21.1 Secure Retention ................................................................................................................. 50 
21.2 Disposal of Documents ....................................................................................................... 50 

APPENDIX 1: SCHOOL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT - LINE DELEGATION AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY            51 

APPENDIX 2: REGISTER OF GOVERNORS AND STAFF BUSINESS INTERESTS  54 

APPENDIX 3: LATE PAYMENT OF DEBTS        56 

Background .................................................................................................................................. 56 
Contracts ...................................................................................................................................... 56 
Definition of key terms ................................................................................................................ 56 
Size of Debt / Statute of Limitations ........................................................................................... 56 
Credit periods .............................................................................................................................. 56 
Interest .......................................................................................................................................... 57 
Separation and assignment of interest ...................................................................................... 57 

APPENDIX 4: ACCOUNTING FOR VAT        58 

APPENDIX 5: PROCEDURE FOR WRITE OFFS       62 

Background .................................................................................................................................. 62 
Bad Debts / Loss of Income ........................................................................................................ 62 

 

Page 227



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  6 

APPENDIX 6: INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER        63 

Purpose ........................................................................................................................................ 63 
Authority ....................................................................................................................................... 63 
Responsibility .............................................................................................................................. 63 
Due Professional Care ................................................................................................................. 65 
Independence ............................................................................................................................... 66 
Reporting ...................................................................................................................................... 66 
External Auditors ......................................................................................................................... 67 

APPENDIX 7: FRAUD & CORRUPTION PROTOCOL      68 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 68 
Initial Allegation or Suspicion ..................................................................................................... 70 
Investigation ................................................................................................................................. 70 
Action ........................................................................................................................................... 71 
 

Page 228



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  7 

 

1  INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 Background 
 

1.1.1 Every Local Authority (LA) needs a financial framework which provides the 
necessary control on financial matters whilst at the same time encouraging “best 
value” and promoting local accountability for schools. 

 
1.1.2 These Regulations outline the approved system of financial control to secure the 

proper administration of the school s’ financial affairs, as required by Section 151 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. The Director of Finance shall be responsible for 
ensuring the school s’ continuing compliance. 

 
1.2 Financial Regulations and the Management Style 
 
1.2.1 It may seem that the Director of Finance’ legal responsibilities clash with the 

Council’s management style, with its emphasis on devolving responsibility and 
decision taking. They need not. 

 
1.2.2 Accordingly, Financial Regulations are not intended to keep an oppressive grip, but 

to provide a clear and helpful framework within which employees at schools can act 
in confidence, without fear that the financial appropriateness of their actions might 
be open to question.  In this sense the Regulations are intended to enable, not to 
restrict. 

 
1.2.3 Sound financial management and controls are essential to schools because they 

provide an effective framework for financial planning and accountability and 
safeguard the use of public funds. 

 
1.2.4 It is good practice to align financial and management responsibilities whenever 

possible, otherwise financial decisions may be made regardless of the effect on 
services and services may be managed without regard to finance.  Financial 
Regulations are intended to facilitate this by advising schools of how to approach 
budget setting, virement, ordering, certification of payments etc.  The basic 
framework can readily be supplemented by advice from the contacts shown.  Advice 
rather than instruction is the preferred style throughout the Regulations.  At times the 
delegation to schools and ‘recognition of the risks’ may lead such advice to be 
questioned.  This is accepted, but there are also times when, in view of the Director 
of Finance’s statutory responsibilities, his advice must be followed.  
 

1.2.5 These Regulations should be seen, then, as part of the Director of Finance’s service 
to schools.  Their main aim is to facilitate good financial administration.  If they do 
not, the Director of Finance is only too keen to know why so that changes can be 
considered. Comments from users should be addressed to Internal Audit. 

 
 
 
 

Page 229



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  8 

1.3 Supporting Legislation and Documents   
 
1.3.1 Financial Regulations are one of a set of management documents which collectively 

control and co-ordinate the affairs of the LA. Whilst intended to be self-contained, 
they should therefore be read in the wider context of: 

  

• Consistent Financial Reporting framework 

• Bromley Scheme for Financing Schools ‘ 

• Bromley’s Corporate Financial Regulations  

• School Standards and Framework Act 1998  

• Schedule 14 to the Act  

• Statutory Instruments including the School and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations  

• Schemes for financing Local Authority maintained schools – statutory guidance 

•  Schools Financial Value Standard 

• Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
 

1.4 School Financial Value Standard (SFVS) 
 
1.4.1 Local Authority maintained schools must submit the SFVS annually to their Local 

Authority. Local Authorities use this information to inform their programme of 
financial assessment and audit. 

 
1.4.2 The standard consists of a checklist and a dashboard.  
 
1.4.3 The checklist asks questions of governing bodies in 6 areas of resource 

management. It provides clarification for each question, examples of good practice 
and details of further support available to assist schools in addressing specific 
issues. 

 
1.4.4 The dashboard shows how a school’s data compares to thresholds on a range of 

statistics identified by the Department for Education (DfE) as indicators of good 
resource management and outcomes. It provides explanations of each of the 
indicators and helps schools to fill in their data and understand the results.  

 
1.5 Aims of the Regulations 
 
These Financial Regulations provide a framework through which the Director of Finance 
can satisfy himself that proper financial administration is being achieved.  
 
1.5.1 These Regulations aim to: 

• Help ensure that high standards of propriety and best value are achieved 

• Provide schools with an effective framework of financial control, management, 
monitoring and reporting.  

• Provide a framework within which all school staff and governing body members 
can carry out their responsibilities in an open and consistent manner.  

 
1.5.2 These Regulations aim to promote and maintain high standards by: 

• Placing clear authority and accountability with staff and governing body members 

Page 230



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  9 

• Establishing key principles and processes which should be followed 

• Enabling continuous internal audit to ensure compliance with the approved 
standards and procedures. 

1.5.3 All governors and staff have a duty to promote these aims, not just by following 
Financial Regulations but in their general approach. Concern with propriety and best 
value is as much an attitude of mind as a matter of following regulations. 
 

1.6 Breaches of the Regulations 
 
1.6.1 Substantial breaches of Financial Regulations shall be reported to the governing 

body and Director of Finance by the relevant Head Teacher and may be treated by 
the governing body as disciplinary offences. Where the Director of Finance 
considers it appropriate he will report any substantial breach of these Regulations to 
the next meeting of the Audit Sub-Committee. 
 

1.7 Compliance  
 
1.7.1 The Regulations shall not override any statutory provisions that apply. In addition, 

with the agreement of the Director of Finance (or his delegated representative), the 
full governing body may waive compliance with any of these Regulations in a 
particular case or in any particular class of case. Separate provisions exist for 
alternative courses of action (e.g. for tendering) within specific regulations. 
 

1.7.2 Consultants or agencies acting for the school will be bound by these Regulations 
and it should be a condition of their employment or engagement that they do so. The 
provisions of these Regulations shall also apply to services carried out under agency 
arrangements for any other authority or organisation, except where otherwise 
required by that Authority. 

 
1.8 Review of Regulations 

 
1.8.1 These Regulations shall be reviewed at least every three years by the Director of 

Finance. The Audit Sub-Committee should approve all amendments. Relevant 
financial thresholds (e.g. write-offs, petty cash payments) should be additionally 
reviewed against inflation on a periodic basis wherever possible. 

 
1.8.2 As suggested good practice, it is recommended that these Regulations be applied to 

transactions relating to any non- public funds handled by staff in the course of their 
duties.  

 
1.9 Updates 

 
1.9.1 The Regulations will be updated with implications of new legislation, new ways of 

working or changes to thresholds as required.  These updates will be communicated 
to the schools. 

 
  

 

Page 231



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  10 

2  ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

2.1 The Role of the Director of Finance 
 
2.1.1 The essence of the Director of Finance’ statutory role as responsible financial officer 

is laid down by the Local Government Act 1972: “Every local authority shall make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and shall secure 
that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs”. 

 
2.1.2 The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2015 supplement this general 

role. These require that the Director of Finance should determine the accounting 
system, form of accounts and supporting accounting records, and ensure that the 
accounting systems determined by him are observed and that the accounts and 
supporting records of the Authority are maintained in accordance with proper 
practices and kept up to date. The 2015 Regulations also require the Council to 
maintain an adequate and effective internal audit which, at Bromley, has been 
delegated to the Director of Finance. 

 
2.1.3 Therefore, The Director of Finance has specific legal duties at all schools to ensure 

adequate standards of financial administration throughout the Council.  
 
2.1.4 The Director of Finance has to express an annual opinion on the system of internal 

financial control for the Local Authority taking into consideration a number of factors 
including maintaining an adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting 
records and systems of internal control. In reaching his overall opinion the Director 
has to rely on work performed by internal audit, external audit and any other 
management review. Internal Audit reviews play a critical role in ensuring that the 
internal control environment is in place within each school. 

 
2.2 The Roles of the Governing Body 
 
2.2.1 Each governing body is responsible for ensuring that these Regulations are strictly 

adhered to, throughout the establishment under their control. Except where 
otherwise stated, all references in these Regulations to “Head Teacher” should be 
read as meaning staff that are carrying out duties on behalf of the Head Teacher. 
Such delegation by Head Teachers should be formally approved and documented in 
procedure manuals etc. 

 
2.2.2 The governing body should issue clear directions to the Head Teacher and Bursar or 

Finance Officer and any additional staff on their respective responsibilities for 
financial affairs.  This is essential for sound financial control and they should take the 
form of written directions.  Failure to formally allocate responsibilities can create a 
vacuum in important financial areas. 

 
2.2.3 To establish proper financial management arrangements and accounting procedures 

and maintain a sound system of internal controls, including safeguards against fraud 
and corruption. 

 
2.2.4 It is the responsibility of the governing body, in conjunction with Head Teachers, to 

set out an agreed scheme of delegation. (For a suggested template see Appendix 1) 

Page 232



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  11 

2.3 The Role of the Head Teacher 
 
2.3.1 The Head Teacher has responsibility for: 
 

o The management of the school’s financial position at a strategic and 
operational level. 

o The management of effective systems of internal control. 
o The management of other financial issues. 

 
2.3.2 Each Head Teacher should ensure that all staff in their establishment are made 

aware of and fully understand the requirements and implications of Financial 
Regulations as far as they relate to their professional duties and responsibilities. 
However, this does not remove the requirement for all staff to make themselves 
conversant with these Regulations and comply with their requirements. 

 
2.3.3 The Head Teacher has overall responsibility for the school’s activities, of which 

financial activities are clearly a part.  The Head Teacher is therefore considered by 
the LA to be the person with overall responsibility to the governing body for the 
financial management of the school.   

 
2.3.4 The Head Teacher should ensure that the governing body is provided with financial 

advice, that proper and adequate financial systems and controls are in place and 
that accounts are prepared and maintained as required by the governing body or the 
LA.  In practice, the Head Teacher will often delegate much of the financial 
management to a Bursar/Finance Manager, while retaining ultimate responsibility for 
this. 

 
2.3.5 Each Head Teacher shall prepare such financial instructions as are considered 

necessary for the proper financial management, operation and control of the 
services for which they are responsible, in accordance with these Schools Financial 
Regulations. 

 
2.3.6 Such financial instructions shall, in accordance with the Accounts & Audit 

(Amendment) Regulations 2015 contain measures to: 
 

• Ensure that the financial transactions of the school are recorded as soon as 
reasonably practical and as accurately as reasonably possible; 
 

• Enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and fraud; and  
 

• Facilitate the ability to reconstitute any lost records. 
 

2.4 The Role of the Bursar/Finance Manager  
 
2.4.1 The Bursar or Finance Manager is the member of the school’s staff with day to day 

financial responsibility for the school.  This person may have delegated financial 
responsibility for the premises, central services and other costs budget and as such 
should form part of the management structure within the school. 

 

Page 233



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  12 

2.4.2 It is essential that the governors ensure that the Bursar or Finance Manager is 
suitably qualified and has sufficient resources to carry out the function and should 
not be subject to time constraints which may affect their ability to discharge their 
financial responsibilities effectively.  

 
 

 
 

Page 234



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  13 

3 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Contacts:  Internal Audit /Schools Finance Team 
 

3.1 Roles and Responsibilities 
 
3.1.1 The roles and responsibilities of the governing body, its committees, the Head 

Teacher and other staff in relation to financial decision-making and administration 
should be set out and agreed in writing and should comply with these Financial 
Regulations.  
 

3.2 Finance Committee  
 
3.2.1 A finance committee should be set up to consider strategic financial issues on behalf 

of the governing body and its remit and membership should be reviewed annually. 
 

3.3 Limits of Delegated Authority 
 
3.3.1 The governing body should establish the financial limits of delegated authority, in 

compliance with these Financial Regulations. 
 

3.4 Financial Information for Governors 
 
3.4.1 The governing body should agree with the Head Teacher the minimum frequency, 

level of detail and general format of the financial information to be provided to it, 
especially in relation to budget monitoring reports. 

 
3.5 Minutes 
 
3.5.1 Minutes should be taken of all meetings of the governing body and its committees 

and include all decisions and by whom action is to be taken. The agreed minutes 
should be signed and dated. 

 
3.5.2 All signed minutes should be retained for 6 years. 
 
3.6 Gifts and Hospitality 
 
3.6.1 All offers, gifts, hospitality as inducements for favour should be refused. All refused 

items should be recorded by a member of staff or governor and reported at the next 
meeting of the Governing Body where it should be minuted. 
 

3.6.2 Each School Governing Body shall maintain a register of all gifts and hospitality 
received by individual members of staff and Governors in their School. Any 
hospitality or gifts accepted must be recorded in the relevant register. Governors 
should set a reasonable minimum value that would be excluded from registering 
when received from pupils and parents.  

 
 
 

Page 235



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  14 

3.7 Raising Concerns in Schools 
 
3.7.1 The Corporate Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy should be referred to for all 

raising concerns within a school. Copies of this document have been issued to all 
Bromley maintained schools and will be available on request from the Local 
Authority.  
 

3.7.2 The principles and procedures set out in the Corporate Raising Concerns 
(Whistleblowing) Policy should be followed but the roles and responsibility will need 
to be adapted for schools. For Officer responsibilities detailed in the Policy the 
school should identify their own hierarchy of responsibility and any reference to 
Members would be substituted by Governors.       

                                                                               
3.7.3 The Director of Education and the Liberata Schools Team will be the first points of 

contact for any guidance required and the Council’s Human Resources Division 
would also be able to offer advice.     

  
3.8 Register of Business Interests 
 
3.8.1 Schools are required to maintain a register for all governors and those staff with 

financial responsibilities which should detail any business interest they may have 
which could be relevant to goods and services supplied to the school.  This register 
should be reviewed on an annual basis. 

 
3.8.2 Where it has not been possible to gain register entries from individuals, the school 

should retain documentation to demonstrate what efforts have been made to ensure 
compliance.     

 
3.8.3 When staff become aware of such interests, they shall notify the clerk of governors 

or bursar in writing who will enter it into the register. 
 
3.8.4 Please see Appendix 2 for a template register of business interests. 
 
3.8.5 If it comes to the knowledge of any member of staff employed by the school that 

they have a business interest, whether direct or indirect, in a current contract or a 
contract due to be entered into by the school, they shall as soon as practicable give 
written notice of the interest to their Head Teacher, who should notify the Chair of 
the Governing Body.  

 
3.8.6 In the case that the interest relates to a Head Teacher or member of the governing 

body, written notice should be given as soon as practicable to the Chair of the 
Governing Body.  They shall maintain a record of all such notifications of staff and 
governors interests in contracts  

 

Page 236



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  15 

 

4 BUDGETS 
Contacts: Schools’ Finance Team 

4.1 Preparation of Budgets 
 

School Budget Share 
 

4.1.1 Each school is required to submit a budget plan to the Local Authority in accordance 
with the Scheme for Financing Schools.   This should show the school’s intentions 
for expenditure in the current financial year and the assumptions underpinning the 
budget plan.  Further revised budget monitoring reports may have to be provided at 
quarterly intervals to the LA as stipulated in the Scheme for Financing Schools. 
 

4.1.2 There should be a clear, identifiable link between the school’s annual budget and its 
school development plan. 
 

4.1.3 The school’s budget should be based on realistic estimates of all expected 
expenditure and income, including grant income, so that planned expenditure does 
not exceed the available budget.  
 

4.1.4 The governing body should ensure that the main elements of the school’s budget 
are periodically reviewed to ensure that historic spending patterns are not 
perpetuated. 

 
4.1.5  The Head Teacher should profile the budget and forecast cash flow to take account 

of likely spending patterns. 
 

4.1.6 Any budget surpluses should be earmarked for specific future needs to ensure that 
pupils benefit from a planned approach to spending that does not deprive them of 
resources in a given year. 

 
4.1.7 The governing body should endeavour to approve the school’s budget and School 

Development Plan after careful consideration and before the beginning of the 
relevant financial year. 
 
Capital 

 
4.1.8 It is determined in the Scheme for Financing Schools the responsibilities for school 

premises repairs and maintenance.  The scheme determines which categories of 
work are the responsibility of governing bodies to finance from their delegated 
budget shares and which repairs and maintenance expenditure is deemed to be 
capital and is to be retained by the LA (where applicable). 

 

Page 237



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  16 

 
4.2 Allocation of Budgets to Budget Managers 
 
4.2.1   Dependent on the size of the school and the complexity of the budgetary control 

system required, there will be a need to create cost centres in order to allocate 
budgets to Budget Managers.  The responsibilities of each Budget Manager should 
be clearly defined.  The Budget Manager will then become responsible for controlling 
expenditure within the relevant budget heading.  The following budgets will be 
required in all schools: 
 
➢ Staff costs 
➢ Educational supplies 
➢ Premises, central costs and other costs. 

 
Schools s may consider additional budget headings.  However it is important that the 
budget responsibility aligns with the management structure. 

 
4.2.2 The budget managers may divide their budgets between a number of budget holders 

who will then be responsible for all expenditure incurred against their budget.  The 
budget holders would then be answerable to the budget manager who would monitor 
expenditure incurred by each budget holder.  Dependent on the size of the school, 
the educational supplies budget may be divided between either subject area, key 
stage or year co-ordinator. 

 

4.3 Monitoring 
 

4.3.1 The Head Teacher is responsible for producing monthly budget monitoring reports 
for income and expenditure, including sums committed but not yet paid and outturn 
forecasts, against the approved budget. Income and expenditure should be 
monitored in accordance with the “Scheme of Financial Delegation” (For a template 
scheme of delegation see Appendix 1).  

 
4.3.2 The Head Teacher is responsible for providing budget monitoring reports to the 

school finance committee at least once a term.  These should show any significant 
variances against the budget with explanatory notes and, where necessary, remedial 
action plans including virements. The LA will permit schools to plan for a deficit 
budget only with the prior permission of the Director of Education.  The details as 
stipulated in the Scheme for Financing Schools must be complied with.  

 
4.3.3 The Head Teacher should monitor expenditure on the initiatives set out in the School 

Development Plan. Even if there is insufficient budgetary provision a School 
Governing Body may incur expenditure for exceptional items required under the 
school’s statutory obligation or to carry out any repair, replacement or other work 
which is of such extreme urgency that it must be done immediately. When such an 
occasion arises, the Head Teacher shall advise the LA promptly. 
 

4.3.4 Head Teachers (or delegated officers such as Bursars) are responsible for 
producing monthly cash flow forecasts to ensure that the school bank accounts do 
not go overdrawn.   

 
 

Page 238



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  17 

 

4.4 Reporting 
 
4.4.1 An annual financial return should be submitted by the Head Teacher to the Director 

of  Education as soon as practical after the end of each financial year but within a 
timescale determined by the Local Education Authority as stipulated in the 
framework of the scheme for Consistent Financial Reporting (CFR). 

 
4.5 Approved Banks and Building Societies 
 
4.5.1 The banks and building societies which may be used for the purpose of receiving 

budget share payments are specified below:  
 

 Royal Bank of Scotland Group (includes Nat West).  

 HSBC.  

 Barclays.  

 Lloyds TSB Group (includes Bank of Scotland).  

 Santander (includes Abbey National and Alliance & Leicester).  

 Nationwide.  
 
 
 

Page 239



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  18 

5    ORDERS FOR GOODS, WORKS & SERVICES 
 

Contact:  Schools’ Finance Team/Internal Audit  
 

5.1 Responsibilities 
 
5.1.1 The governing body should determine which staff in their school should be allowed 

to be Initiating Officers and raise and sign orders on their behalf. (For more 
information on the separation of duties see FR 7.3). Head Teachers are normally 
responsible for the control of all orders held and issued by their school. 
 

5.1.2 It shall be the responsibility of a member of staff issuing an order to ensure, as far as 
is responsible and practicable, that value for money is obtained in respect of each 
transaction.   

 
5.1.3 All goods, works and services ordered shall be for the exclusive use of the school.  
 
5.1.4 All leasing arrangements must have the governing body’s prior approval. 
 
5.1.5  The school will retain ownership of any goods or equipment purchased and has the 

ultimate responsibility for ensuring that contracts are fulfilled and invoices paid. 
 
5.2 Raising an Official Order 
 
5.2.1 An official order, or its equivalent, must be raised for all goods, works and services 

except: 
 
(i) where a specific formal contract exists which does not incorporate any facility 

for the regular draw-down of services; 
 

(ii) rents, business rates, council tax and utility services as supplies of a 
continuous and obligatory nature; 
 

(iii) petty cash payments. 
 

(iv) inspection copy for books delivered to school 
 

5.2.2 In urgent cases only, an oral order may be made. In such cases the serial number of 
the written order which must be issued as confirmation should be quoted to the 
supplier, together with details of the ordering establishment.  The confirmation order 
should be despatched the same day where possible and certainly no later than 
within two working days and should be clearly marked “confirmation only”.  

 
5.2.3 Where a school utilises Order Requisitions as well as Orders, then this may be 

regarded as the initiating document. All controls and requirements hereby placed on 
Orders should be taken to also apply to Order Requisitions. 
 
 
 

Page 240



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  19 

5.3 Requirements of an Official Order 
 

 
5.3.1 Official orders, or their equivalent, shall as a minimum: 

 
(i) be clearly identifiable as an order from the School, including invoice address, 

staff contact etc.; 
 

(ii) be serially numbered; 
 

(iii) be physically or electronically signed by an authorised signatory; 
N.B. The method by which an official order is issued is at the discretion of the 
initiating officer. This may be via post or (with the Governing Body’s initial 
approval) by internet e-mail or via the supplier’s web site.  A copy of all 
authorised orders should be retained. 

 
(iv) include sufficient information, and any appropriate terms and conditions, on 

the goods, works or services being ordered (including prices and quantities) 
to enable adequate pre-payment checks to be undertaken in accordance with 
Section 7 of these Financial Regulations. 

 
5.4 Orders and Authority 
 
5.4.1 Before an order is raised for the purchase of goods or services, you need to ensure 

that there are sufficient funds available, not already committed for the purchase of 
other items, to meet the estimated cost of the order. 

 
5.4.2 However, there are specific circumstances (e.g. urgent repair or maintenance) 

where these conditions may not be met – For further guidance on such 
circumstances, please see FR 4.3.3. 

 
5.5 Value for Money 
 
5.5.1 The Governing Body and Head Teacher are responsible for obtaining value for 

money when purchasing goods works and services. 
 

5.5.2 Before placing an order the Initiating Officer shall estimate the probable cost of the 
goods, works or services required.  This estimate cost will determine the normal 
procedures to be followed in obtaining quotations or tenders.  These procedures are 
outlined in the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules which have been issued to all 
schools.   
 

5.5.3 In order to ensure best value, at least three competitive quotes must be obtained in 
writing or via authorised e-mail where costs exceed £5,000. Where this is not 
practical to do so, the reasons must be submitted to the Finance Committee and/or 
governing body, in writing. 

 
5.5.4 Schools are required to inform the Finance Committee of any expenditure incurred 

over £5,000 where quotations were not sought.  
 

Page 241



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  20 

5.5.5 In determining the estimated cost of goods, works or services the following shall 
apply: 
 
(i) staff shall not sub-divide work which could reasonably be treated as a single 

contract; 
 
(ii) the total estimated value of orders for a year for a given type of goods, works 

or services should, wherever practicable, be amalgamated when determining 
purchasing procedures.  

 
(iii) if a contract / arrangement is for a period greater than one year then the 

estimated value of orders to be placed over the full period should be used to 
determine the appropriate procedure; 
 

(iv) where contracts run year to year with the school or Contractor having the 
option to terminate on notice the value of the contract shall be calculated over 
the period prior to the date when the break clause may first be exercised; 
 

(v) where leasing arrangements are used, the total amount payable over the life 
of the lease shall determine the appropriate procedure; 
 

(vi) where contracts entail both revenue and capital costs (e.g. acquisition and 
support for IT systems) the revenue costs shall be estimated according to 
paragraph (iii) above; 
 

(vii) if the lowest quote obtained exceeds the upper limit applicable to the 
procedure selected, the Head Teacher should consider whether the 
procedures for the higher category should be applied.  If this is not considered 
appropriate, the reasons for not applying higher category procedures should 
be recorded. 

 
5.6 Insufficient Quotations 
 
5.6.1 For orders valued at between £5,000 - £100,000, if at least  two quotations are 

received the relevant Head Teacher shall have authority to accept a quote which 
they consider represents best value to the school and is within 10% of the approved 
budget subject to agreement of the school governing body. 

 
5.6.2 Where the selected quote exceeds the approved budget by more than 10% the 

Head Teacher shall determine whether to seek further quotes or seek approval of a 
supplementary budget from the relevant governing body sub-committee. 

 
5.7 Exceptions to Quotations for Goods, Works and Services 

 
In the following circumstances, competitive quotations are not required: 

 
5.7.1 If the Head Teacher and Chair of the Governing Body consider that there are special 

circumstances which justify the need to waive the requirement for competitive 
quotes, they may, upon documenting the reasons and with the specific approval of 
the Chair of the Governing Body, award the contract by way of negotiating or re-

Page 242



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  21 

negotiating. 
 

5.7.2 Where the goods, work or services required by the school are of such an urgent or 
specialised nature that in the opinion of the Head Teacher it is not reasonably 
practicable to obtain such quotations. 
 

5.7.3 Where a contract has been entered into with another local or public authority for the 
supply of goods, services or works e.g. consortium, it shall not be necessary to seek 
competitive quotations provided the said local or public authority can satisfy the 
Head Teacher that they have done so in initially selecting their supplier / provider.   

Page 243



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  22 

 

6 CONTRACTS 
 

Contacts:  Head of Procurement 
 

6.1.1 The Corporate Contract Procedure Rules should be referred to for all matters 
relating to Contracts. Copies of this document have been issued to all Bromley 
maintained schools and will be available on request from 
procurement@bromley.gov.uk. 
 

6.1.2 The principles and procedures set out in the Corporate Contract Procedures Rules 
must be followed but the roles, responsibility and authorisation will need to be 
adapted for schools. References to the Legal, Procurement and Finance Teams 
should be substituted by the school with the resources available in the school and to 
fit in with the established decision-making and governance processes.  School 
Governors will deliver the governance and scrutiny role undertaken by Members for 
Corporate contracts. The school’s Finance Committee and the Full Governing Body 
replace any references to the Authority’s Committees.  For Officer responsibilities 
detailed in the Contract Procedure Rules, the school should identify their own 
hierarchy of responsibility, but the Head Teacher has overall responsibility for the 
financial management and is therefore seen as the budget holder.                                                                                    
 

6.1.3 The Council’s Procurement Team will be the point of contact to offer advice and 
guidance but the responsibility for all procurement will be with the school. 

 

Page 244

mailto:procurement@bromley.gov.uk


Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  23 

 
7  PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 

                                                Contacts:  Internal Audit / Schools’ Finance Team 
 

7.1 Payment Arrangements 
 
7.1.1 The governing body is responsible for making safe and efficient arrangements for all 

payment of accounts. All payments on behalf of the school shall therefore be made 
by the governing body or under arrangements approved by them. 

 
7.1.2 Payments should normally only be made against official invoices received from 

suppliers, and not against statements, delivery notes etc.  
 
7.1.3 Payment against copy invoices (i.e. duplicates / photocopies) should only be made 

where detailed checking has confirmed that no payment has been made against an 
original and the member of staff should endorse the copy invoice to that effect. E-
mailed invoices are acceptable. E-mailed invoices must contain the full company 
name and details, as with standard invoices. 
 

7.1.4 The Governing Body shall be responsible for deciding the most appropriate method 
of payment for categories of invoice. Payments may be made via cheques or 
electronic transfer (e.g. BACS) where appropriate controls are in place. Cheques 
should be despatched independently of ordering or payments staff. 

 
7.1.5 Payments in advance should only be made where there is no practical alternative, 

and the reasons should be recorded. Any invoice subsequently obtained should be 
filed with the original payment documentation, and endorsed appropriately to prevent 
duplicate payments. 
 

7.2 Authorised Signatories 
 
7.2.1 Each Governing Body shall determine persons in their School authorised to sign for 

all main financial transactions on their behalf. These should as a minimum include: 
 
i orders for goods, works or services; 
ii payment of accounts; 
iii travel, subsistence and special assistance claims; 
iv payroll documents (e.g. overtime claims, timesheets) 
v recommendations for write-off 

 
7.2.2 The governing body shall maintain up to date lists of all authorised persons together 

with copies of their specimen signatures, initials and any financial limits that apply. 
Additionally, copies of these lists and specimen signatures shall be provided to the 
Director of Finance and Director of Education where prime documents are 
processed under procedures within his control (i.e. in the event of financial 
delegation being withdrawn). 

 
 
 

Page 245



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  24 

7.3 Separation of Duties 
 
7.3.1 Each Governing Body is responsible for ensuring, so far as is reasonably 

practicable, that there is adequate internal separation of duties in their department in 
relation to significant financial transactions. For example: 
 
➢ staff responsible for calculating, checking and recording monies due to or due 

to be paid by the school  shall not receive or make such payments; 
 
➢ staff examining and checking the accounts of cash transactions shall not carry 

out (i.e. process) such transactions; 
 
➢ staff who sign orders, confirm receipt of goods or services, and certify 

payments shall not perform more than one function for the same transaction. 
 
7.3.2 Head Teachers should ensure that all invoices input onto the school financial 

database for payment have been properly authorised and certified, with evidence in 
the form of signatures of at least three designated officers having been involved in 
the whole process (ordering / receipt of goods or services / payment). The Director 
of Finance must specifically approve exceptions to this requirement e.g. where less 
than three officers are involved in the process. 
 

7.3.3 Head Teachers may delegate the authority to authorise and certify invoices to 
members of staff within their establishment. Head Teachers must maintain up to 
date lists of members of staff in their establishment together with specimen 
signatures and any financial limits that apply. 
 

7.3.4 All payments of invoices or accounts for payment shall be approved by at least two 
members of staff (prior to input onto the schools financial database), neither of 
whom has signed the original order. 

 
7.3.5 Each Head Teacher shall arrange a suitable division of staff duties within their 

school so that the member of staff who certifies an individual invoice for payment 
shall not be the person who either approved the order, or has confirmed the receipt 
of goods or completion of the work concerned. 

 
7.3.6 Employees are not permitted to certify payments to themselves or to another 

employee who is related.  
 
7.3.7 The following role definitions will normally apply (notwithstanding that different terms 

may be in common day to day use within schools s): 
 

(a) Initiating Officer role: a member of staff authorised by their governing body to 
sign official orders (or order requisitions where utilised) on behalf of the school. 
They would normally identify the potential supplier, ensure budget provision is 
available and best value is obtained, by using or their own knowledge and 
experience, in accordance with Section 5 of these Financial Regulations. 
 
Schools may of course prefer that one member of staff completes an order 
requisition form for approval by a manager but this is not a requirement of 

Page 246



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  25 

School’s Financial Regulations. In such cases, it may be that the manager 
takes responsibility for checking budget provision and demonstrating best 
value. However, the manager who signs the order is deemed the Initiating 
Officer and he/she therefore cannot authorise or certify the invoice. 

 
(b) Authorising Officer role: a member of staff other than (a) or (c), who passes an 

invoice for certification, having confirmed receipt of goods or services and 
checked arithmetical accuracy, quantities, prices etc. to the original order. This 
member of staff may in practice be the person who requested the goods / 
services as they will often be best placed to confirm the order has been 
delivered accurately. 

 
(c) Certifying Officer role: a member of staff other than (a) or (b), designated by the 

School Governing Body to certify individual invoices for payment. In certifying 
an invoice for payment the Certifying Officer is indicating that all relevant 
Financial Regulations have been complied with and evidenced in paying the 
invoice, prior to input and certification onto school financial system. 

 
(d) Cheque Signatory role: the school Governing Body should determine a 

minimum of four cheque signatories of which two should sign each cheque for 
the school bank account.  The cheque signatories may include any of the 
persons (a) – (c) above. 

 
7.4 Checking Required 
 
7.4.1 The overriding principle to be adhered to is that authorisation and certification 

checks should be meaningful. To this end, they should be carried out and evidenced 
by those members of staff who are in a position to judge, for instance, whether 
goods / services have actually been received or whether invoice prices are correct. 
The evidence should also be unambiguous e.g. an isolated signature on an invoice 
does not make it clear what has been checked or what is being authorised or 
certified and is therefore not acceptable. 

 
7.4.2 Certifying Officers are responsible for ensuring that adequate checks are performed 

and evidenced prior to the payment of an invoice to satisfy themselves that the 
payment is accurate and due to be paid. The following checks are regarded by the 
Director of Finance to be good practice. 
 

 
7.4.3 For all invoices: 
 

(a) where appropriate, a match is made with the official order, agreement, or 
other document authorising the expenditure; 
 

(b) payment details are recorded on the official order or other suitable record; 
 

(c) prices are in accordance with quotations or are otherwise reasonable; 
 
(d) that the invoice arithmetic is correct 
 

Page 247



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  26 

(e) goods have been received, examined and approved with regard to quantity 
and quality and / or that work done or services rendered have been 
satisfactorily carried out or provided  

 
(f) where VAT is charged that the invoice carries the VAT registration number of 

the supplier; 
 

(g) the invoice has not been previously passed for payment; 
 

(h) the invoice is a proper liability of the school, has been duly authorised and is, 
to the best of the member of staff’s belief, legal expenditure. 

 
7.5 Credit Cards 
 
7.5.1 It is identified that there are circumstances within schools when payment by credit 

card may be considered more suitable.  In circumstances when this payment 
method is deemed necessary, the following controls should be strictly implemented: 

 
 

(a) The governing body should approve a list of authorised users, restrictions on 
the use of the card’s spending limits and written instructions on the scope and 
use of the cards. 
 

 (b) A member of staff, who is not a card signatory, should be appointed to control 
the use of the cards and a signing-out procedure implemented for the issue of 
cards to authorised staff. 
 

(c) Documentary proof of any goods purchased with the charge or credit card 
including details of the nature and cost of those goods should be returned to 
the person responsible for recording charge card transactions as soon after 
purchase as is reasonably practical. 

 
(d) Transactions should be reconciled to statements by someone other than the 

card signatory. 
 

(e) The school should ensure adequate arrangements are in place to protect 
them against fraud and corruption by misuse of the card either with the credit 
card company or through their insurance policy. 

 
(f) The Local Authority to be notified as soon as possible of any amendments to 

existing arrangements or any new credit card accounts that are established 
including details of credit limits and authorised users. 

 
 
7.6 Purchasing on the internet with approved cards. 
 
7.6.1  The Royal Bank of Scotland are the approved providers of a purchase card.  Cards 

should be allocated to authorised users who sign up to conditions of use. 
 

Page 248



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  27 

7.6.2  Controls should include those for use of a credit card as detailed in 7.5.1 (a) to (f) of 
these Regulations.  Conditions of use should include safe storage of the card and 
adhering to limits that are set, cash withdrawal should not be permitted.    

 
7.6.3   The following step-by-step guide to using a card over the Internet has been devised 

as good practice. 
 
 
1. Use secure websites (indicated by a padlock icon, the web address includes "https" 

rather than "http").  You normally get a message saying that you are being 
transferred to a secure connection.  You can check encryption is being employed by 
going to File and then choosing Properties. 

 
2.  As long as you use the card wisely, the School is protected from fraud. 
 
3.  Employ adequate password security. 
 
4.  Use "trusted suppliers" - it should not be difficult to draw up a suppliers list. 
 
5.  Ensure supplier has an encryption certificate. 
 
6.  Where e-mails are used for notification, the best system has truncated details (do 

not use suppliers who use the full card number). 
 
7.  Print a copy of online transactions.  This should include items purchased, total 

amount, trader name, contact information, unique order number.  Note also the 
telephone number and address. 

 
8.  Query anything you are unsure of by telephoning the Company. 
 
9.  If you are unsure of whether to pursue, use an alternative form of transaction. 

 
 

 
7.7 Late Payment of Debts 
 
7.7.1 Guidance on Late Payment of Debts legislation is set out in Appendix 3 
 
 
 

Page 249



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  28 

8 PETTY CASH AND IMPREST ACCOUNTING 
 

Contact:  Schools Finance Team/Internal Audit  
                                                                                        

8.1 Agreed Level of Petty Cash 
 
8.1.1 The governing body may, at their discretion and at the request of Head Teachers, 

make available petty cash floats to facilitate the cost-effective payment of minor 
items of expenditure on behalf of the school. The governing body should set out in 
writing an appropriate level for the amount of petty cash to be held. This amount 
should represent a balance between convenience and the risk of holding cash on 
the premises.  

 
8.2 Control and Operation of Petty Cash  
 
8.2.1 Any member of staff to whom petty cash has been made available shall be 

responsible for the control and operation of the petty cash float. In particular, each 
such member of staff shall:  

 
(i) ensure that vouchers are obtained and retained to substantiate payments 

made; 
 

(ii) ensure that receipts, where possible, relating to expenditure from a petty cash 
float are attached to the relevant voucher; 
 

(iii) ensure the safe custody of petty cash monies in their possession; 
 

(iv) restrict the amount of any individual payment to an agreed amount above 
which prior approval should be obtained from the Head Teacher. Petty cash 
holders must not sub-divide payments to a single recipient;  
 

(v) ensure that the account is reconciled regularly,  that regular reimbursement is 
sought and that the adequacy of the petty cash amount/continuing need for 
the petty cash is regularly reviewed; 
 

(vi) where applicable, sign a statement at the end of each financial year 
confirming the amount of the imprest held. This should also be counter-signed 
by a senior member of staff. 

 
8.2.2 If it becomes apparent that the current level of petty cash is insufficient, the items on 

which the petty cash is expended should be reviewed. If it is clear that there is no 
reasonable alternative to expenditure through the petty cash float, a formal approval 
to have it increased should be granted by the governing body. 

  
8.2.3 No member of staff shall authorise their own claims from a petty cash float. 
 
8.2.4 Expenditure which should form part of the payroll system, e.g. car allowances, shall 

not be processed through petty cash accounts. 
 
 

Page 250



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  29 

8.3 Security of Petty Cash  
 
8.3.1 All schools’ holding petty cash should ensure that, at all times, cash is adequately 

secured. As a minimum this should be in a cash box within a lockable drawer.  
 
8.4 Imprest Accounting 
 
8.4.1 The encashment of personal cheques and the advancing of loans from an imprest 

account is strictly forbidden. 
 
8.4.2 The general principle of imprest accounting is that at any time the cash and bank 

balance, together with the aggregate value of any receipts on hand, non-reimbursed 
claims and cheques not credited should total the approved imprest account balance. 
At no stage should the cash balance be allowed to fall below zero. 
 

Page 251



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  30 

9 VAT 
 

Contact: Principal Accountant – Chief Executives Department 
 
9.1 General 
 
9.1.1 Head Teachers must ensure that VAT is identified and correctly accounted for in 

respect of all income and expenditure (including imprests or petty cash) in 
accordance with current VAT regulations.  Failure to do so can lead to loss of 
income and/or imposition of penalties by Revenue and Customs       

 
9.1.2 All limits shown in these Regulations exclude VAT. 
 
9.1.3 Members of staff responsible for instigating income collection for the school shall 

satisfy themselves that the school has complied with the relevant VAT legislation 
with regard to the supply of its services. 

 
9.2 Payment of VAT 
 
9.2.1 VAT should not be paid unless the supplier’s VAT registration number is shown on 

the invoice. Members of staff responsible for authorising payments (as defined in 
Section 7 of these Regulations) shall satisfy themselves that all suppliers’ invoices 
for goods, works or services have complied with relevant VAT legislation. 

 
9.2.2 VAT should only be accounted for on imprest or petty cash payments where the 

supplier’s VAT registration number is shown on the receipt. 
 

9.3 VAT Returns 
 
9.3.1 All schools should complete and return their monthly VAT returns to the Chief 

Executives Department by 15th of each month following the month in question (e.g. 
April’s return due 15th May).  In the event of any problem which may cause delay, 
schools should notify Schools Finance Team or the Chief Executives Department as 
soon as possible. 

 
9.3.2 For Secondary Schools, the VAT return should include a brief summary of VAT on 

all returns exceeding £10,000 
For Primary schools, the VAT return should include a brief summary of VAT on all 
returns exceeding £5,000 
Schools should attach copies of any invoices, which include VAT of more than 
£1,000 to their VAT returns. 

 
9.4 Further Information 
 
9.4.1 Further guidance and advice on VAT matters is contained at Appendix 4 and is also 

available from the Chief Executives Department Accountancy Section.

Page 252



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  31 

10 SALARIES, WAGES & PENSIONS 
 

Contact: Internal Audit    
 
10.1 Payments  
 
10.1.1 All payments of salaries, pensions, compensation and other emoluments to all 

employees shall be made by the governing body or under arrangements approved 
by them. 
 

10.1.2 All payments, including travel, subsistence and other allowances shall be made in 
accordance with current legislation, Revenue and Customs Regulations and relevant 
decisions of the LA and School Governing Body.  
 

10.2 Authorisation 
 
10.2.1 Each governing body should nominate those members of staff within their school 

who will be authorised to certify timesheets, overtime claims and claims for travelling 
and subsistence. A list of such members of staff, together with specimen signatures, 
shall be maintained by the Head Teacher. Changes shall be notified promptly as 
they occur. 
 

10.3 Notifications to HR and Payroll 
 
10.3.1 Each Head Teacher, or their nominated representative, shall notify their  payroll 

and/or HR provider as soon as is practicable of all matters affecting the payment of 
emoluments by the school and in particular: 

 
(i) appointments, resignations, retirements, dismissals, suspensions, 

secondments, transfers and deaths, and for pensions, changes in marital 
status, dependants and deaths; 
 

(ii) amounts to be recovered from pay e.g. repayment of training expenses on 
leaving; 
 

(iii) absences from duty for sickness or other reason (e.g. jury service), apart 
from approved paid leave; 
 

(iv) changes in remuneration (either permanent or temporary), other than 
normal increments, pay awards and agreements of general application; 
 

(v) information necessary to maintain records of service for pensions, income 
tax, national insurance etc. This will include information on benefits in kind 
necessary to complete Inland Revenue forms P11D for employees e.g. 
leased cars; 
 

(vi)    all time sheets affecting payments due. 
 

10.3.2      Notification may be by on-line entry into systems where appropriate. 
 

Page 253



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  32 

 
10.4 Disclosure of Officers’ Emoluments 
 
10.4.1 The school shall disclose to the LA the number of officers whose emoluments in the 

year were £50,000 or more, grouped in rising bands of £10,000. It is a requirement 
of the CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice and Accounts and Audit Regulations 
(Regulations) 2015 that this is included in the LA annual statement of accounts. 
 

10.5 Self-Employed Status 
 
10.5.1 All payments to individuals, who consider themselves to be self-employed in respect 

of services provided to the school, shall still be processed through the payroll system 
unless the status of the individual has been confirmed as self-employed in 
accordance with the latest HMRC Guidelines. All casual and part-time employees 
will nevertheless be included on the payroll. 
 

10.6 Travel, Subsistence & Other Allowances 
 

10.6.1 All claims for the payment of car allowances, subsistence allowances, travelling and 
incidental expenses in relation to the performance of official duties shall be 
completed in a form approved by the School Governing Body, and paid in 
accordance with approved school procedures as currently in force. 

 
10.6.2 Below Head Teacher level, claims by members of staff must be certified by an 

appropriate line manager, authorised to do so by their Head Teacher. Once claims 
are authorised, this indicates that the journeys were authorised, the expenses 
properly and necessarily incurred and that the allowances are properly payable by 
the school. 

 
10.7 Teachers Pensions Returns (applicable to ex-Grant Maintained Schools and those 

schools that do not receive payroll via LBB) 
 

10.7.1 In accordance with the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, the LA is 
responsible for the remittance of all Teachers Pension Agency contributions 
including Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC’s).   

 
10.7.2 Schools are required to notify the Local Authority by the 28th of each month what the 

total pension and AVC deductions are for each School.  Payments will then be paid 
to Teachers Pensions Agency and Prudential by the Local Authority with a deduction 
the following month from each school budget share payment.  Payments to 
Teachers Pension Agency and Prudential will be made by the 7th each month. 

Page 254



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  33 

11 COLLECTION OF INCOME 
 

Contact:  Schools’ Finance Team/Internal Audit 
 
11.1 Monies Due 
 
11.1.1 The identification of all monies due to the school is the responsibility of the School 

Governing Body. 
 
11.1.2 Head Teachers will take prompt action to either:  
 

(i) collect the income due within arrangements approved by the School 
Governing Body; or 

 
(ii) collect all income due or to ensure that appropriate recovery procedures are 

undertaken where necessary  
 

11.2 Receipt of Monies  
 
11.2.1 Where appropriate (i.e. excluding school dinner monies), every remittance or sum of 

money received by a member of staff at the school shall immediately be 
acknowledged by the issue of an official receipt. 

 
11.2.2 If a payer by cheque does not require a receipt, the amount should still be recorded 

with the receipt being retained. The form of all receipts or other official documents in 
use should be approved by the Governing Body. Receipt books should be serially 
numbered and a register should be kept of all receipts and issues of such 
documents to members of staff, which shall be acknowledged by the signature of the 
recipient. 
 

11.2.3 All monies received on behalf of the school should be paid forthwith at the 
Governing Body’s instructions either to an appointed contractor or be banked direct 
to the credit of the school.  Every employee who receives monies shall maintain a 
record, in a form approved by the Governing Body, of all amounts received and 
deposited. 
 

11.3 Transfers of Money  
 
11.3.1 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another will be 

evidenced in the records of the school concerned by the signature of the receiving 
officer. 

 
11.4 Banking  
 
11.4.1 All bankings must be made promptly and intact i.e. personal cheques should not be 

cashed out of money received on behalf of the school and official expenditure should 
not be incurred (i.e. school meals income) from monies collected and due to be 
banked. 

 

Page 255



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  34 

11.4.2 All members of staff responsible for banking monies should ensure that individual 
cheques are listed clearly on the reverse of the bank paying-in slip or 
comprehensive listing. Each member of staff who so banks should also enter on the 
paying-in slip a reference to the related debt (such as the receipt number or the 
name of the debtor) or otherwise indicate the origin of the cheque. 

 
11.5 Security of money held 
 
11.5.1 Responsibility for the safe keeping of all school monies must be designated by Head 

Teachers to specified members of staff within their establishments. 
 
11.5.2 Where monies are held overnight, secure arrangements must exist for their 

safekeeping.  Keys to safes and other secure containers should be carried on the 
person of the key-holder or kept under secure conditions.   
 

11.6 Charges 
 
11.6.1 All charges determined by the school shall be reviewed at least annually by the 

appropriate Governing Body Sub-Committee.  Such reviews should consider the 
possibility of introducing charges where none are currently made. 
 

11.7 Write-offs 
 

11.7.1 The Governing Body may write-off bad debts up to £1,000 for Secondary Schools 
and up to £500 for Primary Schools 

11.7.2  Approval for all write-offs should be detailed in committee minutes. No uncollectable 
amounts above the limits set above including bad debts, should be written off except 
with the approval of the Director of Finance, whether exercised personally or 
properly delegated by him to a member of his staff for this purpose.  

 
11.7.3 Any decision to write-off an amount must be taken with the authority of the Director 

of Finance, as stipulated in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 whether 
exercised personally or properly delegated by him to a member of his staff. The 
amounts involved, and approval granted, should be recorded in the accounting 
records. 

 
11.7.4 For further guidance on write-off procedures see Appendix 5. 
 
 

Page 256



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  35 

12 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 

Contact:  Internal Audit / Schools Finance Team 
 
12.1 LBB Banking arrangements 
 
12.1.1 For schools that bank via LBB banking arrangements, any changes in the formal 

signatories should be notified to the authority along with a sample of the signature. 
 
12.1.2 Schools should consider banking via the authorities main bankers, currently HSBC. 

Favourable interest rates and reduced charges are advantages to be considered. 
 
12.2 HSBC Banking 
 
12.2.1 Schools are able to view their balances and statements on-line 
 
12.2.2 All banking arrangements should be made by or via the Head Teacher, who is 

responsible for liaising with the school bankers in relation to the school bank 
accounts and the issue of cheques.   

 
12.2.3 The Head Teacher shall be authorised to operate such subsidiary bank accounts as 

they deem necessary. Only the Head Teacher may open or close a bank account for 
dealing with the school’s funds. All bank accounts shall be in the name of the school 
and never an individual. 

 
12.3 Overdraft Facility 
 
12.3.1 School bank accounts shall not be permitted to become overdrawn. 
 
12.4 Bank Reconciliations 
 
12.4.1 The Head Teacher shall ensure that the school’s main bank account is reconciled at 

least once a month and subject to independent review, with large or unusual items 
investigated as appropriate. 

 
12.4.2 The Head Teacher shall ensure that all subsidiary accounts under their control are 

reconciled at least once a month, and subject to independent review, with large or 
unusual items investigated as appropriate. 
 

12.5 Cheques 
 
12.5.1 Cheque stationery shall be ordered only on the authority of the Head Teacher, who 

shall ensure that adequate bank records are maintained and regularly reconciled to 
records of cheques issued by the school. 

 
12.5.2 Adequate security arrangements shall be maintained by the Head Teacher for all 

unused cheques for accounts under their control. 
 

Page 257



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  36 

12.5.3 Cheques should only be signed by approved signatories after the cheque (including 
its counterfoil) has been completed in full.  They should not be pre-signed under any 
circumstances. 

 
12.5.4 All cheques must bear the signatures of two signatories approved by the governing 

body. 
 
12.6 Approved Banks and Building Societies 
 
12.6.1 Accounts for receiving budget share payments and managing the school's financial 

affairs may only be held at any one of the banks or building societies as determined 
by the Director of Finance. These banks and building societies are as follows:-  

• Royal Bank of Scotland Group (includes Nat West).  

• HSBC.  

• Barclays.  

• Lloyds TSB Group (includes Bank of Scotland).  

• Santander (includes Abbey National and Alliance & Leicester).  

• Nationwide.  
 

These restrictions do not apply to School Voluntary Fund bank accounts. 
 
12.7 Closing Accounts 
 
12.7.1 Any school closing an account used to receive its budget share and opening another 

must select the new bank or building society from the approved list, even if the 
closed account was not with an institution on that list. 

 
 

 

 

Page 258



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  37 

13 ASSETS 
 

Contact:  Internal Audit 
 
13.1 Responsibility of Head Teacher 
 
13.1.1 Head Teachers are responsible for the safe custody of all assets, including plant, 

machinery, vehicles, furniture, equipment and other non-consumable property held 
within their school. 
 

13.2 Asset Register  
 
13.2.1 Each Head Teacher shall maintain either manual or electronic inventories listing all 

movable equipment (but not furniture, filing cabinets etc) in the custody of their 
school which: 
 
(i) cost or is valued in its current condition at more than £1,000; or  
 
(ii) is attractive and portable; and 
 

13.2.2 The inventory should, where applicable, record details of make, model number etc of 
equipment held and wherever possible a serial number, and at least one copy 
should be held separately from the assets that it lists. 

 
13.2.3 Each Head Teacher shall arrange for physical verification of the items on their 

inventory records to be undertaken at least annually. This verification should be 
evidenced in writing, signed by the authorised member of staff and retained for audit 
purposes. 
 

13.3 Removal of property from school site  
 
13.3.1 The school’s property shall not be removed except in the normal course of the 

school’s business or used otherwise than for the school’s purposes unless 
specifically authorised by the Head Teacher. Where a Head Teacher authorises 
temporary removal of property, a formal record shall be maintained indicating where 
the property can be located and shall be signed by the member of staff responsible 
for its safekeeping. 
 

13.4 Identifying assets  
 

13.4.1 So far as is practical, all items should be effectively marked (using current security 
techniques e.g. invisible ink) as school property. 
 

13.5 Deletions from the asset register  
 

13.5.1 Head Teachers may authorise items to be deleted from an inventory of their School  
where: 

 
(i) the item has become obsolete and / or is no longer adequate for the purpose 

intended; 

Page 259



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  38 

 
(ii) the item is broken or worn and of no further useful purpose; 

 
(iii) the item has become surplus to requirements; 

 
(iv) has been lost or stolen, in which case the Director of Finance should be 

informed for insurance requirements (where applicable). 
 
13.6 Disposal of assets  
 
13.6.1 For disposal procedures see Section 14  
 

Page 260



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  39 

 
14 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 
 

Contact:  Internal Audit 
 
14.1 Obtaining Best Price  
 
14.1.1 Each School Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that the best 

possible price is obtained from the disposal of assets under their 
control. 
 

14.2 Assets under £1,000 
 
14.2.1 If assets to be disposed are under the value of £1000, they should be 

disposed of at the discretion of the Governing Body. 
 
14.3 Assets £1,000 to £40,000 
 
14.3.1 Where the estimated current value of the asset exceeds  £1,000 but is 

less than £40,000 the following should be considered: 
 
 (i) offer the item(s) to all schools and then Council Departments   
   
(ii) sealed tenders or offers; 
 
(iii) advertising; 
 
(iv) sale by public auction; 
 
(v) sales to staff (this method of disposal should be used only 

where there are good reasons for not pursuing other alternatives 
and should always be by sealed offers unless otherwise agreed 
by the Director of Finance). 

 
14.4 Assets exceeding £40,000 
 
14.4.1 Where the estimated value of the asset(s) is over £40,000, the 

tendering procedures in Section 6 of these Regulations shall be 
followed.  

 

Page 261



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  40 

15 LOANS AND INVESTMENTS AND LEASES 
 

Contact:  Schools Finance Team/Internal Audit  
 
15.1 Loan Agreements  
 
15.1.1 As schools do not have the legal powers to borrow, the school 

Governing Body should not enter into any loan agreements, other than 
with the LA, without the written permission of the Secretary of State for 
Education and Employment as stipulated in the Scheme for Financing 
Schools.  

 
15.2 Leases 
 
15.2.1 This prohibition also applies to some types of lease, which are 

equivalent to borrowing. Therefore, apart from operational leases such 
as those for photocopiers schools should seek the advice of the Local 
Authority for other types of leases.  

Page 262



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  41 

 
16  INSURANCE, SECURITY OF ASSETS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

Contact:  Insurance 
16.1 Introduction 
 
16.1.1 The School Governing Body shall be responsible for effecting or 

approving the arrangements for all insurance cover on behalf of the 
school. All such policies should be made available to the Director of 
Finance for inspection. The School Governing Body will also make 
arrangements to ensure that appropriate records are kept of all 
property and risks covered.  
 

16.1.2 In accordance with the Standards & Framework Act 1998, the LA 
will require the school to demonstrate that cover relevant to the LA’s 
insurable assets, under a policy arranged by the School Governing 
Body, is at least as good as the relevant minimum cover determined 
by the LA.  

 
16.1.3 The School Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that all 

appropriate employees of the school shall be included in suitable 
fidelity insurance. 
 

16.2 Assets 
 
N.B. - The following regulations apply where cover is arranged by the LA 
 
16.2.1 The Head Teacher shall notify the Insurance and Risk Manager 

promptly in writing of any proposals that will effect insurance 
arrangements.  Any additions, deletions or alterations in the 
functions of the establishment and any alterations or extensions to 
the school buildings, that could increase or decrease insurable risk 
should also be notified in writing.  The Insurance and Risk Manager 
will give advice as appropriate. 

 
16.2.2 All overnight cash holdings in safes must in practice be agreed with 

the Insurance Manager to effect Money Insurance cover, as this is 
covered internally as a risk rather than with external insurers. A safe 
schedule will then be maintained containing relevant details e.g. 
location, type, permitted maximum holding (as determined by the 
insurance market) and the agreed amount for the particular 
location. The overnight limit includes cash, postal orders, cheques 
and anything negotiable as money.  

16.2.3 Schools will be advised of maximum levels of cash holdings for 
insurance purposes. 

 
16.2.4 Head Teachers must ensure that the Insurance and Risk Manager is 

kept informed of any changes to the official departmental safe 
inventory, whether new safes or replacements. 

 

Page 263



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  42 

16.3 Off-site assets 
 
16.3.1 Any employee of the school  who is authorised to make use of their 

own vehicle in the execution of the school ’s business shall be 
responsible for effecting adequate insurance cover for such use and 
shall produce to their Head Teacher on request evidence of the 
adequacy of such cover, unless the school’s insurance policy 
specifies otherwise. 

 
16.3.2 Schools shall ensure that any item on the asset register taken off-site, 

are included under the insurance cover arranged either by the school 
or the LA. 
 

16.4 Claims 
 
N.B. - The following regulations apply where cover is arranged by the LA 
 
16.4.1 Head Teachers shall immediately notify the Insurance and Risk 

Manager and, where appropriate, the Police upon the occurrence of 
any loss, damage, liability or potential liability in connection with their 
school except that notification is not required if the value is less than 
£500 and results from malicious damage.  Initial notification may be by 
telephone.  Evidence supporting the claim should be provided in such 
form as may be required by the Insurance and Risk Manager. 
 

16.4.2 In respect of liability claims, no comment should be made to any third 
party and no action taken without first consulting with the Insurance 
Section. 

 
16.4.3 Head Teachers are responsible for ensuring that insurance limits are 

not exceeded in their establishments. 
 

16.5 Security  
 

16.5.1 Keys to safes and similar receptacles shall be in the safekeeping of 
those responsible at all times. The loss of any such keys shall be 
reported to the Head Teacher immediately 

 
16.5.2 Each School Governing Body is responsible for maintaining adequate 

security at all times for all assets under their control. All monies must 
be locked away when unattended and lockable cupboards should be 
used in the absence of a safe. 

 
16.5.3 Head Teachers and Governing bodies shall take steps to adhere to any 

financial systems of check in connection with Fidelity Guarantee 
Insurance. 

 
16.5.4 The Governing Body are responsible for maintaining proper security, at 

all times, for the buildings and assets under their control 
 

Page 264



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  43 

16.6 Contractors 
 
16.6.1 It is the responsibility of the Head Teacher to ensure that any 

contractors appointed by the school provide details of adequate, 
continuing public and product liability insurance. Seek advice from the 
Insurance Manager regarding adequate insurance cover for 
contractors. Where any contract is arranged via the LA , the 
responsibility for verifying insurance shall fall to the appointing officer 

 
16.7 Risk 
 
16.7.1 The Governing Body should ensure that a risk management process is 

maintained for the school.  
 
16.7.2 Head Teachers must: 
 

• ensure that adequate risk management controls are implemented, 
monitored and reviewed; 

• notify the Insurance and Risk Manager immediately of any loss, 
liability or damage that may lead to a claim against the Council or 
the school; 

• notify the Insurance and Risk Manager of all new risks, properties 
or vehicles that require insurance and of any alternations affecting 
existing insurances; 

• consult with the Insurance and Risk Manager and the Head of Legal 
on any terms or any indemnity that the Council is requested to enter 
into on behalf of the school. 

 
16.8 Further Contact 
 
16.8.1 Full details of information regarding insurance can be obtained from 

the Insurance and Risk  Manager , Finance Department   

Page 265



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  44 

17 INTERNAL AUDIT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
 

Contact: Head of Audit and Assurance  
 
17.1 Definition and Responsibilities 
 
17.1.1 Internal Auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting 

activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps as organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. 
The Charter for Bromley’s Internal Audit service is included at 
Appendix 6. 

 
17.1.2 An adequate and effective system of internal audit of the accounting 

records and control systems of the Authority will be maintained by the 
Director of Finance, under delegated authority from the Council. 

 
17.1.3 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Authority 

(“relevant body”) to maintain responsibility for internal audit, rather than 
the Responsible Financial Officer (RFO) designated under section 151 
of the Local Government Act 1972. However, Bromley, like many other 
local authorities, has delegated this responsibility to the Director of 
Finance. 

 
17.2 Access to documents and information for audit  
 
17.2.1 Upon production of proof of identity and authority, the Head of Audit 

and Assurance or his representative shall have the right to enter, 
without prior notice, every School  and require any officer, member, 
teacher or governor: 

 
(a) to make available all documents of the School which relate to 

their accounting and other records as appear to the auditor to be 
necessary for the purpose of the audit, including any information 
of a confidential nature; 

 
(b) to supply such explanations and information as are considered 

necessary for the purpose of the audit; and require any member 
of staff, Governing Body or agent of the School to account for 
assets under his/her control. 

 
(c) to produce cash, stores or any property of the School in their 

custody. 
 

(d) the Head of Audit and Assurance  or his representative shall be 
able to enter any Council premises or land, including the 
premises of Schools receiving delegated budgets from Bromley 
Local Education Authority;   

 

Page 266



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  45 

17.3 The Audit Cycle  
  

17.3.1 The schools audit cycle is based on an assessment of risks. An annual 
report is provided to the Audit Sub-Committee which includes the 
schools’ audits carried out during the previous year. 

 

17.4 Audit Reports 
 

17.4.1 All audit reports shall be presented by the Head Teacher to the 
Governing Body for consideration.  Where recommendations are 
accepted, their implementation shall be overseen by the Governing 
Body.  Recommendations may only be rejected where there are valid 
reasons for doing so, and these reasons have been notified to Internal 
Audit. 
 

17.5 Internal Control 
 
17.5.1 The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a 

reasonable level rather than to eliminate risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives. 

 
17.5.2 Head Teachers and Governors must ensure that adequate systems of 

internal control are established, adhered to, tested and reviewed. 

 
 

Page 267



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  46 

18 FRAUD & CORRUPTION 
 

Contact: Head of Audit and Assurance  
 
18.1 Reporting Irregularities 
 
18.1.1 Head Teachers and Governing Bodies under the Schools’ Raising 

Concerns (“whistleblowing”) procedure shall inform the Director of 
Finance immediately of any suspected irregularity affecting income, 
expenditure, cash, stores or other resource of the Council so that the 
Director of Finance may, if he considers it appropriate, conduct an 
independent investigation thereof. 
 

18.1.2 All employees have a responsibility for the security of the School’s 
assets. Any employee or Governor who becomes aware of non-
compliance with these Regulations or suspects any irregularity in 
respect of the Schools’ systems and procedures should immediately 
notify their Head Teacher, normally through their line manager.  If for 
any reason an employee or Governor feels unable to raise their 
concern through school management, they should do so through a 
nominated officer referring to the Council’s whistleblowing policy as 
detailed in section 3.7 of these Regulations.  
 

18.2 Further Guidance 
 
18.2.1 Further guidance is contained in the Fraud & Corruption Protocol at 

Appendix 7. 

Page 268



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  47 

19 INFORMATION SYSTEMS 
 

Contact:  Information Management / Internal Audit 
 

19.1 Data Protection  
 
19.1.1 Each School shall ensure that adequate procedures exist to ensure 

compliance with the Principles of the GDPR and UK DPA Act 2018 in 
respect of personal data held in computerised and manual information 
systems. More information on the requirements of the Act can be found 
at https://ico.org.uk/ 

 
Each Head Teacher shall nominate a Data Protection Officer  

• to inform and advise you and your employees about your obligations to 
comply with the GDPR and other data protection laws; 

• to monitor compliance with the GDPR and other data protection laws, 
and with your data protection polices, including managing internal data 
protection activities; raising awareness of data protection issues, 
training staff and conducting internal audits; 

• to advise on, and to monitor, data protection impact assessments; 
• to cooperate with the supervisory authority; and 
• to be the first point of contact for supervisory authorities and for 

individuals whose data is processed (employees, customers etc). 
 
 
19.2 Freedom of Information 
 
19.2.1 Each School shall comply with the requirements of the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000. 
 
19.3 Safeguarding Information 
 
19.3.1 Information should be safeguarded and adequate back-up procedures 

should be followed. Any copies taken off-site should be stored 
securely. 

 
19.3.2 All employees have a responsibility to ensure that they do not cause 

the loss, unauthorised destruction or disclosure of personal data in 
contravention of such Principles. 
 

19.3.3 Each Head Teacher shall be responsible for ensuring that access to 
computer systems under their responsibility is properly controlled (e.g. 
appropriate use of, and regular changing of, confidential passwords) 

 
19.4 Disaster Recovery Plan 
 
19.4.1 The Head Teacher shall establish a disaster recovery plan, which 

considers the recovery of records and data in the event of a serious 
incident such as a fire. Where possible this plan should be tested to 
ensure that school business shall continue as far as is possible. 

Page 269

https://ico.org.uk/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/accountability-and-governance/data-protection-impact-assessments/


Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  48 

 

19.5 Further Guidance  
 

19.5.1 Contact the Council’s Information Management Team 

Page 270



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  49 

 

20 VOLUNTARY FUNDS 
Contact:  Schools Finance Team 

 
20.1 Standards of Guardianship  
 
20.1.1 Voluntary funds often provide schools with a substantial additional 

source of income. Although such funds are not public money, the 
standards for the guardianship of these needs to be as rigorous as 
those for the administration of the school’s delegated budget. Parents, 
pupils and other benefactors are entitled to receive the same standards 
of stewardship for the funds to which they have contributed. 

 
20.2 Voluntary Fund Account 
 
20.2.1 Where a School operates a Voluntary Fund that incorporates a 

separate bank account, accounts should be drawn up annually, 
including:  

 

• A Balance Sheet 

• Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

20.2.2 Where the voluntary fund is merged into the main school fund, 
transactions for voluntary funds should be clearly identified. 

 
20.3 Audit of Voluntary Fund 
 
20.3.1 Voluntary fund accounts should be audited by a suitably qualified 

individual independent of the fund. The auditor should give assurance 
that the same standards of financial accounting which apply to income 
and expenditure for the school’s delegated budget are applied to the 
voluntary fund. 

 
20.3.2 The audited accounts and audit certificate should be presented to 

Governors as soon as possible after the end of the accounting year 
and their approval minuted. 

 
20.3.3 Internal Audit reserve the right to review the Voluntary Fund if required. 
 

Page 271



Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  50 

21 RETENTION OF DOCUMENTS  
 

Contact: Director of Education and Information Management Team  
 

21.1 Secure Retention 
 
21.1.1 Head Teachers shall be responsible for ensuring that the accounts and 

supporting records of the school are maintained securely in 
accordance with proper practices and for the safe custody and proper 
use of controlled stationery (i.e. having an implicit monetary value) 
within their establishment. 
 
Head Teachers shall ensure that accounting records are retained in 
safe custody for such period as shall be determined by the Director of 
Finance and no voucher or other document shall be destroyed before 
the specified period has elapsed. The Director has determined that the 
Financial, Payroll and Pension records should be kept in line with the 
Information and Records Management Society of the UK “School’s 
Toolkit”. Please follow the link below: 

              

IRMS Schools Toolkit 
 
 
21.2 Disposal of Documents 
 
21.2.1  Application of a current year +6 year retention for most financial 

records related to schools is likely to be an adequate minimum 
retention period, except for loans and grants and contracts under seal 
where current year + 12 years minimum is required.  
 

21.2.2 The ultimate disposal of financial records should be arranged by each 
Head Teacher as “confidential waste” and on no account should 
sensitive information be disposed of through the normal waste 
collection process. 
 

 
 

Page 272

https://irms.org.uk/page/SchoolsToolkit


Appendix 1 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  51 

APPENDIX 1: SCHOOL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT - LINE DELEGATION 
AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 
Governing Body 
 
Delegated powers for decision-making to:- 
 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 
(Via Terms of Reference) 
 
Finance Committee 
 
Budget Approval 
Virement approval over (amount agreed to be input) 
Monthly Monitoring Reports 
Termly reporting to full Governing Body 
Accountability to LA and Parents 
Delegation to HT 
 
Head Teacher 
 
Preparation of Draft Budget Report 
Reporting to Governors 
Virement of monies up to (amount agreed to be input) 
 
Weekly Monitoring 
Delegation to Senior Admin Officer 
Monitoring or Expenditure 
Authorising Orders/Invoices 
Ensure up to date inventories are kept of stock and other assets – checked 
annually 
Ensure compliance with schools Financial Regulations 
 
Staff who are Named Signatories 
 
To sign Cheques 
 
NB Three people to be involved in the whole payment process through 
from ordering to signing of cheque. 
 
Finance Officer or Equivalent 
 
See Tasks 
 
Tasks for the Finance Committee 
 
To report to the Governing Body termly, in writing 
 
To agree virement over £…….. (AMOUNT AGREED BY GOVERNORS TO 
BE INPUT) 

Page 273



Appendix 1 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  52 

 
To participate in Budget Setting  
 
To monitor Monthly Budget Reports 
 
To monitor expenditure against Budget and evaluate the outcomes 
 
 
Tasks for the Head Teacher 
 
 
Agreeing Budget Share Allocation with LA 
 
Drafting the Budget with Finance Committee 
 
Consulting the Deputy Head re Curriculum Budget, other Post holders and 
non teaching staff along with SIP priorities 
 
Monitoring of Budget Spending  
 
Approving Invoices for payment 
 
Signing Cheques in the absence of Deputy Head or other signatories 
 
Presentation of Accounts to Finance Committee (Budget Share 
Account/Voluntary Fund Account) 
 
Ensure that internal financial procedures and systems are followed 
 
Sign off bank reconciliation when completed 
 
 
Tasks for the Deputy Head 
 
Participation on the Finance Committee 
 
Signing Cheques 
 
Authorising Orders and Invoices in the absence of the Head Teacher 
 
 
Tasks for the Post holders and Site Manager 
 
Planning, presentation and monitoring of their particular curriculum and/or 
management budgets 
 

Page 274



Appendix 1 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  53 

Tasks for the Finance Officer or Equivalent 
 
To be responsible for:- 
 
Recording External Income 
 
Reconciling Bank Statement monthly 
 
Banking of all monies  
 
Raising all Orders 
 
Checking receipt of goods 
 
Checking Invoices – preparing for payment  
 
Payment of Invoices  
 
Signing of Cheques 
 
Checking correct coding to Ledger Code and Cost Centre 
 
Control of Petty Cash Accounts 
 
Monitoring of recording procedures 
 
Finance Committee monthly reports  
 
Monthly reports to Budget Holders re spending  
 
Ensuring regular back-up procedures are followed for computerised financial 
records 
 
Recording income and expenditure for School Voluntary Fund 
 
Preparing and submitting School Voluntary Fund for auditing 
 
Ensuring ‘value for money’ when ordering  
 
Chasing up outstanding goods 
 
Reporting damaged or faulty goods to suppliers 
 

Page 275



Appendix 2 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  54 

 
APPENDIX 2: REGISTER OF GOVERNORS AND STAFF BUSINESS 
INTERESTS 
 

Example 

 

I set out below any business interests (e.g. directorships, partnerships, see overleaf) 

which could be relevant to goods and services supplied to the school, and have put 

“none” where I have no such interests. 

 

 

Governor/Staff Member (please delete accordingly) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Close family member i.e. Spouse/Partner  

 

 

 

 

 

 

I declare that I have not knowingly: 

 

▪ omitted any information that I ought to declare; 

 

▪ provided any information that is false.  

 

 

Signed:  

_______________________________________________________________ 

 

Print Name:

 _______________________________________________________________

_ 

 

Date: 

 _______________________________________________________________

_ 

Clerk to the Governors: _______________________ Date: ______________ 

Page 276



Appendix 2 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  55 

 

 

 
BUSINESS INTERESTS 
 
 
1) We have no set definition of a ‘significant interest’.  You should 

consider whether the interest is likely to be regarded as such if it 
were publicly known.  For example, we are not likely to regard £5,000 
invested in a major national organisation (eg: Barclays Bank) as 
significant; whereas £5,000 invested in a smaller company providing 
local services would be something which you should declare.  If in 
doubt, please tell us. 

 
➢ take no part in the consideration or the discussion of the contract or 

matter, 
 

➢ unless the governing body otherwise allow, withdraw from the 
meeting during such consideration or discussion; and 

 
➢ do not vote on any question with respect to the contract or matter. 
 
2) A person shall be treated as having an indirect business interest in a 

contract, proposed contract or other matter within paragraph 1) if: 
 

➢ He/she or any nominee of his/hers is a member of a company 
or other body with which the contract was made or is proposed to 
be made or which has a direct business interest in the matter 
under consideration: or  

 
➢ He/she is a partner, or is in the employment of, a person with 

whom the contract was made or is proposed to be made or who 
has a direct business interest in the matter under consideration. 

 
3) A person shall be treated as having a direct or indirect business 

interest in a contract, proposed contract or other matter, if a relative 
(including his/her spouse) living with him/her, to his/her knowledge 
has, or would be treated (under paragraph 2) above) as having such 
an interest, direct or indirect. 

Page 277



Appendix 3 
  

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  56 

APPENDIX 3: LATE PAYMENT OF DEBTS 
 

Background 
 
1. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 and the Late 

Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2013 provides a statutory right 
to claim interest on the late payment of commercial debts. Previously, 
businesses were only able to claim interest on late paid debts if it was 
included in the contract or if they pursued the debt through the courts and 
the courts decided to award interest. 
 

Contracts 
 
2. The legislation gives precedence to contractually agreed provisions. 

However, the Act contains provisions to prevent parties to a contract 
“contracting out” of the legislation by setting very low rates of interest on 
late payments, or by extending credit terms excessively or by any other 
terms which result in no substantial remedy for late payment. The 
provisions apply the test of “reasonableness” to such terms. 
 

Definition of key terms 
 
3. Late payment: a payment is “late” when it is received after: 
 

o the expiry of the contractually agreed credit period (whether 
agreed orally or in writing); or 
 

o the credit period in accordance with trade custom and practice 
or in the course of dealing between the parties; or 
 

o the default credit period defined in the legislation (30 calendar 
days). 
 

4. Commercial debt: the Act applies to a debt under a contract for the supply 
of goods or services where the purchaser and the supplier are each acting 
in the course of a business. 
 

Size of Debt / Statute of Limitations 
 
5. No minimum level has been set below which a claim for interest cannot be 

made but claims for interest must be made within six years. 
 

Credit periods 
 
6. Where no credit period is defined in a contract, or no contract exists, the 

Act sets a default credit period of 30 (calendar) days from delivery of an 
undisputed invoice for payment, or delivery of the goods and / or service, 
whichever is the later. 
 

7. This is also the measure used by the Local Authority for payment of 
undisputed invoices. Time starts from the date the Local Authority (not the 
payment section) receives the invoice to the date of: 

Page 278



Appendix 3 
  

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  57 

 
o despatch of a cheque or other payment instrument; 
o notification to bank for BACS payments; or; 
o bank processing of the payment if the Local Authority specifies a period 

after which the bank is to make the payments once it has received the 
BACS file.  

 
If an invoice is received in advance, the 30 day or agreed term period 
starts from the satisfactory receipt of goods and/or services.  Where the  
date the Local Authority  receives the invoice it allows 2 working days to 
be added to  the date of invoice. 
 

8. Some purchasers and suppliers have a long–standing relationship in 
which there is no agreed credit period but the purchaser usually pays at 
the end of the month following the month in which the invoice is received. 
Where this is standard practice the credit period is considered to end on 
the last day of the month following the month in which the invoice is 
received. Interest starts the next day. 
 

Interest 
 
9. The Act seeks to recompense creditors for the cost of the payment delay. 

It provides power for the Secretary of State to set the rate of statutory 
interest and this is currently set at the Bank of England base rate for 
business to business transaction + 8%.  
 

10. The current (and past) UK base rate can be found on the Bank of England 
web site at:  
 
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/statistics 
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/boeapps/database/Bank-Rate.asp 
 
 

11. Interest is calculated as simple, not compound, interest as follows: 
 

 
Debt    x Interest Rate   x the number of days late 
     ---------------------------- 
 

         365 
 
12. Interest stops running on a debt once the principal has been paid. 

However, unless payment is accepted on other terms, any part payment of 
the debt will go to reduce the amount of the interest first. 

 
Separation and assignment of interest 
 
13. The Act allows the interest to be pursued separately from the principal 

debt and permits assignment of the interest to third parties, such as 
factors. 
 

Page 279

https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/statistics
https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/boeapps/database/Bank-Rate.asp


Appendix 4  

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  58 

APPENDIX 4: ACCOUNTING FOR VAT 
  
Schools (excluding Community non-cheque book schools) are responsible for the 
administration of VAT relating to their own activities. 
 
It is important that each school understands its responsibilities in this regard.  Failure 
to comply with the requirements of HM Revenue and Customs may result in penalties 
being imposed on the Authority.  In this situation the penalty would have to be met 
from the school’s budget share. 
 
The guidance set out below is intended for general guidance only.  For more detailed 
and definitive advice schools should get further information and VAT advice from 
Maria Wiles in the Chief Executives Department. 
 
Income 
 
Debtors’ invoices raised by Schools need to meet the same requirements as a full tax 
invoice received from suppliers (see below under “checking that your invoices are 
valid”) and must also include a "unit price". Unit price applies to countable goods or 
services, for example an hourly rate for services or price per item for goods. If the 
supply cannot be broken down into countable elements then the total tax exclusive 
price will be the unit price. The unit price may not need to be shown at all if it is not 
normally provided in a particular business area and is not required by the customer.  
   
Expenditure 
 
The VAT element of expenditure should always be coded out separately.  
 
Checking that your invoices are valid 
 
HM Revenue & Customs lays down strict rules on what constitutes a valid VAT 
invoice. You must ensure that the invoices processed by your School meet 
these requirements in order for the Authority to be able to recover the VAT.  
Details are as follows: 
 
Full Tax Invoice - (for all Invoices of more than £250) 
A full tax invoice must show the following information:  
 
An identifying number for the invoice 
 
The supplier’s name, address and VAT registration number 
 
The date and a description of the goods or services supplied 
 
The customer’s (the London Borough of Bromley or its representative e.g. School) 
name and address 
 
The unit price  
 
The total charge made, excluding VAT 
 
The rate of any discount offered, if applicable 
 
The total VAT payable, shown as a separate amount    
 

Page 280



Appendix 4  

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  59 

Less Detailed Tax Invoice - (for Invoices of £250 or less including VAT) 
A less detailed tax invoice (e.g. a till receipt) must still show the following information:  
 
The supplier’s name, address and VAT registration number 
 
The date and a description of the goods or services supplied 
 
The total charge made, including VAT 
 
The rate of VAT applicable (not all supplies may be standard rated) 
 
Invoices or reimbursements of less than £25 (including VAT) for the following do not 
require VAT invoices: 
Telephone calls from public or private telephones 
Purchases through coin operated machines 
Car park charges (on-street parking meters are not subject to VAT) 
 
HM Revenue & Customs will allow recovery of the VAT element as long as the 
supplier is properly VAT registered. Most of the payments will be staff expenses 
reimbursed via petty cash and schools are reminded that the VAT element of such 
payments must be separately allocated.  
 
Errors on Tax Invoices 
Where errors have been identified on tax invoices e.g. the VAT has been calculated 
incorrectly, you must not attempt to correct these or amend the invoice in any way. 
The supplier must cancel the invoice, usually by way of a credit note, and re-issue a 
correct tax invoice.  
 
Pro Forma Invoices 
 
Pro forma invoices are sometimes used by suppliers to offer goods or services, 
which may or may not be taken up by the customer. Pro forma invoices cannot be 
used as evidence for reclaiming VAT and will normally be marked “THIS IS NOT A 
VAT INVOICE”. Where such payments are made the supplier must issue a proper 
tax invoice. 
 
Part Payments on Disputed Invoices 
 
If a part payment is made on a disputed invoice VAT should be calculated on this 
amount and added to the payment. The original invoice should be retained and any 
VAT included in the part payment can be recovered in the normal way as long as it 
does not exceed the VAT shown on the disputed invoice. Where the disputed invoice 
subsequently turns out to be incorrect the supplier should be requested to issue a 
credit note, which bears a reference to the identifying number and date of the invoice. 
The VAT adjustment on the credit note, plus the VAT element on the original invoice, 
should then equate to the actual payment of VAT.    
 
Sub-Contractors Invoices 
 
Where a contractor to the Council who is not registered for VAT employs a sub-
contractor who is registered for VAT, the Council cannot recover VAT included on the 
sub-contractor’s invoices even if these are made out to the London Borough of 
Bromley. This is because the supply for VAT purposes is between the sub-contractor 
and the main contractor and not the Council. 
 

Page 281



Appendix 4  

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  60 

Removal Expenses 
 
Where an employee is reimbursed actual removal expenses the School can reclaim 
the VAT element of those expenses from HM Revenue & Customs even though the 
original invoice is made out to the employee. The majority of these reimbursements 
are made through payroll. When schools submit removal expenses claims for 
reimbursement would they please ensure that the VAT element is identified so that 
the payroll section/provider can allocate the VAT separately and that valid VAT 
invoices accompany all claims.  
 
Where a school makes the payment direct please ensure that the VAT element is 
separately coded 
 
 Monthly VAT Return 
 
 
All VAT should be accounted for on a payments and receipts basis.  When the VAT 
return is received at Chief Executives Department it will be consolidated into the 
Authority’s overall return to HM Revenue and Customs.  Once this has been done a 
payment will be made to the school for reimbursement for the VAT submittal. 
 
Penalties 
 
HMRC may impose penalties for misdeclarations of VAT for whatever reason. The 
penalty may represent 100% of the amount involved. Where the total of all 
misdeclarations or errors is £10,000 or less no penalty will be imposed as Customs & 
Revenue allows these misdeclarations to be included in the next VAT return without 
any specific reference to the local VAT office. However, if the misdeclaration or error 
in total exceeds £10,000 Schools should not attempt to correct these but should 
instead notify Maria Wiles in the Chief Executives Department on extension 7565. 
Generally, errors can only be corrected in the last four years. These will then be 
referred on a case-by-case basis to the VAT office in London. 
 
Interest will be charged on misdeclarations of VAT even if no penalty is imposed. 
However, Schools should be aware that they will be charged with any interest or 
penalty payments that may be payable to Revenue & Customs. 
 
Supplies of Goods and Services between Local Authorities 
 
Local Authorities are required to charge VAT on the sale of goods to other Local 
Authorities in the same way, as VAT is chargeable on sales to other organisations. 
Please remember to charge VAT on such sales at the standard rate (20%). 
 
Certain services between Local Authorities are also subject to VAT if provided in 
competition with other organisations. However, VAT should not be charged on any 
services provided under a statutory obligation as these are deemed to be non-
business. If you are in any doubt about the correct VAT treatment you should contact 
Maria Wiles in the Chief Executives Department on extension 7565.  
 
Guidance Notes 
 
As you are aware VAT is a very complex area of taxation. If your School wishes to 
issue further guidance notes to staff it is MOST IMPORTANT that all drafts of 
guidance are cleared by the Chief Executives Department before being issued. Your 

Page 282



Appendix 4  

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  61 

draft can be e-mailed to Maria Wiles who will check your guidance against the latest 
HMRC advice. 
 
VAT Registration Number 
 
The London Borough of Bromley’s VAT registration number is “205 5959 54” 
 
Queries 
 
Any VAT queries should be referred to Maria Wiles in the Chief Executives 
Department on extension 7565. 
 

Page 283



Appendix 5 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  62 

APPENDIX 5: PROCEDURE FOR WRITE OFFS 
 
Background 
 
1. The Authority has a duty to maximise revenue collection. However, 

circumstances may arise in which amounts due must, for all practical 
purposes, be deemed un-collectable.  

 
2. The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require that in such 

circumstances a decision to write-off an amount must be taken with the 
authority of the “section 151 officer” (i.e. Director of Finance), whether 
exercised personally or properly delegated by him to a member of his staff. 
The amounts involved, and approval granted, should be recorded in the 
accounting records. 

 
3. No such provisions apply where debts are “cancelled” i.e. because they 

were incorrectly raised (e.g. wrong amount, wrong debtor) or “waived” i.e. 
because an authorised policy decision was taken not to charge or to 
reduce the charge of an amount otherwise properly payable by a debtor.  

 
Bad Debts / Loss of Income 
 
4. The Director of Finance may approve the write-off of any amounts properly 

charged, but deemed uncollectable, in the following cases: 
 

(i) bankruptcy or liquidation (where every effort should be made to 
minimise the loss); 

 
(ii) the company having ceased trading and there being no assets; 
 
(iii) the debtor being untraceable or having moved abroad; 
 
(iv) court decisions; 

 
5. Other individual bad debts or loss of income, not falling into these 

categories, may be written off as follows: 
 

(i) By the Governing Body, if it does not exceed £1,000 for   
secondary schools and £500 for primary schools; 

 
(ii) by the Director of Finance, or his delegated officer, if over 

£1,000 not exceeding £5,000; 
 

(iii) by the Director of Finance after consulting with the relevant 
Executive Member if over £5,000 not exceeding £25,000;  

 
(iv) by the Director of Finance with the approval of the Executive if 

exceeding £25,000. 
 

 

  

 

Page 284



Appendix 6 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  63 

APPENDIX 6: INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 
 

Purpose  
Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting 
activity designed to add value to improve the London Borough of Bromley’s 
operations. It helps the Council accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes.  
Internal Audit is a statutory requirement. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 require the Council as a “relevant body” to maintain an "adequate and 
effective system of internal audit of their accounting records and control 
systems”. 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) set down the scope, 
powers and responsibilities of internal audit functions and internal auditors. 
Internal Audit supports the Director of Finance in undertaking statutory 
responsibilities for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs 
and for reporting unlawful actions under the Local Government Act 1972 
Section 151. The Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015) specifically require 
the provision of an internal audit service. 

Authority  
Internal Audit, with strict accountability for confidentiality and the safeguarding 
of records and information, is authorised full unrestricted access to any and all 
of the organisation's records, physical properties, assets and personnel 
pertinent to carrying out any engagement.  All employees are requested to 
assist Internal Audit in fulfilling its roles and responsibilities. The Head of Audit 
and Assurance will also have unrestricted access to the Chief Executive and 
the Chairman of the Audit Sub-Committee. 
To enable the external auditors to discharge their responsibilities, Internal 
Audit will consider all requests from the external auditors for access to any 
information, files or working papers obtained or prepared during audit work 
that has been finalised.   
 
Responsibility 
The Head of Audit and Assurance provides an annual opinion in the Annual 
Governance Statement to the Council and to the Section 151 Officer, through 
the Audit Sub-Committee, on the adequacy and the effectiveness of the 
internal control system for the whole Council. To achieve this, Internal Audit 
has the following objectives: 
 

► Provision of an independent and objective audit service that effectively 
meets the Council’s needs, adds value, improves controls and helps 
protect public resources, 
 

► Assure management that the Council’s business is being conducted in 
accordance with statutory requirement, internal regulations and 
procedures, 
 

► To impact on the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
internal control of the organisation, 
 

Page 285



Appendix 6 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  64 

► Provision of advice and support to management to enable an effective 
control environment to be maintained, 
 

► To promote, in conjunction with the Royal Borough of Greenwich, an 
anti-fraud, anti-bribery and anti-corruption culture within the Council to 
aid the prevention and detection of fraud,  
 

► To investigate, in conjunction with the Royal Borough of Greenwich, 
allegations of fraud, bribery and corruption, 
 

► Co-ordinating the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercises for the 
Council,  
 

► Liaising with and advising the Royal Borough of Greenwich about other 
proactive exercises to identify fraud, 
 

► Advising on and carrying out, as required, the investigation of 
suspected irregularities and advising on the appropriate action to be 
taken, 
 

► Provision of relevant training, fraud awareness, audit controls on key 
findings and risk management. 

Sound systems of internal control can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance and may not be proof against collusive fraud. Internal 
Audit procedures are designed to focus on areas identified by the organisation 
as being of greatest risk and significance.  
 
Counter fraud 
The role of Internal Audit in relation to Counter Fraud is set out in the Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Strategy. Internal Audit may assist or lead in the 
identification and investigation of suspected fraudulent activity in conjunction 
with its partnership with the Royal Borough of Greenwich Fraud Team. This 
may include referrals through the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy (Raising 
Concerns), the National Fraud Initiative, or matters identified in the course of 
audit work. The outcomes of counter fraud work are communicated to the 
Audit Sub-Committee and senior management where appropriate.  
 
Risk management 
Internal Audit is responsible for co-ordinating risk management work and 
developing the risk management approach with the Corporate Risk 
Management Group. These roles, together with authoring risk reports and 
providing advice, are legitimate roles for Internal Audit so long as safeguards 
are in place. The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors’ position paper on 
‘The role of internal audit in Enterprise-wide Risk Management’ defines what 
is considered legitimate. These include: 

• Ensuring that overall responsibility for risk management sits with the 
Corporate Leadership Team, Directors and the Audit Sub-Committee, 
 

• A resource to provide risk management services is made available and 
reported in the audit plan, agreed by the Audit Sub-Committee, 
 

Page 286



Appendix 6 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  65 

• Internal Audit do not set the risk appetite for the Council, or take 
operational responsibility for risk actions and  
 

• Any review or internal audit of the effectiveness of the risk 
management process will be undertaken independently. This enables 
independent assurance to be provided to the Audit Sub-Committee.   
 

Insurance 
 

The Head of Audit and Assurance has line management responsibility for the 
Insurance service. This is a separate service to the Internal Audit function. 
Any audit of Insurance will be audited independently and reported to the 
Director of Finance. 

Advice and consultancy        
Internal Audit resources may, occasionally, be better focussed on providing 
advice and consultancy reviews rather than assurance. Consultancy activities 
(eg guidance, advice and training) carried out are intended to improve 
governance, risk management and control processes and add value.    
 
Management responsibilities 
Internal Audit requires the full co-operation of senior management if it is to be 
effective. In approval of this Charter, the Audit Sub-Committee and the 
Director of Finance require management to co-operate with Internal Audit in 
the delivery of their work. This includes, but is not limited to, agreeing the 
terms of reference for audit assignments, providing access to appropriate 
records, systems and personnel, responding to draft reports and implementing 
audit recommendations in line with agreed timescales.  
Senior management will also update the Head of Audit and Assurance of 
significant proposed changes to systems, processes, organisation structures, 
newly identified significant risks and cases of suspected or detected fraud, 
impropriety or corruption. 
Senior management will also ensure that Internal Audit has sufficient 
resources to fulfil the Annual Audit Plan agreed by the Audit Sub-Committee.  
 
Due Professional Care 
In carrying out our Internal Audit work we are bound by the requirements of: 

➢ UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 
➢ Chartered Institute of Internal Audit’s Code of Ethics and   
➢ All Council policies and procedures, 
➢ Bromley’s Code of Corporate Governance, 
➢ All relevant legislation, 
➢ Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles), 
➢ Bromley’s Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
Internal Audit is subject to a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
that covers all aspects of internal audit activity. This consists of an annual self-
assessment of the service and its compliance with the UK Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards, ongoing performance monitoring and an external 
assessment at least once every five years by a suitably qualified, independent 
assessor. 

Page 287



Appendix 6 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  66 

A programme of Continuous Professional Development (CPD) is maintained 
for all staff working on audit engagements to ensure that auditors maintain 
and enhance their knowledge, skills and audit competencies.  
 

Independence 
The Head of Audit has free and unfettered access to the following: 

➢ Chief Executive, 
➢ Director of Finance, 
➢ Monitoring Officer (who is the Director of Corporate Services), 
➢ Chairman of the Audit Sub-Committee and 
➢ Chief Officers 

Internal Audit staff are required to make an annual declaration of interest to 
ensure that auditors’ objectivity is not compromised in the event of any 
potential conflicts of interest. 
 
Reporting  
The UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Head of Audit to 
report at the top of the organisation and this is done in the following ways: 

► The Internal Audit Charter and any amendments to it are reported to 
the Audit Sub-Committee for formal approval annually, 
 

► The annual Internal Audit Plan is compiled by the Head of Audit and 
Assurance taking account of the Council’s risk framework and after 
input from Senior Management.  It is then presented to the Audit Sub-
Committee for formal approval. The Internal Audit Plan includes timing 
as well as budget resource requirements for the financial year,  
 

► The Internal Audit budget is reported to Members and Full Council for 
approval annually as part of the overall Council budget, 
 

► The adequacy, or otherwise, of the level of Internal Audit resources (as 
determined by the Head of Audit and Assurance) and the 
independence of Internal Audit will be reported annually to the Audit 
Sub-Committee, 
 

► Performance against the Internal Audit Plan and any significant risk 
and control issues arising from audit work are reported to the Audit 
Sub-Committee periodically. Any significant deviation from the 
approved Internal Audit Plan will be communicated through this 
reporting process, 
 

► Any significant unplanned activity not included in the Audit Plan and 
which might affect the level of assurance work undertaken will be 
reported to the Audit Sub-Committee, 
 

► Any significant findings from Internal Audit’s Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme will be reported to the Audit Sub-Committee. 

Management will receive a timely written report at the conclusion of each 
Internal Audit engagement which: 

➢ will have a short management summary,  
 

Page 288



Appendix 6 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  67 

➢ will detail any matters of significance that have arisen with 
priority one issues highlighted, 
 

➢ will provide an opinion of the adequacy of controls reviewed with 
one of four assurance opinions given i.e. substantial, 
reasonable, limited or no assurance, 
 

➢ will recommend practical ways in which system weaknesses can 
be addressed.  

The distribution of reports will be set out within the terms of reference issued 
prior to an audit.  In the event of major findings, these are reported to Chief 
Officers, the Chief Executive and Audit Sub-Committee.  
 
External Auditors 
Internal Audit will closely liaise with the external auditors to ensure maximum 
coverage, non duplication of audit coverage, sharing of information and the 
placement of reliance on Internal Audit work  

Page 289



Appendix 7 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  68 

APPENDIX 7: FRAUD & CORRUPTION PROTOCOL 
 
Introduction  
 
This protocol specifies how the Director of Finance and Head Teachers and 
Governing Bodies should manage alleged cases of fraud or corruption. It 
clarifies responsibilities for carrying out investigations and advises on action to 
be taken. 
 
Fraud is defined by The Fraud Act 2006 as follows: 
 
A person is guilty of fraud if he is in breach of any of the following: 
Fraud by false representation; that is if a person: 
 
(a) dishonestly makes a false representation, and 
(b) intends, by making the representation: 
(i) to make a gain for himself or another, or 
(ii) to cause loss to another or to expose another to a risk of loss. 
Fraud by failing to disclose information; that is if a person: 
(a) dishonestly fails to disclose to another person information which he is 
under a legal duty to disclose, and 
(b) intends, by failing to disclose the information: 
(i) to make a gain for himself or another, or 
(ii) to cause loss to another or to expose another to a risk of loss. 
 
Fraud by abuse of position; that is if a person:  
  
(a) occupies a position in which he is expected to safeguard, or not to act 
against, the financial interests of another person, 
(b) dishonestly abuses that position, and 
(c) intends, by means of the abuse of that position: 
(i) to make a gain for himself or another, or 
(ii) to cause loss to another or to expose another to a risk of loss. 
 
The Fraud Act 2006 repeals certain offences that are detailed in the Theft 
Acts of 1968 and 1978. The term “fraud” is usually used to describe depriving 
someone of something by deceit, which might either be misuse of funds or 
other resources, or more complicated crimes like false accounting or the 
supply of false information. In legal terms, all of these activities are the same 
crime, theft, examples of which include deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, 
corruption, theft, conspiracy, embezzlement, misappropriation, false 
representation, concealment of material facts and collusion.  
 
Corruption is defined as: 
  
The deliberate use of one’s position for direct or indirect personal gain. 
“Corruption” covers the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an 
inducement or reward, which may influence the action of any person to act 
inappropriately. 
 
 
 

Page 290



Appendix 7 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  69 

Theft is defined as: 
 
The physical misappropriation of cash or other tangible assets. A person is 
guilty of “theft” if he or she dishonestly appropriates property belonging to 
another with the intention of permanently depriving the other of it. 
 
Money laundering is defined as: 
 
The process by which criminals attempt to 'recycle' the proceeds of their 
criminal activities in order to conceal its origins and ownership and which 
leaves them with money that cannot be traced back. 
All employees are instructed to be aware of the increasing possibility of 
receiving requests that could be used for money laundering and illicit requests 
for money through e-mails. Detailed guidance is set out in the Council’s 
Money Laundering Policy. 
 
Bribery is defined as:  
 
The Bribery Act 2010 introduces four main offences, simplified as the 
following.  
 

• Bribing another person: a person is guilty of an offence if he/she offers, 
promises or gives a financial or other advantage to another person. 

• Offences relating to being bribed: a person is guilty of an offence if he/she 
requests, agrees to receive, or accepts a financial or other advantage. It 
does not matter whether the recipient of the bribe receives it directly or 
through a third party, or whether it is for the recipient's ultimate advantage 
or not. 

• Bribery of a foreign public official: a person who bribes a foreign public 
official is guilty of an offence if the person’s intention is to influence the 
foreign public official in their capacity, duty or role as a foreign public 
official. 

• Failure of commercial organisations to prevent bribery: organisations, 
which include the Council, must have adequate procedures in place to 
prevent bribery in relation to the obtaining or retaining of business. 
 

Note: A ‘financial’ or ‘other advantage’ may include money, assets, gifts or 
services. 
 
All employees have a responsibility for the security of the Schools assets. Any 
employee who suspects any irregularity should immediately inform their Head 
Teacher, normally through their line manager. If for any reason an employee 
feels unable to raise their concern through line management, then they should 
refer to the procedure outlined in section 3.7, Raising Concerns in Schools 
and seek advice from the Director of Education or Liberata Schools Team in 
the first instance.  
 
Head Teachers and nominated officers, under the Raising Concerns 
Procedure, have a responsibility to inform the Director of Finance immediately 
of any suspected irregularity affecting income, expenditure, cash, stores or 
other resource of the Council. The Director of Finance may, if he then 
considers it appropriate, conduct an independent investigation. 

Page 291



Appendix 7 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  70 

 
The Council in consultation with school management, will take legal and/or 
disciplinary action in all cases of fraud or irregularity where it is considered 
appropriate. 
 
Initial Allegation or Suspicion 
 
Internal Audit and the Head Teacher should be promptly informed of any 
allegations or suspicions of fraud or irregularity. To facilitate a speedy and 
appropriate response to any concerns expressed, initial information provided 
should, where possible, outline the following: 
 

• The nature of the potential or actual loss to the School   

• When and how the matter came to light 

• Officers and /or other parties alleged to be implicated (names and 
designations where appropriate) 

• “Organisation” structure showing the position and responsibility of the 
person(s) allegedly involved 

• identify those who are aware of the potential fraud/irregularity   
 
Care needs to be taken to ensure that members of staff who may be involved 
in the suspected irregularity do not become aware of the situation. Staff 
should not carry out their own investigation prior to notifying Internal Audit as 
this can affect any subsequent investigation. 
 
Internal Audit will advise if the circumstances demand immediate action to 
safeguard evidence or to avoid further loss to the School.  This may include 
removing documentation from the site and /or the suspension of employees. 
 
Internal Audit will also advise on whether, and if so when, the Police should be 
informed.  Initial contact with them should be made by Internal Audit. As a 
general rule the Council can carry out its own investigations regardless of any 
police involvement. 
 
(Note:  there may be instances where it is not possible to contact Internal 
Audit promptly e.g. weekends or evenings. At such times, for cases of 
identified theft rather than suspected fraud or irregularity, it is more 
appropriate for the matter to be reported immediately to the local police station 
and a crime reference obtained. In these instances Internal Audit, line 
management and the Insurance Manager should be informed of the details 
the next working day.) 
 
Investigation 
 
Responsibility for carrying out independent investigations lies with Internal 
Audit in partnership with the Royal Borough of Greenwich’s Fraud Team. In 
some cases, however, it may be more appropriate for staff in the relevant 
School to carry out the investigation with Internal Audit acting in an advisory 
capacity. The most appropriate approach will be decided by Internal Audit 
following the initial contact and may be revised during the investigation. 
 
 

Page 292



Appendix 7 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  71 

 
 
Any investigation should be carried out promptly and thoroughly.  To do this 
staff may need to be interviewed and documentation reviewed. All stages of 
the investigation should be thoroughly documented.  The investigation should 
involve, as a minimum, the following: 
 

• a clear understanding of the allegation/suspicion 

• a review of all relevant documentation. Note that documents may need 
to be retained during the investigation  

• identification and interviews with all appropriate staff/individuals to 
determine such things as relevant procedures and  practices 

• consideration of alternative explanations for the situation  

• an evaluation of all the evidence  

• a conclusion based on the findings  
 
The findings of the investigation could be used during disciplinary or legal 
action. Consequently care needs to be taken to ensure that evidence is 
safeguarded and that the investigation is thorough and the conclusions 
reached are valid. The findings of the investigation should be treated as 
confidential. 
 
During the investigation it may be necessary for individuals to be interviewed 
under caution. This should be carried out by suitably qualified staff following 
Legislation and relevant guidelines.  
 
There will be instances where documentation is taken away by Internal Audit 
or the investigating officer for safeguarding during the investigation. The 
originals should be removed rather than copies. These should be kept secure 
and a statement prepared stating how, when and who removed the 
documents and where they will be stored. A decision on the removal of 
documents needs to be made early on in the investigation to avoid the risk of 
unauthorised removal or tampering. 
 
The Head Teacher and Head of Audit and Assurance should be kept informed 
of progress during the investigation. This can be done verbally and/or by 
preparing written progress reports.  At the end of the investigation a report 
should be prepared for the Head Teacher and Head of Audit and Assurance. 
This should include all the issues listed above together with any other relevant 
information. This should form the basis of a decision for any further action to 
be taken. 
 
Action  
 
It is for the Head Teacher to take appropriate action where there is evidence 
to support instances of fraud or irregularity. The Head of Audit and Assurance 
should be kept informed of action taken and relevant outcomes.  These could 
include referral to the police, disciplinary action and/or recovery of any 
amounts involved. 
 
 
 

Page 293



Appendix 7 
 

Financial Regulations for Schools 2020  72 

 
 
 
 
The Head Teacher is also responsible for ensuring that any system 
weaknesses identified during the investigation are addressed. 
 
The authority has a detailed anti fraud and corruption strategy that sets out 
Bromley’s expectations. It is suggested that Schools make reference to the 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 2019. Further advice is available from the 
Head of Audit and Assurance. 

Page 294



  

1 

Report No. 
FSD20079 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: LOCAL PENSION BOARD 
GENERAL PURPOSES & LICENSING COMMITTEE 
PENSIONS INVESTMENT SUB COMMITTEE 
COUNCIL 

Date:  

4th November 2020 
25th November 2020 
1st December 2020 
7th December 2020  
 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: LOCAL PENSION BOARD -  ANNUAL REPORT 

Contact Officer: Thi Bang Hoang, Pensions Manager 
Tel: 0208 313 4822    E-mail: ThiBang.Hoang@bromley.gov.uk   
 

Chief Officer: Director of Finance 

Ward: Borough Wide 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1  The Local Pension Board Terms of Reference require that an Annual Report is produced and 
provided to the Pensions Manager each year. In a report to the Pensions Investment Sub 
Committee, General Purposes and Licensing Committee and Council in February 2015, it was 
also confirmed that the Local Pension Board’s Annual Report, would be provided to Council via 
the Pensions Investment Sub-Committee and the General Purposes and Licensing Committee. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1  Members of the Local Pension Board are asked to approve the draft LPB Annual Report 
at Appendix 1. 

2.2   Members of the Pensions Investment Sub Committee, General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee and Council are asked to note the contents of the report.

Page 295

Agenda Item 8



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy. The Council's pension fund is a defined benefit scheme operated 
under the provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations for the purpose 
of providing pension benefits for its employees. 
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost  
 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A.  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Any costs associated with the reimbursement to Board 
Members of directly incurred expenses are chargeable to the Pension Fund. 

 

4. Total current budget for this head: £43.9m expenditure (pensions, lump sums, etc); £56.8m 
 income (contributions, investment income, etc); £1,000.3m total fund market value at 
 31st March 2020. 
 

5. Source of funding: Contributions to Pension Fund 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  The Local Pension Board comprises of two Employer 
Representatives and two Member Representatives. The Board is supported by the Pensions 
Manager.   

 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013 (as amended). 

 

2. Call-in: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): Estimated number of 
 users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 6,253 current employees; 5,592 pensioners; 5,945 
 deferred pensioners as at 31st March 2020. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A 
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 296



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 The London Borough of Bromley Local Pension Board was established by Council on 23rd 
February 2015. The Board held an introductory meeting on 27th July 2015 and its first formal 
annual meeting on 26th October 2015. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the Terms of Reference the Board are required to produce a single annual 

report to the Pensions Manager. This report should include: 
 

 A summary of the work of the Local Pension Board and a work plan for the coming year 

 Details of areas of concern reported to or raised by the Board and recommendations made 

 Details of any conflicts of interest that have arisen in respect of individual Local Pension Board 
members and how these have been managed 

 Any areas of risk or concern the Board wish to raise with the Scheme Manager 

 Details of training received and identified training needs 

 Details of any expenses and costs incurred by the Local Pension Board and any anticipated 
expenses for the forthcoming year. 
 

3.3 Members are asked to note the contents of the Local Pension Board Annual Report. 
 
4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

N/A 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council’s Pension Fund is a defined benefit scheme operated under the provisions of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations for the purpose of providing pension 
benefits for its employees. 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Although permitted under Regulations, Local Pension Board members are not paid an 
allowance. As set out in the terms of reference, remuneration for Board members is limited to a 
refund of actual expenses incurred in attending meetings and training. 

6.2 As the administering authority the Council is required to facilitate the operation of the Local 
Pension Board including providing suitable accommodation for Board meetings as well as 
administrative support, advice and guidance. This is currently done within existing in-house 
resources. 

6.3 Any costs arising from the establishment and operation of the Local Pension Board are treated 
as appropriate administration costs of the scheme and, as such, are chargeable to the Pension 
Fund. 

6.4  There were reimbursement claims for cost of travel totalling £10.10 within the relevant period.  

7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 provides primary legislation for all public service 
schemes including the LGPS 2014. A requirement is the establishment of Local Pension 
Boards. 

Page 297



  

4 

9. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Procurement Implications; 

Personnel Implications; 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Public Service Pensions Act 2013; 

Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) 
(Governance) Regulations 2015; 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013; 

Local Pension Board Report, Supplementary Report and 
Appendices to Pensions Investment Sub-Committee, 
General Purposes & Licensing Committee and Council 3rd, 
10th and 23rd February 2015. 

 

Page 298



 

Page | 1 
 

 
 
 

LONDON 
BOROUGH OF 

BROMLEY  
 

LOCAL PENSION 
BOARD 

 
ANNUAL REPORT 
NOVEMBER 2020 

Appendix 1 

Page 299



 

Page | 2 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF BROMLEY - LOCAL PENSION BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT  

INDEX 
 
Contents          Page No 
 
Foreword          3  
 
Background             4 
 
Board Membership           4 
 
Board Meetings          5  
 
Board Activity          6  
 
Training          6 - 7 
 
Board Observations & Comments       7  
 
Conflicts of Interest           7 
 
Expenses and Costs          7 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 300



 

Page | 3 
 

1. Foreword  
 

1.1 The purpose of this London Borough of Bromley Local Pension Board Annual 
report is to provide information regarding the activities and role of the Board 
for Scheme Members, Scheme Employers and the Scheme Manager 
(Administering Authority).   

 
1.2 The Local Pension Board was established by the London Borough of Bromley 

Pension Fund in response to new regulatory requirements introduced into the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

 
1.3 The role of the Local Pension Board is to provide assistance to the London 

Borough of Bromley in its role as an Administering Authority within the Local 
Government Pension Scheme in ensuring it remains compliant with the 
relevant legislation and requirements of the Pensions Regulator.   

 
  

Page 301



 

Page | 4 
 

2.  Background  
 
2.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) 

required that the Local Pension Board be established by 1st April 2015 to 
assist the Administering Authority (London Borough of Bromley) to: 
• Secure compliance with the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(LGPS) regulations and the requirements imposed by the Pensions 
Regulator. 

• Ensure effective and efficient governance and administration of the 
LGPS 

2.2  The Local Pension Board is not a decision making body but is expected to 
support the Council’s current committee structure. 

2.3 The London Borough of Bromley Local Pension Board was approved at Full 
Council on 23rd February 2015. 

 
   
3.  Board Membership  
 
3.1 The London Borough of Bromley Local Pension Board requires a total of four 

members. The membership is constituted as follows:  

• 2 members representing the interests of the Fund’s employers – Employer 
Representatives.  

• 2 members representing the interests of the Fund’s members – Member 
Representatives.  

 
3.2 At the last meeting of Local Pension Board held on 22nd January 2020, the 

board members were: 
Employer Representatives: 
• Pinny Borg 
• Emma Downie 
Member Representatives:  
• Lesley Rickards 
• Vinit Shukle 

 
3.3 On 16th March 2020, one of the employer representatives, Pinny Borg 

resigned from the Board. The term of office for the remaining three members 
expired on 30th June 2023.  

 
3.4 Applications were invited from all staff, trade union representatives, 

departmental representatives, other employers in the Bromley Fund, and from 
Councillors.  

 
3.5 Only one expression of interest were received by the deadline of 18th 

September 2020. On  30th September 2020, the General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee appointed Brayan Bernal-Gil to act in the capacity of 
employer representative and recommended that Council formally appoint him 
to act in the capacity of employer representative for a term of 4 years from 1st 
October 2020. This was approved by Council on 12th October 2020.  

Page 302



 

Page | 5 
 

4. Board Meetings         
 
4.1  Following an introductory meeting of the Local Pension Board Members which 

took place on Monday 27th July 2015, formal meetings of the Board took place 
on Monday 26th October 2015, Thursday 10th November 2016, Tuesday 10th 
April 2018, Tuesday 6th November 2018, Wednesday 12th June 2019 and 
Wednesday 22nd January 2020. The table below shows the attendance of 
those meetings:  

 
 Employer Representatives Member Representatives 

Mr B 
Toms  

Ms J 
Harding 

Ms J  
Reynolds  

Ms P 
Borg 

Ms E 
Downie 

Mr G 
Kelly  

Mr T 
Conboy 

Mrs L 
Rickards 

Mr G 
Wright 

Mr V 
Shukle 

Introductory 
Meeting   
27-07-15 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

Formal 
Meeting  
26-10-15 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
X 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

Formal 
Meeting  
10-11-16 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
X 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

Formal 
Meeting 
10-04-18 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

Formal  
Meeting  
06-11-18 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
X  

 
N/A 

Formal  
Meeting  
12-06-19 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
* 

Formal  
Meeting  
22-01-20 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
 

* The member had not been formally appointed and was acting as an observer at the meeting  
 
 4.2 At the Local Pension Board meeting held on 10th November 2016, Mrs Lesley 

Rickards was elected by the members of the Board to act as its Chair for a 
period of 12 months, succeeding Mr Brian Toms, in line with the requirements 
of the Terms of Reference.  

 
4.3 A meeting of the Local Pension Board was held on 10th April 2018 at which 

Pinny Borg was elected the Chair of the Pension Board. At the meeting on 6 
November 2018, it was agreed that Pinny Borg would continue as Chair of the 
Pension Board until the term of office for all Board Members expires on              
30th June 2019. 

 
4.4 At the meeting on 12th June 2019, Emma Downie was elected the new Chair 

of the Pension Board, effective from 1 July 2019.  
4.5  At the meeting on 22nd January 2020, it was agreed that Emma Downie’s 

appointment would be extended to November 2020 to coincide with the next 
annual meeting of the Board when a new chairman would be appointed. 
 

 

Page 303



 

Page | 6 
 

5. Board Activity  
 
5.1 Members of the Board are also invited to attend meetings of the Pensions 

Investment Sub-Committee and where appropriate meetings of the       
General Purposes and Licensing Committee. 

 
5.2 In accordance with the work plan agreed by the Local Pension Board 

members, members have been provided throughout the year with monthly 
Pensions Administration Reports for review. These reports are produced by 
Liberata UK Ltd, and include a monthly summary of activity, and details of key 
Performance Indicators (KPI’s). To date no issues have been raised by Board 
members in connection with such reports.  

  
 5.3 The Pension Act 2004 and the Public Service Pensions (Record Keeping and 

Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2014 require the Administering 
Authority to hold accurate data on scheme members. It is also essential to 
hold accurate data for efficient administration.  

 
 
6. Training 
 
6.1 It is a requirement of the Public Service Pensions Act that Board members 

have the capacity to become conversant with the rules governing the Local 
Government Pension Scheme and the policy documents of the Administering 
Authority.  

 
6.2 The following training has been made available to the Local Pension Board 

members: 
• The Pensions Regulator e-learning package, covering conflicts of interest, 

managing risk and internal controls, maintaining accurate member data, 
maintaining member contributions, providing information to members and 
others, resolving internal disputes and reporting breaches of the law. 

• A presentation on the Introduction to the LGPS was presented to the Local 
Pension Board Meeting on Tuesday 6th November 2018 by the Pensions 
Manager.   

• A training update on “Pensions Made Simple” was carried out verbally by 
the Pensions Manager at the Local Pension Board Meeting on Wednesday 
22nd January 2020. 

• Board members are invited to attend the Members Pension Seminar led 
by the Director of Finance.  

• Emma Downie and Brayan Bernal-Gil attended the CIPFA’s LGPS Local 
Pension Board Members’ Autumn Seminar 2020 on Thursday 1st October 
2020.  
A training/consultation update will be carried out by the Pensions Manager 
at the Local Pension Board Meeting on Wednesday 4th November 2020. 

  

Page 304



 

Page | 7 
 

6.3 Members have also been provided with the following documentation; 
• The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations  
• Administration, HR, Payroll and Member Guides to the Local Government 

Pension Scheme 
• Guidance on the creation and operation of Local Pension Boards 
• Mercer Newsletters ‘Local Government Pension Scheme – Current Issues’  
• Agendas and reports for the Pensions Investment Sub-Committee 

meetings  
 
 
7. Board Observations and Comments   
   
7.1 The Local Pension Board terms of reference set out that the Board should 

raise any areas of risk or concern with the Scheme Manager in the first 
instance. No such matters have been raised during the reporting period.        

 
  
8. Conflicts of Interest 
 
8.1 It is explained to each Board member that they are required to observe both 

the Code of Conduct for Councillors/Co-opted Members and Data Protection 
policies of the London Borough of Bromley. Members are also required to 
complete ‘The Notification of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests Form’, ‘The 
Notification of Non-Pecuniary Interests Form’ and a ‘Declaration of 
Acceptance of Office Form’.  

 
8.2 No declarations of interests were made at the formal meeting of the Board on 

6th November 2018, 12th June 2019 or 22nd January 2020. 
 
 
9. Expenses and Costs 
 
9.1 All costs regarding the administration of the Local Pension Board have been 

contained within existing resources. There were reimbursement claims for 
cost of travel totalling £10.10 within the relevant period.         

Page 305



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date:  Wednesday 25th November 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: COVID 19 PUBLIC PROTECTION ENFORCEMENT UPDATE 
 

Contact Officer: Rob Vale, Head of Service, Trading Standards & Commercial Regulation 
Tel: 020 8313 4785    E-mail:  rob.vale@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Director of Environment and Public Protection 

Ward: (All Wards); 

 
1. Reason for report 

To provide the committee with a summary of the work undertaken by Public Protection in 
relation to the COVID 19 pandemic 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee note the contents of the report. 

Page 307

Agenda Item 9



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: COVID-19 is often more severe in people who are older than 60 years or 

who have health conditions like lung or heart disease, diabetes or conditions that affect their 
immune system. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable   
 

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People Excellent Council Safe Bromley Supporting 
Independence Vibrant, Thriving Town Centres Healthy Bromley:  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal:  No Cost  
2. Ongoing costs: Non-Recurring Cost  
3. Budget head/performance centre:  Public Protection  
4. Total current budget for this head: £1.33m  
5. Source of funding: Revenue Budget 2020/2021 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   1 x Licensing, H&S Manager, 1 x Licensing Officer, 5 
x admin staff 

 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   NA 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: The local authority have been given temporary 
powers to enforce the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Business Closure) Regulations 2020  

 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): All Wards 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable 

 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable 
 

Page 308



  

 
3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 This report sets out a summary of the enforcement action taken by the Public Protection team 
to the COVID19 pandemic and the introduction of the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Business Closure) Regulations 2020 (The Closure Regulations), and subsequent legislation. 
In recognition of the skill set of environmental health officers and trading standards officers 
they were formally placed as lead enforcers by the government. 

3.2 Following the concept of social distancing being introduced on the 16th March 20, all services 
and business continuity plans within Public Protection were reviewed and delivery plans were 
agreed whereby all services would remain operational, albeit on an amended basis.  

The legislative framework 

3.3 The Closure Regulations were enacted on 21 March 2020 in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic and required the closure of businesses selling food or drink for consumption on the 
premises and a wide range of other businesses, to protect against the risks to public health 
arising from coronavirus. 

3.4 Local authorities were granted powers of enforcement and all enforcement officers in Public 
Protection have been designated under the closure regulations and subsequent amendments.  

3.5 In June 20 the government began to ease the lockdown restrictions with a series of legislative 
changes allowing business to re-open, and on the 4th July 2020 saw the further easing of 
restrictions allowing the re-opening of the hospitality sector (pubs and restaurants) and some 
close contact services (hairdressers and barbers), with strict social distancing rules.  

3.6 Further regulations enacted on 18th July 2020, made provisions for the local authority to give 
directions relating to the closure of premises, events and public outdoor places in its area. 
These regulations were utilised by Public Protection licensing team to cancel three large 
musical festivals which had been planned to take place in the authority in September 2020.  

3.7 In September 2020 regulations were introduced which included restrictions on opening hours 
for licensed premises, social distancing of seated groups, signage and information and track & 
trace requirements.  

Public Protection response during lockdown 

3.8 A daily data collection return has been in place since the beginning of the COVID 19 outbreak 
in March collected by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and 
the Office for Product Safety and Standards (OPSS). The data originally gathered information 
regarding business closures across England which were required by the Closure 
Regulations.  The data sought to measure the impact of COVID 19 on our resources and 
report back to MHCLG, Cabinet Office and No10 in order to give them a good understanding 
of the activity undertaken to date. 

3.9 As businesses began to re-open, the survey widened in scope to incorporate information 
regarding issues relating to safer workplace requirements. The Health & Safety Executive 
(HSE) are now gathering data to help better understand what COVID-19 health and safety 
activity is taking place in local authorities. In August 2020 the collection of data relating to safer 
workplaces was transferred to HSE.  

3.10 Public Protection submitted returns which measured outputs such as the number of contacts 
with businesses, the number of enquiries from businesses and residents and TABLE 1 below 
sets out our total returns.  

Page 309



  

 
4 

3.11 In addition to the enforcement activity outlined in TABLE 1 and 1A, officers contributed to other 
measures aimed at protecting vulnerable residents and helping to safeguard local businesses 
from scams and fraud. This included contacting vulnerable residents who were advised on 
how to avoid scams. Fraud and COVID scams messages were also circulated via social 
media, letters and through the volunteer network. Environmental Health officers stayed in 
touch with food businesses with 650 contacts to provide advice on how to operate as a 
takeaway. A dedicated Officer was assigned to conduct joint COVID-19 Patrols with Police 
every weekend. 

3.12 Officers from public protection attended weekly multi agency meetings which include COVID 
19 Tactical Group; BCU Leadership and Heads of Community Safety Partnerships and the 
South London Coronial Area (Bromley, Bexley, Sutton, Croydon) Excess Deaths Steering 
Group. 

Public Protection response since re-opening of non-essential businesses 

3.13 The Government prepared a phased return of the re-opening of the high street and step three 
involved the re-opening of most of the remaining businesses and premises that had been 
required to close, including personal care (such as hairdressers and beauty salons) hospitality 
(such as food service providers, pubs and accommodation), public places (such as places of 
worship) and leisure facilities (like cinemas). This was coupled with guidance on how to meet 
the COVID-19 Secure guidelines.  

Enforcement action 

3.14 Public Protection adopted the 4 E’s enforcement tactic to ensure consistency of enforcement 
across the borough and formed the basis of joint enforcement plans within the Borough 
Command Unit (BCU). The approach was: 

Engage – Be visible in public spaces and talk to people. 
Explain – Discuss behaviour and reasons why the legislation is in place 
Encourage – Request and negotiate a change in behaviour to ensure compliance with the 
law. 
Enforce – If these measures fail then officers would consider enforcement measures  

 
3.15 In Bromley, officers found particular problems around compliance in close contact service 

businesses, particularly barbers and beauty treatments, where practitioners refused to wear 
proper or any PPE, posing a risk to themselves and their customers. There was also a lack of 
compliance in a small proportion of mainly independent pubs, restaurants and cafes around 
social distancing and contact tracing. 

3.16 Directions powers were introduced to adequately control businesses once an imminent threat 
to health has been identified in the Health Protection (Coronavirus Restrictions) (England) No 
3 Regulations 2020. This legislation provides wide ranging powers to crack down on emerging 
incidents where there is a clear risk of infection, but these regulations can only be used where 
there is clear evidence of an emerging problem, such as a significant increase in cases 
associated with a business. The support of the local Director of Public Health is required 
before any action can be taken to confirm the imminent health risk to the public. 

3.17 These directions powers were engaged by the licensing team in August 2020 in order to deter 
proposals by organiser to host large music events in the borough in September this year. No 
directions were issued as two of the businesses withdrew applications for the events and a 
third matter was denied following a licensing hearing.  

Page 310



  

 
5 

3.18 In the absence of specific legislation, Public Protection relied on the provision of the Antisocial 
Behaviour and Crime and Policing Act 2014 (ASBCP Act) and were tasked with moving to the 
ENFORCE strand of the enforcement strategy in late August 2020 in order to persuade a 
small but significant number of businesses who were not adhering to covid safe guidance.  

3.19 In August 2020 officers served 59 Community Protection Warning Notices under the ASBCP 
Act on a number of close contact (barbers and hairdressers) and licenced premises.  

3.20 A closure order under section 80 of the ASBCP Act 2014 was enacted following a breach of a 
Community Protection Notice previously served on a licenced premises where officers had 
witnessed a “night club” atmosphere with customers singing and dancing and no social 
distancing between tables. The premises remained closed for two weeks following a court 
hearing but finally took steps to ensure their business was COVID safe following a further 
inspection by Public Protection officers and police.  

Further legislation introduced by the Government on 24th September 2020 

3.21 Additional regulations have been introduced since September 2020 which seek to control the 
spread of Coronavirus. There is an expectation that local authorities will take proportionate 
action to ensure local business trade within the law. 

3.22 There are 4 key regulations: 

 The Health Protection (Coronavirus, restrictions) No2 (England) Regulations 2020 – 

known as the Coronavirus Restrictions Regulations 

 The Health Protection (Coronavirus, restrictions) (Obligations of Undertakings) (England) 

Regulations 2020 – known as the Hospitality Undertakings Regulations 

 The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Collection of Contact Details and related 

requirements) No2 (England) Regulations 2020 – known as the Contact Details 

Regulations 

 The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Wearing of face coverings in a relevant place) No2 

(England) Regulations 2020 – known as the Face Coverings Regulations  

 
3.23 The regulations introduce additional sanctions for local authorities which include powers to 

issue fixed penalty notices (FPNs) and prosecutions. The FPNs carry a maximum fine of 
£10,000 for repeat offenders, with the first offence carrying a £1,000 penalty, reduced to £500 
if paid within 14 days.  

3.24 The enforcement strategy adopted by Public Protection will continue to be based on the four 
E’s and also in accordance with the National Enforcement Concordat being risk based and 
intelligence led. The strategic approach taken by LBB of using ASB legislation bringing in 
FPN’s to the enforcement options has now been endorsed by the emerging national policy 
with specific hospitality sector FPN’s having been enacted through the primary covid 
regulations as outlined above. 

Impact on Licensing 

3.25 The majority of the premises engaged had some form of licensing input either by the 
requirement to be licenced or simply requiring a licence for an activity taking place within them.   

3.26 The public protection administration team were tasked as acting as the distribution hub for all 
covid related complaints and service requests.  This additional workload meant the normal 
licensing functions of the team were subject to delays and are still subject to back logs. This is 

Page 311



  

 
6 

currently 6 months in some cases.  This administrative back log has not impacted on the 
customer as none of the delays have prevented any trader from continuing to operate (within 
the constrictions placed by the covid regulations).  However, it has meant that no renewal 
inspections have occurred and in some cases low risk new application have been allowed to 
trade before initial inspection have been able to take place. 

3.27 Public Protection also supported colleagues in Environment with the implementation and 
enforcement of new regulations which introduced the Pavement Licensing regime.  This 
allowed licenced premises and some food outlets in certain circumstances to apply for a 
licence to have tables and chairs on the public highway.   

3.28 During this period, the Licensing Policy has been reviewed.  This was undertaken with no 
review of the current cumulative impact zones (CIZs) currently in place. This is a statutory 
requirement and will be revisited in due course.  

TABLE 1 Activity 27th March 2020 to 31st August 2020 

interaction required with 
business to check 
compliance/respon

d to non-
compliance closure 

requirements 

Businesses checked by 
drive by surveys to 
monitor closures 

No. of warnings (verbal & 
written) 

No. of CPNWs & CPNS 

1,436 20,237 50 57 

 
Enquiry from business Enquiry from resident Enquiry from police/other Total number of service 

requests 

62 167 40 509 

 
Table 1A – Table of activity 1st September to 30th October 2020 
 

 
COVID related Visit to a 

business premises 

Other COVID related 
interaction with a 
business (emails, 

phone calls, admin) 

Complaint & enquiry about 
a business 

Enforcement action (letters, 
CPNW, notices) 

 
507 

 

 
797 

 
135 

 
45 

 

4.     IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

4.1    Summary of Impact: COVID-19 is often more severe in people who are older than 60 years or 
who have health conditions like lung or heart disease, diabetes or conditions that affect their 
immune system. 

5.     FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The cost of enforcement activity is funded from within the existing Public Protection revenue 
budget of £1.33m in 2020/21. 

5.2    Any impact on licensing income will be reflected in the monitoring of the financial impact of 
Covid-19 reported quarterly to the Executive. 

5.3   No FPN’s have been issued by the Council.  

 

Page 312



  

 
7 

6. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1    Number of staff (current and additional):  1 x Licensing and H&S Manager, 1 Licensing officer, 5 
Admin 

6.2 If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   Not applicable 

7.     LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Legal Requirement: Statutory requirement. The Council is the Licensing Authority under the 
Licensing Act 2003. 

  

 
Non-Applicable Sections: 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS/PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 313



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD20113 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date:  Wednesday 25 November 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2020/21 
 

Contact Officer: Graham Walton, Democratic Services Manager 
Tel: 0208 461 7743    E-mail:  graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: (All Wards); 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1   This Committee is responsible for making the Council’s appointments to outside bodies. Most of 
these appointments are annual and are made by the Committee in May each year, but some 
have different timescales, and, occasionally, it is necessary to make new appointments when 
people want to stand down. The Committee is requested to consider appointments to Bromley Y 
and, subject to confirmation from the charity, Beckenham Parochial Charities. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

(1)    That Cllr Kieran Terry be appointed to Bromley Y to replace Cllr Peter Fortune for the 
remainder of the Council year. 

(2)    That, subject to confirmation from the Charity, Mr A J Duncan, Mrs G Scales and Mrs 
Kathryn Strachan be re-appointed to the Beckenham Parochial Charities for the four year 
term of office starting on 25th January 2021. (The matter can be deferred until the 
Committee’s next meeting if necessary.) 

 

Page 315

Agenda Item 10



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Bromley Y works with schools and other key providers to promote the 

wellbeing and mental health of children and young people.   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Not Applicable 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: Not Applicable 
 

5. Source of funding: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  Not Applicable   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  Not Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
1. Legal Requirement: None: Further Details 
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  Non-executive decisions are not subject to call-in. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable      
 

Page 316



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1  Most appointments to outside bodies are made by this Committee on behalf of the Council at its 
meeting in May. Appointments to two outside bodies need to be made now – to the Beckenham 
Parochial Charities and to Bromley Y. 

3.2   Bromley Y works with schools and other key agencies such as NHS South East London CCG 
and Oxleas NHS Trust to promote the wellbeing and mental health of children and young 
people and families by enabling change, fostering resilience and helping to build healthy 
relationships. The Council appoints two Councillors to support the Charity – in May 2020 
Councillors Judi Ellis and Peter Fortune were re-appointed for a one year term of office. 
Councillor Fortune has indicated that he wishes to stand down, and Councillor Kieran Terry is 
nominated to take his place for the remainder of the current term of office until May 2021.  

3.3   The Council appoints six trustees to the Beckenham Parochial Charities. The term of office is 
four years.  The primary purposes of the Charity are to provide and maintain good housing for 
needy people in Beckenham and Penge, grants of money for relief in need, hardship or distress 
of residents of Beckenham and Penge, or to former almshouse residents, and grants of money 
for the promotion of education of young persons living in Beckenham and Penge. Three of the 
Trustees, including Cllr Russell Mellor, are appointed until 24th January 2023, while the terms of 
office of the other three trustees are due to expire on 24th January 2021. These are Alan 
Duncan, Gillian Scales and Kathryn Strachan. The Charity has been contacted to ascertain its 
views, but subject to this it is recommended that the current trustees are re-appointed for a four 
year term starting on 25th January 2021. If confirmation of the Charity’s intentions is not 
received in time for the Committee’s meeting it is recommended that the matter is deferred until 
the next meeting on 9th February 2021. 

  

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children/Legal/Personnel 
Procurement/Finance 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

None  

 

Page 317



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD20112 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date:  25th November 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING  

Contact Officer: Graham Walton, Democratic Services Manager 
Tel: 0208 461 7743    E-mail:  graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: N/A 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1   This report summarises the Committee’s work programme for the 2020/21 Council year. In 
accordance with the decision of Council on 8th April 2019, this report also covers matters 
outstanding from previous meetings. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

Members are requested to consider matters outstanding from previous meetings and 
their work programme for 2020/21. 

 

Page 319

Agenda Item 11



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Not Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status:: Existing Policy 
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £359,420 
 

5. Source of funding: 2020/21 revenue budget  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   7 (6.67fte) 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   Not applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: The Committee is responsible for non-executive 
functions as required by the Local Government Act 2000. 

 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  This report does not involve an executive decision. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  Not applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  Not applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not applicable  
 

Page 320



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1   Bromley Council operates under a “Leader and Executive” constitutional model, with most 
decision making functions resting with the Leader, Portfolio Holders and the Executive. 
However, there are a number of functions which the executive side is prohibited from dealing 
with, for which Committees need to be appointed. In Bromley, the majority of these “non-
executive” functions are the responsibility of Development Control Committee for town planning 
and related functions, and this Committee for most other non-executive functions.    

3.2    General Purposes and Licensing Committee fulfils the role of Licensing Committee under the 
2003 Licensing Act, but also deals with a range of other non-executive functions that cannot be 
dealt with by the Executive or do not fall within the terms of reference of Development Control 
Committee. It therefore has a range of varied and sometimes unrelated responsibilities, 
including finance matters relating to audit and pensions, human resources, complaints, 
elections and Member appointments.   

3.3   The Committee’s role is very different to that of a PDS Committee, in that it has decision-making 
powers, many of which are delegated to a number of sub-committees - 

 Appeals Sub-Committee 

 Audit Sub-Committee 

 Industrial Relations Sub-Committee 

 Licensing Sub-Committee 

 Local Joint Consultative Committee 

 Pensions Investment Sub-Committee 

 Rights of Way Sub-Committee   

        These sub-committees also have decision-making powers within their own terms of reference, 
and in most cases their minutes are received by this Committee for information.  

3.4    The Committee has six scheduled meetings in the year, plus a meeting after the Council’s 
annual meeting to appoint its Sub-Committees. The meetings for the 2020/21 Council year are 
set out in Appendix A, with the reports considerd/anticipated for each meeting. The draft 
Programme of Meetings for 2021/22 is due to be considered by this Committee at its next 
meeting on 9th February 2021.  

  
3.5   At present, there are no matters outstanding from previous meetings to report that are not 

already included as part of this agenda.   
 

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on vulnerable adults and children/Policy/Financial/ 
Personnel/Legal/Procurement 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

None 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 321



  

4 

 
 

Appendix A 
 

 
General Purposes and Licensing Committee 

Draft Work Programme 2020/21 
 
13th May 2020 (following annual Council meeting) 
Appointments to Sub-Committees 
 
18th May 2020 
Appointments to Outside Bodies 
 
30th July 2020  
Audit of Financial Statements 2018/19  
Licensing Act 2003: Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-26 
Work Programme & Matters Outstanding   
 
30th September 2020 
Annual Complaints Report and Annual Ombudsman’s Letter 2019/20 
Licensing Act 2003: Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-26 
Review of Public Space Protection Orders Concerning Alcohol Control Zones 
Appointment of Pensions Board Member 
Work Programme & Matters Outstanding   
 
5th November 2020 (special meeting) 
Teachers Pay Policy - Centrally Based Staff 
 
25th November 2020 
Audit of Financial Statements 2019/20 
The Redmond Review 
Covid-19 Public Protection Enforcement Update  
Review of Financial Regulations 
Local Pension Board – Annual Report 2020 
Appointments to Outside bodies  
Work Programme & Matters Outstanding   
 
9th February 2021 
Pay Award 2021  
Pay Policy Statement 2021/22 
Members Allowances 2021/22 
Executive Assistants Reports 2020/21 
Programme of Meetings 2021/22 
Work Programme & Matters Outstanding   
 
23rd March 2021 
Audit of Financial Statements 2019/20 
Annual Review of Licensing Activity 
Annual Review of the Scheme of Delegation to Officers 
Work Programme & Matters Outstanding   
 
(Draft Minutes from Sub-Committee meetings are received for information at each meeting.) 

Page 322


	Agenda
	4 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS HELD ON 30TH SEPTEMBER AND 5TH NOVEMBER 2020
	GPL 300920 Complaints Appendix
	GPL 051120 Minutes

	5 AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019/20
	GPL 251120 Audit Progress Report Appendix

	6 THE REDMOND REVIEW OF LOCAL AUTHORITY FINANCIAL REPORTING AND EXTERNAL AUDIT
	GPL 251120 The Redmond Review of Local Authority Financial Reporting and External Audit - Appendix
	Executive Summary
	Recommendations
	1. Introduction
	2. The direction and regulation of local audit
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 Overview of the Regulatory Framework
	2.3 Functions of the bodies responsible for the framework
	2.4 Interactions with other inspectorates
	2.5 The role of MHCLG

	3. Procurement of local audit
	3.1 Statutory framework and eligibility criteria
	3.2 The 2017 procurement process
	3.3 Translating bids into audit fees paid by LAs
	3.4 Fee variations and contract management

	4. Audit performance
	4.1 Introduction to local authority audit
	4.2 Defining audit quality
	4.3 Assessing Audit Quality
	4.5 VfM expectation gap
	4.6 Summary of audit performance

	5. Governance arrangements in place for responding to audit recommendations
	5.1 Outline of the different frameworks in operation
	Arrangements within other types of local authorities

	5.2 Scope of audit committees within local government
	5.3 Relationship between Audit Committees and Full Council or equivalent

	6 Audit work on the financial resilience of local authorities
	6.1 Stakeholders’ expectations regarding financial resilience
	6.2 What does financial resilience mean in a local authority context?
	6.3 Current audit requirements to assess the sustainability and resilience of LAs in England
	6.4 Practice in other jurisdictions
	6.5 The audit of financial resilience – a new model for England?

	7. Financial reporting in local government
	7.1 The purpose of financial reporting in the local authority sector
	7.2 Introduction to the framework
	7.3 Format of local authority accounts
	7.4 Usefulness, understandability and transparency of local authority accounts
	7.5 Options for reform

	8. Smaller authorities
	8.1 Introduction
	8.2 Scale of audit
	8.3 Procurement of audit
	8.4  Accountability
	8.5 Financial Reporting in Smaller Authorities

	9. Conclusions
	Key Factors Determining the Outcomes of The Review
	Local Audit
	Transparency of Financial Reporting

	10. List of Annexes
	Appendix – Glossary of Key Terms, Acronyms and Abbreviations


	7 REVIEW OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS
	Financial Regulations and procedures 2020
	Financial Regulations for schools 2020

	8 LOCAL PENSION BOARD - ANNUAL REPORT 2020
	GPL 251120 Pension Board Annual Report Appendix1

	9 COVID-19 PUBLIC PROTECTION ENFORCEMENT UPDATE
	10 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2020/21
	11 WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING

